

Neurobiological and Lifestyle Contributions to Word-Finding Abilities in Healthy Ageing

Elise Jisca Oosterhuis, MSc

Department of Psychology

Lancaster University

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 4, 2024

Contents

D	eclar	ation vi
A	cknov	wledgements vii
A	bstra	ict ix
1	Intr	roduction 1
	1.1	An Ageing Population
	1.2	Healthy Cognitive Ageing
		Lifestyle Contributions to Cognitive Ageing
		Neurobiological Contributions to Cognitive Ageing
	1.3	A Theoretical Model Explaining Word-Finding
		The WEAVER++ Model of Single Word Production and Comprehension 6
		Word-Finding Difficulties in Healthy Ageing
	1.4	Neurobiology of Word-Finding
		The Neuroanatomy and Neurophysiology of Word-Finding
		Neuronal Coherence
		Subcortical Involvement in Word-Finding
	1.5	Action versus Object Words
	1.6	Parkinson's Disease as a Neurodegenerative Model for Word-Finding . 17
		Basal Ganglia Dysfunction
		Action Language in Parkinson's Disease
	1.7	Summary and Thesis Outline
		Rationale for Alternative Format
		My Contributions to the Research
2	Tow	vard an Understanding of Healthy Cognitive Aging: The
	Imp	oortance of Lifestyle in Cognitive Reserve and the Scaffolding
	The	eory of Aging and Cognition 23
ი	C.	tion the Desire Lete Cleans An Orline Starle Leventinetics

3 Getting the Brain Into Gear: An Online Study Investigating Cognitive Reserve and Word-Finding Abilities in Healthy Ageing 36

4	Mo	tor Ability Relates to Word-Finding in Both Individuals With	L
	and	Without Parkinson's Disease	58
	4.1	Abstract	60
	4.2	Introduction	61
	4.3	Method	64
		Participants	64
		Materials	67
		Procedure	71
		Statistical Analysis	71
		Deviations from the Preregistration	75
	4.4	Results	76
		Descriptives	76
		Hypothesis 1: Action-Word Production	77
		Hypothesis 2: Motor Ability	78
		Hypothesis 3: Cognitive Reserve	84
		Exploratory Analyses	89
	4.5	Discussion	90
	1.0	The Production of Upper-Limb Action Words with High vs. Low	00
		Motor Content	91
		The Belationship Between Word Finding and Motor Ability	92
		Actionality does Not Affect Word-Finding Ability in Parkinson's	93
		Effects of Cognitive Reserve On Word-Finding Ability	90 04
		Limitations	96
		Conclusion	07
			51
5	Bra	in Segregation and Integration Relate to Word-Finding Abilities	3
	in (Older and Younger Adults	98
	5.1	Abstract	100
	5.2	Introduction	101
	5.3	Methods	104
		Participants	104
		Materials	105
		EEG Recordings and Pre-processing	106
		Functional Brain Networks	107
		Graph Theoretical Network Analysis	109
		Statistical Analysis	110
		Deviations from the Preregistration	112
	5 /		112
	0.4	Rehavioural Data	112
		Graph Analysis	112
		Functional Connectivity Strongth	112
		Brain Sogregation	11/
		Furleratory Analysis of Prain Integration	114 116
		Discussion	110
	0.0		119

		Age-Related Changes in Functional Connectedness and Word-Finding	110
		Ability	118
		Brain Segregation and Word-Finding Ability Across the Lifespan	121
		The Small-World Index and Word-Finding Abilities	123
		Greater Brain Integration is Related to Better Word-Finding in Older	
		Adults	124
		Limitations and Future Directions	124
		Conclusion	127
6	The	Role of Neuronal Phase Coherence Underlying Action-Word	l
	Con	nprehension in Healthy Ageing	128
	6.1	Abstract	130
	6.2	Introduction	131
	6.3	Methods	135
		Participants	135
		Experimental Task and Procedure	136
		EEG Recording and Pre-Processing	138
		EEG Time-Frequency Analysis	140
		Statistical Analysis	141
		Deviations from Preregistration	142
	6.4	Results	143
		Descriptives	143
		No N400 Difference Between Conditions	144
		Results of the ANCOVA	146
		Relationship Between Phase Coherence and Action-Word Finding	148
		Exploratory Analysis	151
	6.5	Discussion	154
		No Effect of Action Words on N400	154
		Effects of age on the Neuronal Processes Underlying Action Language	156
		Phase Coherence as a Compensatory Mechanism	157
		Age-Related Functional Specialisation	158
		Influence of Hearing Status	159
		Limitations	160
		Conclusion	162
7	Ger	eral Discussion and Conclusions	163
	7.1	General Thesis Overview	163
	7.2	Lifestyle Contributions to Word-Finding Ability Across the Lifespan.	165
		Summary of Main Findings	165
		Cognitive Reserve in Healthy Ageing	165
		Cognitive Reserve in Parkinson's Disease	166
		Implications	167
	7.3	Neurobiological Contributions to Word-Finding Ability Across the	
		Lifespan	169

	Summary of Main Findings
	Neurobiological Changes as Compensatory Mechanism?
	Contributions of the Basal Ganglia to Word-Finding
	Implications
7.4	Action Language and Its Relationship to Ageing
	Summary of Main Findings
	Implications: Preservation of Action Language in Older Age and
	Parkinson's Disease
7.5	Thesis Limitations and Challenges
7.6	Future Directions
7.7	Conclusion
Annon	div A Motor Ability Bolatos to Word Finding in Both
Indi	viduals With and Without Parkinson's Disease 183
A 1	All Models Hypothesis 1
A 2	All Models Hypothesis 2
A 3	All Models Hypothesis 3
A.4	Exploratory Analyses
	Hypothesis 1 197
	Hypothesis 2
	$Hypothesis 3 \dots $
A	die D. Durin Composition and Intermetion Delate to Wand
Appen	dix B Brain Segregation and Integration Relate to Word-
R 1	A Priori Power Analysis for Sample Size
D.1 R 9	Functional connectivity measures
D.2	Debiased weighted Phase Lag Index
	Orthogonal Minimum Spanning Troos
	Weighted Clustering Coefficient 200
	Modularity 200
	Characteristic Path Length 210
	Small-World Index 211
R 3	The Belationship between Characteristic Path Length and Modularity 211
D.0	The Relationship between Characteristic Fath Length and Woddharity 211
Appen	dix C The Role of Neuronal Phase Coherence Underlying
Act	ion-Word Comprehension in Healthy Ageing 213
Consol	idated Bibliography221

Declaration

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, original and my own work. The material has not been submitted, either in whole or in part, for a degree at this, or any other university. This thesis does not exceed the maximum permitted word length of 80,000 words including tables, figures, and footnotes, but excluding the thesis abstract, bibliography, and appendices.

Name: Elise Jisca Oosterhuis Date: July 4, 2024

Acknowledgements

This PhD thesis would not have been possible without the help of my amazing supervisors. Helen Nuttall, Patrick May, and Kate Slade, I'm so very grateful for all your help and guidance. Helen, you've always supported and encouraged me on a professional and personal level. Through your motivation and enthusiasm, you've guided me through the ups and downs. Patrick, your wisdom and enthusiasm were invaluable for my research endeavours. Kate, as my supervisor, colleague, and friend, thank you for our coffees, cakes, and walks in Williamson's Park. Your passion for research and hard work are a real inspiration to me.

To the members of the NoSA lab, thank you for the fun lab meetings and support. I also had the pleasure of meeting many great participants who offered their time and clean hair to volunteer in my research studies. Thank you Neil Bailey for your expertise and guidance on advanced EEG analyses. Peter Tovee and Barrie Usherwood, thank you for all your technical and programming help. Thanks to my fellow PhD friends, some are already doctors and some will be a doctor very soon. To Kim Hudspeth and Charlotte Rothwell, thank you for all our office chats, our laughs, and the thesis writing support. To Didar Karadağ, it was a pleasure to start our PhD time together. I will miss our coffee and chats. To Rachael Cheung, thank you for your encouragement and our continued friendship. Thank you all, I hope all your dreams for academia and beyond will come through. A special thanks to Frank Sierra. I greatly appreciate your support and encouragement during the last phase of my PhD and the transition to a job in data science.

To my parents Harry and Esther, my sister Maureen, and Sjoerd. Thank you for your love and everlasting encouragement. To Ian, for your love and bearing with me in my emotional ups and downs. I'm ever so grateful to all of you. To the rest of my family, thank you for always showing your interest and for encouraging me. A special thanks to Gert and Jennifer, for our engaging and encouraging chats, and for opening up your home. In memory of my opa Henk, whom I greatly miss. I know you would've been so proud of me.

Lastly, to my friends, Nanneke Boxall, Micky Clancy, Nikki Choong, and Maddie Donnelly. Thank you for many chats, laughs, adventures, and for making me feel loved for the past few years. I love you all. To James and Ellis, for opening up your house when my internet was failing me and for teaching me some British banter. Thank you Pete and Esther Carrington, Malcolm and Debbie Robinson, and my CCL family, for supporting and loving me, and for being my family during my time in Lancaster. I'd like to thank Ross Miller, Nathan Price, Matt Woodrow, and Dom Sulston for our continued friendships, our "easy" hikes, our laughs, and our chats. To Valeriya Tolkacheva, моя дорогая подруга, even though we're so far away, I'm so grateful for our friendship.

But most importantly, I thank God for giving me the strength, patience, and energy. I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me (Philippians 4:13).

"The brain is more than an assemblage of autonomous modules, each crucial for a specific mental function. Every one of these functionally specialized areas must interact with dozens or hundreds of others, their total integration creating something like a vastly complicated orchestra with thousands of instruments, an orchestra that conducts itself, with an ever-changing score and repertoire."

Oliver Sacks (2007). Musicophilia: Tales of Music and the Brain.

Abstract

Neurobiological and Lifestyle Contributions to Word-Finding Abilities in Healthy Ageing

Elise Jisca Oosterhuis, MSc

Cognitive ageing is a highly complex and individualised process influenced by underlying neurobiology and lifestyle factors, where the latter also influences the former. Currently, the literature lacks clarity on factors influencing healthy cognitive ageing, particularly concerning word-finding difficulties, which are a primary challenge associated with ageing. This thesis aimed to investigate the neurobiological and lifestyle contributions to word-finding in healthy ageing.

Chapter 2 reviewed the revisited Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition and Cognitive Reserve (CR) theory. Chapters 3 and 4 investigated the relationship between CR and word-finding across the lifespan and in Parkinson's disease (PD). The findings revealed that education, occupation, and current lifestyle choices support word-finding in middle-aged but not in older adults or PD. Contrary to previous literature, CR did not have a positive impact in older adults or PD but did mitigate word-finding difficulties in middle age.

Chapter 4 investigated the link between action language and motor ability in PD. We demonstrated a relationship between motor and word-finding ability in both individuals with and without PD, suggesting a potential shared neuronal circuit. Chapters 5 and 6 aimed to investigate the role of neural coherence in word-finding among younger and older adults using electroencephalography. Chapter 5 revealed a link between word-finding difficulties and functional brain networks, especially in the delta band. Finally, Chapter 6 demonstrated greater frontocentral phase coherence in older adults during action word comprehension, with greater frontocentral phase coherence being related to faster action word processing in both younger and older adults.

Overall, this thesis provided evidence for lifestyle contributions to word-finding abilities in middle-aged but not in older adults. The findings also emphasised the significance of neurobiological factors, especially phase coherence, in maintaining word-finding abilities across the lifespan. The final chapter of this thesis will discuss implications, limitations, and suggestions for future research. "I am writing this with my left hand, although I am strongly right-handed. I had surgery to my right shoulder a month ago (...) and am not capable of use of the right arm at this time. I write slowly, awkwardly - but more easily, more naturally, with each passing day. I am adapting, learning, all the while - not merely this left-handed writing, but a dozen other left-handed skills as well: I have also become very adept, prehensile, with my toes, to compensate for having one arm in a sling. (...) I am developing different patterns, different habits... a different identity, one might say. There must be changes going on with some of the programs and circuits in my brain - altering synaptic weights and connectivities and signals

(though our methods of brain imaging are too crude to show these).(...)
Defects, disorders, diseases, in this sense, can play a paradoxical role, by bringing out latent powers, developments, evolutions, forms of life, that might never be seen, or even be imaginable, in their absence. (...)

Thus while one may be horrified of the ravages of developmental disorder or disease, one may sometimes see them as creative toon- for if they destroy particular paths, they may force the nervous system into making other paths and ways, force on it an unexpected growth and evolution. This other side of

development or disease is something I see, potentially, in almost every patient; and it is this, here, which I am especially concerned to describe.(...)

Oliver Sacks (1993). An anthropologist on Mars: seven paradoxical tales.

Chapter 1

Introduction

To promote well-being in healthy ageing, it is important to promote an individual's mental and physical abilities, along with their environment and the interactions between these different factors (World Health Organization, 2020). Of the mental abilities, older adults recognise word-finding difficulties as the most prominent problem with ageing (Condret-Santi et al., 2013). This thesis focused on the neurobiological and lifestyle contributions of word-finding abilities in healthy cognitive ageing. We investigated the impact of lifestyle choices (e.g., engaging in cognitively stimulating activities) and lifetime experiences (e.g., education) on word-finding abilities across the lifespan. Moreover, the thesis focused on word-finding ability in relation to action words (i.e., words that describe physical actions, such as "throwing"). The investigation into action word-finding is approached from a healthy ageing perspective, as well as from a neurodegenerative perspective concerning Parkinson's disease. Finally, this thesis employed both behavioural and neurobiological methods to investigate word-finding ability.

1.1 An Ageing Population

Due to increases in life expectancy, 10% of the world population is currently aged 65 years or older, and this number is expected to increase to 16% by 2050 (United Nations, 2022). Normal age-related cognitive changes are linked to age-related

changes in both brain structure and function (Damoiseaux, 2017). Some cognitive functions, such as processing speed and working memory, are more affected by the healthy ageing process than, for example, general knowledge (Salthouse, 2009). The most prominent cognitive problem older adults experience is that of age-related word-finding difficulties (Burke & Shafto, 2004; Condret-Santi et al., 2013). When cognitive changes surpass that of healthy ageing, dementia may develop in some people. Understanding the mechanisms of healthy ageing is one of the main goals of the World Health Organization (WHO), to enable the development of evidencebased intervention and prevention strategies to combat dementia (World Health Organization, 2020). Age is the main risk factor for neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (PD), with PD being the secondmost common neurodegenerative disease worldwide (Parkinson's UK, 2018). The increasing incidence of PD in the worldwide population is closely associated with the general trend of an ageing population we see in the world (Ou et al., 2021). Therefore, it is crucial to understand the lifestyle and neurobiological contributions to healthy cognitive ageing, which could help slow down the transition to dementia (World Health Organization, 2022).

1.2 Healthy Cognitive Ageing

Two of the big questions in ageing and dementia research are 1) what factors are involved in healthy cognitive ageing? and 2) why do some people develop dementia whilst others do not? When investigating the mechanisms of healthy cognitive ageing, researchers have focused on external factors, such as lifestyle and lifetime experiences, as well as internal factors, that is, age-related brain changes and neuronal processes to maintain cognitive performance. The following subsections will discuss the lifestyle and neurobiological factors involved in healthy cognitive ageing.

Lifestyle Contributions to Cognitive Ageing

Lifestyle factors, such as physical exercise and engagement in leisure and cognitively stimulating activities, and lifetime experiences, such as greater educational and occupational attainment, have repeatedly been linked to better cognitive functioning in older age (Berggren et al., 2018; Köhncke et al., 2018; Lavrencic et al., 2018). Moreover, education in late life, physical exercise, and higher occupational attainment could delay the onset of dementia, but studies indicate that this may only be the case in people who have a genetic predisposition for dementia (Beckett et al., 2015; McKenzie et al., 2020; Rodriguez et al., 2021; Seeman et al., 2005; Shih et al., 2016; Shih et al., 2018). Hence, when evaluating the lifestyle contributions to cognitive ageing, it is important to consider individual differences and individual ageing trajectories. Such individual differences could be caused by the different positive and negative factors we experience during our lifetime, such as the education we receive or the stress we experience (Livingston et al., 2020).

Two prominent frameworks, Cognitive Reserve (CR) theory (Stern et al., 2020) and the revised Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition (STAC-r; Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014), could explain individual differences in cognitive ageing trajectories. These theories have been proposed to explain the complex mechanisms and factors involved in cognitive ageing. Chapter 2 contains a critical literature review on CR and STAC-r. The review discusses evidence for the cognitive ageing mechanisms proposed by either theory, where the two theories overlap, and further outlines the strengths and shortcomings of both theories. The theory touches briefly on other cognitive ageing theories and theories of age-related brain changes, and how such theories relate to CR and STAC-r.

Several studies have investigated the effects of lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences on cognitive domains, such as executive functioning and memory (see Chapter 2). However, research on whether a combination of different lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences might attenuate word-finding abilities across the lifespan is currently lacking. Hence, Chapter 3 reports an empirical study, investigating whether CR has a positive effect on word-finding ability in younger, middle-aged, and older adults.

Neurobiological Contributions to Cognitive Ageing

Longitudinal studies indicated that maintained cognitive ability in older age was related to better white matter micro-structure (i.e., structural connections between brain areas), less brain atrophy, and fewer white matter hyperintensities (i.e., tiny brain lesions; Corley et al., 2018; Cox et al., 2021). Hence, deterioration of brain structure might lead to cognitive difficulties in older adults. However, it is currently unclear why some people are still able to maintain cognitive performance despite agerelated deterioration of the brain. One reason for this may be linked to compensatory neuronal changes that counteract deterioration (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern, 2009).

Deterioration of brain status is called "neural decline" and can be counteracted by "neural enhancement", a process of increasing neural resources, such as the genesis of new neurons or changes in brain function (Cabeza et al., 2018). Both CR and STAC-r, as will be discussed in Chapter 2, propose that individuals can compensate for "neural decline" (i.e., deterioration of brain status) by recruiting additional or alternative brain regions and neuronal networks (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern, 2009). Several researchers have provided hypotheses about the kind of functional brain changes we could observe in older adults, reflecting compensatory processes for age-related brain pathology to maintain cognition (see Table 1 in Chapter 2 for a description of these hypotheses). Moreover, both CR and STAC-r posit that the ability to compensate for pathology-induced cognitive decline is enabled through lifestyle factors and lifetime experiences, as discussed in Section 1.2. Multiple methodological techniques to measure brain functioning have been implemented to investigate age-related changes in brain functioning. However, further research is required regarding the neuronal mechanisms underpinning age-related word-finding difficulties. Therefore, Chapter

5 used secondary electroencephalography (EEG) data to investigate the relationship between changes in brain segregation and integration measures and word-finding ability in younger and older adults. Chapter 6 describes an in-person EEG study, which investigated whether action word-finding ability declines with age or remains relatively preserved.

1.3 A Theoretical Model Explaining Word-Finding

This thesis focused on neurobiological and lifestyle contributions to age-related changes in word-finding ability. Therefore, the following sections will review a theoretical model of word-finding as well as the word-finding difficulties observed in healthy ageing.

Word retrieval, also called "lexical access", is a cognitive process during which words are retrieved from long-term memory (Levelt et al., 1999). In this thesis, word-finding ability or lexical access means the activation (i.e., retrieval) of words in our long-term memory and the higher-order cognitive processes involved (Pisoni et al., 1985). Over the years, several psycholinguistic models have been proposed to explain word-retrieval processes. Most models focused either on word production or comprehension, such as the Parallel-Distributed-Processing (Seidenberg & McClelland, 1989), Dual Route Cascaded Model (Coltheart et al., 2001), Dell's Interactive Two-step Model (Dell et al., 1997), and the Logogen model (Morton, 1969). The current thesis does not aim to provide evidence for these models. However, to give the reader a theoretical overview of how words are accessed from our memory in single-word production and comprehension, we will discuss the WEAVER++ model in more detail in the next section (Levelt et al., 1999; Roelofs, 2005, 2014).

The WEAVER++ Model of Single Word Production and Comprehension

The WEAVER++ model presents word production and comprehension as a staged process. Figure 1.1 provides a schematic overview of the word production and comprehension stages proposed by the WEAVER++ model. The first stage is the conceptualisation stage during which the concept or idea is generated. In the case of a picture-naming task, the concept is generated by recognising the visual object presented via the picture (Levelt et al., 1998). For verbal fluency tasks, the ideas or concepts are generated through a verbal prompt that has been given to the participant. The model can also be used for written word comprehension (e.g., lexical decision; Roelofs, 2023). However, during written word comprehension, the lemma retrieval stage or word-form encoding stage is immediately accessed, bypassing the conceptualisation stage (Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Roelofs, 2023). After the lexical concept has been generated, the word with its semantic and syntactic properties (i.e., lemma) is selected among other lexical competitors (Levelt et al., 1999).

The next two stages involve the encoding of the word form, which includes morphological, phonological, including the metric or syllable structure of the phonological word form, and phonetic encoding. Finally, the motor speech commands necessary to orally produce the word, such as that of the vocal tract, are generated, and the word is articulated and presented as a sound wave during the articulation stage. Importantly, the model also includes "self-monitoring", during which the speaker hears themselves speak (either overtly/externally or covertly/internally). Self-monitoring enables the detection of any errors or disfluencies in the speech.

Recently, the WEAVER++ model was updated using behavioural, neuroimaging, and clinical evidence, into the WEAVER++/ARC model (Roelofs, 2014). Importantly, the WEAVER++/ARC makes a distinction between declarative and procedural



Figure 1.1. The WEAVER++ model of single-word production. Adapted from Levelt and colleagues Levelt et al. (1999) and Roelofs (2005)

memory for word processing. That is, in the lexical system, declarative memory includes memory for word meaning, form, and category, whilst procedural memory involves lexical grammar, such as word inflections, and phonological rules (Ullman, 2004). The lexical network, including declarative and procedural memory, is subserved by a broad network of neuronal connections and brain regions.

To summarise, this section discussed a theoretical model for spoken and written word-finding. However, we have not yet discussed how ageing can affect these processes. We will, therefore, discuss the effect of age on word-finding in the next subsection.

Word-Finding Difficulties in Healthy Ageing

Word-finding difficulties have been demonstrated in healthy cognitive ageing (Marini & Andreetta, 2016; Mortensen et al., 2006). Word-finding difficulties typically occur around the age of 40 or 50 years (Kavé & Knafo-Noam, 2015). Word-finding ability can be measured through picture-naming and verbal fluency or "word generation" tasks (Whiteside et al., 2016). In a verbal fluency task, the participant is given a fixed time limit, typically one or two minutes, to generate as many words as possible belonging to a certain semantic category (i.e., semantic fluency; e.g., "animals") or starting with a certain letter (i.e., letter fluency; e.g., /s). Studies on semantic- and letter-fluency tasks have revealed an age-related decrease in the number of generated words, with an earlier onset and faster decline for semantic fluency compared to letter fluency (Gordon et al., 2018; Kavé & Knafo-Noam, 2015; McDowd et al., 2011). Another way of measuring word-finding ability is through naming pictures of objects and actions (Mortensen et al., 2006), which is found to be more difficult for older than younger adults (e.g., Connor et al., 2004; Kavé et al., 2010; Mackay et al., 2002). In this thesis, Chapters 3 - 5 investigated word-finding ability through verbal fluency and picture-naming tasks, assessing word production.

In word comprehension studies, lexical-decision tasks have been used to assess word-finding abilities (Seidenberg & McClelland, 1989). Lexical decision requires an individual to decide whether a string of letters represents a word or a non-word by pressing a button. Whilst the accuracy of lexical decisions remains high across the lifespan, reaction times slow down with age (Davies et al., 2017; Ratcliff et al., 2004). In contrast, studies have revealed an asymmetry between word production and comprehension in that age-related declines in word comprehension seem to be very subtle if not absent whilst word production is more affected by age (James & MacKay, 2007). Hence, for a more complete picture of the age-related effects on word-finding ability, it is important to investigate both word production and comprehension. Therefore, Chapter 6 focused on word comprehension, using a lexical-decision task.

1.4 Neurobiology of Word-Finding

The Neuroanatomy and Neurophysiology of Word-Finding

Years of neuroimaging and electrophysiological studies have revealed a widespread network of brain regions involved in word-finding. Following the scope of the thesis, this section will be limited to discussing the neurobiology of spoken word production and written word comprehension, with an emphasis on lexical access. This section will review the brain regions underlying word-finding following MRI studies as well as its time course, based on electroencephalography (EEG) and magnetoencephalography (MEG) studies. Because the time course of word-finding processes is partly based on event-related potentials (ERPs) components, we will also briefly discuss the ERP components involved in lexical access.

The first stage, conceptual preparation, starts 150-200ms after stimulus onset (Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Indefrey, 2011). Semantic concepts activate partly overlapping brain regions, mostly left-lateralised, during single-word production and comprehension (Binder et al., 2009; Price, 2010, 2012). Regions include the angular gyrus, lateral and ventral temporal cortex (e.g., middle temporal gyrus), ventral medial and dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, inferior frontal gyrus, and posterior cingulate gyrus (see Figure 1.2).

Furthermore, researchers largely agreed that linguistic concepts encompass action, perception, and emotion features, activating brain regions underlying such features (Kemmerer, 2019). For example, the word "hammer" would activate brain regions linked to the action of hammering. Perception involves what the hammer feels, looks, and sounds like, while emotion involves the emotions an individual associates with "hammer", for example, the pain of hitting one's thumb.



Figure 1.2. Brain regions involved during the lexical access stage of word-finding.

These features are then combined in a multimodal hub region, often believed to be comprised of the anterior temporal lobes, which is involved in the conceptual processing of both written words and pictures (Rice et al., 2015; Visser et al., 2010). Cortical thinning of the anterior temporal lobes may lead to impairments in naming performance (Domoto-Reilly et al., 2012).

The lemma retrieval process starts around 200ms after stimulus onset and takes approximately 75ms. For written word comprehension, lexical access starts around 200ms after the word has been presented. However, during written word comprehension, lexical access relies on the written word form rather than a conceptual meaning. Morphophonological encoding starts around 275ms after stimulus onset and takes about 80ms (Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Indefrey, 2011). Both conceptual preparation and morphophonological encoding processes continue during the next stage. The left (posterior) middle temporal gyrus and the left middle frontal gyrus (see Figure 1.2) likely underlie lexical access (Kemmerer, 2019; Lau et al., 2008; Piai & Eikelboom, 2023; Price, 2010). More specifically, the left middle temporal gyrus is mainly activated during the retrieval of object nouns (Kemmerer, 2019). In contrast to object nouns, action verbs might be supported by different brain regions (discussed in section 1.5). During lemma retrieval, the inferior frontal gyrus and the anterior cingulate gyrus are thought to underlie cognitive control mechanisms, such as inhibition and attention (Haber, 2016; Kemmerer, 2019).

Regarding the ERP components involved in lexical access, the N200/N250 component (i.e., a negative peak around 200-300ms post-onset) is thought to reflect early lexical access processes, reflecting the retrieval of written word forms (Grainger & Holcomb, 2009). In addition, the N400 is an important ERP component underlying word-finding ability and takes place within a time window of 200-600ms, with a negative peak around 300-400ms post-stimulus-onset (Kutas & Federmeier, 2011). The N400 might reflect semantic processing and facilitated lexical access (de Zubicaray & Schiller, 2019; Kutas & Federmeier, 2011; Lau et al., 2008). Moreover, the N400 has been proposed to indicate lexical competition during written word comprehension (Meade et al., 2018).

Phonological encoding (i.e., syllabification) starts around 355ms and takes on average 235ms, however, the duration is dependent on the number of phonemes and syllables the word contains (Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Indefrey, 2011). The next stage, phonological form retrieval processes during speech production, takes place in the left posterior superior and middle temporal gyri (i.e., Wernicke's area; Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Kemmerer, 2019; Price, 2012). Syllabification processes activate the left posterior inferior frontal gyrus (i.e., Broca's area; Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Indefrey, 2011; Kemmerer, 2019).

Finally, it is difficult to entangle the phonetic encoding and articulation stages due to overlapping cognitive processes (Indefrey & Levelt, 2004). The phonetic encoding stage starts around 455ms but might start earlier, once the first syllable has been phonologically encoded. This stage ends when the articulation of the word starts. Neuroanatomical studies have indicated the left ventral pars opercularis (i.e., inferior frontal gyrus) and left ventral premotor cortex as the brain regions responsible for phonetic encoding (Kemmerer, 2019; Price, 2012). Several motor and pre-motor areas, among others, are involved during articulatory processes (Price, 2010).

Hence, when investigating age-related changes in word-finding ability, it is important to take into account the neurobiological contributions to word-finding ability with ageing. In this thesis, we specifically focused on neuronal coherence, an aspect of neurophysiology, which will be discussed in the next subsection.

Neuronal Coherence

At a micro level, our brain is capable of rapidly synchronising neuronal activity across different groups of neurons, enabling fast information processing between brain regions. This synchronisation of neuronal activity is also called coherence and subserves higher-order cognitive functions and cognitive flexibility (Fries, 2005, 2015; Uhlhaas et al., 2009). The 'neuronal communication through neuronal coherence' hypothesis states that groups of neurons communicate by aligning or synchronising their oscillatory fluctuations, both their frequencies and phase, with other groups of neurons (i.e., coherence; Fries, 2005). Frequency is the speed of brain oscillations (in Hertz) and phase is the position of the oscillation at a certain point in time Cognitive demands can also shape the dynamics of neuronal (Cohen, 2014). communication. Following Fries' (2005) hypothesis, neuronal coherence could subserve word-finding ability and other related cognitive processes. Moreover, changes in oscillatory activity might indicate age-related cognitive decline and decline following neurodegenerative disease (Courtney & Hinault, 2021). More specifically, increases and decreases in neuronal coherence as a consequence of healthy or pathological ageing can signal compensatory and maladaptive neuroplasticity. The exact neurophysiological mechanisms underlying age-related word-finding difficulties are still unclear. Investigating how neuronal coherence supports word-finding ability in older age could provide further insights into the processes underlying word-finding.

Methods to Investigate Neuronal Coherence

Neuronal coherence can be investigated in several ways. It can be quantified by determining functional connectivity, which measures the statistical dependencies (i.e., correlations) between different neuronal populations (Friston, 1994; Sporns et al., 2004). Neuronal coherence can also be measured through inter-trial phase coherence (ITPC), which measures the synchrony between phases (i.e., the consistency between phases) that are time-locked to specific events or stimuli (Delorme & Makeig, 2004).

In the current thesis, functional brain connectivity during rest (i.e., in the absence of a task) was evaluated to investigate whether functional brain connectivity is related to word-finding difficulties in older age. Resting-state EEG analyses hold significance due to the ease and speed of administering resting-state EEG recordings. Such analyses offer valuable insights into cognitive functioning, as well as the potential for diagnosing and treating neurodegenerative diseases (Ishii et al., 2017; O'Neill et al., 2018; Rosazza & Minati, 2011; van Diessen et al., 2015). One kind of resting-state analysis employs graph theory, which can be used to map and describe functional brain networks. In functional brain networks, the nodes represent brain regions or EEG electrode positions, and the edges represent the neuronal coherence between the nodes (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009; Sporns et al., 2004).

Through the identification of functional brain networks via EEG, we can investigate the effects of physiological ageing and identify biomarkers for age-related pathology, including dementia (Valizadeh et al., 2019; Vecchio et al., 2020). Next, we can derive measures of functional connectivity from functional brain networks, such as the strength of neuronal coherence or the organisation of the brain network. Such measures can give an indication of the brain's efficiency or strength of information transfer between different brain regions (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009; Fries, 2005). We can link functional connectivity measures to behaviour, enabling the investigation of neuronal mechanisms underlying age-related cognitive changes. Therefore, Chapter 5 takes a graph theoretical approach, using secondary EEG data to investigate the relationship between changes in functional brain networks and word-finding ability in younger and older adults. By increasing our understanding of how functional brain networks change with age and what effect this has on word-finding ability, intervention techniques could be developed that are aimed at maintaining or optimising functional brain networks that support word-finding ability in older age.

Another measure, ITPC, is quantified using time-frequency-based analysis. The phase consistency obtained through ITPC has been suggested to reflect the synchronisation of neuronal activity across neuronal populations (Cohen, 2014). Few studies have investigated the relationship between age and ITPC. These studies showed that theta band ITPC might increase from childhood into adulthood and decrease again in older age, possibly reflecting increases and decreases in cognitive control (Papenberg et al., 2013). Increased theta band ITPC in younger compared to older adults might also reflect early attention processes related to working memory (Ho et al., 2012). ITPC has been argued to reflect neuroplasticity with age (in younger adults vs. children; Yordanova & Kolev, 2009) and brain reorganisation after stroke (Gyulai et al., 2021). Therefore, investigating age-related changes in ITPC underlying word-finding can provide us with insights into the brain mechanisms underlying age-related word-finding abilities.

Subcortical Involvement in Word-Finding

Not only cortical but also subcortical areas are involved in word-finding. According to the WEAVER++/ARC model, the basal ganglia and thalamus underpin the procedural memory system in the lexical network (Roelofs, 2014). The thalamus has been proposed to control and adapt the connectivity between cortical areas, due to the connections between the thalamus and cortical areas, including Broca's area (Bohsali et al., 2015; Klostermann et al., 2013). That is, the thalamus might be involved in language processing by enabling communication and information exchange between thalamocortical neurons (Klostermann et al., 2013). Moreover, the thalamus has been proposed to act as a "gatekeeper" in cognition, including language, by selectively filtering and passing on information to different brain areas (Moustafa et al., 2017). For word-finding specifically, the cortico-thalamic connections may enable the binding of multiple perceptual features of words, such as action features, during language production and comprehension (Bohsali et al., 2015).

Another subcortical structure involved in word-finding is the basal ganglia (see Figure 1.2). In conjunction with the basal ganglia, the thalamus may be involved in the process of mapping a semantic concept onto an appropriate word whereby the basal ganglia reduces the probability of error during the word-finding processes (Crosson, 2021). The basal ganglia might also play a domain-general role in the controlled selection and inhibition of words during language production and comprehension (Copland et al., 2021). Furthermore, the basal ganglia have connections to the cortex, including frontal and motor areas, which form corticobasal ganglia pathways (see Section 1.6 and Figure 1.3; Alexander et al., 1986). Several of such pathways seem to play a role in cognition and language (for a review, see Copland et al., 2021). Specifically, the pathway between the basal ganglia and the frontal cortex (i.e., the frontostriatal pathway) seems involved in combining motor/action and linguistic information (Birba et al., 2017; Ullman, 2004). Consequently, certain subcortical brain regions, like the basal ganglia, could have a specific role in accessing and integrating motor aspects of words. As a result, we will discuss the neurobiological differences between action and object words in the following section.

1.5 Action versus Object Words

Word-finding involves both nouns and verbs. Different but partially overlapping brain regions and networks seem to be involved depending on whether our brain processes a noun or verb. Therefore, the empirical study in Chapter 3 distinguishes between object and action word-finding ability and, additionally, considers the effect of age-related changes in general cognitive processing. Lesion studies showed that noun deficits follow from damage of the temporal cortices while verb deficits can occur after a lesion in a variety of different brain regions, including the frontal lobe or basal ganglia (Mätzig et al., 2009). However, some authors argued that the different brain patterns are caused by semantics (i.e., object vs. actions) and not grammatical class (Moseley & Pulvermüller, 2014, i.e., nouns vs. verbs). This argument falls within the embodied cognition framework and is based on the idea that different conceptual features, such as motor and perceptual features, are grounded in corresponding brain regions (e.g., those involved in motor processing; Barsalou, 1999; Kiefer & Pulvermüller, 2012; Lakoff & Johnson, 1980). Indeed, knowledge of objects and actions seems to be represented in the left inferior temporal cortices and prefrontal cortex, respectively, but such distinction was not found for grammatical class (Vigliocco et al., 2011). Action words are words that describe physical action, such as the word "throwing". Action verb naming involves brain regions in the precentral gyrus (or primary motor cortex), inferior frontal gyrus, and basal ganglia (Akinina et al., 2019). Hence, action verbs seem to activate motorrelated brain regions. Not only verbs but also nouns can possess motor/action features (e.g., how manipulable an object is), such as the word "hammer" and other tools (Kellenbach et al., 2003). Evidence comes from aphasia and dementia studies, which found that high-manipulable words were more impaired in individuals with aphasia and dementia, irrespective of the word's grammatical class (Arévalo et al., 2007; Bak & Hodges, 2003).

Both older and younger adults seem to rely on different types of mental representations, using sensory knowledge among others, to process language (Burke, 2006). Activation of motor-related brain regions might facilitate word-finding (Akinina et al., 2019). Degradation of these brain regions with age, possibly as a result of neural dedifferentiation (see Chapter 2) could lead to a decrease in the link between perceptual/motor systems and cognition (Baltes & Lindenberger, 1997; Costello & Bloesch, 2017). Regarding word-finding, some researchers argued that action word-finding is relatively preserved with age (Reifegerste et al., 2021) whilst others argued that action language declines in older adults (Bidet-Ildei et al., 2020). Activation of intact motor-related brain regions might facilitate word-finding in older age to maintain performance. In addition, age-related declines in motor-related brain regions could be related to action language declines in older adults. Both ideas imply that the preservation of motor brain regions might be important in maintaining action word-finding in older age. However, research into the effects of age on the neuronal mechanisms underlying action language is currently sparse. Therefore, Chapter 6 describes an in-person EEG study to investigate whether action language declines with age or whether action word-finding ability remains relatively preserved. More specifically, ITPC in the frontocentral brain region was investigated as a neuronal signature of action language and whether there is a difference in ITPC between younger and older adults. In addition, the study distinguished between high- and low-action content of words but not between nouns and verbs.

1.6 Parkinson's Disease as a Neurodegenerative Model for Word-Finding

Word-finding difficulties are also present in individuals with Parkinson's disease (PD; Henry & Crawford, 2004). In particular, action language seems to be affected in PD (e.g., Bocanegra et al., 2017; Cotelli et al., 2007; Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012). Therefore, action word-finding difficulties in PD are especially of interest when investigating the neurobiological contributions of word-finding. This paragraph will discuss the neural system affected in individuals with PD, mainly that of the basal ganglia, and how pathology-related changes in the neural system relate to action language.

Basal Ganglia Dysfunction

The classical basal ganglia model includes a "direct" and an "indirect" pathway (see Figure 1.3; Albin et al., 1989; Alexander & Crutcher, 1990). The direct pathway is comprised of striatal neurons projecting to output basal ganglia structures (the globus pallidus internus (GPi) and substantia nigra pars reticulata), allowing motor initiation by disinhibiting the thalamus. The indirect pathway involves striatal neurons projecting to output basal ganglia structures through the globus pallidus externus (GPe) and the subthalamic nucleus (STN), suppressing movement by inhibiting the thalamus. The "hyperdirect" pathway connects the cortex (inferior frontal gyrus and pre-supplementary motor area) to the STN, bypassing the striatum, enabling swift modulation of basal ganglia outputs (Nambu et al., 2002). This pathway is important for stopping movements that have already been initiated, based on stop- and conflict signals (Aron et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2020).

In PD, dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta degenerate, resulting in dopamine loss (Jellinger, 2012; Postuma et al., 2015). This loss impacts basal ganglia structures, thalamus, and neuronal pathways between the basal ganglia and cortical areas. It increases the activity of the indirect pathway while reducing direct pathway activity. Consequently, the thalamus gets excessively inhibited via heightened GPe inhibition, increased STN activity, and intensified GPi influence on the thalamus (McGregor & Nelson, 2019). Basal ganglia dysfunction in PD, but also in Huntington's disease, small vessel disease, and basal ganglia strokes, can cause difficulties in word-finding ability (Camerino et al., 2022).

Action Language in Parkinson's Disease

Dysfunction of the frontostriatal pathway could lead to difficulties with action language in PD (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017; Birba et al., 2017). Language impairments may even indicate frontostriatal pathway dysfunction in the early stages of PD (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017). Since the core clinical characteristics of PD are



Figure 1.3. Classic Basal Ganglia model with the direct, indirect, and hyperdirect pathways. Green arrows indicate excitatory pathways whilst red arrows indicate inhibitory pathways. Movement is suppressed by stronger inhibition of the thalamus whilst disinhibition of the thalamus allows movement initiation. Dopamine is important to increase (more dopamine) or decrease inhibition (less dopamine) of the striatum. Dopamine loss in Parkinson's increases the disinhibition of the striatum and increases thalamus inhibition, which hinders motor initiation.

motor symptoms, such as bradykinesia (Postuma et al., 2015), investigating action word-finding abilities in PD offers a valuable opportunity to provide further insights into the neurocognitive systems underlying action language.

Studies suggested that difficulties in action language might stem from the involvement of the brain's motor systems, including the basal ganglia (i.e., action language being "grounded" in motor systems; Birba et al., 2017; Bocanegra et al., 2015; Gallese & Cuccio, 2018). That is, brain motor systems support action word-finding, but PD-related dysfunction of such systems may result in action word-finding difficulties (Boulenger et al., 2008). If action language is indeed grounded in the brain's motor systems, we would expect a relationship between action language and motor ability as both skills rely on similar neuronal systems. However, most

studies provided evidence against such a relationship (Bocanegra et al., 2017; Johari et al., 2019).

Evidence for such a relationship comes from a study by Roberts et al. (2017), showing that greater upper-limb impairment (i.e., that of the hand and arm) was related to slower processing of verbs describing upper-limb actions in PD. However, whether motor ability and action language of specific body parts, such as the upper limbs, are also related in individuals without PD has not been investigated yet. Hence, individuals without PD might also reveal a relationship between upper-limb action words and upper-limb motor ability. If this is the case, such a relationship will have implications for the idea of grounded action language in both unimpaired and clinical populations. Therefore, Chapter 4 reports an empirical study in people with and without Parkinson's disease. The chapter specifically investigated the relationship between upper-limb motor ability and the production of words (both nouns and verbs) that describe upper-limb actions.

1.7 Summary and Thesis Outline

Cognitive ageing is a complex process, and it is currently unclear what lifestyle and neurobiological factors exactly contribute to healthy cognitive ageing and, more specifically, word-finding ability. Hence, the overall aim of this thesis was to investigate both lifestyle and neurobiological contributions to word-finding abilities in healthy ageing. Therefore, the first part of this thesis focused on lifestyle factors involved in healthy cognitive ageing and its effect on word-finding abilities.

First, this thesis evaluated ageing theories on the mechanisms of healthy cognitive ageing (Chapter 2) and the relationship between word-finding difficulties lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences across the lifespan (Chapter 3). Secondly, the thesis investigated how action language difficulties are linked to motor impairments in Parkinson's disease as a neurodegenerative model (Chapter 4).

Investigating neuronal coherence using EEG data has the potential to illuminate

age-related changes in brain function, and could be used as a method to detect changes beyond that of normal ageing and potentially to predict dementia and track disease progression. Therefore, the second part of the thesis focused on the neurophysiological underpinnings of age-related changes in word-finding abilities. More specifically, the thesis aimed to answer how functional brain networks are linked to age-related word-finding difficulties (Chapter 5). In addition, the thesis aimed to investigate a neuronal signature (i.e., ITPC) underlying action-word comprehension in younger and older adults and whether ITPC underlying actionword comprehension declines with age (Chapter 6). Finally, Chapter 7 provides a general discussion of the findings and limitations of the four empirical studies (Chapters 3 - 6), and outlines directions for future research.

Rationale for Alternative Format

Chapters 2 - 6 in this thesis are written in publishable manuscript format. The review paper in Chapter 2 and the empirical study in Chapter 3 have both been published (Chapter 2: *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences*; Chapter 3: *PLOS ONE*). The empirical studies in Chapters 4 - 6 will be submitted for peer review and are therefore presented in publishable manuscript format. The secondary data analysis in Chapter 5 is being prepared for submission to *Neurobiology of Language*. The different chapters in this thesis cover different but important aspects of cognitive ageing, including both behavioural and neurocognitive aspects. Although the chapters contain distinct papers, the topics and findings discussed in these papers are interlinked and provide a logical and unified narrative regarding lifestyle and neurobiological contributions to age-related changes in word-finding ability.

My Contributions to the Research

For all the studies presented in this thesis, I was responsible for the conceptualisation, study design, data collection, data analyses, and the writing and revision of the manuscripts, under the supervision of Dr Helen Nuttall, Dr Patrick May, and Dr Kate Slade. For Chapter 5, however, secondary data from the "Leipzig Study for Mind-Body-Emotion Interactions" database was analysed due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. In addition, the data in Chapters 3 and 4 were collected online, using Teams conference calls and the Gorilla Experiment Builder, due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. For Chapters 5 and 6, we collaborated with Dr Neil Bailey (Monash University, Australia), who provided his expertise on complex EEG data analyses (i.e., functional connectivity and ITPC analyses).

Chapter 2

Toward an Understanding of Healthy Cognitive Aging: The Importance of Lifestyle in Cognitive Reserve and the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition

This chapter reviews two prominent theories of healthy cognitive ageing, Cognitive Reserve (CR) theory and the revised Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition (STAC-r). In particular, we will discuss the mechanisms that contribute to cognitive ageing supported by relevant literature. Such mechanisms include lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences (e.g., physical activity and education), as well as brain function, which are themes discussed throughout this thesis.

Author Note: This paper was accepted for publication in December 2022 and was produced in collaboration with Dr. Kate Slade, Dr. Patrick May, and Dr. Helen Nuttall as co-authors. It is available as a published paper at: Oosterhuis, E. J., Slade, K., May, P. J. C., & Nuttall, H. E. (2022). Toward an Understanding of Healthy Cognitive Aging: The Importance of Lifestyle in Cognitive Reserve and the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition. The Journals of Gerontology: Series B, gbac197. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac197



New Directions in Aging

Toward an Understanding of Healthy Cognitive Aging: The Importance of Lifestyle in Cognitive Reserve and the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition

Elise J. Oosterhuis, MSc,*• Kate Slade, PhD, Patrick J. C. May, PhD, and Helen E. Nuttall, PhD

Department of Psychology, Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK.

*Address correspondence to: Elise J. Oosterhuis, MSc, Department of Psychology, Lancaster University, Bailrigg, Lancaster LA1 4YF, UK. E-mail: e.oosterhuis@lancaster.ac.uk

Received: July 1, 2022; Editorial Decision Date: December 8, 2022

Decision Editor: Vanessa Taler, PhD

Abstract

The World Health Organization (WHO) aims to improve our understanding of the factors that promote healthy cognitive aging and combat dementia. Aging theories that consider individual aging trajectories are of paramount importance to meet the WHO's aim. Both the revised Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition (STAC-r) and Cognitive Reserve theory (CR) offer theoretical frameworks for the mechanisms of cognitive aging and the positive influence of an engaged life-style. STAC-r additionally considers adverse factors, such as depression. The two theories explain different though partly overlapping aspects of cognitive aging. Currently, it is unclear where the theories agree and differ and what compensation mechanism of age-related cognitive decline might be better explained by either STAC-r, CR, or by both. This review provides an essential discussion of the similarities and differences between these prominent cognitive aging theories, their implications for intervention methods and neurodegenerative disease, and significant shortcomings that have not yet been addressed. This review will direct researchers to common insights in the field and to intervention targets and testable hypotheses for future research. Future research should investigate the potential use of STAC-r in neurodegenerative diseases and provide clarity as to what combination of factors build CR, including their relative importance and when in life they are most effective.

Keywords: Compensatory mechanisms, Intervention, Neurodegenerative disease, Shortcomings

Examining the Mechanisms of Cognitive Decline

The global population over age 65 is expected to increase by 120% between 2019 and 2050 (United Nations et al., 2020). With a rapidly aging population, dementia also becomes more prevalent. Mild cognitive changes are an inevitable part of healthy aging. However, declines in cognitive function beyond the expected age-related changes may signal a transition into dementia. The World Health Organization emphasizes the importance of understanding mechanisms of healthy aging to create evidence-based intervention and prevention strategies to combat dementia (World Health Organization, 2020). Therefore, it is crucial to investigate what factors promote healthy cognitive aging and slow down the transition to dementia.

Approximately 40% of dementia cases can be delayed or prevented through a healthy lifestyle that reduces risk factors, such as physical inactivity, low education, and social isolation (Livingston et al., 2020). Such risk factors contribute to heterogenous aging trajectories, in which

© The Author(s) 2022. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of The Gerontological Society of America. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. some people age better than others (Daskalopoulou et al., 2019). Why certain subsections of the population, such as centenarians, are able to maintain cognitive functioning at very old age (e.g., Beker et al., 2021) is unclear. Hence, there is a need for aging theories that consider individual trajectories of cognitive aging.

Currently, there are several aging theories that demonstrate some overlap in their constructs, such as changes in brain activity patterns with age (for a review, see Barulli & Stern, 2013). Attempts have been made to form a consensus of terminology and constructs (Cabeza et al., 2018; Stern et al., 2020). Previous reviews have mainly focused on finding common ground between different cognitive aging theories (Barulli & Stern, 2013). However, determining both similarities and differences between theories of cognitive aging will allow us to identify what cognitive aging mechanisms are agreed upon and what mechanisms need clarification.

Several cognitive aging theories, such as the hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults (HAROLD; Cabeza, 2002; see Table 1 for an overview of these theories), aim to explain the mechanisms underlying cognitive decline. However, they might not be comprehensive enough to fully explain the complex mechanism involved in cognitive aging (Festini et al., 2018). In contrast, the revised Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition (STAC-r; Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014) and the theory of Cognitive Reserve (CR; Stern et al., 2020) present important viewpoints on the underpinnings of healthy cognitive aging by taking a multifaceted approach. The theories have both similarities and important differences. This review aims to evaluate which aspects of cognitive aging might be explained best by either theory. We will focus on the effect of lifestyle factors and brain health on cognitive decline and discuss how the two theories could serve as models in predicting dementia. Through critical comparison, we will direct researchers to

common insights in the field and to intervention targets and testable hypotheses for future research. We first review current theories of cognitive aging and contrast these theories with CR and STAC-r. We then discuss the similarities and differences between CR and STAC-r, and their implications for intervention methods and neurodegenerative disease. Finally, for both theories, we identify significant shortcomings that have not yet been addressed and provide directions for future research.

Theories of Age-Related Cognitive Decline

Cognitive aging theories, such as the compensation-related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (CRUNCH; Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008), HAROLD (Cabeza, 2002), and posterior-anterior shift in aging (PASA; Davis et al., 2008), explain age-related changes in cognitive functioning through modulations in brain activation patterns. However, HAROLD and PASA might not explain why some individuals are better able to compensate for age-related cognitive decline than others. A strong point of CRUNCH is that it considers the effect of external factors, such as exercise or genetic disadvantages, on successful compensation. A weakness is that CRUNCH may not be applicable to every cognitive domain, such as visuospatial working memory, as the crunch point cannot always be found in older adults despite high task loads and increases in brain activity (e.g., Jamadar, 2020). In addition, HAROLD proposes that agerelated changes in brain activity may reflect neural dedifferentiation, wherein brain activation patterns become less specific (Cabeza, 2002; Li et al., 2001). However, the relationship between cognition and neural dedifferentiation can also be demonstrated in younger adults (see Koen & Rugg, 2019). Hence, it can be hypothesized that neural dedifferentiation might not underlie age-related declines in all cognitive domains. Moreover, the effects of lifestyle choices

Iddle I. Description of the Main Theories on Ade-Related Countieve Deci	Table 1.	Description of	of the Main	Theories on	Age-Related	Cognitive De	ecline
---	----------	----------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	--------------	--------

•	
Cognitive Aging Theory	Description
Compensation-related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008)	 As task demands increase, the brain recruits more neural resources to maintain task performance When task demands are too high, the brain is not able to effectively compensate for the increase in load (i.e., crunch point) Older adults experience this crunch point sooner than younger adults and age-related decreases in cognitive task performance become apparent Compensatory processes benefit from, for example, cognitive training and exercise, and are influenced negatively by genetic dicadvantages
Hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults (Cabeza, 2002)	 Older adults recruit bilateral prefrontal cortices during cognitive tasks to maintain task performance Younger adults show more unilateral brain activity
Posterior–anterior shift in aging (Davis et al., 2008) Neural dedifferentiation hypothesis (Li et al., 2001)	 Older adults maintain optimal task performance despite brain activity decreases in posterior brain regions due to brain activity increases in anterior regions With age, brain regions and networks become less functionally specific to certain perceptual inputs or cognitive processes Brain activation will become more widespread in older compared to younger adults
779

on neural dedifferentiation are not accounted for and are currently unknown (Koen & Rugg, 2019).

External factors could explain why some individuals are better able to compensate for age- and disease-related cognitive difficulties than others. CR (Stern et al., 2020) states that cognitive "reserve" is accumulated through lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences, such as social activities and education (Figure 1). To measure CR, researchers use individual or combinations of proxies, including years of education, IQ, and engagement in leisure, social, or physical activities. The accumulated CR increases cognitive and neural flexibility by enabling the use of cognitive strategies, strengthening existing brain networks, or recruiting alternative brain networks. To illustrate, if two individuals have similar age-related structural brain changes, one individual could still be able to maintain cognitive performance due to higher CR levels while the performance of the other individual falters. The person who maintains cognitive performance has higher CR levels that enable the use of alternative cognitive strategies and functional brain networks. Stern and colleagues hypothesized that CR proxies predict both cognitive performance and the rate of cognitive decline, and that high CR slows down disease-related cognitive decline and delays the onset of dementia (Stern et al., 2020).

An important limitation of CR is that, despite attempts and the use of neural proxies (e.g., blood flow), no explicit neural basis has been proposed. Instead, brain reserve and brain maintenance are often discussed in conjunction with cognitive reserve (Barulli & Stern, 2013). Brain reserve reflects the brain's anatomical resources (e.g., the number of neurons) and is fixed because it cannot be altered by life experiences (Stern et al., 2020). Individuals with more brain reserve would be better able to cope with pathology, delaying the manifestation of cognitive changes. Quantitative measurements of brain structure, which reflect brain reserve, can predict when cognitive disfunction occurs. Although brain reserve and cognitive reserve are



Figure 1. A schematic representation of Cognitive Reserve theory. Cognitive Reserve enables Neural Flexibility and Cognitive Strategies, which both moderate the negative influence of age-related brain deterioration on cognitive performance. The gray dashed arrow indicates that the neuronal processes inevitably influence cognitive processes.

discussed as separate concepts, Cabeza and colleagues (2018) argued that the concepts should be merged under the umbrella term "reserve" because cognition is based in the brain. Brain maintenance refers to the mechanisms of repair and plasticity that can protect against structural decline of the brain. Lifestyle choices and genetics feed into brain maintenance, and can delay the development of brain pathology and increase the brain reserve threshold for cognitive decline. To summarize, brain reserve protects against the effects of brain pathology but cannot be altered by life experiences. Brain maintenance protects the brain against the development of pathology and is modulated through genetics and life experiences. Finally, CR explains individual differences in the ability to cope with cognitive difficulties resulting from brain pathology through differences in life experiences. Recently, researchers started to use the umbrella term of "resilience" to describe the ameliorating effect of CR, brain reserve, and brain maintenance on slowing down age-related brain changes and pathology (Stern et al., 2020).

However, the different concepts of reserve have not yet been integrated into a single model. A comprehensive

model is needed where such concepts are linked clearly to make specific predictions about the complex mechanisms of cognitive aging. Moreover, whilst CR does predict lower cognition and faster cognitive decline in people with low CR, it does not include adverse factors, such as depression. STAC-r offers a multifaceted framework that includes adverse life factors (Figure 2; Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). According to STAC-r, cognitive decline is caused by age-related deterioration of brain structure and function, such as a reduction in brain volume and functional brain connectivity. "Scaffolding," which is essentially a form of neuroplasticity, enables people to compensate for age-related cognitive decline through the recruitment of alternative brain regions or the generation of new brain cells.

Life-course experiences influence how well someone can "scaffold" (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Similar to CR, scaffolding is boosted by lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences, such as education and the engagement in cognitively stimulating activities, which is termed "neural resource enrichment." Unlike CR, however, STAC-r also considers the effects of adverse life events, such as depression,



Figure 2. A conceptual model of the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition—revised. The arrows indicate the influence of one model's component over another. Adapted from Reuter-Lorenz and Park (2014).



Figure 3. A schematic representation of the main ideas proposed by Cognitive Reserve CR) theory and Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition—revised (STAC-r). Ideas of the two theories about the same theme (e.g., intervention) are aligned to allow for more direct comparison.

vascular disease, and head trauma. These events fall under the "neural resource depletion" construct and weaken scaffolding abilities. Aging and neural resource enrichment and depletion contribute to maintaining overall brain status (i.e., the brain's structure and functional processes). Neural resource enrichment can positively influence the structure and function of the brain, whereas depletion can have a negative influence. Brain structure can be influenced by neuropathology, such as amyloid/tau burden, which would indicate that dementia-related pathology can influence cognitive aging. Brain function can decrease in efficiency (i.e., speed and quality of neural processing) due to changes in, for example, functional brain networks. Brain structure and function are interlinked through the beneficial and adverse influences of neuroplasticity (e.g., neurogenesis and cortical thinning). Moreover, brain structure and function directly contribute to people's scaffolding abilities.

In the initial STAC model, the concept of neural dedifferentiation was suggested as a cause of functional deterioration (Park & Reuter-Lorenz, 2009). In the revised STAC model, the concept has been replaced by "neural specificity," which indicates that neural specificity can decrease with age and through adverse life events but that it can also increase through neural resource enrichment factors (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). This term corresponds to that of "neural selectivity" proposed by Koen and Rugg (2019). Neural selectivity refers both to reduced brain activity in the brain area underlying a certain cognitive function and to increased brain activity in brain areas that normally do not underly that cognitive function. Furthermore, STAC-r posits that scaffolding ability can improve through intervention, such as through learning and cognitive training as well as through social, physical, and cognitively stimulating activities. The level of cognitive function and the rate of cognitive decline can be predicted through measures of neural resource enrichment and depletion, through observations of brain structure and function, and through compensatory abilities of an individual. Figure 3 compares the proposed mechanisms of STAC-r and CR.

Overlapping Constructs: The Positive Effects of a Healthy Lifestyle

Both STAC-r and CR agree on the positive effects of a healthy, cognitively stimulating lifestyle. Recent research in healthy older adults demonstrates the positive effects of education and IQ on a wide range of cognitive domains, such as executive functioning, memory, and language (Berggren et al., 2018; Caballero et al., 2021; Lavrencic et al., 2018; Thow et al., 2018). In centenarians, maintaining performance in several cognitive domains was related to higher education and IQ (Beker et al., 2021). Although higher education and IQ might not benefit all cognitive domains equally (Lavrencic et al., 2018; Mungas et al., 2021; Thow et al., 2018), higher education in early life (before the age of 45) has been identified as an important factor in reducing dementia risk in older age (Livingston et al., 2020).

Participation in leisure, social, and cognitively stimulating activities has also been shown to predict cognitive ability in older age (Chan et al., 2018; Grotz et al., 2017). Physical activity, such as aerobic and strength exercise, at different life stages might also improve cognitive functioning in older age (Reas et al., 2019; Sprague et al., 2019) and in centenarians (Beker et al., 2021). A recent metaanalysis indicated that the effect on cognition might depend on the nature of the physical activity (Sprague et al., 2019). For example, aerobic exercise might improve cognitive flexibility, whilst strength training could improve cognitive inhibition. Better cognitive performance in, for example, executive functioning and memory could be due to the generation of nerve cells promoted by physical exercise (Reas et al., 2019).

Because of the positive effects of lifestyle on cognition, both STAC-r and CR propose that the mechanisms compensating for the effects of aging (i.e., scaffolding and reserve) can be enhanced through intervention programs (Klobušiaková et al., 2019; Kocagoncu et al., 2020; Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern, 2013). That is, compensation abilities and reserve can be increased through programs that promote further education and a healthy lifestyle. Furthermore, a healthy lifestyle and interventions, such as cognitive training, can modulate the flexibility of functional brain processes, which is in line with both scaffolding and CR (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern et al., 2020).

Where the Theories Part

STAC-r: Better Capture of the Complexity of Cognitive Aging

Unlike CR, STAC-r incorporates "neural resource depletion," which includes factors, such as vascular (e.g., smoking) and genetic ones, that negatively influence brain health and compensatory abilities (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Brain measures and health factors, such as cortical thinning and high body mass index (BMI), have already been linked to cognitive decline. For example, greater dopamine generation capacity was related to greater cortical thinning in older adults (Ciampa et al., 2021). In this study, cortical thinning was related to decreased working memory performance, but only in people with lower dopamine generation capacity. The relationship between brain function and structure has been demonstrated through studies showing that patterns of functional brain connectivity can change depending on the magnitude and locus of brain tissue deterioration (Vieira et al., 2020), as is predicted by STAC-r (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Furthermore, older adults (aged 60-80 years) with similar memory performance to younger adults (aged 18-35 years) exhibit comparable youth-like brain connectivity, indicating the influence of brain function on maintaining cognitive performance (Zhang et al., 2020). However, future studies need to clarify the interplay between neural resource enrichment and depletion factors, intervention, and the bidirectional relationship between brain structure and function.

There is an established relationship between various health measures and cognitive functioning (Caballero et al., 2021; Sebastiani et al., 2020). Specifically, the prevalence of the APOE genotype (i.e., a dementia genetic risk factor), stroke incident, and alcohol abuse predict faster decline of cognitive processing speed, episodic memory (Sebastiani et al., 2020), and executive functioning (Caballero et al., 2021) with age. In centenarians, education and cognitive activities, but not dementia-related brain pathology or genetic risk, were related to cognitive performance (Beker et al., 2021). Hence, compensation mechanisms might stabilize or diverge at very old age, stressing the need for a dynamic model of cognitive aging. STAC-r includes a wider variety of protective and risk factors of cognitive decline, and hence might be more successful than CR in capturing the complex mechanisms involved in cognitive aging.

Time Course of Compensation Mechanisms

Both STAC-r and CR describe compensation mechanisms (i.e., scaffolding and CR) as dynamic, changing over time due to modulations in overall brain status and in environmental factors, such as lifestyle choices (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern et al., 2020). STAC-r specifically states that neural resource depletion, enrichment factors, and overall brain status continually contribute to compensation mechanisms, such as neural reorganization and repair (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Stern and colleagues (2020) argue that CR is dynamic as lifestyle choices and events change throughout the life span, for example, with education often taking place in early life and professional occupation happening later in life (Stern et al., 2020). However, it is unclear whether CR can be accumulated throughout the life span (Grotz et al., 2017), or whether CR can only be acquired before a certain age (Chan et al., 2018). Finally, CR does not specify whether CR levels decline with age or how long it takes for accumulated CR to increase cognitive and neural flexibility. Hence, future studies should clarify the time course of CR across the life span.

Rate of Cognitive Decline

The purpose of STAC-r and CR is to predict both agerelated cognitive performance and the rate of cognitive decline (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern, 2013). The association between the proposed constructs of STAC-r and the rate of age-related cognitive decline is supported by several studies. Cognitive decline can be slowed down by factors such as education (Caballero et al., 2021; Sebastiani et al., 2020; but see McKenzie et al., 2020: only in people at genetic risk for dementia), participation in physical activities, and engagement in cognitive activities, such as completing tax forms (Caballero et al., 2021; Reas et al., 2019). However, stroke or cardiovascular risk (Caballero et al., 2021; Sebastiani et al., 2020), dementia genotypes and inflammation (Sebastiani et al., 2020), as well as health risk factors, such as smoking and high BMI (Caballero et al., 2021; Sebastiani et al., 2020), can speed up cognitive decline.

Although CR can help maintain level of cognitive performance, healthy-aging studies do not seem to support that CR slows down cognitive decline (Beker et al., 2021; Berggren et al., 2018; Lavrencic et al., 2018). Moreover, it has been argued that education is not an important proxy for CR in healthy older adults, as it does not predict cognitive change on its own. Rather, brain structure needs also to be considered (Mungas et al., 2021). In contrast, several dementia studies demonstrated slower decline in people with high CR, quantified as the difference between observed and expected (based on structural brain measures and demographics) memory performance, despite the presence of dementia-related pathology (e.g., McKenzie et al., 2020). Warranting further investigation, the effect of CR on the rate of cognitive decline might only become apparent when a certain level of brain pathology is reached.

CR: Compensation Through Cognitive Strategies

STAC-r proposes that scaffolding happens at a neural level, and that it is stimulated by interventions and cognitive engagement. In contrast, CR posits that compensation through high CR happens at a cognitive level by increasing the efficiency or flexibility of cognitive processes to counter cognitive decline (Stern et al., 2020). However, it is currently unclear what cognitive strategies CR enables. One explanation is that CR allows for faster cognitive processing or that it counteracts the age-related depletion of attentional or working memory resources (Lojo-Seoane et al., 2020). Several aging theories have already proposed that age-related decreases in basic cognitive processes, such as working memory and processing speed, underlie declines in more complex cognitive functions, such as language or decision-making (Hasher & Zacks, 1988; Salthouse, 1990, 1996). That is, poorer performance in older compared to younger adults could be due to slower information processing. However, it could also be caused by a reduction in attentional resources or working memory capacity caused by, for example, difficulties in suppressing irrelevant information. High CR could enhance processing speed, inhibitory control, or attention, which then positively influences other cognitive processes (Lojo-Seoane et al., 2020).

CR can positively influence working memory performance, which then benefits complex cognitive functioning in middle-aged and older adults (Cansino et al., 2020; Lojo-Seoane et al., 2020). That is, there are two explanations for the positive relationship between CR and working memory in older age. Higher CR either leads to better cognition by enhancing working memory directly (Lojo-Seoane et al., 2020), or it serves as an additional resource when working memory resources reach a threshold of depletion (Cansino et al., 2020). Thus, CR could benefit or serve as an additional cognitive resource to the basic cognitive functions described in aging theories, such as theories of limited cognitive resources (Salthouse, 1990). Future research should investigate whether the brain changes that underlie compensatory mechanisms are detectable and what types of neuroplasticity accompany each cognitive change facilitated by CR.

Compensation at the Level of the Brain

According to STAC-r, to maintain cognitive performance, scaffolding is reflected as an increase in brain activity, recruitment of alternative brain regions, and the generation of neurons (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). The relationship between brain structure and brain function is well documented (Zahodne et al., 2019). For example, brain structural measures, such as the volume of myelinated content of white matter tracts, predict cognitive processing speed across a wide age range (Chopra et al., 2018). Moreover, compensatory scaffolding can occur in response to brain atrophy by either supporting affected brain areas or recruiting support from less affected brain areas (Vieira et al., 2020). These results indicate that it is possible to characterize brain function without reference to the cognitive level, which is in line with STAC-r.

Stern and colleagues propose that CR ameliorates the effect of brain deterioration on cognition by increasing the efficiency or flexibility of functional brain networks (Stern et al., 2020). That is, brain networks that are more efficient will need less brain activation during cognitive tasks. Flexibility concerns the recruitment of alternative brain networks to maintain cognitive performance. As an example, gray matter loss would have less impact on cognition in people who engage in midlife activities and, hence, have high CR levels (Chan et al., 2018). Recent studies found a positive link between the level of CR and increased efficiency and flexibility of functional brain networks (e.g., Conti et al., 2021). People with low CR measured through educational and occupational attainment, and leisure activity, exhibited similar functional connectivity patterns as was found in a study with people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI; Buldú et al., 2011). Such studies indicate an important role of interventions aimed at increasing CR levels, such as cognitive training, to enable protective mechanisms at the level of functional brain networks.

STAC-r and CR: Differences in Intervention Methods

STAC-r and CR claim that interventions increase compensatory scaffolding and CR levels, respectively. Intervention programs, such as through brain stimulation or cognitive training, aim at enhancing scaffolding and could improve functional brain processing (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Specifically, STAC-r proposes that interventions using brain stimulation could influence brain structure and function directly by enhancing functional connectivity. In line with this proposal, a recent study demonstrated that brain stimulation interventions enabled better cognitive performance in explicit learning, but only in people with low baseline performance (Perceval et al., 2020). That is, brain stimulation could enable compensatory brain mechanisms and improve performance in healthy older adults with suboptimal cognitive performance pre-stimulation. In contrast, executive functioning in older adults might not improve after brain stimulation (Yu et al., 2020). Therefore, future brain stimulation studies might need to consider baseline cognitive performance to detect any beneficial effects of stimulation on cognitive performance.

In addition to brain stimulation, STAC-r proposes that interventions at a cognitive level, such as cognitive training and engagement in cognitive and physical activities, can increase compensatory scaffolding abilities (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Brain structure and function could also directly influence compensatory scaffolding abilities (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Indeed, the strength of functional connectivity can predict the outcomes of cognitive training. That is, stronger functional connectivity leads to higher training gains in certain cognitive functions (Faraza et al., 2021). Hence, the effect of intervention on compensatory scaffolding could be dependent on brain status. In contrast, CR proposes that interventions should happen at a cognitive level (Stern, 2013). That is, interventions are based on proposed CR proxies, such as cognitive or physical activity, and do not directly increase neuroplasticity through brain stimulation. Such interventions then lead to changes which can be observed both at the cognitive and the neuronal level. For instance, cognitive training, such as learning new skills, was shown to enhance functional connectivity (van Balkom et al., 2020), in line with both STAC-r and CR.

Relevance of STAC-r and CR to Neurodegenerative Diseases

STAC-r is primarily concerned with age-related cognitive decline but could also be applied to neurodegenerative diseases. The role of STAC-r in neurodegenerative disease is indicated by the influence of neuropathology (e.g., amyloid/tau burden), on brain structure (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Factors such as stroke incident, years of education, and brain atrophy could be used as predictors for the risk of and transition into MCI or neurodegenerative diseases (Xu et al., 2020). Furthermore, the relationship between deterioration of brain structure, changes in functional brain networks, and subsequent cognitive decline has been demonstrated in dementia (Klobušiaková et al., 2019; Kocagoncu et al., 2020). For example, tau burden (i.e., that of proteins in nerve cells) in Alzheimer's disease is associated with changes in functional brain networks, which can lead to the worsening of cognitive functions (Kocagoncu et al., 2020). The efficiency of functional brain networks as measured through resting-state functional neuroimaging analyses has been linked to MCI and neurodegenerative diseases (Klobušiaková et al., 2019). These studies show that, compared to healthy adults, people with MCI, Alzheimer's disease, or Parkinson's disease show a reduction in brain efficiency, which correlates with the severity of cognitive impairments. In Parkinson's disease specifically, reductions in brain efficiency may indicate pre-onset cognitive dysfunction (Klobušiaková et al., 2019). Post-onset cognitive

dysfunction in people with Parkinson's disease with MCI might be related to increased brain efficiency, potentially indicating a compensatory mechanism for their cognitive impairment in response to changes in brain status.

High CR can delay the onset of dementia (Stern, 2013; Stern et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2020) and lessen the impact of this disease on cognitive functioning (Stern et al., 2020). At later stages of neurodegenerative diseases, CR might not be enough to compensate for the negative impact of brain pathology (Stern et al., 2020). Consequently, there is an acceleration in the rate of cognitive decline (Zahodne et al., 2019). CR could decrease the negative impact on cognition caused by age-related brain pathology, such as white matter hyperintensities (Zahodne et al., 2019), and might delay the onset of dementia symptoms by optimizing functional brain networks and increasing the brain's efficiency of information transfer (Li et al., 2021).

Taken together, both STAC-r and CR could be useful in predicting dementia risk, onset, and disease progression. Although STAC-r has not often been discussed specifically in light of neurodegenerative diseases, STAC-r could lead to more accurate predictions as it considers both the positive effects of lifestyle and the influence of adverse health factors. How the different components of STAC-r interact with each other to explain disease-related cognitive impairments warrants further research. Finally, the protective effects of CR might be reduced when someone is at a genetic risk for dementia (Li et al., 2021). Alternatively, CR might mitigate genetic risk factors of dementia (Beker et al., 2021). These findings stress the importance of a comprehensive model that also considers adverse health factors.

Concluding Remarks and Future Perspectives

In this review, we have discussed two frameworks that can explain the mechanisms that compensate for cognitive decline in healthy aging and neurodegenerative diseases. Both scaffolding and CR involve increased neural efficiency, and the ability to scaffold or compensate can be influenced by lifestyle factors and interventions. While CR provides a framework for the effects of an enriching lifestyle on late-life cognition, STAC-r offers a more multifaceted approach that better encompasses the complex mechanisms of age- and dementia-related cognitive decline. Recent research supports the interaction of neural resource enrichment and depletion (e.g., healthy lifestyle and APOE genotype respectively; Caballero et al., 2021; Sebastiani et al., 2020). Hence, future studies would benefit from considering not only healthy lifestyle factors, but also factors that negatively influence cognitive aging. Indeed, researchers have argued that both models could be combined in that resilience (i.e., cognitive reserve, and brain reserve and maintenance) might contribute to compensatory mechanisms to maintain cognition (Cabeza et al., 2018).

Shortcomings	Strengths
STAC-r	
• The role of STAC-r in neurodegenerative diseases is underspecified	 STAC-r might be able to predict the onset and rate of cognitive decline brought on by neurodegenerative diseases (see, e.g., Kocagoncu et al., 2020) STAC-r might be more suitable for predicting the rate of cognitive decline as opposed to CR STAC-r proposes a specific link between brain processes and compensation/resilience through scaffolding
CR	
 CR does not clearly explain the relationship between cognitive, brain, and functional reserve, making it difficult to test the theory No neural basis for CR has been proposed. Hence, it is unclear what specifically underlies CR There is still no consensus on whether each CR proxy weighs equally when estimating CR (Borgeest et al., 2020) or whether some proxies, such as education, are more important than others, such as engaging in leisure activities (Chan et al., 2018; Grotz et al., 2017) It is currently unclear whether CR can be accumulated throughout the life span (Grotz et al., 2017), as proposed by CR (Stern et al., 2020), or whether there is a "critical period" for building CR (Chan et al., 2018), for example, before very old age (i.e., the age of 100 years; Beker et al., 2021) CR proxies can predict cognitive performance, but the rate of decline is altered by factors other than CR proxies. Predicting the rate of cognitive decline is paramount for identifying detrimental cognitive problems at an early stage 	 In contrast to STAC-r, CR offers a simpler framework that might be easier to use for designing focused intervention programs CR contributes to understanding the onset and progression of dementia symptoms. Therefore, CR might better apply to cognitive decline in dementia than STAC-r

Note: CR = Cognitive reserve; STAC-r = Strengths of the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition-revised.

Both STAC-r and CR suffer from shortcomings in their explanations of age- and disease-related cognitive decline (Table 2). Hence, future studies should aim to address the weaknesses of both theories in pursuing evidence-based intervention and prevention strategies against dementia. Neurodegenerative diseases exhibit distinct profiles, including disease-related changes of functional brain networks (Klobušiaková et al., 2019). STAC-r could potentially be developed into disease-specific submodels for generating prognoses of cognitive decline, which could serve as a tool for predicting the onset and progression of dementia. Regarding CR, it is important to clarify the time window for building CR, so that intervention programs can be implemented at the right age. Finally, more research is needed to understand the importance of different CR proxies and their influence on different cognitive domains to determine what combination of proxies should be targeted in interventions.

As the mean age of the global world population increases rapidly and dementia becomes more prevalent in our societies, it is of paramount importance to develop our understanding of the mechanisms that allow for healthy cognitive aging. Therefore, we need to develop a better understanding of the mechanisms that compensate for dementia-related cognitive decline and slows the onset of the disease. Both STAC-r and CR provide promising explanations for cognitive decline with age and in neurodegenerative diseases. They both identify a range of factors that predict healthy cognitive aging, and STAC-r also specifies factors that predict the rate of cognitive decline. It is likely that these predictive qualities can be boosted using machine-learning algorithms, which could provide a set of tools that would allow for early intervention, improved compensatory abilities, and delay in the onset of dementia symptoms.

Funding

This work was supported by a Faculty of Science & Technology scholarship from Lancaster University awarded to EJO, and the Biotechnology and Biological Science Research Council (grant number BB/S008527/1) awarded to HEN which supported KS.

Conflict of Interest

None declared.

Acknowledgments

A special thanks to the members of the Neuroscience Speech and Action laboratory for their support and to Tom Beesley for his reflections during the annual review panel meeting.

Author Contributions

E. J. Oosterhuis: Conceptualization; investigation; writing—original draft; writing—review and editing; visualization. P. J. C. May: Conceptualization; writing—review and editing; supervision. K. Slade: Conceptualization; writing—review and editing; supervision; visualization. H. E. Nuttall: Conceptualization; writing—review and editing; supervision; project administration.

References

- Barulli, D., & Stern, Y. (2013). Efficiency, capacity, compensation, maintenance, plasticity: Emerging concepts in cognitive reserve. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(10), 502–509. doi:10.1016/j. tics.2013.08.012
- Beker, N., Ganz, A., Hulsman, M., Klausch, T., Schmand, B. A., Scheltens, P., Sikkes, S. A. M., & Holstege, H. (2021). Association of cognitive function trajectories in centenarians with postmortem neuropathology, physical health, and other risk factors for cognitive decline. JAMA Network Open, 4(1), e2031654– e2031654. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31654
- Berggren, R., Nilsson, J., & Lövdén, M. (2018). Education does not affect cognitive decline in aging: A Bayesian assessment of the association between education and change in cognitive performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1138. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.01138
- Borgeest, G. S., Henson, R. N., Shafto, M., Samu, D., & Kievit, R. A.; Cam-CAN (2020). Greater lifestyle engagement is associated with better age-adjusted cognitive abilities. *PLoS One*, 15(5), e0230077. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0230077
- Buldú, J. M., Bajo, R., Maestú, F., Castellanos, N., Leyva, I., Gil, P., Sendiña-Nadal, I., Almendral, J. A., Nevado, A., del-Pozo, F., & Boccaletti, S. (2011). Reorganization of functional networks in mild cognitive impairment. *PLoS One*, 6(5), e19584. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019584
- Caballero, H. S., McFall, G. P., Wiebe, S. A., & Dixon, R. A. (2021). Integrating three characteristics of executive function in nondemented aging: Trajectories, classification, and biomarker predictors. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 27(2), 158–171. doi:10.1017/S1355617720000703
- Cabeza, R. (2002). Hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults: The HAROLD model. *Psychology and Aging*, 17(1), 85–100. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.17.1.85
- Cabeza, R., Albert, M., Belleville, S., Craik, F. I. M., Duarte, A., Grady, C. L., Lindenberger, U., Nyberg, L., Park, D. C., Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., Rugg, M. D., Steffener, J., & Rajah, M. N. (2018). Maintenance, reserve and compensation: The cognitive neuroscience of healthy ageing. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 19(11), Article 11. doi:10.1038/s41583-018-0086-0

- Cansino, S., Torres-Trejo, F., Estrada-Manilla, C., Pérez-Loyda, M., Vargas-Martínez, C., Tapia-Jaimes, G., & Ruiz-Velasco, S. (2020). Contributions of cognitive aging models to the explanation of source memory decline across the adult lifespan. *Experimental Aging Research*, 46(3), 194–213. doi:10.1080/03 61073x.2020.1743920
- Chan, D., Shafto, M., Kievit, R., Matthews, F., Spink, M., Valenzuela, M., & Henson, R. (2018). Lifestyle activities in mid-life contribute to cognitive reserve in latelife, independent of education, occupation and late-life activities. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 70, 180–183. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2018.06.012
- Chopra, S., Shaw, M., Shaw, T., Sachdev, P. S., Anstey, K. J., & Cherbuin, N. (2018). More highly myelinated white matter tracts are associated with faster processing speed in healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 171, 332–340. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.12.069
- Ciampa, C. J., Parent, J. H., Lapoint, M. R., Swinnerton, K. N., Taylor, M. M., Tennant, V. R., Whitman, A. J., Jagust, W. J., & Berry, A. S. (2021). Elevated dopamine synthesis as a mechanism of cognitive resilience in aging. *Cerebral Cortex*, 32(13), bhab379. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhab379
- Conti, L., Riccitelli, G. C., Preziosa, P., Vizzino, C., Marchesi, O., Rocca, M. A., & Filippi, M. (2021). Effect of cognitive reserve on structural and functional MRI measures in healthy subjects: A multiparametric assessment. *Journal of Neurology*, 268(5), 1780–1791. doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10331-6
- Daskalopoulou, C., Koukounari, A., Wu, Y.-T., Terrera, G. M., Caballero, F. F., de la Fuente, J., Tyrovolas, S., Panagiotakos, D. B., Prince, M., & Prina, M. (2019). Healthy ageing trajectories and lifestyle behaviour: The Mexican Health and Aging Study. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), Article 1. doi:10.1038/ s41598-019-47238-w
- Davis, S. W., Dennis, N. A., Daselaar, S. M., Fleck, M. S., & Cabeza, R. (2008). Qué PASA? The posterior-anterior shift in aging. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(5), 1201–1209. doi:10.1093/cercor/ bhm155
- Faraza, S., Waldenmaier, J., Dyrba, M., Wolf, D., Fischer, F. U., Knaepen, K., Kollmann, B., Tüscher, O., Binder, H., Mierau, A., Riedel, D., Fellgiebel, A., & Teipel, S. (2021). Dorsolateral prefrontal functional connectivity predicts working memory training gains. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 13, 592261. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2021.592261
- Festini, S. B., Zahodne, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2018). Theoretical perspectives on age differences in brain activation: HAROLD, PASA, CRUNCH—How do they STAC up? Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology. doi:10.1093/acr efore/9780190236557.013.400
- Grotz, C., Seron, X., Wissen, M. V., & Adam, S. (2017). How should proxies of cognitive reserve be evaluated in a population of healthy older adults? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 29(1), 123–136. doi:10.1017/S1041610216001745
- Hasher, L., & Zacks, R. T. (1988). Working memory, comprehension, and aging: A review and a new view. In G. H. Bower (Ed.), *Psychology of learning and motivation* (Vol. 22, pp. 193–225). Academic Press. doi:10.1016/S0079-7421(08)60041-9
- Jamadar, S. D. (2020). The CRUNCH model does not account for load-dependent changes in visuospatial working memory in

older adults. *Neuropsychologia*, **142**, 107446. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2020.107446

- Klobušiaková, P., Mareček, R., Fousek, J., Výtvarová, E., & Rektorová, I. (2019). Connectivity between brain networks dynamically reflects cognitive status of Parkinson's disease: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 67(3), 971–984. doi:10.3233/jad-180834
- Kocagoncu, E., Quinn, A., Firouzian, A., Cooper, E., Greve, A., Gunn, R., Green, G., Woolrich, M. W., Henson, R. N., Lovestone, S., & Rowe, J. B. (2020). Tau pathology in early Alzheimer's disease is linked to selective disruptions in neurophysiological network dynamics. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 92, 141–152. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2020.03.009
- Koen, J. D., & Rugg, M. D. (2019). Neural dedifferentiation in the aging brain. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 23(7), 547–559. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2019.04.012
- Lavrencic, L. M., Churches, O. F., & Keage, H. A. D. (2018). Cognitive reserve is not associated with improved performance in all cognitive domains. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult*, 25(5), 473–485. doi:10.1080/23279095.2017.1329146
- Li, S.-C., Lindenberger, U., & Sikström, S. (2001). Aging cognition: From neuromodulation to representation. *Trends* in Cognitive Sciences, 5(11), 479–486. doi:10.1016/ s1364-6613(00)01769-1
- Li, T., Wang, B., Gao, Y., Wang, X., Yan, T., Xiang, J., Niu, Y., Liu, T., Chen, D., Fang, B., Xie, Y., Funahashi, S., & Yan, T.; for the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2021). APOE ɛ4 and cognitive reserve effects on the functional network in the Alzheimer's disease spectrum. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 15(2), 758–771. doi:10.1007/s11682-020-00283-w
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., Brayne, C., Burns, A., Cohen-Mansfield, J., Cooper, C., Costafreda, S. G., Dias, A., Fox, N., Gitlin, L. N., Howard, R., Kales, H. C., Kivimäki, M., Larson, E. B., Ogunniyi, A., & Mukadam, N. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *The Lancet*, **396**(10248), 413–446. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Lojo-Seoane, C., Facal, D., Guàrdia-Olmos, J., Pereiro, A. X., Campos-Magdaleno, M., Mallo, S. C., & Juncos-Rabadán, O. (2020).
 Cognitive reserve and working memory in cognitive performance of adults with subjective cognitive complaints: Longitudinal structural equation modeling. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 32(4), 515–524. doi:10.1017/S1041610219001248
- McKenzie, C., Bucks, R. S., Weinborn, M., Bourgeat, P., Salvado, O., & Gavett, B. E. (2020). Cognitive reserve predicts future executive function decline in older adults with Alzheimer's disease pathology but not age-associated pathology. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 88, 119–127. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.12.022
- Mungas, D., Fletcher, E., Gavett, B. E., Widaman, K., Zahodne, L. B., Hohman, T. J., Mayeda, E. R., Dowling, N. M., Johnson, D. K., & Farias, S. T. (2021). Comparison of education and episodic memory as modifiers of brain atrophy effects on cognitive decline: Implications for measuring cognitive reserve. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 27(5), 401–411. doi:10.1017/S1355617720001095
- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: Aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–196. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656

- Perceval, G., Martin, A. K., Copland, D. A., Laine, M., & Meinzer, M. (2020). Multisession transcranial direct current stimulation facilitates verbal learning and memory consolidation in young and older adults. *Brain and Language*, 205, 104788. doi:10.1016/j. bandl.2020.104788
- Reas, E. T., Laughlin, G. A., Bergstrom, J., Kritz-Silverstein, D., & McEvoy, L. K. (2019). Physical activity and trajectories of cognitive change in community-dwelling older adults: The Rancho Bernardo Study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD*, 71(1), 109–118. doi:10.3233/JAD-190491
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive aging and the compensation hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17(3), 177–182. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2014). How does it STAC up? Revisiting the scaffolding theory of aging and cognition. *Neuropsychology Review*, 24(3), 355–370. doi:10.1007/ s11065-014-9270-9
- Salthouse, T. A. (1990). Working memory as a processing resource in cognitive aging. *Developmental Review*, 10(1), 101–124. doi:10.1016/0273-2297(90)90006-p
- Salthouse, T. A. (1996). The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychological Review*, 103(3), 403–428. doi:10.1037/0033-295x.103.3.403
- Sebastiani, P., Andersen, S. L., Sweigart, B., Du, M., Cosentino, S., Thyagarajan, B., Christensen, K., Schupf, N., & Perls, T. T. (2020). Patterns of multi-domain cognitive aging in participants of the Long Life Family Study. *GeroScience*, 42(5), 1335–1350. doi:10.1007/s11357-020-00202-3
- Sprague, B. N., Freed, S. A., Webb, C. E., Phillips, C. B., Hyun, J., & Ross, L. A. (2019). The impact of behavioral interventions on cognitive function in healthy older adults: A systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 52, 32–52. doi:10.1016/j. arr.2019.04.002
- Stern, Y. (2013). Cognitive reserve: Implications for assessment and intervention. Folia Phoniatrica et Logopaedica, 65(2), 49–54. doi:10.1159/000353443
- Stern, Y., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Bartrés-Faz, D., Belleville, S., Cantilon, M., Chetelat, G., Ewers, M., Franzmeier, N., Kempermann, G., Kremen, W. S., Okonkwo, O., Scarmeas, N., Soldan, A., Udeh-Momoh, C., Valenzuela, M., Vemuri, P., & Vuoksimaa, E.; The Reserve, Resilience and Protective Factors PIA Empirical Definitions and Conceptual Frameworks Workgroup. (2020). Whitepaper: Defining and investigating cognitive reserve, brain reserve, and brain maintenance. *Alzheimer's* & Dementia, 16(9), 1305–1311. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.07.219
- Thow, M. E., Summers, M. J., Saunders, N. L., Summers, J. J., Ritchie, K., & Vickers, J. C. (2018). Further education improves cognitive reserve and triggers improvement in selective cognitive functions in older adults: The Tasmanian Healthy Brain Project. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 10, 22–30. doi:10.1016/j.dadm.2017.08.004
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, & Population Division. (2020). World population ageing, 2019 highlights. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WorldPopulationAgeing2019-Highlights.pdf
- van Balkom, T. D., van den Heuvel, O. A., Berendse, H. W., van der Werf, Y. D., & Vriend, C. (2020). The effects of cognitive

training on brain network activity and connectivity in aging and neurodegenerative diseases: A systematic review. *Neuropsychology Review*, **30**(2), 267–286. doi:10.1007/s11065-020-09440-w

- Vieira, B. H., Rondinoni, C., & Garrido Salmon, C. E. (2020). Evidence of regional associations between age-related inter-individual differences in resting-state functional connectivity and cortical thinning revealed through a multi-level analysis. *NeuroImage*, 211, 116662. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.116662
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Decade of Healthy Ageing: Plan of Action*. World Health Organization. https://www. who.int/publications/m/item/decade-of-healthy-ageing-planof-action
- Xu, H., Yang, R., Dintica, C., Qi, X., Song, R., Bennett, D. A., & Xu, W. (2020). Association of lifespan cognitive reserve indicator with the risk of mild cognitive impairment and its progression to dementia. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 16(6), 873–882. doi:10.1002/alz.12085
- Yu, J., Lam, C. L. M., Man, I. S. C., Shao, R., & Lee, T. M. C. (2020). Multi-session anodal prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation does not improve executive functions among older adults. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 26(4), 372–381. doi:10.1017/ S1355617719001206
- Zahodne, L. B., Mayeda, E. R., Hohman, T. J., Fletcher, E., Racine, A. M., Gavett, B., Manly, J. J., Schupf, N., Mayeux, R., Brickman, A. M., & Mungas, D. (2019). The role of education in a vascular pathway to episodic memory: Brain maintenance or cognitive reserve? *Neurobiology of Aging*, 84, 109–118. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.08.009
- Zhang, J., Andreano, J. M., Dickerson, B. C., Touroutoglou, A., & Barrett, L. F. (2020). Stronger functional connectivity in the default mode and salience networks is associated with youthful memory in superaging. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, NY)*, 30(1), 72–84. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhz071

Chapter 3

Getting the Brain Into Gear: An Online Study Investigating Cognitive Reserve and Word-Finding Abilities in Healthy Ageing

In the previous chapter, we reviewed CR and STAC-r, two prominent cognitive ageing theories, and outlined the strengths and shortcomings of both theories. In Chapter 3, we investigated the relationship between CR and word-finding ability in younger, middle-aged, and older adults. To overcome one of the current shortcomings of CR, we took a more comprehensive measure, including engagement in leisure, cognitively stimulating, and physical activities, as well as educational and occupational attainment. We also investigated whether general cognitive ability could explain any of the effects. Because the study took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, all data was collected online.

Author Note: This paper was published in April 2023 and was produced in collaboration with Dr. Kate Slade, Dr. Patrick May, and Dr. Helen Nuttall as coauthors. It is available as a published paper at: Oosterhuis, E. J., Slade, K., Smith, E., May, P. J. C., & Nuttall, H. E. (2023). Getting the brain into gear: An online study investigating cognitive reserve and word-finding abilities in healthy ageing. *PLOS ONE*, 18(4), e0280566. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566



Citation: Oosterhuis EJ, Slade K, Smith E, May PJC, Nuttall HE (2023) Getting the brain into gear: An online study investigating cognitive reserve and word-finding abilities in healthy ageing. PLoS ONE 18(4): e0280566. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0280566

Editor: Katya Numbers, University of New South Wales, AUSTRALIA

Received: August 22, 2022

Accepted: January 2, 2023

Published: April 20, 2023

Peer Review History: PLOS recognizes the benefits of transparency in the peer review process; therefore, we enable the publication of all of the content of peer review and author responses alongside final, published articles. The editorial history of this article is available here: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566

Copyright: © 2023 Oosterhuis et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The minimal anonymised datasets have been uploaded to the PURE repository and have the following DOIs: -Picture naming actions: https://doi.org/10.17635/ **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

Getting the brain into gear: An online study investigating cognitive reserve and word-finding abilities in healthy ageing

Elise J. Oosterhuis *, Kate Slade, El Smith, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall

Department of Psychology, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom

* e.oosterhuis@lancaster.ac.uk

Abstract

Lifetime experiences and lifestyle, such as education and engaging in leisure activities, contribute to cognitive reserve (CR), which delays the onset of age-related cognitive decline. Word-finding difficulties have been identified as the most prominent cognitive problem in older age. Whether CR mitigates age-related word-finding difficulties is currently unknown. Using picture-naming and verbal fluency tasks, this online study aimed to investigate the effect of CR on word-finding ability in younger, middle-aged, and older adults. All participants were right-handed, monolingual speakers of British English. CR for both the period preceding and coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic was measured through years of education and questionnaires concerning the frequency of engagement in cognitive, leisure, and physical activities. Linear mixed-effect models demonstrated that older adults were less accurate at action and object naming than middle-aged and younger adults. Higher CR in middle age predicted higher accuracies for action and object naming. Hence, high CR might not only be beneficial in older age, but also in middle age. This benefit will depend on multiple factors: the underlying cognitive processes, individual general cognitive processing abilities, and whether task demands are high. Moreover, younger and middle-aged adults displayed faster object naming compared to older adults. There were no differences between CR scores for the period preceding and coinciding with the pandemic. However, the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on CR and, subsequently, on word-finding ability might only become apparent in the long term. This article discusses the implications of CR in healthy ageing as well as suggestions for conducting language production studies online.

Introduction

The population around the world is ageing rapidly. Ageing is accompanied by cognitive decline, which starts in early adulthood [1]. Positive lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences, such as engaging in leisure activities and higher education, might delay the onset of cognitive decline and slow down its progression in healthy ageing, and could decrease the risk of dementia [2–4]. According to Cognitive Reserve (CR) theory, positive lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences build up a "cognitive reserve", which enables individuals to maintain cognitive

lancaster/researchdata/586 - Picture naming objects: https://doi.org/10.17635/lancaster/ researchdata/587 - Verbal fluency actions: https:// doi.org/10.17635/lancaster/researchdata/583 -Verbal fluency semantic: https://doi.org/10.17635/ lancaster/researchdata/588 - Verbal fluency letter: https://doi.org/10.17635/lancaster/researchdata/ 585 The study's GitHub repository (available on https://github.com/EliseJis/GBG-Online-Study) contains R Markdown files with the analysis code and analysis output.

Funding: H.E.N. received a grant from the Biotechnology and Biological Science Research Council (grant number BB/S008527/1). https:// www.ukri.org/councils/bbsrc/. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. E.J.O. received a Faculty of Science & Technology PhD scholarship from Lancaster University. https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/sci-tech/. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

performance despite age-related brain changes or pathology. Greater CR can enable the use of cognitive strategies (e.g., mnemonics), strengthen existing brain networks, and facilitate the recruitment of additional brain networks to support cognitive performance [5, 6]. Brain reserve is another concept often discussed in conjunction with CR. Brain reserve reflects the brain's anatomical resources, such as number of neurons, and individuals with greater 'brain reserve' (i.e., more neurons) are thought to be better able to tolerate neurological attrition before it becomes pathophysiological [6]. Indeed, through 'brain maintenance' some individuals maintain their brains more so than others, for example, through life experience and genetics. Such brain maintenance is thought to increase brain reserve [6]. Brain reserve differs from CR in that CR explains individual differences in the ability to cope with cognitive difficulties through differences in lifestyle choices and life experiences.

Of the cognitive difficulties older adults experience, word-finding difficulties are considered as the most prominent problem associated with ageing [7]. Word-finding difficulties can extend beyond the difficulties associated with healthy ageing, which could signal the onset of dementia [8, 9]. However, CR can delay the onset of age- and dementia-related cognitive decline [6]. The effect of CR on age-related word-finding difficulties is currently unknown. Because word-finding difficulties have also been associated with both healthy ageing and dementia, it would be important to investigate the link between CR and age-related word-finding difficulties. This would also help us understand why some adults develop dementia whilst others stay cognitively healthy [3, 10]. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate age-related declines in word-finding abilities and how lifestyle factors might affect this decline. The results of this study will inform us whether CR has a mitigating effect on age-related word-finding difficulties.

Word-finding difficulties can be detected through picture-naming and verbal fluency tasks [11, 12]. In picture-naming tasks, action naming has been identified as more difficult than object naming in younger adults, possibly because different cognitive processes underly object and action naming. More cognitive resources are needed for action naming, resulting in slower processing times for action compared to object naming [13]. Compared to younger adults, older adults have more difficulties in picture naming [14–18]. Age-related declines are also found in verbal fluency [19–21], with an earlier onset and greater decline in semantic fluency than in letter fluency [19, 20]. Moreover, older adults generate more common words (i.e., high-frequency words) in verbal fluency tasks than younger adults, which can reflect difficulties in lexical access whereby highly frequent words are the easiest to access from memory [19]. Dementia can add to the difficulties with verbal fluency tasks that are already associated with healthy ageing [8, 9]. Therefore, verbal fluency performance could serve as an early neuropsychological marker of dementia [22, 23].

Variability in cognitive performance across individuals increases with age (e.g. [18, 24]. Currently, there is no consensus on the age when picture-naming ability starts to decline. Some studies indicate that the start of decline begins as early as at 30 [14] or 50 years of age [17, 18, 25]. Yet others found that decline starts at 75 years of age, possibly because an increase in vocabulary with age masks early word-finding difficulties [15]. The different ages of onset might be explained by individual differences in cognitive ageing trajectories.

Differences in CR across individuals might account for the individual differences in ageing trajectories as CR might delay the onset and decrease the rate of age-related cognitive decline [2–4]. CR, measured through the proxy of the number of years of education, has a positive effect on verbal and source memory [26, 27] and might modulate the effect of age on letter fluency [28]. In addition, CR might not only benefit cognitive performance at older age but also in middle-aged adults [29]. Therefore, high CR might ameliorate age-related word-finding difficulties in both middle and older age. To reduce the effect of age on word finding, CR might

strengthen the connections between brain areas involved in language processing (e.g., between the left frontal and temporal gyri) and increase bilateral activity between frontal brain regions, which enables the use of more general cognitive processes (e.g., executive functioning) to support word finding. One possibility is that participating in leisure activities and higher educational and occupational attainment train our word-finding abilities (e.g., through social interactions) and increases the efficiency of brain areas underlying word-finding [30]. However, the effect of CR on word-finding abilities across younger, middle, and older age has not yet been investigated.

The current study aimed to investigate the relationship between word-finding ability and levels of CR in young, middle-aged, and older adult participants. We hypothesised that cognitive reserve modulates age-related declines in lexical access so that higher CR predicts better performance in picture-naming and verbal fluency tasks. Furthermore, in testing this hypothesis, we first sought to replicate the results of previous studies showing that older adults have difficulties with word-finding compared to middle-aged and younger adults. Specifically, we expected an age-related decline in accuracy and reaction time for both object and action naming [16], and a decrease in the number of words produced on a verbal fluency task [18, 20]. Secondly, we expected that older adults produce more high-frequency words on verbal fluency tasks compared to younger adults [19]. In addition, because social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic can negatively affect cognition even over a short period of time [31], we also explored whether a decrease in social and leisure activities due to the COVID-19 pan-demic had an effect on CR scores and the performance of the behavioural tasks.

Material and methods

Participants

A total of 90 healthy, right-handed, monolingual speakers of British English participated in this study. To control for variance in word-finding speed between monolinguals and bi-/multi-linguals [32], only monolingual speakers of British English were included in this study. The sample size was based on a-priori power analysis using an online sample size calculator (https://clincalc.com/stats/samplesize.aspx; [33, 34]). The anticipated means, equating to approximately medium to large effect sizes, were based on previous literature on word-finding ability in healthy ageing [20, 21, 35–37]. The outcome variable was set as *continuous (means)*. Power was set at 80% and the alpha level at .05 to obtain a large effect size (Cohen's f = 0.40). This resulted in a sample size of 30 participants per age group. The participants were grouped into 30 younger (aged 18–30; 23 females), 30 middle-aged (aged 40–55; 22 females), and 30 older adults (aged 65–80; 17 females). The age bands were based on previous literature [e.g., 21, 25, 38, 39] and the 10-year age gap between the groups was introduced to increase the sensitivity to detect age-related effects.

Participants reported no history of or current neurological (e.g., stroke or epilepsy), psychiatric (e.g., schizophrenia or bipolar), speech, or language disorders. All participants had selfreported normal or corrected-to-normal hearing and vision. All participants had a score of 19 or less on the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II; [40]) and, hence, did not suffer from depression. In addition, all participants had a score of less than 3.6 on the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline Self-Report (IQCODE-SR; [41]), reflecting absence of cognitive difficulties. Years of education, occupational score, and frequency of leisure activity can be found in Table 1. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Science and Technology of Lancaster University. Participants gave digital consent to take part in the study.

Age Group	Education (in years)	Occupational Attainment ^a	General Activitie	es ^b	Cognitiv Activitie	re es ^b	Social A	ctivities ^b	Producti Activitie	ive s ^b	Physical Activ	vities ^b
			Pre	During	Pre	During	Pre	During	Pre	During	Pre	During
Younger	15.1 (1.6)	9.5 (3.5)	25.3 (8.3)	21 (6.9)	8.5 (3.5)	7.7 (3.8)	10.4 (2.9)	5.7 (2.9)	6.4 (3.6)	7.6 (2.9)	3679.4 (3988.4)	2163 (1998.8)
Middle- Aged	17 (3.1)	4.9 (2.7)	27.5 (6.8)	23.1 (6.4)	8.9 (3.1)	8.9 (3.6)	10 (2.5)	4.5 (2.2)	8.6 (3)	9.7 (3.3)	2418 (2068.1)	2446.9 (1884.6)
Older	18.4 (4.3)	4.3 (1.9)	33.7 (6.9)	26.2 (6.8)	13.2 (4.4)	11.8 (4.1)	9.9 (2.5)	3.7 (2.6)	10.6 (2.6)	10.7 (3)	2872 (1849.7)	2149.2 (1268.3)

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of the measures to compute cognitive reserve for the periods preceding and coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic separately.

^aLower scores on occupational attainment reflect higher socioeconomic status. NAs were present for younger (15), middle-aged (3), and older adults (9). The higher number of missing values for younger adults is due to their student status. Some older adults reported retirement status and, hence, their occupational attainment could not be calculated.

^bHigher scores on the activities represent higher frequency of engagement in these activities.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t001

Materials

The BDI-II, the short IQCODE-SR, a demographics questionnaire, and the CR questionnaire were completed online via the Qualtrics XM Platform (Qualtrics, Provo, UT). The behavioural tasks for assessing word-finding ability (i.e., picture naming and verbal fluency) and general cognitive functions (i.e., cognitive processing speed, working memory, and inhibitory control) were completed online via the Gorilla Experiment Builder [42].

Cognitive reserve

CR was quantified through a General Activities Questionnaire comprising questions about social/leisure, intellectually stimulating, and productive activities. The questions were adopted from previously published studies [43, 44] and adapted where necessary by merging, adding, or modifying questionnaire items. The frequency of participation was rated on a 4-point scale from never (0) to every day (3). In addition, physical activity was measured through the Global Activity Questionnaire [45]. The CR questionnaire was split into two parts. The first part required participants to report the frequency of their activities for the period preceding the COVID-19 pandemic. That is, the participants were asked to report the frequency of their activities retrospectively. The second part of the CR questionnaire required participants to report the frequency of their activities for the period coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic. Occupational attainment was obtained by computing the occupational scores using the UK Standard Occupational Classification system [46]. Internal consistency was calculated using Cronbach's Alpha [47] and was $\alpha = .59$ for all items used to compute CR. Years of education, occupational attainment, and scores for the General Activities Questionnaire and Global Activity Questionnaire were converted into z-scores within each age group. Following the method by Soldan and colleagues (2013), a fixed composite score for CR per individual was obtained by averaging over these standardised scores [48], for the periods preceding and coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic separately. By averaging over the z-scores, education, occupational attainment, and general and physical activities were given equal weight when computing CR. This resulted in two CR composite scores per individual, one for the period preceding the COVID-19 pandemic and one for the period coinciding with the pandemic.

Picture naming

Pictures were obtained from the Center for Research in Language International Picture-Naming Project [49], and were carefully selected and balanced for word frequency (actions: M = 3.3, SD = 1.8; objects: M = 3.1, SD = 1.7), age of acquisition of the words (actions: M = 5.2, SD = 1.7; objects: M = 4.8, SD = 1.4), and had high picture-name agreement across individuals (actions: 91%, objects: 99%). Action and object words were not matched for word length. However, this should not affect our results as word length is unlikely to influence naming speed [50]. In addition, we did not directly compare naming speed between object and action naming. The final set contained 79 pictures of actions and 70 pictures of objects. For action naming, the items "vacuum", "somersault", "wait", and "talk" were excluded as these items resulted in low accuracy or name agreement in this study. The item "cut" was excluded as this item was also used in a practice trial. For object naming, the items "football" and "skunk" were excluded as these items resulted in low name agreement across participants.

The picture naming tasks were presented in a blocked manner. That is, participants first completed the object naming task after which they completed the action naming task. Both the object and action picture-naming task started with four practice trials. The participant read the instructions on the computer screen and was instructed to name the pictures as quickly and accurately as possible. The participant first tested their microphone. Next, the participant completed four practice trials, which were recorded and played back to the participant. After the practice trials, the actual experiment started. All trials started with a fixation cross with a 500 ms duration, followed by a blank screen for 700 ms. After this, the picture was presented for 3000 ms. Differences in microphones used by the participants and the lags in audio recordings caused timing variability between participants and trials. Therefore, in order to indicate the start of the picture and measure timing variability, a trigger sound was added. The trigger sound enabled the experimenter to calculate the verbal reaction time more accurately. The stimuli were never repeated to avoid practice effects and were presented in a pseudo-random order, with the trials being randomised for frequency, age of acquisition, number of syllables in the picture names, and name agreement. Picture names starting with the same letter never followed each other. Both accuracy and reaction time were obtained using CheckVocal [51].

Verbal fluency

The verbal fluency task comprised tasks measuring semantic, action, and letter fluency. Participants completed the letter fluency task after the semantic and action fluency task so as to avoid the use of any cued strategies. For semantic fluency, the category prompts were: "animals", "vehicles", "fruits and vegetables", "fluids", and "writing utensils". The action fluency task was prompted by "things people can do" and "things you can do to an egg". Lastly, the letter fluency task included the letter prompts "S", "M", and "P". The verbal fluency prompts were based on previous studies, which also have validated the use of these prompts [20, 21, 52, 53]. The participant had 60 seconds to produce aloud as many words as possible for each of the verbal fluency prompts. The responses were recorded and later transcribed by two transcribers in order to assess the interrater reliability. Composite scores for each of the three verbal fluency tasks were created to reduce the number of multiple comparisons. To obtain a composite score for the semantic, action, and letter fluency tasks separately, scores were standardised within age groups per verbal fluency prompt. The standardised scores were then averaged for each of the three verbal fluency tasks. This resulted in three different verbal fluency composite scores: one for semantic fluency, and one for letter fluency.

Control tasks

In order to control for the influences of more general processing difficulties in ageing [54, 55], tasks for inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive processing speed were assessed. The control tasks were counterbalanced and presented visually and, thus, did not require

auditory processing. For all three tasks, scores were transformed into *z*-scores within age groups to create an average score per participant which reflects general cognitive processing ability. To investigate inhibitory control, a spatial Stroop task was used [56]. In this task, an arrow appeared on either the left or right side of the screen and the participant had to press the button corresponding to the direction the arrow was pointing. In incongruent trials (e.g., arrow pointing to the left but appearing on the right side of the screen), the participant had to inhibit the tendency to respond to the location of the arrow to select the correct response (i.e., the direction the arrow pointed to).

Working memory was assessed using a computerised visual adaptation of the Digit Ordering Test [56-58]. The participant was presented visually with a sequence of digits, ranging from 4 to 7 digits. Each digit in the sequence was presented for 700 ms with a 300 ms blank screen between the digits. After the sequence was presented, the participant had to type the sequence of digits in ascending order.

Finally, cognitive processing speed was assessed using the Deary-Liewald task [59], which included both Simple and Choice Reaction Time tasks. In the Simple Reaction Time task, the participant had to press the spacebar each time an X appeared in a square in the middle of the screen. In the Choice Reaction Time task, four empty squares were presented next to each other, and the X could appear in one of the four squares. The participant had to press the key corresponding to the square in which the stimulus appeared. A composite score for cognitive processing speed was created by averaging over the standardised scores of the Simple Reaction Time task [59]. Computerised versions of these three control tasks are widely used and even implemented in and validated for cognitive testing batteries such as the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB; [60]).

Procedure

The participant was first assessed for their eligibility via email, after which they logged onto the Gorilla Experiment Builder. After providing digital consent, the participant was directed to Qualtrics XM Platform to complete the demographics and CR questionnaires, which included the General Activities Questionnaire and the Global Activity Questionnaire. Next, the participant was redirected to the Gorilla Experiment builder to complete the behavioural tasks. The participant started with either the three control tasks or with the language production tasks, in a counterbalanced order. For the language production tasks, the participant started first with the verbal fluency task, after which they completed the picture-naming tasks. This order was fixed to avoid priming effects of picture naming on verbal fluency performance. At the end of the experiment, the participant was debriefed and thanked for their participation. Each participant completed the CR questionnaires and the behavioural tasks only once.

Statistical analysis

Data pre-processing and data analysis were done in R [61]. For data pre-processing, we used the package *tidyverse* [62]. For the analysis of the picture-naming data, linear mixed-effect models (LMMs) were employed, using the *lme4* package [63]. The outcome variables were 1) reaction time of correct trials for object and action naming separately and 2) accuracy for object and action naming separately. As accuracy is a binomial variable, we used generalised linear mixed-models (GLMMs) as these are well-suited for binomial data [64]. Moreover, because the accuracy data in this study is binary (1 for correct or 0 for incorrect) with a highly skewed distribution (asymmetric distribution where there are more 1's than 0's), a binomial family with a complementary log-log (cloglog) link function was chosen [65] with a "Nelder Mead" optimiser [66]. Multiple linear regression was conducted on the verbal fluency data as

there were no repeated measures. The outcome variables were 1) number of correctly produced words and 2) average frequency of the correctly produced words.

Following the preregistration, the data was trimmed using z-scores to reduce the probability of Type-II errors [67]. The dependent variables were transformed into z-scores within each age-group and outliers were identified as being above and below 2.5 SD. That is, picture-naming reaction times above or below 2.5 SD were considered outliers and subsequently removed (object naming: 4.4%, action naming: 7.9%). For verbal fluency, values for the number of correctly produced words and average frequency of the produced words above or below 2.5 SD were considered outliers. These were removed from the data before calculating the number of correctly produced words (semantic: 2.6%, letter: 2.9%, action: 1.7%) and average frequency of the produced words (semantic: 2.2%, letter: 2.6%, action: 2.2%). CR composite scores and scores on each of the three control measures were considered outliers if they had a value of 2.5 SD below or above the mean of each age group. Because there were no repeated measures for these scores and because they were important predictors in our analysis, the detected outliers were winsorised at +/-2.5 SD. This allowed for the scores to remain on the extreme side of the distribution without loss of data. CR scores were missing for two participants and part of the CR scores was missing for three participants. For the control tasks, two participants had missing data for cognitive processing speed and three had missing data for working memory. Missing data was replaced using single imputation, where the mean per age group was imputed. This was done before creating any composite scores.

The predictor variables for all models were Age with three levels (younger adults aged 18– 30; middle-aged adults aged 40–55; and older adults aged 65–80), the standardised CR composite score (continuous predictor), and an interaction between Age and CR composite score. The categorical variable Age was coded using Helmert contrasts such that the first contrast reflects the difference between middle-aged and younger adults, and the second contrast reflects the difference between older adults and the mean of the younger and middle-aged adult groups. The package *emmeans* was used to conduct post-hoc comparisons between age groups, including the Tukey Multiple Comparison test to obtain adjusted p-values [68]. Furthermore, we compared the models with the CR scores for the period preceding and coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic. This was done to test whether CR scores for the period preceding or coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic explained current word-finding ability better. Standardised scores for the general cognitive processing composite variable were added to the model as covariates.

For the picture-naming data, random effects for Item ID (i.e., variance caused by betweenitem variability) and Participant ID (i.e., variance caused by between-subject variability) were included [69]. To justify the inclusion of both random effects in our model, we compared the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; [70]) values of the model with and without random effects. A lower AIC value indicates a better fit. For action naming reaction time, the AIC for inclusion of both random effects was substantially lower than the null model without random effects (32.9 and 2095.4 respectively). For object naming reaction time, the model which included both random effects resulted in a substantially lower AIC value compared to the null model without random effects (-796.3 and 1403.3 respectively). For action naming accuracy, the AIC for the model with both random effects was lower than the null model without random effects (2771.5 and 2994.4 respectively). For the model with both random effects for object naming accuracy, the AIC was also lower than the null model without random effects (1012.50 and 1070.89 respectively).

To assess goodness of fit, the assumptions of the different statistical models were investigated, and the AIC was compared against a null model. In addition, we reported the conditional and marginal R-squared (R^2) for all models using the function "r2_nakagawa" of the package *performance* [71] for the LMMs and the function "r.squaredGLMM" of the package *MuMIn* for the GLMMs [72]. Moreover, goodness of fit of the GLMMs was assessed by testing for overdispersion, using "testDispersion" function of the *DHARMa* package [73]. Concordance and Somer's D were calculated using the "somers2" function of the *Hmisc* package to assess the predictive power of the GLMMs [74].

Data availability

The study hypotheses, design, and statistical analyses were preregistered on aspredicted.org (https://aspredicted.org/b6we4.pdf). R code, Cognitive Reserve questionnaires, picture names, and additional online materials are openly available at the project's GitHub repository (https://github.com/EliseJis/GBG-Online-Study). The dataset will be openly available via Lancaster University's Pure repository. The dataset's DOI will be made available after acceptance.

Results

Picture naming reaction time data

The reaction times for action and object naming were analysed separately. Mean reaction times per age group were calculated for accurate items only. The mean reaction time for action naming was 1063.9 ms (SD = 348.3 ms) for younger adults, 1006.6 ms (SD = 312.4 ms) for middle-aged adults, and 1071.2 ms (SD = 326.8 ms) for older adults. The mean reaction time for object naming was 763.6 ms (SD = 183.2 ms), 792.9 ms (SD = 222.4 ms), and 881.0 ms (SD = 246.9 ms) for younger, middle-aged, and older adults, respectively.

The full model for both action and object naming with main predictors (Age and CR), the interaction term (Age*CR) and the covariates (the control tasks) converged without the need for optimisers. The assumptions for linearity and homoscedasticity were both met. To obtain normality of residuals, the outcome variable (reaction time) was log transformed.

Model formulas and results are reported in Tables 2 and 3 for action and object naming respectively. For action naming reaction time, none of the predictors were significant. For object naming reaction time, we found a main effect of age ($\beta = 0.05$, t(87.99) = 3.83), such that older adults were significantly slower than both younger (adjusted p = .003) and middle-aged adults (adjusted p = .001). The interaction between CR and Age did not reach significance.

For action naming, approximately 16.2% and 16.8% of the variance not explained by our fixed effects was explained by the random effects for Participant ID and Item ID respectively. Marginal and conditional R^2 were calculated as a measure of model fit. Fixed effects explained 1.4% of the variance in the data (marginal $R^2 = .014$), whilst 34.0% of the variance was explained by the full model, including random effects (conditional $R^2 = .340$). For object naming, 24.3% and 9.2% of the variance not explained by our fixed effects was explained by the random effects for Participant ID and Item ID, respectively. Fixed effects explained 5.9% of the variance in the data (marginal $R^2 = .059$), whilst 37.4% of the variance was explained by the full model, including random effects (conditional $R^2 = .374$).

Picture naming accuracy data

Accuracy data for object and action naming was analysed separately. Mean accuracy for action naming was 94.7% for younger adults (SD = 22.4%), 95.4% for middle-aged adults (SD = 20.9%), and 93.5% for older adults (SD 24.7%). For object naming, the respective mean accuracies were 99% (SD = 10%), 98.7% (SD = 11.3%), and 97.3% (SD = 16.1%).

Model	log(RT) ~ Age Group*CR score + General Cognitive Processing + (1 Participant ID) + (1 Item ID)								
Effect	Estimat	e	SEd	t value	df ^e	p value	CI ^f Low	CI ^f High	
Intercept	6.904		0.018	381.321	155.999	.000***	6.868	6.940	
MA ^a vs. YA ^b	0.019		0.016	1.156	89.661	.251	-0.013	0.051	
OA ^c vs. MA ^a / YA ^b	0.015		0.010	1.434	89.638	.155	-0.006	0.035	
CR ^g Score	-0.006		0.013	-0.436	89.726	.664	-0.031	0.020	
MA ^a vs. YA ^b * CR ^g Score	0.012		0.016	0.742	89.670	.460	-0.019	0.042	
OA ^c vs. (MA ^a / YA ^b) * CR ^g Score	-0.014		0.009	1.555	89.859	.124	-0.032	0.004	
Covariates									
General Cognitive Processing	-0.009		0.029	-0.310	88.582	.757	-0.066	0.048	

Table 2. Results of the fixed effects for action naming reaction time.

^aMA = middle-aged adults

^bYA = younger adults

^cOA = older adults

^dSE = standard error

^edf = degrees of freedom

^fCI = 95% Confidence Intervals

^gCR = Cognitive Reserve

*p < .05 **p < .01

 $^{***}p < .001.$

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t002

Model formulas and the results of both models are reported in Tables 4 and 5 for action and object naming respectively. For both models, there was a main effect for Age, in that older adults were less accurate in action and object naming than middle-aged adults (action naming:

Model	odel log(RT) ~ Age Group*CR score + General Cognitive Processing + (1 Participant ID) + (1 Item ID)						
Effect	Estimate	SEd	t value	df ^e	p value	CI ^f Low	CI ^f High
Intercept	6.679	0.017	388.170	141.602	.000	6.586	6.690
MA ^a vs. YA ^b	-0.004	0.019	-0.207	87.845	.837	-0.082	0.067
OA ^c vs. MA ^a / YA ^b	0.045	0.012	3.834	87.952	<.001***	0.058	0.202
CR ^g Score	-0.005	0.015	-0.369	87.953	.713	-0.062	0.036
MA ^a vs. YA ^b * CR ^g Score	0.024	0.018	1.332	87.887	.186	-0.024	0.119
$\overline{OA^{c} vs. (MA^{a} / YA^{b}) * CR^{c} Score}$	-0.016	0.010	-1.595	88.018	.114	-0.095	0.045
Covariates							
General Cognitive Processing	0.019	0.033	0.578	87.924	.564	-0.010	0.085

Table 3. Results of the fixed effects for object naming reaction time.

^aMA = middle-aged adults ^bYA = younger adults ^cOA = older adults ^dSE = standard error ^edf = degrees of freedom ^fCI = 95% Confidence Intervals ^gCR = Cognitive Reserve

*p < .05 **p < .01

***p<.001.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t003

Model	Accuracy ~ Ag family = binom	Accuracy ~ Age Group*CR score + General Cognitive Processing + (1 Participant ID) +(1 Item ID), family = binomial (link = "cloglog")								
Effect	Estimate	SEd	z value	p value	CI ^e Low	CI ^e High				
Intercept	1.255	0.053	23.826	.000	1.152	1.358				
MA ^a vs. YA ^b	-0.037	0.035	-1.083	.279	-0.105	0.030				
OA ^c vs. MA ^a / YA ^b	-0.053	0.021	-2.259	.011*	-0.094	-0.012				
CR ^f Score	0.023	0.027	0.864	.387	-0.029	0.076				
MA ^a vs. YA ^b * CR ^f Score	-0.113	0.033	-3.379	<.001***	-0.178	-0.047				
OA ^c vs. (MA ^a / YA ^b) * CR ^f Score	-0.007	0.019	-0.363	.716	-0.043	0.030				
Covariates										
General Cognitive Processing	-0.021	0.059	-0.360	.718	-0.138	0.095				

Table 4. Results of the fixed effects for action naming accuracy.

^aMA = middle-aged adults

^bYA = younger adults

^cOA = older adults ^dSE = standard error

^eCI = 95% Confidence Intervals fCR = Cognitive Reserve

*p < .05 **p < .01

*****p*<.001.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t004

 β = 0.20, *z* = 2.92, adjusted *p* = .010; object naming: β = -0.19, *z* = 2.33, adjusted *p* = .05) and less accurate in object naming than younger adults (β = 0.25, *z* = 2.53, adjusted *p* = .03). For action naming accuracy, the interaction between Age and CR reached statistical significance in

Model	Accuracy ~Age family = binom	Accuracy ~Age Group*CR score + General Cognitive Processing + (1 Participant ID)+ (1 Item ID), family = binomial (link = "cloglog")								
Effect	Estimate	SEd	z value	<i>p</i> value	CI ^e Low	CI ^e High				
Intercept	1.630	0.069	23.781	.000	1.499	1.768				
MA ^a vs. YA ^b	0.031	0.048	0.653	.514	-0.062	0.125				
OA ^c vs. MA ^a / YA ^b	-0.074	0.026	-2.846	.004**	-0.125	-0.023				
CR ^g Score	-0.013	0.034	-0.385	.701	-0.079	0.053				
MAa vs. YA ^b * CR ^f Score	-0.106	0.045	-2.368	.018*	-0.193	-0.018				
OA ^c vs. (MA ^a / YA ^b) * CRf Score	0.011	0.022	0.503	.615	-0.032	0.054				
Covariates										
General Cognitive Processing	0.047	0.073	0.644	.520	-0.096	0.189				

Table 5. Results of the fixed effects for object naming accuracy.

^aMA = middle-aged adults

^bYA = younger adults ^cOA = older adults

^dSE = standard error

^eCI = 95% Confidence Intervals

fCR = Cognitive Reserve

*p < .05

**p < .01

***p<.001.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t005



Fig 1. The relationship between Cognitive Reserve (CR) and action naming accuracy per age group. The Effect of CR is Significant in Middle-Aged Adults. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.g001

middle-aged adults (see Fig 1). That is, CR had a positive effect on action naming accuracy (β = -0.11, *z* = -3.38, *p* < .001). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that the interaction was significant in middle-aged compared to younger adults (adjusted *p* = .002). For object naming accuracy, we found an interaction effect between Age and CR (β = -0.11, *z* = -2.37, *p* = .020). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that the interaction was significant in middle-aged compared to younger adults (adjusted *p* = .047; see Fig 2).

Both the models for object and action naming showed a good fit for picture-naming accuracy and there was no overdispersion. For action naming, Concordance and Somer's *D* were .82 and .65, respectively. For object naming, the respective values were .89 and .78. In addition, marginal and conditional R^2 for binomial distributions were calculated. Marginal R^2 was .008 for action naming and .012 for object naming. Conditional R^2 was .096 for action naming and .078 for object naming. However, logistic models often lead to low R^2 values [75] and low R^2 values are not an indication of poor model fit but could indicate a wider spread of data points instead [76, 77].



Fig 2. The relationship between Cognitive Reserve (CR) and action naming accuracy per age group. The Effect of CR is Significant in Middle-Aged Adults. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.g002

Age Group	Measure	Task ^b						
		Semantic	Letter	Action				
Younger adults	N words total ^a	88 (19)	48 (14)	36 (7)				
	Average Frequency	3.96 (0.16)	4.22 (2.64)	4.20 (0.17)				
Middle-aged adults	N words total	94 (18)	54 (18)	36 (9)				
	Average Frequency	4.40 (2.99)	4.08 (0.26)	4.21 (0.16)				
Older adults	N words total	85 (14)	51 (20)	33 (6)				
	Average Frequency	4.23 (2.05)	4.92 (0.24)	4.32 (0.88)				

Table 6. Descriptive statistics of the verbal fluency tasks (i.e., semantic, letter, and action fluency) per age group.

^aN words total is the total number of correctly produced words. ^bValues reflect means (SD)

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566.t006

Verbal fluency data

Table 6 summarises the descriptive statistics of the verbal fluency tasks. For the models with the number of correctly produced words as the outcome variable, General Cognitive Processing was a significant predictor for action fluency only ($\beta = 0.42$, t(83) = 2.25, p = .03). None of the other predictors were significant. This was the case for all three verbal fluency variables (i.e., semantic, action, and letter fluency). For semantic fluency, Age was a significant predictor of average frequency of the produced words ($\beta = -0.06$, t(83) = 2.31), but the effect disappeared after correcting for multiple comparisons (p = .11). Moreover, none of the models predicted the data well, as was assessed through model fit diagnostics, including a non-significant overall model fit.

The effect of COVID-19 on CR and subsequent task performance

It is possible that social isolation due to the COVID-19 pandemic led to changes in CR scores, which could impact current word-finding ability. Table 1 provides the descriptive statistics per age group for the CR scores preceding and coinciding the COVID-19 pandemic. To investigate whether changes in CR scores due to the COVID-19 pandemic affected behavioural performance, we performed an exploratory analysis whereby we ran all models again with the CR scores measured during the pandemic. Next, ANOVA for model comparisons and AIC were used to compare the models with CR scores preceding the COVID-19 pandemic to that with the CR scores coinciding with the pandemic for all picture-naming and verbal fluency models separately. The ANOVAs for model comparisons and AIC values revealed no differences between the models with CR scores preceding the COVID-19 pandemic and those with CR scores coinciding the pandemic.

Discussion

This study investigated the relationship between CR and age-related word-finding difficulties, and explored the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on CR. To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating these relationships. We hypothesised that CR modulates age-related declines in word finding. We quantified word-finding difficulties through picture-naming and verbal fluency tasks, and CR through a comprehensive questionnaire on lifestyle. We found that age predicts word-finding ability: Older adults had lower accuracy of action and object naming compared to middle-aged adults, and they had lower accuracy of object naming compared to younger adults. Both middle-aged and younger adults displayed faster reaction times for object naming compared to older adults. We found no age effect on action naming reaction

time nor on any of the verbal fluency measures. In addition, middle-aged adults with higher CR scores reached higher accuracies for both action and object naming. CR did not modulate action or object naming reaction times, nor did it modulate verbal fluency performance in any of the age groups. Finally, CR scores preceding the COVID-19 pandemic did not explain behavioural scores any differently than CR scores coinciding with the pandemic.

We found that older adults achieved lower accuracy for action and object naming and were slower in object naming, which is in line with previous studies showing a decrease in word-finding ability in older age [25, 36]. Older age did not predict reaction times for action naming. A recent study showed that action naming was less affected by age, possibly because action and object naming rely on different neural networks [78]. In addition, research suggests that action naming is a slower process compared to object naming because more cognitive resources are needed [13]. Hence, the speed of accessing action words may be relatively preserved in older adults, due to already slower processes involved and because of different underlying neural networks.

Our study did not reveal an effect of general cognitive processing on picture-naming performance. Some ageing theories state that cognitive deficits are caused by a shrinking of cognitive resources, such as a slowing down of cognitive processing speed [55] or a reduction of working memory capacity [54]. If the above-mentioned theories are correct, an age-related reduction in cognitive resources would explain the variance in the reaction times for action and object naming in the current study. Note this point holds true only under the assumption that the measures employed are good measures for capturing the aforementioned constructs. However, pure measures of complex psychological constructs, such as cognitive processing speed, are difficult to capture because measures can be influenced by multiple factors in addition to the construct itself [79]. However, general cognitive processing scores did not predict word finding in the current study. Hence, the age-related word-finding difficulties during the picture-naming task could not be explained by a reduction in cognitive resources. Future research should investigate the influence of general cognitive processes in relation to CR on word finding abilities.

We found no interactions between age and CR for reaction times nor for accuracies of action and object naming in older adults, which is in contrast with studies showing a modulatory effect of CR on cognitive functioning in older age [2]. There may be two possible reasons for this discrepancy. Firstly, previous studies showed that CR does not benefit all cognitive domains equally [26, 79]. In these studies, whilst CR was associated with better verbal memory and crystallised intelligence in older adults, CR did not enhance performance on a finger tapping, cognitive processing speed, or executive functioning task. Hence, CR might not mitigate word-finding difficulties in older age. Alternatively, CR might increase performance when task demands are high by enhancing general cognitive processes (for a discussion, see [80]). Hence, the effects from CR might become too subtle to detect whilst the beneficial effects on word finding from other cognitive processes becomes apparent.

In contrast to the findings in older adults, our results revealed an interaction between CR and age for action and object naming accuracy in middle-aged adults, with a stronger effect for action than object naming. Previous studies have reported that CR, quantified through years of education, modulates the performance of verbal memory and semantic memory [26, 27]. To our knowledge, the current study is the first to demonstrate that middle-aged people with high CR achieve higher action naming accuracy than those with low CR. Action naming is more challenging than object naming and the two processes are quite different from one another because of the different underlying cognitive processes and brain regions [13]. Hence, if CR is drawn upon when task demands are high and additional resources are needed, for example due to slower cognitive processes underlying action-word finding ability [5], it would benefit action naming more than object naming.

Moreover, the modulating effect of CR in middle-aged adults is in line with the findings of Cansino and others [29], who found that CR only contributes to source memory performance in middle age but not in older age. In middle age, high CR might be necessary as an additional resource when task demands are high [5], whilst in younger and older adults, different cognitive strategies are necessary to tackle difficult tasks [29]. Therefore, middle-aged adults might draw upon CR resources to support their word-finding abilities whilst older adults might enhance their word-finding abilities by tapping into other cognitive processes, such as cognitive processing speed, working memory, or vocabulary, that might be more beneficial [29]. A cautionary note should be given as it is currently unclear whether there is a causal link between CR and cognitive functioning. Several factors can influence cognitive ageing that have not been measured here, such as hearing loss [81], smoking, and high blood pressure [82], to name a few. Such factors have not been considered in the current study but could in theory have exerted influence on the relationship between CR and word-finding abilities. Longitudinal studies that control for such factors and investigate the causal role of CR interventions on cognition would provide critical information regarding the causal link between CR and cognition.

Furthermore, we observed that older adults experienced greater word-finding difficulties relative to both younger and middle-aged adults. Currently, there is no consensus on the age when word-finding difficulties become apparent. The results of this study indicate that subtle word-finding abilities can be detected from the age of 65 years old. This is in line with previous studies suggesting that a decline in word-finding abilities starts at 75 years of age [15]. Some studies suggested that word-finding difficulties already become apparent at the age of 30 years old [14] or as early as 50 years of age [17, 18, 25]. In contrast, we did not find differences in word-finding abilities between younger and middle-aged adults. Hence, it is likely that subtle word-finding difficulties can commence from the age of 65, depending on the individual.

The COVID-19 pandemic might have led to changes in CR scores, which could have immediately impacted word-finding ability. The current study investigated whether the level of CR coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic would explain the data better than the CR levels preceding the pandemic. The current study showed that CR scores for the period coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic did not explain behavioural performance better than CR scores for the period preceding the pandemic. Assuming that the pandemic resulted in short-term changes in CR levels, these changes do not seem to influence behaviour. One explanation is that there is a "critical period" for accumulating CR [83]. Therefore, CR accumulated early in life might be more important for word-finding ability than CR accrued later. As a result, changes in CR in older age would not modulate age-related declines in word-finding ability. However, several studies demonstrate that increasing CR levels at older age, for example through late-life education, increases cognitive performance [4, 79]. Moreover, the current study measured CR in both early (i.e., education) and later life (i.e., current engagement in leisure, cognitive, and psychical activities), and showed that CR modulated performance in middle and older age. Alternatively, the effects of lower CR on word-finding ability might be delayed and only become apparent later on. If reductions in CR scores result in lower cognitive performance in the long term, this could have an enormous impact on healthy brain function later in life. Therefore, it is of paramount importance that future studies investigate the longterm effects of changes in CR due to the COVID-19 pandemic on cognition.

Regarding verbal fluency, we found no effect of age or CR. In contrast, previous studies reported age-related decreases in verbal fluency performance [19–21] and a modulatory effect of CR on letter fluency [28]. The study was conducted online (because of the COVID-19 pandemic) and as such, participants had no opportunity to ask the researcher directly for clarification of the instructions. Because verbal fluency tasks are normally conducted in-person,

administering this task via an online platform without the researcher being present might have resulted in null results for verbal fluency in this study.

The optimal way to quantify CR is currently unclear as there are several proxies that can contribute to CR [6]. However, using a single proxy for CR, such as years of education, might not fully capture CR. In order to obtain a score that reflects CR across the lifespan, the current study implemented a more comprehensive measure by creating a composite score from the frequency of leisure, social, and cognitively stimulating activities in addition to educational and occupational attainment.

Lastly, we found that quite a large proportion of the variance in the picture naming reaction time data was explained by the additional random effects for between-individual and between-trial variability (when comparing conditional vs. marginal R^2). Previous studies showed that ageing trajectories are very person-specific and the deviation in performance increases with age [18, 24]. Hence, the large between-individual variability highlights the importance of controlling for individual differences in ageing research.

Limitations

The online nature of the study meant that the participants were not in a controlled environment. We tried to control the study through initial screening, providing clear instructions with example pictures, giving the opportunity to test the microphone, and by asking the participants to complete the study in a quiet environment with as few distractions as possible. Future online studies would benefit from a researcher attending the session via a conference call whilst the participant is completing the study to increase participant-researcher interaction. Furthermore, the current study was restricted to a sample of monolingual speakers of British English to reduce the variance in word-finding speed, which can be affected by language background [32]. Hence, the results of this study cannot be generalised to multilingual speakers. Future studies should investigate this question using groups of speakers with varied language backgrounds to expand on the relationships between CR and word-finding abilities across the lifespan. Such future research will increase our understanding of the effects observed in the current study, which has a restricted sample.

In the current study, we transformed the picture-naming reaction times and the number of correctly produced words on the verbal fluency tasks into *z*-scores within each participant group. We then classified any score above or below 2.5 *SD* as an outlier, which was subsequently removed. It is theoretically possible that trimming data, including the above-mentioned method, can lead to distortions of the data set [84, 85]. However, recent research suggests that not excluding outliers leads to a greater negative bias [67]. That is, the probability of Type-II errors increases when the data is not trimmed. Using the *z*-score method mentioned in this study leads to the smallest bias. With increasing age, standard deviations in cognitive tasks increase, meaning more variance within older than younger samples. Hence, trimming the data, especially in older adults, may lead to masking of deviation effects. In the current study, we chose to trim the data within each of the age groups, reducing the chance of masking such deviations. In addition, it is likely that trimming the data using *z*-scores has led to lower bias than not trimming the data at all (see [83]).

We also note that the study was powered for a medium-large effect size, so any smaller effects sizes may have been missed. Future work could use the data collected here to inform data simulations or power calculations associated with specific statistical tests. For LMMs, Hox proposes to use the rule of thumb of 30 groups with 30 observations [86]. The current study has 30 participants per group and over 70 trials per participants, and, hence, would comply with Hox's suggestion, so it is likely that the study is adequately powered.

The internal consistency of the CR questionnaire was poor (α = .59), indicating that the items in the questionnaire are multidimensional [87]. The low internal consistency score could be due to few questionnaire items or because they do not measure the same underlying construct. CR is a concept that is believed to be built up by lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences, such as physical activity and education [6]. Hence, CR in itself is a multidimensional construct and this multidimensionality might be reflected through the low Cronbach's Alpha score. However, there is currently no consensus as to what lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences must be included to compute an individual's CR level (for a discussion, please see [80]). To better capture CR, the current study included a range of CR proxies, including years of education, frequency of cognitively stimulating activities, and physical activities. Hence, the low Cronbach Alpha score may be a trade-off of using a more comprehensive CR measure.

Moreover, the use of different operating systems, browsers, and differences in microphone setup could have increased the variability in scores between participants. To reduce the timing variability in the audio recordings for the picture-naming tasks, the start of each trial was indicated with a trigger sound. To increase the reliability of the estimate of reaction time, we sub-tracted the trigger onset from voice onset. However, we could not control for the distance between participant and microphone, and this could have increased reaction time variability across participants and even across trials. We recommend that future online studies provide instructions on the distance between the participant and the computer (e.g., the participant should sit at arm's length).

Lastly, the current study did not investigate the effect of vocabulary on picture-naming performance in older adults. Previous studies showed that vocabulary positively modulated wordfinding ability in older adults [29] and that an increase in vocabulary masks subtle declines in word-finding ability [38, 88]. However, we found age-related declines in word-finding ability in older adults. This participant group was slower in object naming and achieved lower accuracy for action and object naming than younger and middle-aged adults. Because word-finding difficulties in older age were present in the current study, vocabulary could not have masked word-finding difficulties. However, future studies on CR need to clarify the effect of both vocabulary and CR on word finding across the lifespan to provide a clearer picture as to what resources are necessary in maintaining word-finding in older age.

Conclusions

Lower action and object naming accuracy, and slower object naming reaction times, are associated with older age. These results suggest the presence of subtle word-finding difficulties in older age. Moreover, the results showed that high CR is associated with more accurate action and object naming in middle age. Hence, high CR might not always be beneficial in older age, but also in middle age, and this benefit will depend on multiple factors: the underlying cognitive processes, whether task demands are high, and individual differences in general cognitive processing abilities. Future studies should clarify at which life stages CR is most beneficial and whether this depends on the cognitive function being investigated. Finally, changes in CR due to the COVID-19 pandemic did not affect word-finding abilities. However, such effects might become apparent only after several years, and future studies should investigate the long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on CR and subsequent cognitive functioning. If changes in CR negatively affects cognitive functioning, timely interventions are necessary to counteract the negative consequences and increased risk of dementia by, for example, increasing late-life CR. Such interventions can include cognitive training, education later in life, and promoting healthy lifestyle choices throughout the lifespan (for a discussion on interventions, please see [80]).

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the members of the Neuroscience of Speech and Action laboratory for their support. We thank Peter Tovee and Barrie Usherwood for their advice on setting up a language production study using online platforms. Lastly, we would like to thank all the participants for their time and efforts.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Helen E. Nuttall.

Data curation: Elise J. Oosterhuis.

Formal analysis: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Kate Slade, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall.

Investigation: Elise J. Oosterhuis, El Smith.

Methodology: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Kate Slade, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall.

Project administration: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Kate Slade, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall.

Resources: Elise J. Oosterhuis.

Supervision: Kate Slade, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall.

Validation: Elise J. Oosterhuis.

Visualization: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Helen E. Nuttall.

Writing - original draft: Elise J. Oosterhuis.

Writing – review & editing: Elise J. Oosterhuis, Kate Slade, Patrick J. C. May, Helen E. Nuttall.

References

- 1. Salthouse TA. When does age-related cognitive decline begin? Neurobiol Aging. 2009; 30: 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.09.023 PMID: 19231028
- Caballero HS, McFall GP, Wiebe SA, Dixon RA. Integrating Three Characteristics of Executive Function in Non-Demented Aging: Trajectories, Classification, and Biomarker Predictors. J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS. 2021; 27: 158–171. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617720000703 PMID: 32772936
- Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. The Lancet. 2020; 396: 413–446. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6 PMID: 32738937
- 4. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2012; 11: 1006–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70191-6 PMID: 23079557
- Stern Y. What is cognitive reserve? Theory and research application of the reserve concept. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2002; 8: 448–460. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617702813248 PMID: 11939702
- Stern Y, Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Bartrés-Faz D, Belleville S, Cantilon M, Chetelat G, et al. Whitepaper: Defining and investigating cognitive reserve, brain reserve, and brain maintenance. Alzheimers Dement. 2020; 16: 1305–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.07.219 PMID: 30222945
- 7. Burke DM, Shafto MA. Aging and Language Production. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2004; 13: 21–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.01301006.x</u> PMID: 18414600
- Henry JD, Crawford JR, Phillips LH. Verbal fluency performance in dementia of the Alzheimer's type: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychologia. 2004; 42: 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia. 2004.02.001 PMID: 15178173
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. Verbal fluency deficits in Parkinson's disease: A meta-analysis. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2004; 10: 608–622. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617704104141 PMID: 15327739
- Wright HH. Cognition, Language and Aging. Amsterdam/Philadelphia, NETHERLANDS, THE: John Benjamins Publishing Company; 2016. Available: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail. action?docID=4441477

- 11. Mortensen L, Meyer AS, Humphreys GW. Age-related effects on speech production: A review. Lang Cogn Process. 2006; 21: 238–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/01690960444000278
- Whiteside DM, Kealey T, Semla M, Luu H, Rice L, Basso MR, et al. Verbal Fluency: Language or Executive Function Measure? Appl Neuropsychol Adult. 2016; 23: 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095. 2015.1004574 PMID: 26111011
- Szekely A, D'Amico S, Devescovi A, Federmeier K, Herron D, Iyer G, et al. Timed Action and Object Naming. Cortex. 2005; 41: 7–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0010-9452(08)70174-6 PMID: 15633703
- Connor LT, Spiro A III, Obler LK, Albert ML. Change in Object Naming Ability During Adulthood. J Gerontol Ser B. 2004; 59: P203–P209. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/59.5.p203 PMID: 15358792
- Kavé G, Knafo A, Gilboa A. The rise and fall of word retrieval across the lifespan. Psychol Aging. 2010; 25: 719–724. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018927 PMID: 20853975
- Mackay AJ, Connor LT, Albert ML, Obler LK. Noun and verb retrieval in healthy aging. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2002; 8: 764–770. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617702860040 PMID: 12240740
- Ramsay CB, Nicholas M, Au R, Obler LK, Albert ML. Verb Naming in Normal Aging. Appl Neuropsychol. 1999; 6: 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324826an0602_1 PMID: 10379411
- Zec RF, Burkett NR, Markwell SJ, Larsen DL. A Cross-Sectional Study of the Effects of Age, Education, and Gender on the Boston Naming Test. Clin Neuropsychol. 2007; 21: 587–616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13854040701220028 PMID: 17613980</u>
- Gordon JK, Young M, Garcia C. Why do older adults have difficulty with semantic fluency? Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2018; 25: 803–828. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825585.2017.1374328 PMID: 28877653
- Kavé G, Knafo-Noam A. Lifespan development of phonemic and semantic fluency: Universal increase, differential decrease. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2015; 37: 751–763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395</u>. 2015.1065958 PMID: 26299188
- McDowd J, Hoffman L, Rozek E, Lyons KE, Pahwa R, Burns J, et al. Understanding verbal fluency in healthy aging, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychology. 2011; 25: 210–225. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021531 PMID: 21381827
- McDonnell M, Dill L, Panos S, Amano S, Brown W, Giurgius S, et al. Verbal fluency as a screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. Int Psychogeriatr. 2020; 32: 1055–1062. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1041610219000644 PMID: 31258101
- Sutin AR, Stephan Y, Terracciano A. Verbal fluency and risk of dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2019; 34: 863–867. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5081 PMID: 30729575
- Drag LL, Bieliauskas LA. Contemporary review 2009: cognitive aging. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 2010; 23: 75–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988709358590 PMID: 20101069
- Verhaegen C, Poncelet M. Changes in Naming and Semantic Abilities With Aging From 50 to 90 years. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2013; 19: 119–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617712001178</u> PMID: 23237304
- Lavrencic LM, Churches OF, Keage HAD. Cognitive reserve is not associated with improved performance in all cognitive domains. Appl Neuropsychol Adult. 2018; 25: 473–485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2017.1329146 PMID: 28594578</u>
- Rodriguez FS, Zheng L, Chui HC. Psychometric Characteristics of Cognitive Reserve: How High Education Might Improve Certain Cognitive Abilities in Aging. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2019; 47: 335–344. https://doi.org/10.1159/000501150 PMID: 31466060
- Gonzalez-Burgos L, Barroso J, Ferreira D. Cognitive reserve and network efficiency as compensatory mechanisms of the effect of aging on phonemic fluency. Aging. 2020; 12: 23351–23378. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/aging.202177 PMID: 33203801
- Cansino S, Torres-Trejo F, Estrada-Manilla C, Pérez-Loyda M, Vargas-Martínez C, Tapia-Jaimes G, et al. Contributions of Cognitive Aging Models to the Explanation of Source Memory Decline across the Adult Lifespan. Exp Aging Res. 2020; 46: 194–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073X.2020.1743920</u> PMID: 32208813
- Baciu M, Banjac S, Roger E, Haldin C, Perrone-Bertolotti M, Lœvenbruck H, et al. Strategies and cognitive reserve to preserve lexical production in aging. GeroScience. 2021; 43: 1725–1765. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1007/s11357-021-00367-5 PMID: 33970414
- Ingram J, Hand CJ, Maciejewski G. Social isolation during COVID-19 lockdown impairs cognitive function. Appl Cogn Psychol. 2021; 10.1002/acp.3821. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3821 PMID: 34230768
- Ivanova I, Costa A. Does bilingualism hamper lexical access in speech production? Acta Psychol (Amst). 2008; 127: 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2007.06.003 PMID: 17662226
- 33. Rosner B. Fundamentals of Biostatistics. Cengage Learning; 2015.

- Ernst E, Smith K. Research Fundamentals. In: Ernst E, Smith K, editors. More Harm than Good? The Moral Maze of Complementary and Alternative Medicine. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018. pp. 25–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69941-7_2
- Stokholm J, Jørgensen K, Vogel A. Performances on five verbal fluency tests in a healthy, elderly Danish sample. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2013; 20: 22–33. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1080/13825585.2012.656576 PMID: 22352781</u>
- Boudiaf N, Laboissière R, Cousin É, Fournet N, Krainik A, Baciu M. Behavioral evidence for a differential modulation of semantic processing and lexical production by aging: a full linear mixed-effects modeling approach. Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2018; 25: 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825585.2016.1257100 PMID: 27883290
- Maseda A, Lodeiro-Fernández L, Lorenzo-López L, Núñez-Naveira L, Balo A, Millán-Calenti JC. Verbal fluency, naming and verbal comprehension: three aspects of language as predictors of cognitive impairment. Aging Ment Health. 2014; 18: 1037–1045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2014.908457</u> PMID: 24797556
- Kavé G, Yafé R. Performance of Younger and Older Adults on Tests of Word Knowledge and Word Retrieval: Independence or Interdependence of Skills? Am J Speech Lang Pathol. 2014; 23: 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2013/12-0136) PMID: 23831710
- Madden DL, Sale MV, Robinson GA. Age-related differences in idea generation and selection for propositional language. Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2019; 26: 486–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13825585</u>. 2018.1476668 PMID: 29781396
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Ball R, Ranieri WF. Comparison of Beck Depression Inventories-IA and-II in Psychiatric Outpatients. J Pers Assess. 1996; 67: 588–597. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6703_13 PMID: 8991972
- Jansen APD, van Hout HPJ, Nijpels G, van Marwijk HWJ, Gundy C, de Vet HCW, et al. Self-reports on the IQCODE in Older Adults: A Psychometric Evaluation. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 2008; 21: 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988707311558 PMID: 18474717
- Anwyl-Irvine AL, Massonnié J, Flitton A, Kirkham N, Evershed JK. Gorilla in our midst: An online behavioral experiment builder. Behav Res Methods. 2020; 52: 388–407. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-019-01237-x PMID: 31016684
- Sörman DE, Sundström A, Rönnlund M, Adolfsson R, Nilsson L-G. Leisure Activity in Old Age and Risk of Dementia: A 15-Year Prospective Study. J Gerontol Ser B. 2014; 69: 493–501. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1093/geronb/gbt056</u> PMID: 23766435
- 44. Wang H-X, Karp A, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. Late-life engagement in social and leisure activities is associated with a decreased risk of dementia: a longitudinal study from the Kungsholmen project. Am J Epidemiol. 2002; 155: 1081–1087. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/155.12.1081 PMID: 12048221
- Armstrong T, Bull F. Development of the World Health Organization Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ). J Public Health. 2006; 14: 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-006-0024-x
- 46. Office for National Statistics. SOC 2020 Volume 1: structure and descriptions of unit groups. 2020. Available: https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/ standardoccupationalclassificationsoc/soc2020/soc2020volume1structureanddescriptionsofunitgroups
- Cronbach LJ. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika. 1951; 16: 297–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555
- Soldan A, Pettigrew C, Li S, Wang M-C, Moghekar A, Selnes OA, et al. Relationship of cognitive reserve and cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers to the emergence of clinical symptoms in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2013; 34: 2827–2834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.017 PMID: 23916061
- Szekely A, Jacobsen T, D'Amico S, Devescovi A, Andonova E, Herron D, et al. A new on-line resource for psycholinguistic studies. J Mem Lang. 2004; 51: 247–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2004.03.002 PMID: 23002322
- Alario F-X, Ferrand L, Laganaro M, New B, Frauenfelder UH, Segui J. Predictors of picture naming speed. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput. 2004; 36: 140–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03195559</u> PMID: 15190709
- Protopapas A. Check Vocal: A program to facilitate checking the accuracy and response time of vocal responses from DMDX. Behav Res Methods. 2007; 39: 859–862. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03192979 PMID: 18183901
- Piatt AL, Fields JA, Paolo AM, Tröster AI. Action verbal fluency normative data for the elderly. Brain Lang. 2004; 89: 580–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2004.02.003 PMID: 15120548

- Ross TP, O'Connor S, Holmes G, Fuller B, Henrich M. The Reliability and Validity of the Action Fluency Test in Healthy College Students. Arch Clin Neuropsychol Off J Natl Acad Neuropsychol. 2019; 34: 1175–1191. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acz016 PMID: 31044243
- Salthouse TA. Working memory as a processing resource in cognitive aging. Dev Rev. 1990; 10: 101– 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-2297(90)90006-P
- Salthouse TA. The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. Psychol Rev. 1996; 103: 403–428. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.103.3.403 PMID: 8759042
- Diamond A. Executive Functions. Annu Rev Psychol. 2013; 64: 135–168. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-psych-113011-143750 PMID: 23020641
- Cooper JA, Sagar HJ, Jordan N, Harvey NS, Sullivan EV. Cognitive impairment in early, untreated Parkinson's disease and its relationship to motor disability. Brain J Neurol. 1991; 114 (Pt 5): 2095–2122. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/114.5.2095 PMID: 1933236
- Hoppe C, Müller U, Werheid K, Thöne A, von Cramon YD. Digit Ordering Test: Clinical, Psychometric, and Experimental Evaluation of a Verbal Working Memory Test. Clin Neuropsychol. 2000; 14: 38–55. https://doi.org/10.1076/1385-4046(20002)14:1;1-8;FT038 PMID: 10855058
- Deary IJ, Liewald D, Nissan J. A free, easy-to-use, computer-based simple and four-choice reaction time programme: The Deary-Liewald reaction time task. Behav Res Methods. 2011; 43: 258–268. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-010-0024-1 PMID: 21287123
- Robbins TW, James M, Owen AM, Sahakian BJ, McInnes L, Rabbitt P. Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB): A Factor Analytic Study of a Large Sample of Normal Elderly Volunteers. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 1994; 5: 266–281. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106735 PMID: 7951684
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2020. Available: https://www.R-project.org/
- Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan LD, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. J Open Source Softw. 2019; 4: 1686. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J Stat Softw. 2015; 67: 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Gilmour AR, Anderson RD, Rae AL. The Analysis of Binomial Data by a Generalized Linear Mixed Model. Biometrika. 1985; 72: 593–599. https://doi.org/10.2307/2336731
- 65. Agresti A. Categorical Data Analysis. John Wiley & Sons; 2003.
- Nelder JA, Mead R. A Simplex Method for Function Minimization. Comput J. 1965; 7: 308–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/comjnl/7.4.308</u>
- Berger A, Kiefer M. Comparison of Different Response Time Outlier Exclusion Methods: A Simulation Study. Front Psychol. 2021; 12. Available: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.675558 PMID: 34194371
- Lenth RV. emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means. 2021. Available: <a href="https://cran.regionality.https://regionality.https://cran.regionality.httpstan.regionality.https://cran.regionality.httpstan.regionality.
- Baayen RH, Davidson DJ, Bates DM. Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. J Mem Lang. 2008; 59: 390–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2007.12.005
- Akaike H. Information Theory and an Extension of the Maximum Likelihood Principle. In: Parzen E, Tanabe K, Kitagawa G, editors. Selected Papers of Hirotugu Akaike. New York, NY: Springer; 1998. pp. 199–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-1694-0_15
- Lüdecke D, Ben-Shachar MS, Patil I, Waggoner P, Makowski D. performance: An R Package for Assessment, Comparison and Testing of Statistical Models. J Open Source Softw. 2021; 6: 3139. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.03139
- 72. Barton K. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. 2020. Available: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn
- 73. Hartig F. DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level / Mixed) Regression Models. 2021. Available: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=DHARMa
- 74. Harrell FE. Hmisc: Harrell Miscellaneous. 2021. Available: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Hmisc
- 75. Hosmer DW Jr, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX, Hosmer DW Jr. Applied Logistic Regression. New York, UNITED STATES: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated; 2013. Available: <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.</u> com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=1138225
- 76. Cohen J, Cohen P, West SG, Aiken LS. Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 3rd Edition. 3rd ed. Routledge; 2013. Available: https://learning.oreilly.com/library/ view/applied-multiple-regression-correlation/9780805822236/
- King G. How Not to Lie with Statistics: Avoiding Common Mistakes in Quantitative Political Science. Am J Polit Sci. 1986; 30: 666–687. https://doi.org/10.2307/2111095

- 78. Reifegerste J, Meyer AS, Zwitserlood P, Ullman MT. Aging affects steaks more than knives: Evidence that the processing of words related to motor skills is relatively spared in aging. Brain Lang. 2021; 218: 104941. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2021.104941 PMID: 34015683
- 79. Thow ME, Summers MJ, Saunders NL, Summers JJ, Ritchie K, Vickers JC. Further education improves cognitive reserve and triggers improvement in selective cognitive functions in older adults: The Tasmanian Healthy Brain Project. Alzheimers Dement Diagn Assess Dis Monit. 2018; 10: 22–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2017.08.004</u> PMID: 29034310
- Oosterhuis EJ, Slade K, May PJC, Nuttall HE. Towards an understanding of healthy cognitive ageing: The importance of lifestyle in Cognitive Reserve Theory and the Scaffolding Theory of Aging and Cognition. J Gerontol Ser B. 2022; gbac197. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac197 PMID: 36546399
- Slade K, Plack CJ, Nuttall HE. The Effects of Age-Related Hearing Loss on the Brain and Cognitive Function. Trends Neurosci. 2020; 43: 810–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.07.005 PMID: 32826080
- Sebastiani P, Andersen SL, Sweigart B, Du M, Cosentino S, Thyagarajan B, et al. Patterns of multidomain cognitive aging in participants of the Long Life Family Study. GeroScience. 2020; 42: 1335– 1350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-020-00202-3 PMID: 32514870
- Chan D, Shafto M, Kievit R, Matthews F, Spink M, Valenzuela M, et al. Lifestyle activities in mid-life contribute to cognitive reserve in late-life, independent of education, occupation and late-life activities. Neurobiol Aging. 2018; 70: 180–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.06.012</u> PMID: 30025291
- Ulrich R, Miller J. Effects of truncation on reaction time analysis. J Exp Psychol Gen. 1994; 123: 34–80. https://doi.org/10.1037//0096-3445.123.1.34 PMID: 8138779
- Miller J. Short Report: Reaction Time Analysis with Outlier Exclusion: Bias Varies with Sample Size. Q J Exp Psychol Sect A. 1991; 43: 907–912. https://doi.org/10.1080/14640749108400962 PMID: 1775668
- **86.** Hox JJ, Moerbeek M, van de Schoot R. Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications, Third Edition. Milton, UNITED KINGDOM: Taylor & Francis Group; 2017. Available: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=5046900
- Tavakol M, Dennick R. Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. Int J Med Educ. 2011; 2: 53–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd PMID: 28029643</u>
- Shafto MA, James LE, Abrams L, Tyler LK, Cam-CAN. Age-Related Increases in Verbal Knowledge Are Not Associated With Word Finding Problems in the Cam-CAN Cohort: What You Know Won't Hurt You. J Gerontol Ser B. 2017; 72: 100–106. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw074 PMID: 27371482

Chapter 4

Motor Ability Relates to Word-Finding in Both Individuals With and Without Parkinson's Disease

Linking Statement:

The first chapter reviewed the neurobiology and lifestyle contributions to healthy cognitive ageing. The second chapter provided an investigation into the lifestyle contributions to age-related word-finding difficulties. Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second-most common neurodegenerative disease (Parkinson's UK, 2018). PD has been associated with word-finding difficulties, specifically with words related to physical actions (Bocanegra et al., 2017; Henry & Crawford, 2004). Therefore, PD could serve as a neurodegenerative model to investigate the neurobiological mechanisms contributing to word-finding difficulties. This chapter investigated PDrelated difficulties in words associated with upper-limb actions. In addition, we explored whether positive lifestyle factors might mitigate the neurobiological and neuropsychological implications of the findings.

Author Note:

The study hypotheses, design, and statistical analyses were preregistered on the

Open Science Framework (https://osf.io/u872g).

This paper has been prepared in collaboration with Dr. Kate Slade, Dr. Patrick May, and Dr. Helen Nuttall as co-authors.

4.1 Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is characterised by motor symptoms and cognitive deficits, including action language difficulties, which have been linked to disruptions of the frontostriatal brain pathway. Few studies have differentiated between body parts and the amount of physical activity associated with a word (i.e., actionality) when investigating action language in PD. Additionally, an engaging lifestyle contributing to higher Cognitive Reserve (CR) may mitigate cognitive decline in PD, but its impact on action language impairments is unclear. This study aimed to investigate upper-limb action-word finding abilities in individuals with and without PD, considering word actionality and the impact of CR. Forty native-British speakers with idiopathic PD and 40 matched older adults without PD participated. Actionword finding was assessed via picture-naming and verbal fluency tasks. Upper-limb motor ability was assessed through a keyboard-tapping task. CR was measured through years of education, occupational attainment, and questionnaires concerning the frequency of engagement in cognitive, leisure, and physical activities. Linear mixed-effects models demonstrated that in both groups, participants with better motor ability skills named pictures faster. Multiple linear regression revealed a similar relationship between motor ability and the number of generated words on the verbal fluency task. These findings suggest a shared neuronal circuit underlying both word-finding and motor ability. The study revealed no distinct upper-limb action word impairment in individuals with PD compared to controls nor did CR or the actionality of the words affect word-finding. This study discusses the relationship between motor and word-finding ability, study limitations, and future directions.

Keywords: action language; Parkinson's disease; word-finding ability; motor ability.

4.2 Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common brain disease, which affects over 145,000 people in the United Kingdom. This number is expected to increase by 18% in 2025 (Parkinson's UK, 2018). Motor symptoms, such as tremors and bradykinesia, are core criteria to clinically diagnose PD (Kalia & Lang, 2015; Postuma et al., 2015). However, individuals with PD also suffer from cognitive deficits, including language impairments (Aarsland et al., 2021; Camerino et al., 2022; Goldman & Litvan, 2011; Pagonabarraga & Kulisevsky, 2012; Verbaan et al., 2007). More specifically, individuals with PD show a selective deficit in producing verbs compared to nouns (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017). Words describing physical action may be most sensitive in PD due to PD-related dopamine depletion disrupting the frontostriatal brain pathway that combines linguistic and motor information (Birba et al., 2017; Ullman, 2004). Accordingly, action language capabilities could potentially be used to predict disease progression or contribute to the diagnosis of PD (Smith & Caplan, 2018). Whilst Parkinson's has many negative consequences for cognition, among which language, researchers have shown that an engaging lifestyle could potentially mediate the negative impact of Parkinson's on cognition (Ciccarelli et al., 2021). Therefore, an engaging lifestyle could alleviate PD-related action language problems.

In PD, dopamine neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta degenerate, resulting in dopamine loss and dysfunction in the basal ganglia and thalamus (Jellinger, 2012; Postuma et al., 2015). At the onset of motor symptoms, 50-70% of the dopaminergic cells have already been lost (Fearnley & Lees, 1991). The basal ganglia play a vital role in the programming and control of movement (Alexander et al., 1986). The basal ganglia have connections to the cortex, forming pathways that include the primary motor cortex, and parts of the premotor, oculomotor, prefrontal, and inferotemporal cortical areas (Alexander et al., 1986; Middleton & Strick, 2000). It has been suggested that the frontostriatal pathway (i.e., the
pathway between frontal brain areas and the striatum) plays a role in combining linguistic and motor information (Birba et al., 2017; Ullman, 2008; Ullman, 2004). Disruption of this pathway could lead to difficulties in producing action words (e.g., *"to run"*) but not object words (e.g., *"book"*) in individuals with PD (Birba et al., 2017; Zgaljardic et al., 2003), demonstrated through action fluency and action naming impairments (Bocanegra et al., 2015; Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012; McDowd et al., 2011; Rodríguez-Ferreiro et al., 2009; Salmazo-Silva et al., 2017). Additionally, neuropsychiatric symptoms, such as apathy and depression, are common in PD and could influence word-finding ability (Aarsland et al., 2007; Cohen et al., 2015; D'Iorio et al., 2018; Dujardin et al., 2009; Fernandez et al., 2009; Ng et al., 2015).

Most studies differentiate between nouns and verbs when investigating actionword production difficulties in PD (e.g., Bertella et al., 2002; Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012; Salmazo-Silva et al., 2017), although nouns can also possess action-related features (Mahon & Caramazza, 2009). To further understanding, PD research has started to differentiate between words that are high or low in action content, measured through the amount of physical movement associated with the word (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2021; Bocanegra et al., 2017; Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012; Rodríguez-Ferreiro et al., 2009; Salmazo-Silva et al., 2017). For example, the word "screwdriver" has high action content, while "tree" has low action content. Studies demonstrated that naming manipulable objects (i.e., high in action content), such as "hammer", is more impaired in PD than naming nonmanipulable objects (e.g., "house"; Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017; Bocanegra et al., 2017; Cotelli et al., 2007; Johari et al., 2019). The dissociation between the naming of words with high versus low action content has not been observed in individuals without PD (Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012).

As bradykinesia has been associated with worse semantic fluency, processing speed, and executive functioning (Siokas et al., 2022), studies have also explored the relationship between action language and PD-related motor impairment but found no association between action language and overall motor impairment (Bocanegra et al., 2017; Johari et al., 2019; Signorini & Volpato, 2006). However, studies may need to consider different body parts associated with action words (Roberts et al., 2017). Specifically, individuals with PD with an upper-limb motor impairment showed slower processing of upper-limb dominant verbs compared to lower-limb dominant verbs. Previous studies on action language in PD have yet to explore the specific relationship between upper-limb motor impairment and upper-limb action language using picture naming or action fluency.

Interestingly, certain lifestyle factors, such as engaging in social activities or education, can protect against or compensate for the consequences of PD (Ciccarelli et al., 2021; Hindle et al., 2016; Oosterhuis et al., 2022; Shih et al., 2016). Cognitive Reserve theory states that people can compensate for age- or diseaserelated cognitive impairments through a cognitive reserve (CR; Stern et al., 2020). CR is built up through lifetime experiences, such as education, and lifestyle. such as engaging in social and cognitive activities. Studies have demonstrated higher cognitive functioning in individuals with PD who have higher levels of CR (Guzzetti et al., 2019; Hindle et al., 2016; Rouillard et al., 2017). More specifically, individuals with PD who have high CR levels demonstrated less severe motor and general cognitive impairment (Guzzetti et al., 2019), and better semantic fluency performance than individuals with PD who have low CR levels (Ciccarelli et al., 2018). Although CR might be beneficial during the early stages of Parkinson's, it might not suffice to compensate for the negative impact of brain pathology as the disease progresses (Guzzetti et al., 2019; Stern et al., 2020). Currently, research on the effect of cognitive and leisure activities on cognition in PD is sparse (Nag & Jelinek, 2019) and it is unclear whether lifestyle choices can mitigate action language impairments in individuals with PD (Aarsland et al., 2021).

The primary aim of this study was to investigate whether upper-limb action language (i.e., words that express actions performed with the hand and arm, such as "throwing") can be used to distinguish individuals with PD from healthy controls. This is the first study to investigate PD-related impairments in action language using picture naming, with a primary focus on the action content of both nouns and verbs as a continuous predictor. We formulated the following hypotheses:

- 1. Individuals with PD show greater difficulty in producing words that describe upper-limb actions (e.g., *"throwing"*) compared to words associated with actions involving less upper-limb movement, when compared to individuals without PD.
- 2. In individuals with PD, there is a positive correlation between the ability to produce upper-limb action words and their upper-limb motor ability, measured by a keyboard tapping task.

As a secondary aim, the effects of CR, such as engaging in social activities, on action language were investigated. Lifestyle choices, such as physical activity, higher education, and social contact, could decrease the risk of dementia (Livingston et al., 2020). Hence, we hypothesised:

3. An engaging lifestyle, indicated by engaging in social and cognitively stimulating activities, physical activity, and higher education, is positively associated with better performance in producing action words in individuals with and without PD.

The hypotheses, predictions, and experimental design were preregistered on the Open Science Framework website at https://osf.io/u872g.

4.3 Method

Participants

To determine the sample size with adequate power, we conducted an a-priori power analysis using the *samplesize_mixed* function of the "sjstats" package in R (Lüdecke, 2021), setting the power at .80 and alpha level at .05. The power analysis resulted

in a sample size of 33 participants per group (total N = 66) to detect a moderate to large effect size (Cohen's d = 0.7). Because the study was run online, we expected some data loss due to technical difficulties, such as problems with audio recordings. Therefore, we set the maximum sample size at 80 participants (40 participants with PD and 40 control participants), with this maximum limited by time and monetary resources.

A total of 40 participants with PD (17 females; Mage=63.5) and 40 matched control participants (17 females; Mage = 64.7) took part in this study. All participants were native speakers of British English and reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision and hearing, no history of language or speech disorders, and no current psychiatric disorders that can be directly related to PD, such as compulsive behaviour (Han et al., 2018). Participants with a score of 4 or higher on the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline Self-Report (Jansen et al., 2008, IQCODE-SR), reflecting cognitive difficulties, were excluded. Following this exclusion criterion, one individual with PD was removed from the analysis. The control group reported no neurological disorders and was matched to the PD group for age (t(78) = -0.58, p = .560), sex (t(78) = -0.67, p = .508), and handedness (t(78) = 1.18, p = .241). Table 4.1 shows the demographic characteristics of both participant groups. All participants gave digital consent before participating. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Science and Technology of Lancaster University.

All participants with PD self-reported a diagnosis of idiopathic PD. None of the participants with PD had other parkinsonisms, such as vascular parkinsonism or multiple system atrophy. All 39 PD participants were taking their prescribed PD medication as normal. Of the PD participants, 37 participants were taking combination drugs (e.g., containing levodopa and decarboxylase inhibitors, such as madopar), 28 participants were taking a dopamine agonist (e.g., pramipexole), and 16 participants were taking a monoamine oxidase inhibitor (e.g., rasagiline). Parkinsonian motor and non-motor symptoms were assessed with the Movement

Group	PD	Controls
Age (years)	64.94 (6.16; 51-77)	66.22 (7.88; 50-79)
Education (years)	4.89 (3.68; 0-20)	5.73(5.21; 0-32)
BDI-II	9.83(5.49; 1-26)	7.08 (6.59; 0-30)
SAS	11.08 (5.05; 3-22)	8.97 (4.27; 1-18)
IQCODE-SR	$3.26\ (0.21;\ 3-3.81)$	3.14(0.20; 2.81-3.81)
Years since onset	8.36 (4.67; 2-22)	
Years since diagnosis	6.51 (3.58; 1.25-18)	
Years on medication	6.69 (5.20; 1.25-30)	
Time since last dosage of	157.50 (110.57; 20-610)	
medication (min)		
MDS-UPDRS Part 1 ^a	11.81 (5.32; 3-26)	
MDS-UPDRS Part 2^{b}	$10.81 \ (4.88; 4-25)$	
MDS-UPDRS Part 3 ^c	6.08 (4.44; 1-20)	
MDS-UPDRS Part 4 ^d	4.11 (3.84; 0-11)	
MDS-UPDRS upper-limb	3.67(2.85; 0-12)	
bradykinesia ^e		
MDS-UPDRS upper-limb	1.92(2.21; 0-9)	
tremor ^f		
Levodopa Equivalent Daily	615.56 (309.27; 262-1950)	
Dose (mg)		

Table 4.1. Demographics and Medical Characteristics Mean (SD; range) for the Parkinson's Disease and Control Groups.

^aNon-motor experiences of daily living; ^bmotor experiences of daily living; ^cmotor examination (condensed version, only items 3.4–3.6, 3.15, 3.16 were assessed); ^dmotor complications; ^eupper-limb bradykinesia score across both sides of the body (items 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6); ^fpostural and kinetic tremor of the left and right hands (items 3.15 and 3.16)

Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (MDS-UPDRS; Goetz et al., 2008). Because the study was conducted online, we only assessed the items of Part III (motor examination) of the MDS-UPDRS for speech, facial expression, upper-limb bradykinesia (i.e., slowness of movement), and tremor (items 3.4 - 3.6, 3.15, 3.16), and lip/jaw rest tremor. Therefore, the scores of each of the four subscales are reported separately (see Table 4.1). Since only a part of the motor examination of the MDS-UPDRS could be assessed, the Hoehn and Yahr stage could not be determined.

Materials

Depression and apathy were assessed online with the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II; Beck et al., 1996) and the Starkstein Apathy Scale (SAS; Starkstein et al., 1992). Self-report measures were used to assess apathy and depression, as caregiver reports have been questioned as a superior alternative (Schiehser et al., 2013; Valentino et al., 2018). The IQCODE-SR, BDI-II, SAS, MDS-UPDRS subscale IB and II, a demographics questionnaire, and a CR questionnaire were completed online via the Qualtrics XM Platform (Qualtrics, Provo, UT). The behavioural tasks to assess action language production (i.e., picture naming and verbal fluency) and motor ability (i.e., keyboard tapping task) were completed online via the Gorilla Experiment Builder (Anwyl-Irvine et al., 2020), whilst the experimenter was present via a video conference call on Microsoft Teams (Microsoft Corporation).

Cognitive Reserve

To obtain a comprehensive measure of CR, CR was quantified through years of education after the age of 16 (early-life CR), occupational attainment scores (mid-life CR) using the five-class National Statistics Socio-economic Classification method from the UK Standard Occupational Classification system (NS-SEC; Office for National Statistics, 2020), and a general activity questionnaire (latelife/current CR). The general activity questionnaire consisted of 21 questions about social/leisure, cognitively stimulating, productive, and physical activities. The questions were adapted from previously published studies (Sörman et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2002). The frequency of participation was rated on a 5-point scale from never/rarely (0) to every day (4). For the analysis, we created a composite score by averaging the standard scores (i.e., z-scores) for early-life, midlife, and late-life CR (following the method by Soldan et al., 2013). There were 7 questions about social/leisure activities (max. score of 28), 4 questions on cognitively stimulating activities (max. score of 16), and 5 questions on productive activities and physical activities (max. score of 20 per sub-scale). This resulted in a single CR score per participant for the analysis. The CR scores for the general activity questionnaire and the NS-SEC score can be found in Table 4.2.

	Р	D	Cont	trols
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range
NS-SEC	4.39(1.15)	1 - 5	4.73(0.69)	2 - 5
Social/Leisure	9.14(2.92)	4 - 16	9.92(3.18)	4-17
Cognitively stimulating	8.17(2.69)	0 - 13	9.03(3.03)	1 - 14
Productive	11.19(2.71)	6-18	11.76(2.45)	7 - 16
Physical	7.31(3.40)	0 - 14	7.84(3.51)	0 - 14
CR Composite Score (<i>z-score</i>)	-0.16 (0.71)	-2.12 - 1.19	0.16(0.69)	-1.38 - 2.35

 Table 4.2.
 Cognitive Reserve Scores per Group

Picture Naming

Pictures with high picture-name agreement across individuals (object naming: 98.5%; action naming: 92.2%) were obtained from the Center for Research in Language International Picture-Naming Project (Szekely et al., 2004). The final set contained 50 action pictures and 50 object pictures, which were matched for age

of acquisition (t(98) = 0.96, p = .337), word frequency (t(98) = 0.80, p = .427), action ratings (t(98) = -0.69, p = .493), and familiarity (t(79) = 0.15, p = .883). To assess the relationship between upper-limb motor ability and upper-limb action word ratings, upper-limb action ratings of the picture names were obtained using the Lancaster Sensorimotor Norms (Lynott et al., 2020). Words in this database had a rating between 0 (upper limb not associated with performing that action) and 5 (upper limb highly associated with performing that action). For this study, the action ratings for object stimuli ranged from 0.619 to 4.55 (M = 2.68, SD = 0.94,Mdn = 2.63). Of the 50 object stimuli, 11 stimuli fell within an action rating of 0 to 2, and 20 stimuli fell within an action rating of 3 to 5. The action ratings for action pictures ranged from 0.05 to 4.81 (M = 2.52, SD = 1.4, Mdn = 2.61). Of the 50 action stimuli, 19 stimuli fell within an action rating of 0 to 2, and 22 stimuli fell within an action rating of 3 to 5. For the analysis, the items "catching" and "telescope" were removed due to low accuracy across both participant groups, likely due to the high visual complexity of the pictures. For example, the item "catching" resulted in answers, such as "jumping" or "reaching". The item "telescope" resulted in several non-answers.

Before starting the task, the participant tested their microphone and computer volume. Next, the participant read the instructions on the computer screen and could ask the experimenter any questions. The participant was instructed to sit at arms-length from the computer screen and to name the pictures as quickly and accurately as possible. The task started with four practice trials, for which the participant received verbal feedback from the experimenter. After the practice trials, the actual experiment started. All trials started with a 500ms fixation cross, followed by a blank screen of 1000ms, after which the picture was presented for 4000ms. Differences in microphones used by the participants and the lags in audio recordings caused timing variability between participants and trials. Therefore, a trigger sound was added to indicate the onset of a picture. This trigger sound enabled the experimenter to compute the verbal reaction time more accurately. Stimuli were never repeated to avoid practice effects and the trials were being presented in a pseudo-randomised order. Picture names starting with the same letter never followed each other to avoid phonetic priming by the previous word. Reaction times were calculated using CheckVocal (Protopapas, 2007).

Verbal Fluency

In addition to the picture-naming tasks, semantic and action fluency tasks were conducted. For semantic fluency, the participant was asked to name as many items belonging to the category "household items". This category was chosen to elicit the generation of names of objects involving upper-limb actions as opposed to a more commonly used category, such as "animals". The action fluency task was prompted by asking the participant to name as many "things people can do" following Piatt et al. (1999). For each of the verbal fluency tasks, the participant had 60 seconds to generate aloud as many words as possible. The responses were recorded and later transcribed by two transcribers.

Motor Ability

Bradykinesia is a core symptom of Parkinson's disease (Kalia & Lang, 2015). To obtain a quantitative measure of upper-limb bradykinesia, the participant performed a keyboard-tapping task. The task consisted of two parts, namely distal and proximal keyboard tapping. For distal keyboard tapping, the participant had to press down the left arrow key (when assessing the left hand) or the right arrow key (when assessing the right hand) with the middle finger whilst repeatedly pressing down the lower arrow key as many times as possible for 30 seconds (Akram et al., 2022). For proximal keyboard tapping, the participant had to alternately tap the "s" and ";" keys with either the left or the right index finger for 30 seconds (Noyce et al., 2014). For both distal and proximal keyboard tapping, the participant had a 5-second practice round. The participant started with either the left or right hand, after which the task was repeated with the other hand, and this order was counterbalanced. In total, there were 4 rounds of 30 seconds (left distal, right distal, left proximal, and right proximal). For each round, a total score was obtained by summing up the number of keyboard taps. A single composite score, reflecting upper-limb motor ability, was obtained by creating standard scores (z-scores) for each round and averaging across these scores.

Procedure

The participant's eligibility was first assessed via email, after which the participant received a link to Qualtrics XM Platform to complete several questionnaires. These questionnaires included a demographics questionnaire, the BDI-II, SAS, IQCODE-SR, NS-SEC questionnaire, and the general activity questionnaire. The participants with PD additionally completed a disease information questionnaire and the MDS-UPDRS part IB and II. Within the same week of filling in the online questionnaires, the participant completed the behavioural tasks via the Gorilla Experiment builder. During the behavioural tasks, the researcher was continuously present via a conference call, to ensure the participant understood and correctly performed the tasks. During the video call, participants with PD were assessed the MDS-UPDRS part IA, III, and IV before the behavioural part of the study. The participant started with either the motor ability or with the language production tasks, in a counterbalanced order. To avoid priming effects, the language production tasks always started with verbal fluency, after which picture naming was assessed. At the end of the experiment, the participant was debriefed and thanked for their participation.

Statistical Analysis

Data pre-processing and data analysis were performed in R (RStudio Team, 2020). For data pre-processing, we used the package *tidyverse* (Wickham & Bryan, 2019). To analyse the picture-naming reaction times and accuracy, we used a generalised linear mixed-effects model (GLMM), using the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015). Because the reaction time data was skewed, we selected the gamma distribution as the appropriate family for modelling the response variable (Lo & Andrews, 2015). A GLMM suitable for binomial data was used to analyse the accuracy data (1 for correct or 0 for incorrect; Gilmour et al., 1985). Because the distribution of the accuracy data was highly skewed, the model was run with a complementary log-log (cloglog) link function (Agresti, 2013).

For all GLMMs, random effects for Item (i.e., variance caused by between-item variability) and Subject (i.e., variance caused by between-subject variability) were included (Baayen et al., 2008). The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) was used to justify the inclusion of both random effects (Akaike, 1998), with a lower AIC value indicating a better fit. To assess goodness of fit for all GLMMs, the conditional and marginal R-squared (R^2) were obtained using the function "r.squaredGLMM" of the package MuMIn (Barton, 2022). For the GLMM, we also tested goodness of fit by testing for overdispersion using "testDispersion" in the DHARMa package (Hartig, 2022). The predictive power of the GLMMs with binomial distribution were assessed through concordance and Somer's D, using the "somers2" of the Hmisc package (Harrell, 2023).

To analyse the verbal fluency data, we used multiple linear regressions with outcome variables 1) the number of correctly produced words and 2) the average upper-limb action rating of the correctly produced words. To obtain a value for the second outcome variable, we used the Lancaster Sensorimotor Database (Lynott et al., 2020) to obtain upper-limb action ratings for each of the correctly produced words. For the "number of correctly produced words", we employed a Generalized Linear Model (GLM), which is well-suited for count data (Nelder & Wedderburn, 1972). To address overdispersion, we opted for the Tweedie distribution, which is well-suited for handling overdispersed count data (Dunn & Smyth, 2005). The Tweedie GLMs were specified, using the *statmod* and *tweedie* package (Dunn, 2022; Smyth et al., 2023), with a variance power parameter of 1.5 and a log link function (link power = 0). For "the average upper-limb action rating of the correctly produced

words", we employed multiple linear regression analyses.

Furthermore, the models for all outcome variables included Task Type with two levels (picture naming: object and action naming; verbal fluency: semantic and action fluency) as a covariate to account for differences in task type. In all models, the categorical variable Group was coded using treatment contrasts, such that the first contrast reflected the control group and the second contrast reflected the Parkinson's group. The categorical variable Task Type was also coded using treatment contrasts where the first contrast reflected object naming, and the second contrast reflected action naming. For the exploratory analyses, we investigated the additive effects of apathy and depression for each naming reaction time and verbal fluency performance using the "anova" function from the package *stats*.

Model Predictors per Hypothesis

To test hypothesis 1, the main predictors for both reaction time and accuracy were the two-way interaction between Group with two levels (PD and healthy controls) and Action Rating (continuous variable; i.e., upper-limb action ratings of the picture names). For the verbal fluency outcome variables, the predictor variable was Group with two levels (PD and control group).

To test hypothesis 2, the predictors for both reaction time and accuracy data were the three-way interaction between Group with two levels (PD and control group), Action Rating, and Motor Ability composite score (continuous; obtained through the keyboard tapping task). For the verbal fluency outcome variables, the predictor variables were a two-way interaction between Group with two levels (PD and control group) and Motor Ability composite score.

To test hypothesis 3, the predictors for both reaction time and accuracy data were Task Type with two levels (object naming and action naming), and the three-way interaction between Group with two levels (PD and control group), Action Rating, and the standardised CR composite score. For the verbal fluency outcome variables, the main predictors were the interaction between Group and the standardise CR composite score (continuous predictor). The skewness of the CR composite variable was -0.38, indicating that the distribution was not skewed.

Missing Data and Outliers

For picture-naming reaction time, no missing data was found after excluding all incorrect trials. For accuracy, 0.7% of the data was missing. Regarding verbal fluency, for the outcome variable "number of correctly produced words", 0.7% of the data was missing. For the outcome variable "average upper-limb action rating", 2.7% of the data was missing. Removing outliers for the model with the average upper-limb action rating was necessary to meet the assumptions of a multiple linear regression.

As per the preregistration, observations of the outcome variable were identified as outliers if they had a Cook's distance of more than 3 times the mean. Models with and without outliers were compared using AIC to see which fitted the data better. For picture-naming reaction times, the models without outliers were analysed as these had lower AIC values than the models with outliers included. The following number of influential data points were observed for picture-naming reaction times: the model for hypothesis 1 had 390 influential data points (5.5% of the full data set), hypothesis 2 had 387 influential data points (5.4% of the data), and hypothesis 3 had 410 influential data points (5.7% of the data). These influential data points were removed as outliers. For picture-naming accuracy, removing outliers resulted in minimal variability in accuracy due to the high accuracy scores. Therefore, the picture-naming accuracy data was analysed with outliers.

Regarding verbal fluency, for the outcome variable "number of correctly produced words", the models without outliers were analysed as these had lower deviation values than the models with outliers. The following number of influential data points were observed and subsequently removed: hypothesis 1 had 10 influential data points (6.8% of the full data set), hypothesis 2 had 11 influential data points (7.5% of the data), and hypothesis 3 had 11 influential data points (7.5% of the data). For the outcome variable "average upper-limb action rating", only the models without outliers met the assumptions for linearity, independence of predictor variables, homoscedasticity, and normality of residuals for multiple linear regression. The following number of influential data points were observed and subsequently removed: hypothesis 1 had 17 influential data points (11.8% of the data), hypothesis 2 had 16 influential data points (11.1% of the data), and hypothesis 3 had 17 influential data points (11.8% of the data).

As was preregistered, CR composite scores and motor ability scores were considered outliers if they had a value of +/-3 SD above the mean of each group. Because these scores were important predictors in our analysis, any outliers were winsorised at +/-3 SD to allow for the scores to remain on the extreme side of the distribution without loss of data. There was no missing data for the CR composite scores or the motor ability scores. For all models, except for the exploratory analyses, *p*-values were corrected for multiple comparisons using the False Discovery Rate (FDR; Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995).

Deviations from the Preregistration

In the preregistration, we included one model per outcome variable to test all three hypotheses. To answer the hypotheses more effectively, we ran reduced models with only the predictor variables needed to test each of the three hypotheses. Furthermore, the outcome variable Reaction Time for the picture-naming task was not normally distributed. Because transforming the reaction time variable can conceal group differences, we did not transform the outcome variable (Lo & Andrews, 2015). Instead, we implemented a GLMM with a Gamma distribution to capture the reaction time distribution as this approach has been demonstrated to provide a more accurate representation of the data compared to a linear mixed-effects model with an inverse transformation of reaction time (Lo & Andrews, 2015). For the outcome variable "number of correctly produced words" in the verbal fluency data, we opted for a generalized linear model as these are more suitable for count data than normal multiple linear regression (Nelder & Wedderburn, 1972).

Although we preregistered to only run the exploratory analyses in the Parkinson's group, the literature indicates that depression and apathy can also influence cognition (e.g., slowing of speech production) in individuals without PD (Montoya-Murillo et al., 2019; Sawa et al., 2012). Therefore, we explored the effects of apathy and depression on word-finding ability in both groups. There were no other deviations from the preregistered analyses.

4.4 Results

Descriptives

Reaction time was analysed for accurate items only. For action naming, the mean reaction time was 1395.8ms (SD = 507.8ms) for the PD group and 1345.8ms (SD = 448.2ms) for the control group. For object naming, the mean reaction time was 1123.1ms (SD = 318.7ms) for the PD group and 1113.8ms (SD = 342.9ms) for the control group. Both the PD and control group reached accuracy scores at ceiling. Mean accuracy for action naming was 97.5% (SD = 15.5%) for the PD group and 98.4% (SD = 12.7%) for the control group. For object naming, the mean accuracy was 99.3% (SD = 7.8%) for the PD group and 99.3% (SD = 8.4%) for the control group.

For the Verbal Fluency tasks, the PD group generated an average of 21.8 (SD = 5.1) words correctly during the action fluency task and an average of 25.1 (SD = 6.3) words during the semantic fluency task. The control group produced an average of 21.8 (SD = 5.1) words correctly during the action fluency task and an average of 25.2 (SD = 5.8) words during the semantic fluency task. Mean upper-limb action ratings for the action fluency task were 2.35 (SD = 0.60) for the PD and 2.35 (SD = 0.41) for the control group. For the semantic fluency task, the mean upper-limb action ratings were 2.78 (SD = 0.29) for the PD group and 2.76 (SD = 0.25) for the control group.

Hypothesis 1: Action-Word Production

Hypothesis 1 stated that individuals with PD show greater difficulty in producing words that describe upper-limb actions (e.g., "throwing") compared to words associated with actions involving less upper-limb movement, when compared to individuals without PD. All non-significant model outputs for Hypothesis 1 are reported in Appendix A.1.

For picture naming reaction time, the model with a "log" link function without outliers fit the data best (AIC = 88406.6). Therefore, we proceeded with the gamma log model without outliers and back-transformed the estimates in the model by exponentiating the coefficients. There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors.

The analysis did not reveal a main effect of upper-limb Action Ratings on reaction time ($\beta = -0.001$, t = -0.033, adjusted p = .974), indicating that upper-limb action words are not more difficult to produce than words associated with actions involving less upper-limb movement when controlling for task type. In addition, there was no significant interaction between upper-limb Action Ratings and Group $\beta = 0.007$, t = 1.923, adjusted p = .091). This suggests that the relationship between actionality and reaction time did not significantly differ between the groups. Marginal and conditional R^2 were calculated as a measure of model fit. Fixed effects explained 22.1% of the variance in the data (marginal $R^2 = .231$), indicating a moderate contribution of the predictors to explaining reaction time. 40.0% of the variance was explained by the full model, including random effects (conditional $R^2 = .400$), suggesting that both fixed and random effects together provide a better fit to the data. ICC showed that 11.9% of the total variance in reaction time was accounted for by the item-level random effects, and 10.1% was accounted for by the subjectlevel random effects, indicating that a portion of the variance is due to these random factors.

For picture naming accuracy, the model converged without the need for optimisers. There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors. The analysis revealed that neither upper-limb Action Ratings ($\beta = -0.066$, z = -0.895, p = .371, adjusted p = .463), nor the interaction between upper-limb Action Ratings and Group ($\beta = 0.023$, z = 0.369, adjusted p = .712) were significant predictors of accuracy. Concordance and Somer's D were .95 and .89 respectively, indicating the model had good predictive power. Marginal R^2 was 0.021 and conditional R^2 was .171.

For verbal fluency "number of correctly produced words", there was no difference between the PD and control group ($\beta = 0.002$, t = 0.059, adjusted p = .953). That is, individuals with PD did not have more difficulty in generating words on the verbal fluency tasks than the control group. For the outcome variable "average upper-limb action rating", the overall model significantly predicted the upper-limb action ratings of the correctly produced words (F(2, 124) = 31.84, p < .001, $R^2 =$.34, $R^2_{\text{Adjusted}} = .33$). However, there was no difference between the PD and control group ($\beta = 0.070$, t = 1.472, adjusted p = .145). That is, both the PD and control groups generated words with similar lower upper-limb action ratings.

In summary, the analyses did not reveal significant differences in upper-limb action word-finding ability between individuals with and without PD.

Hypothesis 2: Motor Ability

Hypothesis 2 stated that in individuals with PD, there is a positive correlation between the ability to produce upper-limb action words and their upper-limb motor ability, measured by a keyboard tapping task. All non-significant models are reported in Appendix A.2. For picture naming, the reaction time model converged after application of the "bobyqa" optimiser (Bates et al., 2023). The AIC for the log model without outliers (AIC = 88948.0) was lower than the model with outliers (AIC = 99132.6). Since the model with a "log" link function converged, we proceeded with the gamma log model and back-transformed the estimates in the model by exponentiating the coefficients. There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors. The analysis revealed a main effect of motor ability on reaction time ($\beta = -0.108$, t = -2.755, adjusted p = .018), indicating that greater motor ability is associated with faster reaction times. The back-transformed estimate indicated a percentage change of -10.2% in reaction time per unit increase in motor ability (z-scale). Figure 4.1 shows the relationship between motor ability score and reaction times for the PD and control group. There was no significant interaction between Motor Ability and Group ($\beta = 0.094$, t = 1.721, adjusted p = .192), suggesting that the relationship between the groups. Additionally, there was no significant three-way interaction between Group, Motor Ability, and Action Ratings ($\beta = 0.004$, t = 0.708, adjusted p = .616), indicating that the combined effect of these variables on reaction time was not significantly different between the groups. The model's formula and results are reported in Table 4.3.

Model	RT $\operatorname{\tilde{G}roup}$ * Action Rating * Motor Ability Score + Type + (1 Subject) + (1 Item)							
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change
Intercept	6.954	0.042	166.669	< .001	6.873	7.036	1047.677	104667.4
Group	0.027	0.037	0.718	.473	-0.046	0.100	1.027	2.725
Action Rating	-0.001	0.018	-0.031	.975	-0.036	0.035	0.999	-0.057
Motor Ability Score	-0.108	0.039	-2.755	.006*	-0.184	-0.031	0.898	-10.208
Task Type	0.194	0.036	5.330	< .001*	0.122	0.265	1.214	21.364
Group * Action Rating	0.005	0.004	1.297	.194	-0.002	0.012	1.005	0.469
Group * Motor Ability Score	0.094	0.054	1.721	.085	-0.013	0.200	1.098	9.818
Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	0.001	0.004	0.358	.720	-0.006	0.009	1.001	0.137
Group * Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	0.004	0.005	0.709	.479	-0.007	0.014	1.004	0.376

Table 4.3. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Reaction Time and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted *p*-values can be found in the main text.



Figure 4.1. The linear relationship between picture-naming speed and motor ability in the groups with and without Parkinson's disease. The correlations between picture-naming speed and motor ability per group are also presented.

Marginal and conditional R^2 were calculated as a measure of model fit. Fixed effects explained 27.6% of the variance in the data (marginal $R^2 = .276$), indicating a moderate contribution of the predictors to explaining reaction time. 43.0% of the variance was explained by the full model, including random effects (conditional R^2 = .430), suggesting that both fixed and random effects together provide a better fit to the data. ICC showed that 12.0% of the total variance in reaction time was accounted for by the item-level random effects, and 9.0% was accounted for by the subject-level random effects, indicating that a portion of the variance is due to these random factors.

For picture naming accuracy, the model converged after applying the "nloptwrap" optimiser (Bates et al., 2015). There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors. The analysis revealed no main effect of motor ability ($\beta = 0.172$, z = 1.958, adjusted p = .151). In addition, neither the two-way interaction between motor ability and group ($\beta =$

-0.097, z = -0.834, adjusted p = .520) nor the three-way interaction between group, motor ability, and action ratings ($\beta = 0.103$, z = 1.236, adjusted p = .390) were significant predictors of accuracy. Therefore, the relationship between accuracy and motor ability, either independently or in interaction with other variables, was not statistically significant. Concordance and Somer's D were .94 and .89 respectively, indicating the model had good predictive power. Marginal R^2 was 0.026 and conditional R^2 was .171.

For verbal fluency "number of correctly produced words", the model without outliers fitted the data better (deviance = 26.0) than the model with outliers (deviance = 35.3). Therefore, we proceeded with the model without outliers. The analysis revealed a main effect of motor ability ($\beta = 0.195$, t = 3.765, adjusted p < .001). The back-transformed estimate for motor ability indicates that for each unit increase in motor ability, the expected number of correctly produced words increases by approximately 13.9%. The two-way interaction between group and motor ability was also significant ($\beta = -0.153$, t = -2.228, adjusted p = .028). That is, the relationship between motor ability and verbal fluency performance differed between the PD and control groups (see Figure 4.2). Specifically, with greater motor ability, the expected number of correctly produced words decreases by approximately 10% in the PD group compared to the control group. The model's formula and results are reported in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4. Results of the Generalised Linear Model for Verbal Fluency "Number of Correctly Produced Words" and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Tweedie Model	ie Model Number of Correctly Produced Words ~Group * Motor Ability Score + Task Type							
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change
Intercept	3.102	0.040	78.301	< .001*	3.024	3.179	7.908	690.822
Group	0.133	0.048	2.781	.006*	0.040	0.227	1.093	9.299
Motor Ability Score	0.195	0.052	3.765	< .001*	0.094	0.297	1.139	13.908
Task Type	-0.135	0.035	-3.858	< .001*	-0.203	-0.066	0.914	-8.585
Group * Motor Ability Score	-0.153	0.069	-2.228	.028*	-0.287	-0.019	0.903	-9.683

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted *p*-values can be found in the main text.



Figure 4.2. The linear relationship between the number of correctly produced words on the verbal fluency task and motor ability in the groups with and without Parkinson's disease. The correlations between the number of correctly produced words and motor ability per group are also presented.

For verbal fluency "average upper-limb action rating", the overall model significantly predicted the upper-limb action ratings of the correctly produced words $(F(4, 123) = 15.13, p < .001, R^2 = .33, R^2_{\text{Adjusted}} = .31)$. However, neither motor ability ($\beta = -0.008, t = -0.124$, adjusted p = .902) nor the two-way interaction between group and motor ability ($\beta = -0.046, t = -0.506$, adjusted p = .767) were significant predictors.

In summary, the analyses revealed significant effects of motor ability on overall word-finding ability in both individuals with and without PD.

Hypothesis 3: Cognitive Reserve

Hypothesis 3 stated that an engaging lifestyle is positively associated with better performance in producing action words in individuals with and without PD. All nonsignificant models are reported in Appendix A.2. For picture naming, the reaction time model converged after application of the "bobyqa" optimiser (Bates et al., 2023) and implementing a log-link function. The AIC for the log model without outliers (AIC = 88388.8) was lower than the log model with outliers (AIC = 99089.0). Therefore, we proceeded with the gamma log model without outliers and backtransformed the estimates in the model by exponentiating the coefficients. There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors.

The analysis did not reveal a main effect of Cognitive Reserve on reaction time (β = -0.009, t = -0.218, adjusted p = .931). That is, Cognitive Reserve did not affect reaction time. In addition, there was no significant two-way interaction between Cognitive Reserve and Group β = 0.024, t = 0.402, adjusted p = .884). This suggests that the relationship between Cognitive Reserve and reaction time did not significantly differ between the groups. Finally, the analysis did not reveal a three-way interaction between Group, Action Ratings, and Cognitive Reserve (β = -0.011, t = -2.144, adjusted p = .070).

Marginal and conditional R^2 were calculated as a measure of model fit. Fixed effects explained 23.4% of the variance in the data (marginal $R^2 = .234$), indicating a moderate contribution of the predictors to explaining reaction time. 40.4% of the variance was explained by the full model, including random effects (conditional R^2 = .404), suggesting that both fixed and random effects together provide a better fit to the data. ICC showed that 11.9% of the total variance in reaction time was accounted for by the item-level random effects, and 10.1% was accounted for by the subject-level random effects, indicating that a portion of the variance is due to these random factors.

For picture naming accuracy, the model converged after application of the "bobyqa" optimiser (Bates et al., 2023). There was no overdispersion, autocorrelation (i.e., independent residuals), or dependency between predictors. The model's formula and results are reported in Table 4.5.

The analysis revealed a main effect of Cognitive Reserve ($\beta = 0.216, z = 2.347$,

adjusted p = .043). That is, accuracy was higher with higher cognitive reserve. The back-transformed value indicated a significant minimal percentage change of 10.4% in accuracy per unit increase in Cognitive Reserve (z-scale). In addition, the twoway interaction between Group and Cognitive Reserve was significant ($\beta = -0.362$, z = -2.814, adjusted p = .015). That is, the effect of Cognitive Reserve on picturenaming accuracy differs between the control and PD groups. The back-transformed value indicated a significant minimal percentage change of -14.0% in accuracy per unit increase in Cognitive Reserve, in individuals with PD compared to the control group. That is, higher Cognitive Reserve seems to have a more detrimental effect on accuracy for individuals with PD compared to the control group. The threeway interaction between Group, Cognitive Reserve, and Action Ratings was not significant ($\beta = 0.048$, z = 0.513, adjusted p = .764). Concordance and Somer's D were .94 and .89 respectively, indicating the model had good predictive power. Marginal R^2 was 0.030 and conditional R^2 was .171.

Model	Acc $\operatorname{\widetilde{Group}} * \operatorname{Action} \operatorname{Rating} * \operatorname{Cognitive} \operatorname{Reserve} + \operatorname{Type} + (1 \operatorname{Subject}) + (1 \operatorname{Item})$							
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change
Intercept	2.180	0.169	12.929	< .001	1.858	2.510	1	NA
Group	-0.094	0.084	-1.125	.261	-0.259	0.070	0.597	-40.245
Action Rating	-0.068	0.074	-0.928	.354	-0.213	0.076	0.607	0.959
Cognitive Reserve Score	0.216	0.092	2.347	.019*	0.036	0.396	0.711	10.380
Task Type	-0.388	0.136	-2.859	.004	-0.654	-0.122	0.493	-21.826
Group * Action Rating	0.026	0.062	0.414	.679	-0.096	0.147	0.642	14.899
Group * Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.362	0.129	-2.814	.005*	-0.614	-0.110	0.502	-13.985
Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.016	0.068	-0.233	.816	-0.150	0.118	0.626	12.459
Group * Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve Score	0.048	0.094	0.513	.608	-0.136	0.232	0.650	2.353

Table 4.5. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Accuracy and the Relationship with Cognitive Reserve

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Cognitive Reserve Score was obtained through a task. Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted *p*-values can be found in the main text.

 87



Figure 4.3. The linear relationship between picture-naming accuracy and the composite score for Cognitive Reserve in the groups with and without Parkinson's disease. The left plot shows the individual data points. The right plot shows the mean accuracy score per participant. The correlations between picture-naming accuracy and Cognitive Reserve per group are also presented.

For verbal fluency "number of correctly produced words", the model without outliers fitted the data better (deviance = 26.1) than the model with outliers (deviance = 37.6). Therefore, we proceeded with the model without outliers. There was no main effect for Cognitive Reserve ($\beta = 0.038$, t = 0.930, adjusted p =.443). That is, Cognitive Reserve did not affect the number of words that were correctly generated by both participant groups. The two-way interaction between Group and Cognitive Reserve was also non-significant ($\beta = -0.116$, t = -2.148, adjusted p = .056). That is, the relationship between Cognitive Reserve and verbal fluency performance did not differ between the PD and control groups. For verbal fluency "average upper-limb action rating", the overall model significantly predicted the upper-limb action ratings of the correctly produced words (F(4, 122) = 14.74, p < .001, $R^2 = .33$, $R^2_{\text{Adjusted}} = .30$). However, neither Cognitive Reserve ($\beta =$ 0.061, t = 1.126, adjusted p = .328) nor the two-way interaction between Group and Cognitive Reserve ($\beta = 0.014$, t = 0.189, adjusted p = .851) were significant predictors.

In summary, the analyses only revealed significant effects of Cognitive Reserve

on overall word-finding ability in both individuals with and without PD. Specifically, the results indicate that higher levels of CR seem to have a more negative effect on picture-naming accuracy in individuals with PD compared to controls.

Exploratory Analyses

Apathy and Depression

Apathy and depression have both been linked to cognitive impairments in PD, including verbal fluency and picture-naming (Cohen et al., 2015; D'Iorio et al., 2018; Dujardin et al., 2009; Fernandez et al., 2009; Ng et al., 2015). We conducted an exploratory analysis to investigate the effects of depression and apathy on language. In the PD group, the mean apathy was 11.1 (SD = 5.1, range = 3 - 22) and 9.8 (SD = 5.5, range = 1 - 26) for depression scores. The control group had a mean apathy score of 9.0 (SD = 4.3, range = 1 - 18) and a mean depression score of 7.1 (SD = 6.6, range = 0 - 30). In the PD group, the correlation between reaction time and apathy scores was r = -.06 and r = .16 between reaction time and depression scores. In the control group, the correlation between reaction time and apathy and depression scores was r = .20 and r = .07, respectively. The correlation between apathy and the number of correctly produced words on the verbal fluency task was r= .11 for the PD group and r = .31 for the control group. The correlation between depression and the number of correctly produced words on the verbal fluency task was r = ..22 for the PD group and r = ..11 for the control group.

For each of the models for picture-naming reaction time and verbal fluency "number of correctly produced words", we explored the additive effects of apathy, depression, and the inclusion of both (see Appendix A.4). For hypothesis 1, the inclusion of apathy scores, depression scores, or both did not significantly improve the fit of the models for picture naming. Adding depression scores to the verbal fluency model significantly improved the model fit compared to the model without depression scores ($\chi^2(1) = 1.042, p = 0.017$; see Table A.14). No additive effects for apathy scores, depression scores, or both were found for the picture naming and verbal fluency models of hypotheses 2 and 3.

Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Several studies have demonstrated that action-language impairments can be masked when individuals with PD are ON medication (Boulenger et al., 2008; Herrera, Cuetos, et al., 2012; Péran et al., 2013). Therefore, we ran exploratory analyses to investigate the additive effect of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage on the different outcome variables. Table 4.1 provides information on Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. Please, refer to the Supplementary Materials for the results of the Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage exploratory analyses (Appendix A.4). Exploratory analyses showed only an additive effect of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage on the models for verbal fluency performance for hypothesis 1 ($\chi^2(1) = 0.763$, p = .049, see Tables A.17 and A.18) and for hypothesis 2 ($\chi^2(1) = 1.176$, p = .019, see Tables A.22 and A.23).

4.5 Discussion

The current study aimed to investigate PD-related impairments in the production of action language, specifically focusing on upper-limb action language and motor skills, and the influence of CR on task performance. Action wordfinding ability was investigated through picture naming, and semantic and action fluency. We quantified CR through a comprehensive questionnaire on lifestyle and life experiences (e.g., occupational attainment and education), and motor ability through a keyboard-tapping task. Our first hypothesis was not supported: individuals with PD did not have more difficulty producing words that describe upper-limb physical actions than age-matched individuals without PD when controlling for task type. Our second hypothesis was a positive relationship between the ability to produce upper-limb action words and upper-limb motor ability in individuals with PD. Although we only hypothesised to find such a relationship in individuals with PD, the study demonstrated such a relationship in individuals with as well as without PD. As a secondary aim, we hypothesised that CR (i.e., an engaging lifestyle) would be positively related to the ability to produce action words. The current study only revealed such a relationship between CR and picture-naming accuracy, independent of the upper-limb actionality of the words.

The Production of Upper-Limb Action Words with High vs. Low Motor Content

We did not find a distinct impairment in action word-finding in individuals with PD compared to a matched control group for either picture naming or verbal fluency. These findings are not in line with previous studies that demonstrated a clear distinction in action language between individuals with PD and without PD (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2021; Birba et al., 2017; Johari et al., 2019; Salmazo-Silva et al., 2017). Most previous studies investigated the difference between nouns and verbs to detect PD-related impairments in action language (Bertella et al., 2002; Herrera, Rodríguez-Ferreiro, et al., 2012; Salmazo-Silva et al., 2017), while other studies focused on the action content of words, that is, whether words involved manual actions or whether objects were manipulable or not (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017; Bocanegra et al., 2017; Cotelli et al., 2007; Johari et al., 2019). Such studies showed that individuals with PD have difficulties when words, both nouns and verbs, are related to manual actions, in contrast to our findings. Whilst some researchers categorised the words into low vs. high motion categories, our study used the Lancaster Sensorimotor Database (Lynott et al., 2020) to assign upper-limb action ratings to the words. Action-word difficulties may be very subtle in individuals with PD and using a continuous scale could have masked such subtle difficulties compared to when using distinct categories. Future studies should investigate whether there is a difference in categorising words into high- and low-action categories compared to continuous action ratings in individuals with PD.

The Relationship Between Word Finding and Motor Ability

Motor ability predicted picture-naming reaction times and the number of generated words, irrespective of the words' action ratings, both in individuals with and without PD. This suggests the potential of a shared neuronal circuit for both single-word production and upper-limb motor ability. That is, the relationship between motor ability and word-finding ability might reflect some domain-general mechanism, with a role of the basal ganglia in inhibition and selection during word-finding (Copland et al., 2021). Furthermore, our study suggested that the relationship between motor ability and word-finding ability may be stronger in the healthy control group compared to the PD group. That is, the relationship between motor ability and naming speed and between motor ability and verbal fluency may diminish in individuals with PD. Future studies powered to detect small effects may confirm this relationship.

One possible explanation for the relationship between word-finding and motor ability in both healthy individuals and individuals with PD is that the basal ganglia could have a domain-general role in word-finding ability (Camerino et al., 2022). The basal ganglia have connections to the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), which is part of the frontostriatal pathway (i.e., between frontal cortices and caudate nucleus), and is associated with both cognitive and motor control (Haber, 2016). The ACC is activated during various cognitive tasks, contributing to cognitive flexibility, adaptability, and performance monitoring, such as whether errors occur, conflict monitoring, or when there are competing response alternatives (Botvinick et al., 2004; Duncan, 2010; Duncan & Owen, 2000; MacDonald et al., 2000).

The ACC is also involved during word production, such as in picture naming and verbal fluency tasks, and finger tapping (Grill et al., 2021; Indefrey & Levelt, 2004; Piai et al., 2013). Piai and colleagues (2013) demonstrated that the ACC underlies performance monitoring during word production tasks. Hence, the ACC's role in performance monitoring may explain the relationship between word-finding and motor abilities in our study. Future studies should incorporate measures of domain-general functions, such as performance monitoring, to explore whether such functions link word-finding and motor abilities. Other corticostriatal circuits from the basal ganglia to frontal cortices may also be engaged depending on the type of task, or the same circuits may be engaged during various cognitive functions, depending on task demands (see Copland et al., 2021, for a review). Hence, the same corticostriatal circuits may be involved to achieve faster naming and keyboardtapping speeds.

Actionality does Not Affect Word-Finding Ability in Parkinson's

The frontostriatal pathway has been proposed to involve combining linguistic and motor information (Birba et al., 2017; Ullman, 2008; Ullman, 2004). A disruption of this pathway due to a dopaminergic deficit may lead to a specific action-language deficit in individuals with PD (Birba et al., 2017; Zgaljardic et al., 2003). The current study did not find any effect of action ratings on word-finding ability. That is, words describing greater upper-limb physical action were not more difficult in PD compared to matched controls without PD. This finding is in line with Aiello et al. (2022), who did not find a distinctive noun-verb dissociation in individuals with PD compared to healthy controls, nor did they find an effect of action ratings on picture naming performance in PD. Hence, the amount of physical action a word describes might not be related to the word-finding or action-word difficulties in Parkinson's.

However, several alternative reasons could explain the lack of association between action ratings and word-finding ability. All participants with PD were on dopamine medication, which could have decreased the impact of brain pathology on word finding in this group (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017). Although our exploratory analysis did not show a predictive effect of LEDD on word-finding ability in PD (see Appendix A), the type of PD medication may be important to consider in such analyses. Furthermore, frontostriatal dysfunction in PD might induce neuroplasticity whereby, for example, Broca's area becomes important to restore action-word-specific impairments (Péran et al., 2009). Hence, both dopamine medication and pathology-induced neuroplasticity might diminish the relationship between actionality and word-finding ability in Parkinson's.

In addition, this study specifically focused on upper-limb motor ability of both the left and right sides of the body. However, studies showed that the left and right basal ganglia might serve different functions during language production (Crosson et al., 2003). Word-finding difficulties in PD might also depend on the side of the basal ganglia most affected at the onset of the disease (Tomer et al., 1993). The current study did not consider the side of PD-related motor symptoms, which may mask action-specific language impairments further. Future studies should investigate whether the same patterns can be found when looking at lower-limb motor ability and whether such patterns are specific to the side of the body most affected by PD.

Effects of Cognitive Reserve On Word-Finding Ability

As a secondary aim, we investigated whether lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences, such as education and engagement in leisure activities, mitigate the negative influences of Parkinson's on the production of action words. Lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences could build up CR. In the case of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's, CR can enable individuals to compensate for cognitive difficulties caused by disease-related brain pathology (Stern et al., 2020). However, as the disease progresses and the brain deteriorates further, CR resources may no longer suffice to compensate for the cognitive difficulties caused by the disease. Our findings indicate that high CR may help individuals with PD to accurately name words. However, a negative effect of CR was only found in picture-naming accuracy and not in any of the other word-finding tasks. Due to ceiling-level performance in both groups, reflecting little variance in accuracy, the practical implications of this finding are minimal. Future studies aiming to replicate this study should include a PD group with a wider range of CR scores and adopt a picture-naming task that is more challenging.

Our findings are not in line with previous studies demonstrating an association

between CR and cognitive function, including executive functioning and psychomotor speech, in individuals with PD (Guzzetti et al., 2019; Hindle et al., 2016; Koerts et al., 2013). Currently, there is no consensus on how to measure CR and researchers use different proxies, such as education, IQ, or lifestyle choices (Oosterhuis et al., 2022). Differences in how CR is quantified might account for the discrepancy between the results of this study and previous studies. However, whilst Koerts and colleagues (2013) used education and premorbid intelligence as a proxy of CR, Hindle et al. (2016) and Guzzetti et al. (2019) used education, occupational attainment, and activities, similar to the current study. Alternatively, CR might not benefit all cognitive domains, such as word-finding ability, equally (Lavrencic et al., 2018; Oosterhuis et al., 2023). Indeed, while studies revealed a relationship between CR and executive functioning, for example, they did not always demonstrate an effect of CR naming or verbal fluency (Guzzetti et al., 2019; Hindle et al., 2016). Hence, the beneficial effects of CR might depend on 1) how CR is measured, and 2) the cognitive domain under investigation.

Finally, CR might not be a useful resource for older adults and individuals with PD. In individuals with PD, CR might be drawn upon during the prodromal phase (i.e., the period before the clinical manifestations of Parkinson's; Postuma et al., 2012) but other cognitive resources, such as working memory, might be drawn upon when the disease further progresses (for a discussion, see Oosterhuis et al., 2022). This is in line with a recent study that revealed a benefit of CR in maintaining word-finding abilities for middle-aged but not for older adults (Oosterhuis et al., 2023). The results of this study suggest that both older adults and individuals with PD relied on resources other than CR to maintain their word-finding abilities. One such potential resource is vocabulary (Cansino et al., 2020). In contrast, CR might be most beneficial during the late stages of the disease instead of the prodromal phase (Guzzetti et al., 2019). Due to the online nature of the current study, we could not determine the disease stage. However, all participants were high functioning, suggesting they were in the early stages of the disease. Also, visual inspection showed

that the CR scores differed between groups. Increasing task demands may result in the need for an additional resource such as CR. Hence, future studies should explore the effects of CR (and other cognitive resources) on cognition during the different stages of the disease, including the prodromal stage, and during various task difficulties.

Limitations

It is important to note that the study was conducted online and differences in browsers, operation systems, and the use of keyboards and microphones could have resulted in variance within and between participants. This influenced the picturenaming and motor ability task, as the verbal fluency task was conducted via a conference call with the researcher recording and timing the task. By increasing the stimulus presentation to 6 seconds for the picture-naming task, we made sure that all participants had at least 4 seconds to name the picture as the recording did not always last the full 6 seconds. In the data analysis, we then capped the reaction times at 4 seconds to adhere to the maximum time limit. For this study, we used the Gorilla Experiment Builder (Anwyl-Irvine et al., 2020), which offers the highest precision of reaction times of keyboard presses compared to other experiment platforms (Anwyl-Irvine et al., 2021). Moreover, we used the same method as Oosterhuis et al. (2023) to reduce the timing variability in picture-naming speed whilst also instructing the participants to sit at arm's length from their computer screen (see Oosterhuis et al., 2023, for the method). Moreover, we accounted for within- and between-subject differences in the analysis of naming speed and accuracy. Hence, the variance due to the online nature of the study has been reduced as much as possible and should not have significantly influenced the results.

Furthermore, we could not assess the complete MDS-UPDRS scale as only the upper body was visible during the conference call and certain tasks were not deemed safe without the experimenter being present to support the participant. Hence, we could not determine the disease stage nor assess overall motor ability. All participants in the current study were high functioning without Mild Cognitive Impairment or dementia, hence, it is highly unlikely that participants were in the later stages of the disease. Furthermore, to quantify upper-limb motor ability more reliably, we used a keyboard-tapping task. This task has been validated in PD (Akram et al., 2022; Noyce et al., 2014) and, thus, should provide more reliable estimates of upper-limb motor ability than the MDS-UPDRS in this study.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study found no distinct impairment in the production of upper-limb action words in individuals with PD compared to a matched control group, nor were action ratings related to word-finding ability. In addition, CR did not predict word-finding in either group. However, the current study revealed that motor ability predicted naming speed and the number of generated words, suggesting a potential shared neuronal circuit involved in both word production and motor ability. The relationship between motor and word-finding ability may diminish in individuals with PD, and further research is needed to confirm this. Overall, our findings enhance the understanding of the relationship between word-finding and motor abilities in PD, contributing to existing knowledge of action word-finding difficulties in individuals with PD.
Chapter 5

Brain Segregation and Integration Relate to Word-Finding Abilities in Older and Younger Adults

Linking Statement:

The previous chapters discussed the neurobiology and lifestyle contributions to age- and PD-related cognitive decline, specifically in word-finding abilities. Brain function is one of the neurobiological aspects influenced by ageing. Age-related changes in brain function can impact cognitive abilities, such as word-finding. This chapter investigates the use of functional brain networks utilising graph theory to investigate whether age-related changes in resting-state EEG brain networks are linked to word-finding abilities. This chapter used advanced EEG data analysis to extract graph theoretical measures that reflect the functional organisation of EEG brain networks in healthy younger and older adults. Because of COVID-19, we could not collect the data ourselves. Instead, we conducted a secondary data analysis using data from the Leipzig Study for Mind-Body-Emotion Interactions dataset (LEMON; Babayan et al., 2019).

Author Note:

The study hypotheses, design, and statistical analyses were preregistered on the

Open Science Framework (https://osf.io/u6p42).

This paper is being prepared for submission in "Neurobiology of Language" and was produced in collaboration with Dr. Neil Bailey, Dr. Kate Slade, Dr. Patrick May, and Dr. Helen Nuttall as co-authors.

5.1 Abstract

Previous research has shown that word-finding difficulties in older age are associated with functional and structural brain changes. However, the use of functional brain networks, measured through electroencephalography, to predict word-finding in older and younger adults has not yet been investigated. This study utilised resting-state electroencephalography data (61 channels) from the Leipzig Study for Mind-Body-Emotion Interactions dataset (Babayan et al., 2019) to investigate the relationship between functional brain networks and word-finding ability in healthy younger and older adults. Graph theory-based measures in the delta, theta, alpha, and beta bands were computed to assess brain segregation and integration of 53 older (aged 59-77) and 53 younger right-handed adults (aged 20-35). Word-finding ability was quantified as the number of orally produced words during a semantic and letter fluency task. Multiple linear regression revealed that, in older adults, greater functional connectedness in the delta band was associated with lower semantic fluency. Irrespective of age, greater modularity in the alpha band was related to lower semantic fluency. A greater small-world index in the delta band was related to better semantic fluency, irrespective of age. Increased brain integration in the delta band corresponded to greater semantic fluency in older adults. Hence, wordfinding ability seems to be related to brain segregation and integration specific to the frequency band, possibly indicating alterations in cognitive control or compensatory shifts to less functionally specific frequency bands. The article further provides a discussion on neural dedifferentiation, hyper-synchronisation, study limitations, and directions for future research.

Keywords: functional brain networks; graph theory; word-finding ability; healthy cognitive ageing; brain segregation; brain integration.

5.2 Introduction

In older age, people experience problems with lexical access, typically commencing around the age of 40 or 50 years (Kavé & Knafo-Noam, 2015). These problems manifest as word-finding difficulties (Burke & Mackay, 1997; Kavé & Knafo-Noam, 2015; Marini & Andreetta, 2016; Mortensen et al., 2006), and are one of the most prominent problems associated with cognitive ageing (Burke & Shafto, 2004). Previous studies have linked word-finding difficulties to both functional and structural brain changes in older adults (Meinzer et al., 2009; Stamatakis et al., 2011; Wierenga et al., 2008). Functional brain networks, both task-related and at rest, reflect the neurophysiological organisation of the brain (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009) and change with age due to deterioration of brain structure. Such changes could explain age-related decreases in cognitive performance, such as deterioration of memory (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009; Gaál et al., 2010; Zangrossi et al., 2021). However, the link between age-related changes in functional brain networks and the association with word-finding difficulties has not yet been investigated. The current study aimed to establish whether such a link exists in healthy older adults. We expect that such an investigation may inform future development of neurocognitive biomarkers associated with communicative ability.

The identification of functional brain networks via electroencephalography (EEG) offers a promising tool for investigating the effects of physiological ageing and identifying biomarkers for age-related pathology, including dementia (Valizadeh et al., 2019; Vecchio et al., 2020). Using graph theory, functional brain networks and measures of functional connectivity can be derived, such as the strength of synchronisation between neuronal populations (for methodology, see Bullmore & Sporns, 2009). Such measures indicate the brain's efficiency or strength of information transfer between different brain regions (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009; Fries, 2005). Functional brain networks can be characterised in terms of segregation and integration, which underlie cognition (Sporns, 2013; Sporns et al., 2004). Functional

segregation reflects neuronal communication between neighbouring brain regions, with more segregation reflecting a pattern where brain regions are more strongly connected with neighbouring nodes than more distant nodes, and less segregation reflecting the opposite pattern. Functional integration refers to the connections between modules, enabling the network to integrate information that is distributed over multiple brain regions (Sporns, 2013). A balance between segregation and integration leads to a small-world network, allowing for global efficacy of information transfer between brain regions (Achard & Bullmore, 2007; Bassett & Bullmore, 2006; Bullmore & Sporns, 2009; Watts & Strogatz, 1998). Studies using resting-state EEG show that the small-world index decreases with age (Gaál et al., 2010; Moezzi et al., 2019; Petti et al., 2016; Vecchio et al., 2014; Vecchio et al., 2020), due to decreases in functional segregation with age (Damoiseaux, 2017).

Age-related changes in functional brain networks have also been linked to decreases in cognitive performance, for example, in executive functioning and memory (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007; Fleck et al., 2016). Moreover, higher segregation in older adults might relate to better memory ability (Chan et al., 2014; Zangrossi et al., 2021). Andrews-Hanna et al. (2007) argued that ageing is accompanied by the disruption of functional networks underlying higher-order cognitive functions. Since age-related declines in word-finding abilities have been previously linked to changes in brain structure and function (Meinzer et al., 2009; Stamatakis et al., 2011; Wierenga et al., 2008), it is possible that changes in functional brain networks also relate to word-finding difficulties in older age.

A relationship between age-related changes in functional brain networks and word-finding difficulties could be explained by the neural dedifferentiation hypothesis, which posits that brain regions and networks become less functionally specific to cognitive processes with age (Li et al., 2001). Moreover, agerelated decreases in neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, reduce the efficiency of information transfer between brain regions (Koen & Rugg, 2019; Li & Lindenberger, 1999; Li & Rieckmann, 2014). This then causes neural dedifferentiation and consequently increases interindividual differences in cognitive performance (De Felice & Holland, 2018; Hultsch et al., 2002; Koen & Rugg, 2019). It is therefore proposed that, neural efficiency and, hence, cognitive processes are optimal in younger adults (McIntosh et al., 2014). Goh (2011) hypothesised that both the differences in behaviour between younger and older adults and the age-related neural dedifferentiation are directly related to age-related changes in functional connectivity. Hence, age-related changes in functional brain networks seem to be associated with changes in cognitive performance.

Finally, age-related changes in functional brain networks have been found to be specific to EEG frequency band (e.g., Gaál et al., 2010; Micheloyannis et al., 2007; Smit et al., 2012; Vecchio et al., 2014) and different cognitive functions have been linked to certain EEG frequency bands (for an overview, see Başar et al., 2001). Delta activity is involved in inhibiting irrelevant responses and is important for internal concentration (Harmony, 2013; Mousavi et al., 2020). Greater delta power in younger adults and greater connectivity in the delta band in older adults have been linked to higher semantic fluency performance (Fleck et al., 2016; Mousavi et al., 2020). Hence, functional connectivity in the delta band might be important in supporting verbal fluency performance in older adults. Moreover, theta oscillations may play an important role in cognitive control, semantic-related processing, working memory, behavioural monitoring, and letter fluency (Cavanagh & Frank, 2014; Mousavi et al., 2020; Wang, 2010). Alpha band activity has been proposed to reflect attention, working memory, and inhibition (Başar et al., 1999; Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Klimesch et al., 2007; Stam, 2000). Lastly, beta band activity may play a role in working memory, decision-making, and lexical-semantic retrieval processes (Gola et al., 2013; Siegel et al., 2009; Weiss & Mueller, 2012).

To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the relationship between functional brain networks and age-related changes in word-finding ability using EEG. We used data from the Leipzig Study for Mind-Body-Emotion Interactions (LEMON; Babayan et al., 2019) to investigate this relationship. First, we hypothesised that the decline in word-finding ability with age is linked to a decrease in the connectedness of functional brain networks. Specifically, we predicted a main effect of delta-band brain segregation on semantic fluency in older adults. Second, we hypothesised that the age-related decreases in brain segregation (which are reflective of neural dedifferentiation) are positively related to word-finding ability. That is, we predicted a positive main effect of segregation and small-world index on verbal fluency. Lastly, because individual variability in cognitive performance increases with age, with minimal variation between younger adults, and because of optimal neural efficiency in younger adults, we hypothesised that the relationship between word-finding ability and the connectedness of functional brain networks is absent in younger adults. Thus, we predicted that brain segregation does not predict verbal fluency in younger adults. The hypotheses, predictions, and experimental design were preregistered on the Open Science Framework website at https://osf.io/u6p42.

5.3 Methods

Participants

Data were obtained from the LEMON dataset (Babayan et al., 2019), which contains resting-state EEG recordings and psychological assessments of 153 younger adults, aged 20-35 years, and 74 older adults, aged 59-77 years (mean age and SDs are unavailable in the LEMON database to protect participants' anonymity). All participants in the dataset were German speakers. We selected data for the older adult group based on the following criteria: the availability of EEG resting state and verbal fluency data; the participants being right-handed, not suffering from depression (i.e., Hamilton Depression Rating Scale score lower than 14), not having an alcohol or substance use disorder (i.e., Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test, AUDIT, score < 8 and a negative result on the drug screening test). Based on these criteria, we included the data of 53 older adults (25 females) in the current study. Data from the younger adults were filtered based on the same criteria and, subsequently, a subset of 53 younger adults (21 females) were randomly selected to match the sample size of the older adult group (see Table 5.1). The sample size was based on an a priori power analysis using data simulation (Brysbaert & Stevens, 2018; DeBruine & Barr, 2021). More detailed information on the a priori power analysis can be found in Appendix B.1. Further information on the LEMON dataset can be found in Babayan et al. (2019).

	Younger adults $(N=53)$	Older adults $(N=53)$	<i>t</i> -test
Sex	21 females;	25 females;	t(104) = -0.78,
	32 males	28 males	p = .438
Hamilton Depression	M = 2.70	M = 2.28	t(104) = -0.80,
Rating Scale	(SD = 2.44)	(SD = 2.67)	p = .427
AUDIT	M = 3.30	M = 2.75	t(104) = -1.60,
	(SD = 1.73)	(<i>SD</i> = 1.79)	p = .112

 Table 5.1.
 Sample Characteristics and Comparisons between Age Groups

Materials

To quantify word-finding ability, we used the scores of the verbal fluency tasks (i.e., the Regensburger Wortflüssigkeitstest), which were available in the dataset. Within two minutes, participants had to generate as many German words as possible starting with the letter "s" (i.e. letter fluency) or words belonging to the category "animals" (i.e., semantic fluency). For the current study, we used the number of correctly produced words of both tasks that were generated within the first minute, which is the time limit commonly used in standard versions of the task (Shao et al., 2014).

EEG Recordings and Pre-processing

Resting-state EEG was recorded for 16 minutes, with alternating 60-second blocks of eyes-closed and eyes-open conditions. Only the eyes-closed condition was analysed in the current study. The set-up consisted of 61 channels arranged according to the 10-10 international system, with one additional electrode recording the vertical electrooculogram to monitor eye movements (see Babayan et al., 2019, for more information on the EEG recording setup). Data were pre-processed using MATLAB R2018a (MathWorks) and Fieldtrip (Oostenveld et al., 2010). The pre-processing pipeline 'Reduction of Electroencephalographic Artifacts' (RELAX), which makes use of both Fieldtrip and EEGLAB, a MATLAB toolbox (Delorme & Makeig, 2004), was used to clean the continuous EEG data with the RELAX_wICA_ICLabel setting since the effect of the default multi-channel Wiener Filter cleaning approach has not been tested for use prior to analysis of EEG connectivity (Bailey, Biabani, et al., 2023; Bailey, Hill, et al., 2023).

Before cleaning the data with RELAX, the raw EEG data were downsampled from 2500 Hz to 1000 Hz. A 1-45 Hz Butterworth bandpass filter was applied. The RELAX pipeline identifies noisy channels via the PREP pipeline algorithm (Bigdely-Shamlo et al., 2015). Data from these channels were subsequently removed. Data from the remaining noisy channels were further removed using the default settings from RELAX. The mean proportion of the EEG data removed due to noisy channels was 0.047 and data from 59 channels (SD = 3), on average, were left after this removal. The cleaned data were re-referenced to the robust average reference before running the Independent Component Analysis (ICA) with the FastICA algorithm (Hyvarinen, 1999) and reducing artifacts identified by ICLabel (Pion-Tonachini et al., 2019) using Wavelet Enhanced ICA (Castellanos & Makarov, 2006). After data cleaning, excluded channels were interpolated using spherical spline (Delorme & Makeig, 2004).

Functional Brain Networks

After cleaning the data, we applied a lowpass filter of 30 Hz and segmented the continuous data into 12-second epochs with 50% overlap (for more information on optimal epoch length for the debiased weighted Phase Lag Index (dwPLI), see Fraschini et al., 2016; Miljevic et al., 2022). Segments of the data were visually inspected to check data quality. The average proportion of data removed due to bad epochs was 0.205 (SD = 0.193). The average number of remaining epochs was 98. Next, we obtained the cross-spectral densities of the alpha, beta, theta, and delta bands using a Fourier transformation using the multitaper method based on Hanning tapers (see Figure 5.1A).



Figure 5.1. Processing Pipeline of the Resting-State Eyes-Closed EEG Data

Studies have consistently shown that neurophysiological rhythms slow with ageing and that including conventional frequency bands can introduce a bias against older adults, also when conducting connectivity analyses (Chiang et al., 2011; Scally et al., 2018). Therefore, the alpha, beta, theta, and delta spectral boundaries were determined using the individual alpha peak frequency (IAPF). IAPF was calculated with eyes-closed resting-state EEG data using the restingIAF toolbox in Matlab (see Corcoran et al., 2018, for more information on how the IAPF was computed). The mean IAPF of older adults was 9.4 Hz (SD = 0.9 Hz) and 10.1 Hz (SD = 0.9 Hz) for younger adults. The alpha band was determined as IAPF -4 Hz to IAPF +2 Hz, theta as IAPF -6 Hz to IAPF -4 Hz, and delta as IAPF -8 Hz to IAPF -6 Hz (Babiloni et al., 2020; Klimesch, 1999). The beta band was determined as IAPF +2 Hz up to and including 30 Hz (Babiloni et al., 2020; Henelius et al., 2011).

To detect brain networks, the dwPLI was used to calculate the functional connectivity between all 61 channels, for each frequency per participant. Please, refer to Appendix B.2 for the details on how dwPLI was computed. For the subsequent graph statistical processing steps and graph theoretical indices, we obtained the absolute values of the dwPLI to get an indication of the strength of connectivity between pairs of electrodes. The network construction resulted in a 61-by-61 weighted matrix for each frequency band and per participant (see Figure 5.1B).

We applied a data-driven method, namely the Orthogonalized Minimum Spanning Tree (OMST) algorithm to threshold the connectivity matrices (Dimitriadis et al., 2017). A minimum spanning tree is a graph with a minimum number of total edges, without cycles (i.e., the graph does not contain any loops), and where all nodes are connected (see Figure 5.1C). The OMST algorithm computes the minimum spanning tree (MST) over multiple iterations. These iterations are necessary as using a single MST might result in a graph that is too sparse for computing robust connectivity measures. For a more detailed explanation as to how the network graphs were thresholded using the OMST algorithm, please refer to Appendix B.2.

Graph Theoretical Network Analysis

After thresholding, we applied graph theoretical analysis of the brain networks using Fieldtrip (Oostenveld et al., 2010) and the Brain Connectivity Toolbox (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010) in MATLAB (see Figure 5.1D). In the current study, the EEG sensors represent the nodes and the dwPLI values represent the weighted edges of the graph. Because we used weighted matrices, graphs for each frequency band were first normalised before computing the measures of brain segregation and integration, resulting in normalised weighted measures. All thresholded graphs were normalised by rescaling all weight magnitudes ranging between 0 and 1 (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009).

To quantify brain segregation (i.e., the clustering of functional networks into separate communities/groups), we calculated the weighted variant of the clustering coefficient (Onnela et al., 2005; Rubinov & Sporns, 2010) as well as of modularity (Newman, 2006; Rubinov & Sporns, 2010). Please, refer to Appendix B.2 for the mathematical equations and descriptions of all connectivity measures. The clustering coefficient and modularity offer alternative statistics of brain segregation. Higher values of either statistic reflect greater local efficiency of information transfer in the brain (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009). That is, brain regions or communities are more specialised and have stronger connections within themselves (i.e., intracommunity connections), facilitating efficient communication within those localised communities.

The degree of brain integration is quantified through the weighted version of the characteristic path length, which is the shortest path length between two nodes averaged across all node pairs (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010; Watts & Strogatz, 1998). Lower characteristic path length indicates greater global efficiency of information transfer in the brain. The clustering coefficient and modularity (brain segregation) and characteristic path length (brain integration) values were calculated for each participant for each frequency band separately. To examine the balance between brain segregation and integration, we computed the small-world index of each graph (Humphries & Gurney, 2008). Small-world indices with values higher than 1 indicate that the network is a small world (see Appendix B.2).

Statistical Analysis

After obtaining the functional connectivity measures described above, the final data pre-processing and analysis were conducted in R (R Core Team, 2020). Following the preregistration, verbal fluency scores +/-3 SDs would be considered outliers, however, no outliers were detected in the verbal fluency data. Missing values for all connectivity measures for OMST-thresholded networks can be found in Table 5.2. Full networks did not have any missing values. Even though the missing values in the OMST-thresholded graphs reduced the number of data points, the data will still provide important insights into the relationship between word-finding ability and age-related changes in functional brain networks. After the initial model fit, leverage points were identified as 2(number of predictors + 1)/number of observations, and subsequently removed to obtain the model's best-fit.

Age Group	Band	dwPLI	Modularity	Clustering Coefficient	Characteristic Path Length	Small-World Index
Younger	Alpha	0	0	5	0	8
	Beta	0	0	10	0	11
	Delta	0	0	7	0	8
	Theta	0	0	8	0	12
Older	Alpha	0	0	8	0	11
	Beta	0	0	8	0	11
	Delta	0	0	14	0	15
	Theta	0	0	19	0	22

Table 5.2. Missing Values for Each of the Connectivity Measures of theOMST-Thresholded Networks per Frequency Band

Note. dwPLI = debiased weighted phase lag index. Each age group has a maximum sample size of N = 53.

To investigate whether age-related changes in brain segregation and integration are related to word-finding ability, we performed multiple linear regression analyses for each frequency band and each verbal fluency measure (i.e., letter and category fluency) separately. Because the networks were thresholded using a model-driven algorithm (i.e., OMST) and weighting was employed, we did not apply multiple corrections (which meets the criteria for optimal validity within a connectivity study, see the checklist by Miljevic et al., 2022). The outcome variables were the number of correctly produced words for the letter and category fluency tasks. To investigate the effect of age-related changes in brain segregation on verbal fluency, we included the interaction between clustering coefficient and age, and the interaction between modularity and age as predictors. To investigate the connectedness of the functional brain networks, we ran multiple linear regression analyses with the interaction between age and the small-world index as predictors of verbal fluency performance.

For brain integration, the predictor was the interaction between characteristic path length and age. All models included sex as a covariate because studies have shown that brain networks can differ between males and females (Foo et al., 2021). Both age and sex were contrast coded using "treatment contrasts" whereby younger adults were set as the reference level. All numerical predictors (i.e., the functional connectivity measures) were scaled for model interpretation. Assumptions of linearity, homoscedasticity, and normality of residuals were all met. Model diagnostics revealed the presence of leverage points for most models (i.e., values above 2(number predictors + 1) / number of observations), which were subsequently removed (Cook, 1977). Only the results after the removal of leverage points are reported in the results section.

This study was preregistered on the Open Science Framework (https://osf.io/ u6p42). The quality of the connectivity analysis was checked against the checklist by Miljevic and colleagues (2022) and obtained a score of 5.5, which reflects high study quality.

Deviations from the Preregistration

As preregistered, functional connectivity measures with values +/-3 SDs from the mean were originally also considered as outliers. However, due to the sparsity of some functional brain networks, there were missing values in both age groups for the clustering coefficient and small-world index. To avoid reducing the dataset even further by removing outliers for the functional connectivity measures, we analysed the data with the detected outliers. Regarding brain segregation measures, the preregistration only mentioned the clustering coefficient as a brain segregation measure for hypotheses 1 and 2. However, since brain segregation is reflected by both clustering coefficient and modularity (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010), we included both the interaction between clustering coefficient and age, as well as the interaction between age and modularity in the statistical models. Such models would represent brain segregation better than solely including the clustering coefficient.

5.4 Results

Behavioural Data

Before analysing the functional brain networks, a behavioural difference in verbal fluency performance between younger and older adults was confirmed. For semantic fluency, older adults obtained a mean score of 22 correctly produced words (SD =5.5; range = 12-37 words) and younger adults obtained a mean score of 25 correctly produced words (SD = 5.1; range = 15-39 words), and this difference between age groups was significant (t(418.68 = -5.80, p < .001)). For letter fluency, older adults obtained a mean score of 13 correctly produced words (SD = 3.1; range = 5-19 words) and younger adults obtained a mean score of 15 correctly produced words (SD = 3.5; range = 7-23 words), and this difference between age groups was also significant (t(416.4) = -6.72, p < .001).

Graph Analysis

To investigate the age-related changes in functional brain networks, the brain segregation and integration measures were computed for the alpha, beta, delta, and theta bands. Mean and standard deviations for the graph theoretical measures of the OMST-weighted graphs can be found in Table 5.3.

	Younger adults			Older adults				
	Alpha	Beta	Delta	Theta	Alpha	Beta	Delta	Theta
dwPLI	0.53 (0.12)	0.42 (0.14)	0.53 (0.08)	0.50 (0.08)	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	0.43 (0.15)	0.52 (0.07)	0.44 (0.11)
Clustering Coefficient	0.10 (0.05)	0.08 (0.04)	0.08 (0.03)	0.06 (0.03)	0.09 (0.04)	0.09 (0.04)	0.06 (0.03)	0.06 (0.03)
Modularity	0.48 (0.07)	0.52 (0.07)	0.49 (0.08)	0.50 (0.07)	0.48 (0.09)	0.51 (0.07)	0.47 (0.06)	0.48 (0.08)
Characteristic Path Length	6.33 (2.09)	9.51 (5.48)	6.18 (1.60)	6.96 (2.10)	$ \begin{array}{c} 6.13 \\ (1.78) \end{array} $	9.45 (4.99)	6.28 (1.35)	8.30 (2.95)
Small-World Index	1.11 (0.67)	1.23 (0.71)	0.97 (0.56)	0.81 (0.51)	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1.39 (0.79)	0.93 (0.49)	0.92 (0.55)

Table 5.3. Mean and Standard Deviation of the OMST-Thresholded Graph Theoretical Indices per Age Group

Functional Connectivity Strength

First, we hypothesised that age-related decreases in functional connectivity, as measured through dwPLI, would be positively related to age-related word-finding difficulties. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to investigate whether age and dwPLI would predict letter and semantic fluency. The predictors in the delta band explained 13.4% of the variance in semantic fluency scores ($R^2 = .10$, F(4,95)= 3.66, p = .025). Age and the interaction between age and dwPLI were significant predictors of semantic fluency scores ($\beta = -2.45$, p = .020 and $\beta = -3.85$, p = .004, respectively). That is, age-related increases in dwPLI were related to lower semantic fluency scores (see Figure 5.2). Semantic fluency was not related to an age-related change in dwPLI in any of the other frequency bands, nor was letter fluency related to age-related changes in dwPLI in any of the four frequency bands.



Figure 5.2. The interaction between age and dwPLI as a significant predictor of semantic fluency in the delta band.

Brain Segregation

Our second hypothesis was whether age-related decreases in brain segregation, reflecting neural dedifferentiation, are related to reduced word-finding ability. We predicted that age-related changes in brain segregation, as measured through modularity, clustering coefficient, and small world index, would be related to verbal fluency performance. Multiple regression analysis was used to investigate the effect of modularity and clustering coefficient on semantic and letter fluency separately. The predictors in the alpha band explained 14.4% of the variance in semantic fluency scores ($R^2 = .08$, F(6,80) = 2.25, p = .047). In the alpha band, both modularity and age independently predicted semantic fluency ($\beta = -2.23$, p = .049 and $\beta = -2.83$, p = .022, respectively). That is, higher modularity scores predicted lower semantic fluency scores, independent of age (see Figure 5.3). None of the models for letter and semantic fluency indicated that age-related changes in clustering coefficient or modularity predicted letter and semantic fluency scores.



Figure 5.3. Modularity as a significant predictor, irrespective of age, of semantic fluency in the alpha band.

Because the small-world index suggest a balance between brain integration and segregation, we also ran multiple linear regressions to investigate the effect of agerelated changes in the small-world index on verbal fluency performance. In the delta band, the predictors explained 16.6% of the variance in semantic fluency scores (R^2 = .12, F(4,76) = 3.78, p = .007). Both age and the small-world index significantly predicted semantic fluency scores ($\beta = -4.08$, p < .001, and $\beta = 2.69$, p = .041, respectively). That is, a greater small-world index predicted higher semantic fluency scores, irrespective of age (see Figure 5.4). None of the models for letter and semantic fluency indicated that age-related changes in the small-world index predicted letter and semantic fluency scores.



Figure 5.4. The small-world index as a significant predictor, independently of age, of semantic fluency in the delta band.

Exploratory Analysis of Brain Integration

Although we did not have a-priori hypotheses about the relationship between agerelated changes in brain integration and verbal fluency performance, previous studies linked age-related changes in brain integration measures, such as path length, to changes in cognitive performance (e.g., Stanley et al., 2015). Therefore, we conducted an exploratory analysis (i.e., not preregistered with a-priori hypotheses) using multiple linear regression to investigate the effect of age-related changes in brain integration on verbal fluency performance. In the delta band, the predictors explained 13.2% of the variance in semantic fluency scores ($R^2 = .09$, F(4,94) =3.57, p < .001). Age and the interaction between age and characteristic path length predicted semantic fluency scores ($\beta = -1.24$, p = .027 and $\beta = 3.64$, p = .028, respectively). That is, older adults with higher characteristic path length achieved higher semantic fluency scores (see Figure 5.5). Characteristic path length did not predict semantic fluency in the other frequency bands, nor did it predict letter fluency in any of the frequency bands.



Figure 5.5. The interaction between age and characteristic path length as a significant predictor of semantic fluency in the delta band.

5.5 Discussion

Using resting-state EEG data, the current study aimed to investigate the relationship between word-finding difficulties in older age and age-related changes in functional brain networks. We hypothesised that age-related decreases in word-finding ability are related to decreases in the connectedness of functional brain networks in older compared to younger adults. We found that, in older adults, greater functional connectedness in the delta band, as measured through dwPLI, was related to lower semantic fluency scores. Several other findings were not in line with our hypotheses. A greater small-world index in the delta band was related to higher semantic fluency performance in both younger and older adults. Greater modularity in the alpha band was related to higher semantic fluency scores, but this was irrespective of age. In an exploratory analysis of brain integration, we found a positive relationship between characteristic path length and semantic fluency in the delta band, only in older adults.

Age-Related Changes in Functional Connectedness and Word-Finding Ability

Our finding that greater functional connectedness related to lower semantic fluency in older adults is in line with previous studies demonstrating age-related changes in the connectedness of functional brain networks (Gaál et al., 2010; Sala-Llonch et al., 2014; Zangrossi et al., 2021), but not with their link with decreases in cognitive performance (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007; Chow et al., 2022; Fleck et al., 2016). That is, previous studies found that increased connectedness in older adults was related to better cognitive performance. Greater functional connectedness has been hypothesised to indicate greater efficacy of information transfer between different brain areas (Fries, 2005). In this case, increased dwPLI, reflecting overall brain connectedness, would lead to an increase in the brain's efficiency of information transfer between different brain areas, that is, reduce the slowing of information transfer. Because verbal fluency is a timed task, age-related slowing of information transfer between brain areas in older adults could mean that older adults need more time to access words from their memory. If higher dwPLI values (i.e., greater connectedness) reflect greater efficiency of information transfer between brain areas, one would expect that greater functional connectedness would be related to better word-finding ability. However, we found that greater connectedness in the current study was related to worse word-finding ability.

One possible explanation is that increased dwPLI in older adults represents a pattern of hyper-synchronisation or overload, reflecting noisy communication between different brain regions, and subsequently leading to poorer cognitive performance (Jones et al., 2016; López-Sanz et al., 2017). Our findings for wordfinding ability are in line with the studies by Jones et al. (2016) and López-Sanz et al. (2017), who demonstrated that increased resting-state connectivity was related to worse language performance. Moreover, studies in Parkinson's disease demonstrated that greater functional connectedness, as measured with (dw)PLI in the delta and theta frequency band predicted whether someone had Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) or not (Cai et al., 2021; Chaturvedi et al., 2019). Hence, increased delta dwPLI could be explored as a potential marker of pre-onset dementia.

Research has also indicated that individuals with Huntington's disease exhibit greater delta-band connectivity, which could indicate either pathological or compensatory changes in brain function (Davis et al., 2022). That is, brain activity may be synchronising to a less functional frequency range (here, delta), perhaps as a pathology-related compensatory process, or perhaps reflecting the brain's inability to inhibit this (potentially less functional) rhythm. Increased delta connectivity may reflect entrainment to a basic resonance property of pyramidal neurons to sustain frequency preference, in contrast to more functional connectivity within task-related oscillatory frequencies (for a discussion on neuronal resonance, see Hutcheon & Yarom, 2000). Resonance plays a crucial role in enabling synchronised activity and oscillatory patterns, and a disruption in the temporal coordination of neuronal activity may lead to cognitive impairments (Lehrer & Eddie, 2013; Uhlhaas & Singer, 2006). In conditions like Alzheimer's disease, even before disease onset, brain pathology may cause hyperactivity and/or inhibition of neurons, disrupting the neuronal excitation/inhibition (E/I) balance and affecting whole-brain network configurations (Alexandersen et al., 2022; Stam et al., 2023; van Nifterick et al., 2022). Our findings may suggest a similar disruption of the E/I balance in older adults experiencing word-finding difficulties. In this case, neurons exhibit resonance to lower frequencies, specifically the delta range, due to hyper-excitation and/or inhibition of more functional higher frequency ranges, such as beta frequencies.

As an alternative explanation, lower-frequency oscillations, such as delta oscillations, might be the result of compensatory processes to maintain high cognitive performance. With regard to ageing, studies have shown that greater delta band power in younger adults (Mousavi et al., 2020) and greater delta band coherence (i.e., a measure of connectivity) in frontal brain areas in older adults (Fleck et al., 2016) was related to higher semantic fluency scores. In the current study, however, whilst greater delta band connectivity was related to higher semantic fluency scores in younger adults, this was not the case in older adults. In older adults, increased delta connectivity may reflect failed compensatory processes, in line with the idea that the brain is less able to inhibit this lower-frequency oscillatory rhythm. Since our study took a whole-brain approach, we could not determine whether these connectivity effects were region-specific, and other oscillatory patterns may be found when looking at, for example, delta connectivity in frontal brain areas. In younger adults, greater overall connectedness in the delta band might reflect an individual's ability to inhibit irrelevant responses and maintain internal concentration (Harmony, 2013; Mousavi et al., 2020), which may reverse with age reflecting pathology-related compensatory processes.

Brain Segregation and Word-Finding Ability Across the Lifespan

Greater modularity in the alpha band predicted lower semantic fluency performance. irrespective of age. Greater brain modularity has been hypothesised to enable greater brain plasticity, because it increases the brain's efficiency and flexibility to adapt to, for example, age-related anatomical brain changes (Gallen & D'Esposito, 2019). Hence, we would expect that greater modularity would improve word-However, greater modularity was related to lower semantic finding abilities. fluency scores in both younger and older adults, contradicting the suggestion that greater modularity reflects greater brain plasticity and better cognitive functioning. Another explanation is that, to perform verbal fluency tasks, brain integration might be more important than segregation and it is possible that greater brain segregation could be related to lower integration. It has been suggested that greater brain integration is necessary for higher-level cognitive functions, such as language (Bagarinao et al., 2019; Bullmore & Sporns, 2012). However, this seems unlikely as there is a positive relationship between modularity (segregation) and characteristic path length (integration) in the alpha band (see Appendix B.3 for the analysis). Alternatively, resting-state modularity might perhaps positively relate to some cognitive functions, such as visuospatial working memory, but not others (e.g., numerical working memory Alavash et al., 2015), or perhaps modularity needs to reach a certain threshold after which it becomes detrimental to cognitive functioning.

Alternatively, one theory proposes that modular brain networks are necessary for quick and simple tasks, whilst complex tasks that require more time benefit more from a lower modular structure (Deem, 2013). For example, greater modularity was negatively related to performance on a complex task, which involved the ability to control attention, whilst modularity was positively related to performance on a simple task (i.e., not involving the control of attention Yue et al., 2017). Verbal fluency tasks are considered complex tasks as they involve a multitude of cognitive functions to support lexical access (Shao et al., 2014). Hence, in line with the theory by Deem (2013), greater modularity could negatively predict verbal fluency performance. Moreover, our study did not reveal a negative relationship between modularity and letter fluency. The cognitive functions and brain regions underlying letter and semantic fluency are slightly different (Gordon et al., 2018; Shao et al., 2014; Vonk et al., 2019), which could explain the discrepancy between the two tasks in our study.

We also predicted that brain segregation, specifically in the delta band, would play an important role in predicting semantic fluency scores in older adults (Fleck et al., 2016; Mousavi et al., 2020). Fleck and colleagues (2016) argued that maintaining delta band brain segregation in older age is necessary to maintain cognitive performance and decreases will lead to cognitive decline. The current study demonstrated that alpha but not delta brain segregation, as measured through modularity, was related to cognitive performance, and this relationship was irrespective of age. Alpha band activity has been proposed to reflect attention, working memory, and switching abilities (Başar et al., 1999; Stam, 2000). It has been proposed that resting-state alpha band activity is an important indicator of an individual's readiness for subsequent task performance, potentially through the inhibition of irrelevant pre-task information (Jann et al., 2010; Klimesch et al., 2007). Hence, the current study might indicate that semantic fluency benefits more from a non-modular structure in the alpha band. Less-modular brain networks at rest may allow for a fast reorganisation of the brain network and the direction of attention to the task at hand. Alternatively, the finding in alpha but not delta frequency band modularity might reflect a compensatory mechanism whereby brain activity synchronises within a less functionally specific frequency band (Davis et al., 2022).

Neural dedifferentiation for word-finding abilities We hypothesised that brain segregation decreases with age, reflective of neural dedifferentiation. Age-related decreases in brain segregation have been proposed to reflect neural dedifferentiation in older adults (Goh, 2011; Zuo et al., 2017), which means that brain regions and networks become less functionally specific to cognitive processes (Li et al., 2001). Previous studies have supported this idea and showed that greater brain segregation in older adults was related to better memory ability (Chan et al., 2014; Zangrossi et al., 2021). The current study demonstrated an inverse relationship between modularity and word-finding ability, irrespective of age. This is interesting given the expectation that greater modularity would reflect more functional specificity to cognitive functions and, consequently, benefit cognitive functioning. It is possible that modularity does not represent age-related neural dedifferentiation for semantic fluency. Moreover, modularity was computed using resting-state brain networks and not during the semantic fluency task. It is possible that resting-state modularity cannot capture neural dedifferentiation underlying age-related wordfinding difficulties.

The Small-World Index and Word-Finding Abilities

The small-world index is a measure of the organisation of functional brain networks. The current study showed that a greater small-world index in the delta band was related to better semantic fluency performance, irrespective of age. Several studies have linked greater cognitive performance in middle-aged and older adults to a higher small-world index (Douw et al., 2011; Vecchio et al., 2016) and it has been hypothesised that a greater small-world index reflects a more efficient brain (Achard & Bullmore, 2007). A previous study in people with chronic fatigue syndrome demonstrated that the delta band small-world index was negatively related to cognitive dysfunction, which included problems with attention, remembering, and word-finding (Zinn et al., 2017). Our findings add to the literature and indicate that brain networks with small-world topologies could underlie semantic fluency performance in both younger and older adults. Hence, an optimal balance between local and global connectedness might be important for maintaining word-finding ability across the lifespan, irrespective of any age-related decreases.

Greater Brain Integration is Related to Better Word-Finding in Older Adults

In an exploratory analysis, we investigated the relationship between brain integration and age-related word-finding difficulties. In older adults, a longer characteristic path length in the delta band was associated with higher semantic fluency scores. Shorter characteristic path length would reflect greater global network efficiency because fewer nodes need to be traversed to transfer information from one brain area to another (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009). In contrast, we found that greater characteristic path length related to better semantic fluency in older age. Several studies showed that brain integration decreases with age (Bagarinao et al., 2019; McIntosh et al., 2014; Sullivan et al., 2019), including characteristic path length (Vecchio et al., 2014). Hence, greater characteristic path length (i.e., increased integration) might be necessary to maintain word-finding abilities in older age.

Limitations and Future Directions

The current study has several limitations. First, the OMST algorithm resulted in too sparse a network in some participants to compute the clustering coefficient and the small-world index. On the one hand, the study was still able to demonstrate the relationship between word-finding and clustering coefficient but, on the other hand, no interaction effects were observed. The latter could be the result of the reduced sample size due to missing values for the clustering coefficient. However, the choice of thresholding is an important one as the incorrect thresholding method can lead to biases and make it difficult to compare across studies. For example, arbitrary thresholding affects the reliability of a study, and bias can appear when one chooses a threshold based on what threshold leads to significant results (Miljevic et al., 2022). In contrast, data-driven thresholding is more objective as the user has no influence on what threshold is chosen. Therefore, we decided to implement the OMST algorithm as it is a data-driven threshold method created to reduce the sparsity of networks, whilst maximising global efficiency (Dimitriadis et al., 2017). Moreover, a recent study indicated that with increasing age, the individual variability in functional brain networks increases (Ma et al., 2021). It is possible that data-driven methods are better suited when comparing functional brain networks, to account for networks that are highly variable between individuals (Bansal et al., 2018). To shed light on functional brain connectivity in ageing, more research is needed using the OMST algorithm for thresholding the brain connectivity graphs so that these studies can be compared.

Another debate in the field of functional brain connectivity obtained through EEG recordings is whether one should project the signals into sensor (i.e., electrodes) or source space (i.e., brain regions underlying the observed electrical activity). Many studies argue for projecting signals into source space as doing so is suggested to resolve problems such as volume conduction and field spread (see Schoffelen & Gross, 2009). However, source-space analyses have their own limitations. For example, there are multiple methods for identifying the underlying sources and the estimation of parameters needed for source localisation is very complex and relies on a number of assumptions (Mahjoory et al., 2017; Miljevic et al., 2022). In addition, a recent study showed that sensor space might be more suitable for conducting functional brain connectivity analyses as brain network indices, such as the characteristic path length, can change after projecting brain activity into source space (Koutlis et al., 2021). Moreover, the current study aimed to conduct whole-brain network analyses and we did not have a-priori hypotheses about the underlying brain regions. Whole-brain network analyses are important to understand the effect of age on how functional networks combine the information processed by the brain (Geerligs et al., 2015). To reduce the influence of volume conduction and field spread. the debiased weighted Phase Lag Index was used to compute the connectivity between the EEG sensors (Lai et al., 2018; Vinck et al., 2011). Hence, the issues created by volume conduction were addressed without the need to conduct source localisation in the current study. Nevertheless, future studies could build on the results of the current study by investigating the sources underlying the functional brain connectivity patterns we have observed.

Finally, it is important to note that the current study identified brain networks from resting-state data, hence, these networks were not obtained during the verbal fluency tasks. Functional brain networks underlying verbal fluency tasks may yield different patterns from resting-state data, and age-related changes might be reflected differently in task-dependent functional connectivity. However, resting-state EEG analyses have been argued to be informative (Rosazza & Minati, 2011; van Diessen et al., 2015) and such analyses can be useful in providing insights into cognition, and the diagnosis, development, and treatment of neurodegenerative diseases (Ishii et al., 2017; O'Neill et al., 2018).

The current study also identified some gaps and recommendations for future research. First, we demonstrated that increased functional connectedness in the delta band was related to age-related word-finding difficulties. Future studies should explore this relationship among healthy older adults, adults at risk of dementia, and adults in the beginning stages of dementia. Investigate whether such a measure, in conjunction with neuropsychological assessments, could contribute to the early detection of cognitive impairment and dementia. Second, interventions could be developed that aim to increase delta band functional connectedness as this could increase neuroplasticity and, consequently, improve cognitive outcomes in older adults. Third, considering our contrasting finding that increased modularity was related to poorer word-finding ability irrespective of age, future studies could investigate when the extent of brain segregation becomes detrimental to word-finding ability. Additionally, examining potential differences in this effect between younger and older adults would be valuable. Finally, because modularity has been proposed to be important in predicting neuroplasticity outcomes following intervention, such as cognitive training (Gallen & D'Esposito, 2019), it is important to investigate the interactive effect between modularity, complexity of cognitive functioning, and intervention outcomes. Such research is essential not only in ageing populations but

also in those with neurodegenerative diseases.

Conclusion

The current study investigated the link between functional brain connectivity and word-finding abilities in younger and older adults. We found that changes in functional brain connectivity, such as in overall connectedness and characteristic path length, related to worse performance on semantic fluency, but only in older adults. Modularity and the small-world index also predicted semantic fluency performance, but this was irrespective of age. Moreover, changes in functional brain connectivity were specific to the frequency band, possibly reflecting changes in cognitive control and the ability to inhibit irrelevant responses or a compensatory shift to less functionally specific frequency bands. This is the first study demonstrating that age-related word-finding difficulties can be linked to changes in functional brain connectivity.

Chapter 6

The Role of Neuronal Phase Coherence Underlying Action-Word Comprehension in Healthy Ageing

Linking Statement:

The previous chapters discussed the neurobiology and lifestyle contributions to ageand PD-related word-finding abilities, utilising word production tasks. Instead, this chapter focused on word comprehension using a lexical decision task. Chapters 3 and 4 already discussed the difference between object- and action-word finding in healthy ageing and Parkinson's disease. Building on those previous chapters, this chapter specifically focused on the comprehension of words describing physical action (i.e., high-action words) in healthy ageing. Through an EEG time-frequency analysis using inter-trial phase coherence, this chapter investigated the neuronal phase coherence underlying action language and whether the link between action and language stays relatively preserved or weakens with age. Finally, this chapter will briefly discuss the effect of hearing status on neuronal phase coherence underlying action word-finding.

Author Note:

The study hypotheses, design, and statistical analyses were preregistered on the

Open Science Framework (https://osf.io/5qjkh). Octave code for the lexical decision task, MATLAB and R code for data pre-processing and analysis, pre-processed EEG files, the full participant dataset, and supplementary materials will be made openly available on the Open Science Framework website after publication.

This paper was produced in collaboration with Dr. Neil Bailey, Dr. Kate Slade, Dr. Patrick May, and Dr. Helen Nuttall as co-authors.

6.1 Abstract

The impact of age on action-word processing and whether the actionality of a word facilitates word retrieval in older adults remains unclear. This study investigated age-related differences in neuronal phase coherence during action-word processing and its relationship to action-word comprehension. Forty-four older (aged 60-81) and 44 younger adults (aged 18-29) completed a timed, written lexical decision task while undergoing electroencephalography (32 channels). The task included three conditions: high-action words describing upper- and lower-limb physical actions, low-action words representing abstract concepts or non-upper- or lower-limb actions, and pseudowords. The high- and low-action conditions included both nouns and verbs. All participants were right-handed, native-British English speaking, without any language, speech, neurological, or psychiatric disorders. Neuronal phase coherence was assessed during the lexical decision task through time-frequency intertrial phase coherence (ITPC) over the frontocentral brain region. ANCOVA analysis and pairwise comparisons revealed greater mu and beta band ITPC for high-action words in older compared to younger adults. Multiple linear regression revealed that higher ITPC was related to faster processing of high-action words in both age groups. In the mu band, the relationship between ITPC and high-action word processing was stronger in older than in younger adults. These findings suggest agerelated alterations in neuronal phase coherence during action-word processing and a strengthened link between action and language with age. This chapter will discuss the findings in the context of age-related neuroplasticity as well as the implications for future research.

Keywords: action language; healthy ageing; inter-trial phase coherence; lexical decision; electroencephalography.

6.2 Introduction

Ageing is accompanied by cognitive decline, and as part of this, older adults commonly experience word-finding difficulties (Burke & Shafto, 2004; Salthouse, 2009). One important lexical factor that influences word-finding is whether the word is a noun or verb, with nouns being processed faster than verbs (e.g., Cordier et al., 2013; Kauschke & Stenneken, 2008). The noun-verb distinction could be understood through the concept that words denoting physical actions, also known as action words, are grounded in the sensorimotor areas of the brain (Hauk et al., 2004). The difference in processing speed between nouns and verbs may be attributed to the neuronal processes underlying these word categories, specifically the additional activation of sensorimotor regions for verbs compared to nouns (e.g., Hauk et al., 2004). During language processing, sensorimotor systems support semantic knowledge, involving a wide range of brain regions and circuits (Pulvermüller, 2013), including the premotor cortex (Willems et al., 2011). It is currently unclear whether the sensorimotor system supports word-finding of words that describe physical actions (i.e., action words) in older adults.

Grounded cognition theory suggests that our cognitive processes are influenced by the interactions between our bodies and the world around us, based on perception as well as action (Jirak et al., 2010). More specifically, during the processing of action words, the word's meaning becomes linked to previous experiences related to that action word through one's world knowledge (Barsalou, 2008). Consequently, when we retrieve that action word from our memory, this coupling leads to the activation of brain regions associated with physically performing that action. This activation is also called motor simulation and facilitates access to the word's actionrelated features. The grounded cognition theory predicts that age-related sensory and motor declines would impede the simulation of perceptual and sensorimotor systems (Vallet, 2015). However, in the perceptual domain, both younger and older adults seem to be relying on sensory-dependent knowledge, such as a word's auditory and visual features (Vallet, 2015; Vallet et al., 2013). Hence, younger as well as older adults seem to rely on the simulation of perceptual systems through visual and auditory imagery. Whether older adults rely on sensorimotor systems during action word perception similar to younger adults, remains unexplored.

Ageing studies that have explored the relationship between age and action language processing have produced conflicting findings (Bidet-Ildei et al., 2020; Reifegerste et al., 2021). Bidet-Ildei et al. (2020) proposed that the association between action and language weakens with age due to decreased activation of the brain regions underlying the action representations of the words. In their study, younger adults exhibited faster response times when a picture represented a previously heard action word, compared to when it did not match the previously heard action word, while older adults did not display this difference. The authors argued that older adults may have difficulties simulating the actions during actionword processing, potentially leading to decreased grounding of action words in the brain regions underlying the action representations of the words.

From another perspective, Reifegerste et al. (2021) concluded that the connection between words and motor or physical actions remains relatively intact with age. Their study utilised a lexical decision task with words describing varying levels of motor-relatedness, namely how much a word describes human bodily movements. The researchers found an effect of age on verbs with low motor relatedness, whereas the age effect on verbs with high motor relatedness was non-significant. That is, words with low motor content elicited slower and less accurate responses in older than younger adults, whilst this age difference was not found for words with high motor content. The researchers suggested that the neuronal networks and brain regions underlying words with high motor content remain relatively unaffected by age and that these neuronal networks may even support word-finding of words with high motor relatedness but not low motor relatedness in older age. Hence, the activation of the brain regions underlying the action representations of the words might facilitate word-finding in older adults.

Language processing involves the coordination of neuronal activity across various brain regions (Fries, 2005). Action words elicit activity in the frontocentral brain regions, while object words elicit activity in the temporo-occipital brain regions (Moseley et al., 2013). Moreover, frontocentral brain regions involved in motor functions, such as the primary motor and premotor cortex, might be additionally recruited to facilitate word-finding, for example, by simulating the action of the word described (Akinina et al., 2019). Age-related deterioration of these brain regions, potentially due to neural dedifferentiation, could diminish the link between sensorimotor systems and cognition (Baltes & Lindenberger, 1997; Costello & Bloesch, 2017). Event-related potential (ERP) studies have shown that action words elicit more positive potentials, such as in the P200 and N400 components, in frontocentral brain regions than non-action or object words (Zhao et al., 2017), even after controlling for grammatical class (Barber et al., 2010; Cervetto et al., 2021; Khader et al., 2003). Hence, it appears that the brain processes action and object words differently. Moreover, the N400 decreases in magnitude and the latency becomes longer with age (Friedman, 2011). However, it is currently unclear whether age-related changes in the N400 amplitude and action word processing are linked as well.

At the oscillatory level, different groups of neurons are involved in accessing verbs compared to nouns (Khader et al., 2003; Preissl et al., 1996). The 'neuronal communication through neuronal coherence' hypothesis states that groups of neurons communicate with each other by synchronising their oscillatory phase, which underlies cognitive functioning (Fries, 2005). Oscillatory phase coherence can be measured using Inter-Trial Phase Coherence (ITPC), which reflects the consistency of oscillatory phase across multiple trials of an EEG signal (Makeig et al., 2004). ITPC is thought to reflect neuronal population-level activity and could provide insights into the underlying neuronal activity of cognitive processes (Cohen, 2014). Regarding action language, ITPC has already been successfully applied in machine learning algorithms to classify action-related verbs and concrete nouns,
measured from the mu and beta bands in frontal and temporal brain regions (Jensen et al., 2019). Hence, word-finding seems to involve oscillatory phase coherence, with different processes underlying action and object words.

The relationship between ITPC and age has not received much attention yet. Theta band ITPC appears to increase from childhood into adulthood and decrease again in older adults, potentially reflecting increases and decreases in cognitive control or working memory-related attention processes (Ho et al., 2012; Papenberg et al., 2013). Increased ITPC in theta and alpha bands in younger adults compared to children and in stroke patients may reflect increased brain plasticity or reorganisation, driven by brain maturation and compensatory mechanisms in response to brain injury (Gyulai et al., 2021; Yordanova & Kolev, 2009). However, the relationship between age-related differences in ITPC and action language has not been investigated previously. Examining this relationship will provide insights into the neuronal processes underlying action word comprehension, which may be utilised to indicate healthy neuronal processing and detect the development of pathological neuronal activity.

Taken together, the influence of age on action-word processing and the extent to which the action features facilitate word retrieval in older adults is unclear. Investigating age-related changes in ITPC can provide valuable insights into the brain's sensorimotor mechanisms underlying age-related difficulties in accessing action words. Therefore, the aims of this study were two-fold: i) to replicate the N400 amplitude difference between high- and low-action words, and ii) to investigate age-related differences in ITPC underlying action word-finding as the influence of age on neuronal population-level activity associated with action words remains unclear. First, we hypothesised that neuronal population-level activity in the frontocentral brain region would correlate with processing action but not non-action words in both older and younger adults. Second, we hypothesised that ageing could lead to decreased neuronal synchronisation in older adults, related to action word-finding difficulties in older adults. Third, we hypothesised that neuronal population-level activity in frontocentral brain regions underlying action words remains relatively preserved with age, related to preserved action word-finding abilities in older adults. The hypotheses, predictions, and experimental design were preregistered on the Open Science Framework website at https://osf.io/5qjkh.

6.3 Methods

Participants

A total of 89 participants took part in the study (44 older adults, 30 females, Mage = 67.2 SDage = 5.7; 45 younger adults, 31 females, Mage = 20.7, SDage = 2.6). All participants were right-handed, native speakers of British English. The sample size was based on a-priori power analysis using G*Power for a mixed ANCOVA with two covariates (Faul et al., 2007). A previous study investigating ITPC during cognitive performance reported large effect sizes (Papenberg et al., 2013). However, most previous literature on the relationship between ageing and ITPC or action language did not report any effect sizes. In addition, due to time and monetary resources, it was unfeasible to detect small effects. Therefore, the study was powered to detect a medium to large effect size (Cohen's f = .325). The power calculation resulted in a minimum sample size of 77 to reach a statistical sensitivity of 80% with an alpha level of .05. To account for data loss due to noise in the EEG data, we aimed to recruit up to 90 participants (45 older and 45 younger adults).

All participants had self-reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision (e.g., glasses). In addition, participants had no history of language or speech disorders (e.g., dyslexia or stuttering), no neurological disorders, such as stroke, epilepsy, current psychiatric disorders (e.g., bipolar disorder), nor current alcohol or substance use disorder (i.e., an alcohol or drug addiction). Both alcohol and drug use can affect the EEG signal (Parvaz et al., 2011; Porjesz et al., 2005). Therefore, alcohol and substance use disorders were assessed through the standardised Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT Babor et al., 1992) and the Drugs Abuse

Screening Test (DAST-10 Skinner, 1982). Participants had a score of 16 or less on the AUDIT and 2 or lower on the DAST-10. Moreover, participants were screened for depression using the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II Beck et al., 1996), and all had a score of 18 or lower. Finally, all participants had normal cognitive functioning (i.e., a score of 24 or higher), as was assessed with the Mini-Mental-State Examination (MMSE Folstein et al., 1975). The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Science and Technology of Lancaster University.

Experimental Task and Procedure

Participants provided digital consent and completed the AUDIT, DAST-10, and BDI-II online via the Qualtrics XM Platform (Qualtrics, Provo, UT) before coming to the lab. In the lab, participants signed a consent form and completed the MMSE. Next, pure tone audiometry was used to assess hearing status across octave frequencies .25-8 kHz in accordance with British Society of Audiology procedures (British Society of Audiology, 2018). Next, the EEG was set up and eyes-closed resting-state EEG was recorded for 3 minutes to obtain the Individual Alpha Peak Frequency (IAPF). Studies have consistently shown that neurophysiological rhythms slow with ageing and that including conventional frequency bands can introduce a bias against older adults (Chiang et al., 2011; Scally et al., 2018). Therefore, the EEG spectral boundaries were determined using the IAPF. Following the resting state recording, the participant completed a lexical decision task while continuous EEG was recorded. The task was presented on a Linux computer, using GNU Octave (Eaton et al., 2020) and Psychoolbox-3 (Brainard, 1997; Kleiner et al., 2007) to present the stimuli. To reduce temporal jitter and uncertainty (e.g., that in monitor display rates), for which ITPC is sensitive, we used a computer monitor with a 144Hz refresh rate (Cohen, 2014; van Diepen & Mazaheri, 2018).

The procedure of the lexical decision task was as follows (see also Figure ??): First, the participant saw a blank screen with a random interval between 1000 and

1500ms, after which a fixation cross was presented, randomly varying between 500 and 750ms, followed by another blank screen of 200ms. Next, a word was presented for a maximum of 2000ms (i.e., timeout) or until the participant responded by pressing a button on a button response box. The experiment consisted of 400 trials, split into three conditions (200 pseudowords, 100 high-action words, and 100 low-action words). The high-action words described hand/arm- and foot/legrelated physical action whilst the low-action words described non-upper- and lowerlimb actions and abstract concepts (e.g., "luck"). Four different experimental lists were created, with pseudorandomised word order, counterbalanced across participants and age groups. Each condition was presented a maximum of two times consecutively, to control for priming effects. Each list had eight blocks, with self-paced breaks between blocks, and each condition was proportionally distributed across blocks. Three attention checks were implemented within each block, during which the participant had to indicate whether a picture matched a previously seen word, by pressing a key ("y" for yes and "n" for no). The attention checks also ensured participants processed the words beyond simple word recognition. Finally, each block started with a 1-minute open-eves resting state condition during which participants were instructed to fixate on a fixation cross. Participants were presented with 5 practice trials, with a fixation cross of a fixed duration of 750ms, before starting with the real experiment.

For the high- and low-action conditions, real words were selected using the *LexOPS* package (Taylor et al., 2020) in R. The two conditions were matched for number of characters, number of syllables, word frequency, bigram frequency (all using SUBTLEX-UK; van Heuven et al., 2014), orthographic neighbourhood size (Coltheart et al., 2022), familiarity, age of acquisition (both using Glasgow Norms; Scott et al., 2019), and English Lexicon Project accuracy (Balota et al., 2007). Both conditions consisted of both nouns (high-action: N=65; low-action: N=74) and verbs (high-action: N=35; low-action: N=26) and were matched for grammatical class. Words did not match for imageability or concreteness (Glasgow Norms;



Figure 6.1. Procedure of the lexical decision tasks. The interval for the first blank screen and the fixation cross was at random. The real or pseudoword was presented for a maximum 2000ms or until the participant pressed a button on the button box. The attention checks only appeared three times per block.

Scott et al., 2019) because upper- and lower-limb-related high-action words are generally more concrete than low-action words (Banks & Connell, 2022). In addition, imageability ratings can be explained by other lexical factors (e.g., frequency) and sensorimotor information (e.g., relatedness to hand/arm actions; Dymarska et al., 2023), which were factors accounted for in this study. Pseudowords were created using the pseudoword generator software Wuggy (Keuleers & Brysbaert, 2010), which matches the subsyllabic structure of the real words. The Wuggy algorithm created 5 possible pseudowords for each real word, matching for letter length, transition frequencies, and 2/3 of syllables of the pseudoword were matched to the syllables of the real word. We manually selected one pseudoword for each real word, avoiding the inclusion of any pseudo homophones (i.e., non-existing words that sound like a real word).

EEG Recording and Pre-Processing

Electroencephalography data were recorded using the 32-channel BioSemi ActiveTwo system (Biosemi, Amsterdam). The Ag-AgCl electrodes were positioned according to the international 10-20 system and the electrode placement was consistent across all participants to maintain data standardisation. Data were acquired at a 2048Hz sampling rate, digitised with a 24-bit A/D converter, and a DC high-pass and a 417Hz low-pass filter. BioSemi utilises a reference-free approach using a common mode sense (CMS) active electrode and a driven right leg (DRL) circuit. Electrode impedances were kept below $20k\Omega$.

Data were pre-processed using MATLAB R2022b (MathWorks) and Fieldtrip (Oostenveld et al., 2010). To clean the continuous downsampled EEG data, we used the pre-processing pipeline 'Reduction of Electroencephalographic Artifacts' (RELAX; Bailey, Biabani, et al., 2023; Bailey, Hill, et al., 2023), utilising Fieldtrip and EEGLAB (Delorme & Makeig, 2004). A notch filter (50Hz) to remove line noise and a 0.25-80Hz Butterworth bandpass filter were applied, after which the data were downsampled to 1000Hz. Noisy channels and EEG periods that exhibited exceptionally high or low values, indicating extreme outliers, were identified and removed via the PREP pipeline algorithm (Bigdely-Shamlo et al., 2015). The mean proportion of the EEG data removed due to noisy channels was 0.12 (SD = 0.06), leaving an average of 28 channels (SD = 2). The mean proportion of extreme EEG periods removed was 0.17 (SD = 0.14). Next, the data were re-referenced to the robust average reference before detecting any remaining artifacts through Independent Component Analysis (ICA) with the FastICA algorithm (Hyvarinen, 1999) and reducing artifacts identified by ICLabel (Pion-Tonachini et al., 2019) using Wavelet Enhanced ICA (Castellanos & Makarov, 2006). After data cleaning, excluded channels were interpolated using spherical spline (Delorme & Makeig, 2004).

The cleaned EEG data were segmented into high-action and low-action trials with a baseline correction of -200ms to 0ms pre-stimulus onset. Only epochs for correct trials for real words were included in the analysis. On average, the number of epochs for each of the two conditions (high- vs. low-action words) was as follows for the younger adult group: high-action M(SD) = 74.8(16.0); low-action M(SD) = 73.6(17.5); and for the older adult group: high-action M(SD) = 76.0(16.3); low-action M(SD) = 72.9(19.2). There were no group differences in the number of epochs for the high-action (t(85) = 0.23, p = .814, nor for the low-action condition (t(85) = -0.10, p = .918).

EEG Time-Frequency Analysis

After cleaning the data, time-frequency analyses were performed on the real words of correct trials per condition (i.e., high vs. low action) and per frequency band. Using conventional frequency bands can cause a bias against older adults due to age-related oscillatory slowing (Babiloni et al., 2020; Chiang et al., 2011; Scally et al., 2018). To control for individual and age-related differences in oscillations, we defined the spectral boundaries using the IAPF obtained during a 3-minute eyesclosed resting-state condition at the beginning of the experiment: delta as IAPF -8 to -6 Hz, theta as IAPF -6 to -4 Hz, alpha as IAPF -4 to +2 Hz, and beta as IAPF +2 to 30 Hz (Babiloni et al., 2020; Henelius et al., 2011; Klimesch, 1999). Mean IAPF for the older adults was 10.1 Hz (SD = 0.9 Hz) and 9.4 Hz (SD = 1.0 Hz) for the younger adults.

Fieldtrip was used to compute the Fourier spectra for each frequency band (with 0.01Hz intervals) using Morlet wavelet convolution (2 – 7 cycles), using Hanning window tapering. Within a fixed window of time of 250ms to 500ms, with a step size of 0.01 seconds, Inter-Trial Phase Coherence (ITPC) and power were computed for the frontocentral region (electrodes C3, C4, Cz, FC1, FC2) and, for the exploratory analysis, over the temporo-occipital region (electrodes PO7, O1, Pz, O2, PO8). ITPC measures the synchrony between phases (i.e., the consistency between phases) that are time-locked to specific events or stimuli (Delorme & Makeig, 2004). The phase consistency obtained through ITPC has been suggested to reflect the synchronisation of neuronal activity across neuronal populations (Cohen, 2014). Lastly, for the same time window, we computed power per frequency band for the frontocentral region, after which time-frequency power was baseline normalised (-

300 to -50ms), standardised in decibels (dB) using log-transformation, and averaged across trials.

Statistical Analysis

The average ERPs time-locked to the stimuli over the frontocentral brain region were computed per participant and condition using the Fieldtrip Toolbox. Next, the grand average ERP was computed per condition, collapsing the two age groups. Using the Statistics and Machine Learning Toolbox in Matlab, a paired *t*-test was conducted to replicate the N400 amplitude difference between the High Action and Low Action conditions within the N400 time window (250-500ms; Kutas & Federmeier, 2000).

The behavioural and ITPC data were analysed in R (RStudio Team, 2020) using a 2x2 mixed analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with fixed, main, and interaction effects. The outcome variable was the peak ITPC for high-action words minus peak ITPC for low-action words (continuous variable), with the predictors Age Group (younger vs. older) and Frequency Band (mu vs. beta), which were both sumcontrasted. Only correct trials were included in the computation of peak ITPC. To account for differences in the number of epochs, peak ITPC was transformed using Rayleigh's Z: peak ITPC $Z = n^* \text{ITPC}^2$, where n was the number of epochs.

Because hearing loss affects a wide network of brain regions underlying language processing, including frontal brain regions (Peelle et al., 2011), hearing status was included as a covariate. Moreover, because alcohol use can affect neuronal processes (Porjesz et al., 2005), the AUDIT score was also included as a covariate to account for potentially confounding effects. Finally, log-ratio power for both frequency bands was calculated between the high-action and low-action conditions and was added as a covariate to control for potential power-induced ITPC differences between the two conditions (Bonnefond & Jensen, 2012; van Diepen & Mazaheri, 2018). All covariates were centred and scaled. For significant two-way interactions, simple main effect analyses were conducted using the *emmeans* package (Lenth, 2021), including simple pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment to correct for multiple comparisons (Abdi, 2007). Effect sizes for the pairwise comparisons were computed using the "eff_size" function of the *emmeans* package.

To investigate the relationship between age-related changes in ITPC and actionword finding ability (hypotheses 2 and 3), we conducted a multiple linear regression analysis. The outcome variable was reaction time, which was log-transformed to obtain normality. The predictors were the interaction between peak ITPC Z(scaled), Age Group, and Frequency Band. The covariates hearing status, AUDIT, and log ratio power were scaled as in the ANCOVA. Interactions were further explored by investigating the coefficients, plotting the predicted means, and pairwise comparisons using the *emmeans* package in R.

Deviations from Preregistration

Because ITPC values are influenced by epoch count, we preregistered that only EEG data with at least 60 epochs per condition would be included in the analysis. However, because this would lead to a high rate of data loss, we made this criterion less stringent and included data with at least 40 epochs per condition available. According to Cohen (2014), ITPC values become relatively stable after as few as 20 epochs but the ITPC values only become significant around 40-45 epochs. Making the epoch criterion less stringent helped in maintaining most of the EEG data. To further reduce the loss of data, we imputed missing IAPF values by taking the mean per age group. In the preregistration, we mentioned that we would exclude data of participants with missing IAPF values, but this would mean that we had to exclude 9 participants, reducing the power of our study.

Our second and third hypotheses explored the relationship between age-related changes in ITPC underlying action-word finding and its relationship with actionword finding abilities. Although the hypotheses were preregistered, the statistical analysis to investigate the relationship between action-word finding and age-related changes in ITPC had not been preregistered. To investigate this relationship, a multiple linear regression model was conducted with the predictor variables being similar to the ones in the ANCOVA, including the same covariates. Multiple comparisons will be accounted for by a Bonferroni correction.

6.4 Results

Descriptives

Data from 41 older adults (27 females) and 45 younger adults (31 females) were included in the analysis. One older adult was excluded due to a missing text file with the lexical decision data, and one younger and two older adults were excluded due to noisy EEG data, leaving a total sample size of 86. The means and standard deviations for accuracy and reaction times (only correct trials) for the lexical decision task can be found in Table 6.1. Hearing status was calculated by averaging hearing thresholds over 250Hz, 500Hz, 1000Hz, 2000Hz, and 4000Hz, over both ears (see Figure ??; British Society of Audiology, 2018). Older adults had a mean hearing threshold of 20.4dB (SD = 7.6dB, range 4.5dB – 40dB) and younger adults had a mean hearing threshold of 5.2dB (SD = 3.3dB, range -1dB – 14dB). Mean AUDIT scores were 3.9 for older adults (SD = 2.8, range 0 – 10) and 4.0 for younger adults (SD = 3.4, range 0 – 11).

Table 6.1. Mean Accuracy and Reaction Times (RT) Scores (SD between brackets) on the Lexical Decision Task per Age Group and Condition

Age Group	Condition	Accuracy	RT
Older	High Action	1.00 (0.11)	710.32 (169.22)
	Low Action	0.99~(0.12)	$721.11 \ (184.35)$
	Pseudowords	$1.00 \ (0.21)$	$845.46\ (243.70)$
Younger	High Action	0.99~(0.16)	$631.51 \ (186.70)$
	Low Action	0.98~(0.17)	$639.23\ (192.33)$
	Pseudowords	$0.98 \ (0.25)$	745.09 (224.82)

Note. The reaction times were only computed for correct trials



Figure 6.2. Audiogram of the average hearing thresholds (in dB) per frequency level, ear, and age group. The covariate for hearing status was created by averaging over 250 - 4000 Hz. The error bars represent +/-1SD from the mean.

The ITPC index was computed by subtracting the peak ITPC for low-action words from the peak ITPC for high-action words. That is, negative values reflect a higher peak ITPC for low-action than high-action words, whilst positive values reflect a higher peak ITPC for high-action compared to low-action words (see Figure ??). Table 6.2 presents the peak ITPC values, average power, and normalised power per age group, frequency band, and condition.

No N400 Difference Between Conditions

The first aim of this study was to replicate the N400 amplitude difference between the High Action and Low Action conditions (see Figure 6.4). A paired *t*-test did not reveal a statistically significant difference between the High Action and Low Action condition (t(86) = -0.02, p = .987).

		Older		Younger	
		High-Action	Low-Action	High-Action	Low-Action
Mu	Peak ITPC	$0.71 \ (0.16)$	0.70(0.16)	0.62(0.14)	0.62(0.16)
	Peak ITPC ${\cal Z}$	38.66 (17.44)	35.55(16.71)	30.57 (13.34)	30.07 (14.64)
	Average Power	7.46 (4.01)	7.56 (4.01)	9.40 (6.71)	9.40 (6.80)
	Normalised Power (dB)	1.16 (1.18)	1.22 (1.19)	1.63(0.94)	$1.61 \ (0.93)$
Beta	Peak ITPC	0.53(0.14)	0.53(0.13)	$0.50 \ (0.15)$	$0.01 \ (0.15)$
	Peak ITPC Z	22.29 (13.08)	21.30 (12.33)	19.62 (10.82)	19.54 (12.26)
	Average Power	2.72(1.65)	2.77(1.70)	2.49(1.93)	2.50 (1.94)
	Normalised Power (dB)	-0.23(0.65)	-0.18 (0.60)	0.75(0.38)	0.77(0.41)

Table 6.2. Peak ITPC and Power of the Frontocentral Region of the Mu and BetaFrequency Band Per Age Group and Task Condition



Figure 6.3. The mean ITPC index per Age Group and Frequency Band. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between peak ITPC Z of the High Action and Low Action condition. Positive values indicate that the peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition.

Results of the ANCOVA

An ANCOVA was conducted to examine the effects of Age Group (younger vs. older) and Frequency Band (mu vs. beta) on the ITPC index, whilst controlling for hearing status, AUDIT scores, and log-ratio power (refer to Table C.1 for the full results table). Results revealed significant main effects for Age Group (F(1, 85) = 1250.15, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.14) and Frequency Band (F(1, 85) = 547.44, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.09). That is, the ITPC index differed between younger and older adults, and between the mu and beta frequency bands Finally, the interaction between Age Group and Frequency Band was significant (F(1, 85) = 432.28, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.08; see Figure 6.5). That is, the relationship between Age Group and ITPC index varied depending on Frequency



Figure 6.4. The ERPs 0ms to 600ms post-stimulus onset per age group and per condition. The highlighted area indicates the time window that was used to compute the N400.

Band.

The significant two-way interaction was further investigated using pairwise comparisons. For the mu frequency band, there was a significant difference in estimated marginal means (i.e., covariate-adjusted means) between younger adults (M = 0.228, SE = 0.057) and older adults (M = 3.240, SE = 0.059; t(85) = -32.19, adjusted p < .001). The effect size was Cohen's d = -0.48 (95% CI [-0.51, -0.45]). That is, older adults showed a significantly higher ITPC index in the mu band than younger adults. In the beta frequency band, there also was a difference in estimated marginal means for younger adults (M = 0.110, SE = 0.057) compared to older adults (M = 1.086, SE = 0.060; t(85) = -10.28, adjusted <math>p < .001). The effect size for the comparison between younger and older adults in the beta frequency band was Cohen's d = -0.16 (95% CI [-0.19, -0.13]). That is, older adults had a significantly higher ITPC index in the beta band than younger adults.

Hearing status was a significant covariate for the ITPC index (F(1, 85) = 21.06,



Figure 6.5. The interaction effect between Age Group and Frequency Band. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between the ITPC of the High Action and Low Action conditions. Positive values indicate that the peak ITPC for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition. The bars represent the 95% Confidence Intervals.

adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.02), indicating an effect of hearing status on the ITPC index (see Figure 6.6). Log-ratio power and AUDIT score were also significant covariates for the ITPC index (F(1, 85) = 42.90, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.03 and F(1, 85) = 244.88, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.06, respectively).

Relationship Between Phase Coherence and Action-Word Finding

Multiple linear regression was performed to test the hypothesis that ageing leads to desynchronisation of neuronal population-level activity (i.e., lower peak ITPC values) associated with action language. As an alternative hypothesis, we stated that neuronal population-level activity in frontocentral brain regions during action language comprehension remains relatively preserved with age and is related to



Figure 6.6. The relationship between hearing status and ITPC index per age group and for the mu and beta band separately. Positive values indicate that the ITPC for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition. Hearing thresholds at or below 20dB reflect normal hearing.

preserved action word-finding abilities in older age. The outcome variable was logtransformed reaction time, with peak ITPC Z, Frequency Band, and Age Group as predictors, whilst controlling for hearing status, AUDIT scores, and log-ratio power. A Bonferroni correction was applied to account for multiple comparisons. Please, refer to Table 6.1 and Table C.2 for the full results of the analysis.

The results of the linear regression analysis indicated that the predictors explained 15.1% of the variance $(R^2=.15, F(10, 15511)= 275.4, p < .001)$. Age Group and peak ITPC were both significant predictors of action language comprehension (respectively, $\beta = -0.026, t(7755) = -23.48$, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.37 and $\beta = -0.018, t(7755) = -23.17$, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.13). That is, younger adults had faster reaction times than older adults and higher values of peak ITPC values were associated with faster reaction times. In addition, hearing status was a significant predictor of the reaction time for action words ($\beta = 0.007$, t(7755) = 6.30, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.06). The analysis also revealed significant two-way interactions between peak ITPC and Age Group ($\beta = 0.003$, t(7755) = 3.87, adjusted p = .001, Cohen's f = 0.02) and a three-way interaction between peak ITPC, Age Group, and Frequency Band (see Figure 6.7; $\beta = 0.003$, t(7755) = 3.82, adjusted p = .001, Cohen's f = 0.03).



Figure 6.7. The relationship between peak ITPC Z and Reaction Times per age group and frequency band. Higher peak ITPC Z values represent stronger phase coherence.

The significant two-way interactions were further investigated using pairwise comparisons. For the mu frequency band, there was a significant difference in estimated marginal means (i.e., covariate-adjusted means) between younger adults (M = 2.78, SE = 0.002) and older adults (M = 2.83, SE = 0.002; t(15511) =-22.14, adjusted p < .001). The effect size for the comparison between younger and older adults in the mu frequency band was Cohen's d = -0.75 (95% CI [-0.82, -0.68]). There was also a significant difference in estimated marginal means in the beta band between younger adults (M = 2.77, SE = 0.002) and older adults (M = 2.81, SE = 0.002; t(15511) = -1409, adjusted p < .001). The effect size for the comparison between younger and older adults in the beta frequency band was Cohen's d = -0.58 (95% CI [-0.65, -0.52]). Pearson's correlation showed a stronger association between mu peak ITPC and reaction times in older (r = -.33) than in younger adults (r = -.11), where higher mu peak ITPC was associated with faster reaction times (see Figure 6.7). These results indicate that the combined effect of age and peak ITPC on reaction times is similar in both frequency bands. Moreover, the relationship between mu peak ITPC and reaction times is stronger and has a stronger effect in older adults compared to younger adults.

Exploratory Analysis

As per preregistration, we explored the age-related changes in ITPC underlying action word-finding in the temporo-occipital region, to investigate whether the findings of the above ANCOVA analysis were specific to the frontocentral brain region. Mean peak ITPC over the temporo-occipital region for the High-Action condition, in the mu band, was 0.71 (SD = 0.16) for older and 0.74 (SD = 0.13) for younger adults. Mean peak ITPC for the High Action condition, in the beta band, was 0.58 (SD = 0.16) for older and 0.59 (SD = 0.15) for younger adults. For the Low Action condition, mean peak ITPC, in the mu band, was 0.72 (SD = 0.14) and 0.75 (SD = 0.12) for the older and younger adults, respectively. Mean peak ITPC for the Low-Action condition, in the beta band, was 0.59 (SD = 0.14) for older and 0.60 (SD = 0.15) for younger adults. Figure 6.8 shows the distribution of the mean ITPC index, which was calculated as the difference between peak ITPC Zof the High Action and Low Action condition. For the full descriptives of the EEG measures, please refer to Table C.3.

An ANCOVA was conducted to examine the effects of Age Group (younger vs. older) and Frequency Band (mu vs. beta) on the ITPC index, with log-ratio power,



Figure 6.8. The mean ITPC index over the temporo-occipital region per Age Group and Frequency Band. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between peak ITPC Z of the High Action and Low Action conditions. Positive values indicate that the peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition.

hearing status, and AUDIT score as covariates. Here, we will only report the findings of the effects of Age Group and Frequency Band on the ITPC index (refer to Table C.4 for the full results table). To obtain normality of residuals, the ITPC index was transformed by taking the square root. Results revealed significant main effects for Age Group (F(1, 85) = 1036.92, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.19) and Frequency Band (F(1, 85) = 413.00, adjusted p < .001, Cohen's f = 0.12). That is, the ITPC index in the temporo-occipital region differed between younger and older adults, and between the mu and beta frequency bands. The interaction between Age Group and Frequency Band was not significant (F(1, 85) = 6.76, adjusted p =.056, Cohen's f = 0.02 see Figure 6.9). That is, the relationship between Age Group and ITPC index did not depend on Frequency Band

For the mu frequency band, pairwise comparisons did not show a significant



Figure 6.9. No significant interaction effect between Age Group and Frequency Band for the Temporo-Occipital Area. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between the ITPC of the High Action and Low Action conditions. Positive values indicate that the ITPC for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition. The bars represent the 95% Confidence Intervals.

difference in estimated marginal means (i.e., covariate-adjusted means) between younger adults (M = 2.33, SE = 0.022) and older adults (M = 2.29, SE = 0.016; t(85) = 1.41, adjusted p = .159). In the beta frequency band, pairwise comparisons revealed a difference in estimated marginal mean for younger adults (M = 1.73, SE = 0.022) compared to older adults (M = 2.20, SE = 0.020; t(85) = -13.50, adjusted p < .001). The effect size for the comparison between younger and older adults in the beta frequency band was Cohen's d = -0.54 (95% CI [-0.62, -0.46]). That is, older adults had a significantly higher ITPC index in the beta band than younger adults.

6.5 Discussion

It is currently unclear whether age affects action word-finding ability and whether action features facilitate word retrieval in older adults. Therefore, the current study aimed 1) to replicate the N400 amplitude difference between the high- and lowaction words. However, no N400 amplitude difference was found. 2) We also aimed to investigate age-related differences in phase coherence (ITPC) underlying actionword comprehension. We hypothesised an association between neuronal populationlevel frontocentral brain activity and action words in younger and older adults, predicting a higher ITPC index in the mu but not the beta band during action-word comprehension. The results partially supported this, revealing a higher ITPC index in older compared to younger adults, but in both the mu and beta bands.

Given the uncertainty regarding the impact of age on neuronal population activity underlying action word-finding, we proposed two contrasting hypotheses regarding action word-finding performance. On the one hand, we hypothesised agerelated phase desynchronisation underlying action words, predicting a decreased relationship between peak ITPC and action word-finding abilities in older compared to younger adults. On the other hand, we hypothesised preserved phase synchronisation, predicting a preserved relationship between peak ITPC and actionword finding in older and younger adults. Partially supporting the latter hypothesis, the results revealed a positive relationship between peak ITPC and actionword finding in both age groups in both frequency bands, but this relationship was stronger in older than in younger adults.

No Effect of Action Words on N400

Our study did not reveal an N400 amplitude difference between high- and low-action words. This is not in line with a previous study, which observed more positive N400 potentials for action compared to non-action words (Zhao et al., 2017). In the current study, we did not differentiate between grammatical classes but we focused on the action content. The findings by Zhao and colleagues were also independent of grammatical class, although they utilised an auditory categorisation task (disyllabic words vs. white noise). However, differences in stimuli modality between the two studies (visual vs. auditory) might not explain the lack of an N400 amplitude difference between the high- and low-action words (Kutas & Federmeier, 2011). Alternatively, the lack of an N400 amplitude difference might be because the N400 was computed for only frontocentral electrodes in this study. Different semantic features (e.g., features associated with animals vs. tools) might result in different N400 topographic and amplitude patterns (Barber et al., 2010; Sitnikova et al., 2006). In the study by Zhao et al. (2017), general actionality of nouns and verbs was related to frontocentral brain regions, whilst other studies demonstrated frontocentral N400 for animals but a posterior N400 for manipulable objects (i.e., manipulable objects with high hand/arm actionality) and high-motion verbs (Kellenbach et al., 2003; Sitnikova et al., 2006). Hence, in the current study, a high- vs. low-action N400 amplitude difference may be present over the temporooccipital instead of the frontocentral brain region.

Finally, the lack of an N400 amplitude difference compared to Zhao et al.'s study (2017) could be caused by differences in how the actionality of the words was determined. The current study utilised a normative database and focused on upper- and lower-limb actions whilst 20 participants rated the actionality of the words independent of body parts. Therefore, the non-action words in our study could still be related to non-limb-related actions and fully differentiating between action and non-action words could reveal the N400 potential differences as observed by Zhao et al. (2017). A normative database seems the preferred option as it provides more objective, normative scores for the action-relatedness of words and makes comparisons across studies feasible. However, future studies should investigate whether the action-relatedness of words is better captured using a normative database or using two distinct categorical groups (i.e., high-action vs. low-action). Although we did not demonstrate an N400 amplitude difference

between high- and low-action words, our results did demonstrate differences in phase coherence between the two conditions. Hence, phase coherence might be a more sensitive measure for the neuronal processes underlying action language. The next sections will discuss the age-related differences in phase coherence underlying action word processing.

Effects of age on the Neuronal Processes Underlying Action Language

Previous studies have offered different explanations of the link between age and action language. That is, the link between action and language may weaken in older age (Bidet-Ildei et al., 2020), or this link remains relatively preserved with age (Reifegerste et al., 2021). The current study revealed stronger frontocentral phase coherence underlying high-action words in the mu frequency band for older compared to younger adults. This finding may indicate that age might alter neuronal activity patterns. That is, neuronal population-level activity associated with action-word comprehension might change with age, which is in line with the notion of age-related differences in action-word processing proposed by Bidet-Ildei et al. (2020).

However, contradicting the idea by Bidet-Ildei et al. (2020) of a weakened agerelated action-language link, this study demonstrated increased mu phase coherence for action versus object words in older compared to younger adults, suggesting a stronger link between action and language in older age. Indeed, we demonstrated a stronger relationship between peak ITPC and action-word finding in older compared to younger adults. This finding suggests that the neuronal networks and brain regions underlying action language might still be engaged and effective in older adults, similar to the observations of Reifegerste et al. (2021) and opposing the idea of a decreased link between action and language (Bidet-Ildei et al., 2020).

Phase Coherence as a Compensatory Mechanism

Increased mu phase coherence may also reflect a compensatory mechanism on the neuronal level, in line with phase coherence findings in stroke patients (Gyulai et al., 2021). Increased phase coherence in frontocentral brain regions was stronger during action-word comprehension in older than in younger adults, which may indicate a compensatory strengthening of the link between sensorimotor information and action-word finding in older adults. Akinina et al. (2019) previously proposed that frontocentral brain regions involved in actions might facilitate word-finding. The recruitment of these brain areas might be necessary to maintain action wordfinding when faced with age-related brain deterioration, in line with the notion of brain plasticity or reorganisation. Previous studies have found increased phase coherence during a motor task after stroke, which was related to motor performance (Gyulai et al., 2021). Hence, age-related structural brain changes might induce the reorganisation of neuronal networks to maintain action word-finding, reflected by increased mu phase coherence in frontocentral brain regions. Future studies could implement a measure of brain deterioration to test whether age-related brain deterioration leads to increases in phase coherence as a mechanism of compensation.

Several theories of cognitive ageing have also proposed neuronal reorganisation following age-related brain deterioration (see Oosterhuis et al., 2022). One such theory proposes a posterior-to-anterior shift in ageing (PASA) to maintain cognitive functioning in older age (Davis et al., 2008). Greater ITPC index in the frontocentral brain region in older compared to younger adults might reflect a shift in phase coherence from posterior to anterior regions. To explore this idea further, we investigated whether younger and older adults would differ in ITPC index over posterior regions. Notably, younger and older adults did not differ in mu ITPC index over the posterior brain regions, indicating that the increased phase coherence in anterior brain regions is not necessarily the result of a neuronal shift. Instead, neuronal processes in anterior brain regions might reflect oscillatory synchronisation within the sensorimotor regions proposed by Akinina et al. (2019) to facilitate actionword finding in older age. Hence, increased frontocentral mu phase coherence in older adults might be a form of neuroplasticity through the stronger involvement of sensorimotor brain regions to support action word-finding ability.

Older adults may potentially benefit more from stronger frontocentral phase coherence during action-word finding than younger adults, independent of the frequency band. Higher peak ITPC values in older adults were related to faster reaction times, indicating that phase coherence might be important for maintaining action-word finding ability in older age. If phase coherence in frontocentral brain regions is important for maintaining action-word finding, enhancing phase coherence in low-performing older adults through, e.g., non-invasive brain stimulation might increase action-word finding. Brain stimulation at specific frequencies (such as the mu peak frequency) may increase phase coherence at that specific frequency, however, not many studies have explored this option. One study found that median nerve stimulation at 12Hz increased ITPC over the somatosensory cortex also at 12Hz, indicating that oscillatory phase can be entrained to external stimulation at the same frequency (Houlgreave et al., 2022). Using brain stimulation, it may be possible to entrain the brain to healthy oscillatory rhythms and improve cognitive functioning in older adults with sub-optimal performance (Duchet et al., 2023; Grover et al., 2021). Future research could investigate the potential of brain stimulation over individual mu peak frequencies to improve action word-finding through increased phase coherence.

Age-Related Functional Specialisation

In addition, it has been proposed that lower-frequency phase coherence might reflect age-related functional specialisation of brain regions to increase information processing, due to the stabilisation of neuronal connections (Yordanova & Kolev, 2009; Yordanova & Kolev, 1996). Instead of a compensatory mechanism or a form of age-related brain plasticity, age-related differences in phase coherence in the current study could reflect greater functional specialisation of action-word processing in older adults compared to younger adults. Moreover, it is possible that lower- but not higher-frequency phase coherence reflects functional specialisation. That is, mu but not beta phase coherence will reflect functional specialisation. However, the age-related difference in phase coherence between younger and older adults was present in both the mu and beta frequencies, although the difference was greater in mu compared to beta. Hence, both higher- and lower-frequency phase coherence might be reflective of age-related functional specialisation of action-word processing. Future studies should investigate whether such patterns are also observed in delta and theta frequencies.

Influence of Hearing Status

Hearing loss can affect a wide network of brain regions underlying language processing, including frontal brain regions (Peelle et al., 2011). Therefore, hearing status was added as a covariate in the current study. The results showed that hearing status affected phase coherence. More specifically, we revealed that lower hearing acuity was related to lower mu and beta band ITPC index in both age groups. Few studies have demonstrated that hearing loss across the lifespan is related to phase coherence. In children with hearing loss, ITPC decreased with increasing hearing loss (Nash-Kille & Sharma, 2014). In older adults, hearing loss was also associated with decreased phase coherence (Farahani et al., 2022). Hence, it is possible that changes in hearing acuity could affect the neuronal responses and synchronisation of cortical phases, and may affect cognitive functions that are (partially) dependent on phase coherence. However, the causal link between age-related hearing loss and neuronal changes is still under investigation (Slade et al., 2020).

This study adds that lower hearing acuity in both younger and older adults is related to differences in phase coherence patterns, specifically in frontocentral brain regions and the mu frequency band, underlying action, and object word-finding. Moreover, lower hearing acuity might be related to slower word-finding in older adults. Hence, phase coherence might be an important factor in hearing loss, or vice versa, across the lifespan and may be related to word-finding difficulties in people with age-related hearing loss. However, our findings on the effects of hearing loss on phase synhronisation and subsequent cognitive decline may be limited. Previous research has shown that the relationship between hearing loss and cognition could be confounded by factors, such as poor health, age-related neurodegeneration, and even cardiovascular disease (Fischer et al., 2016; Slade et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2019). Despite these potentially confounding factors, hearing loss may increase the risk of dementia slightly (Ford et al., 2018). Therefore, incorporating a measure of hearing status is important when investigating the neuronal processes underlying age-related cognitive decline. Future studies should further investigate the links between phase coherence, hearing status, and subsequent impact on word-finding ability across the lifespan whilst considering potentially confounding factors.

Limitations

Evidence indicates that ITPC can be influenced by several factors other than the cognitive measure under investigation (van Diepen & Mazaheri, 2018). Such factors include stimulus expectation, whereby ITPC can increase before the onset of a predictable stimulus. In the current study, we generated temporal uncertainty by introducing random durations of the fixation cross and blank screen throughout the experiment. This way, the participant could not predict the timing of the stimulus unconsciously. Moreover, we only investigated ITPC values within a fixed time window of 250ms to 500ms, removing pre- and early-stimulus ITPC. Another factor that can greatly influence ITPC is differences in oscillatory power, which can lead to significant differences in ITPC between conditions (van Diepen & Mazaheri, 2018). To account for power differences, oscillatory power was included as a covariate in our analyses. ITPC can also be influenced by both temporal jitter and the number of trials (Cohen, 2014). Therefore, we used a computer screen with a very high refresh rate (144Hz) to reduce temporal jitter. We also only included EEG data with 40 or more epochs available per condition per participant and transformed the

peak ITPC using Rayleigh's Z (Cohen, 2014).

Furthermore, we chose to use the log ratio power between the mu and beta bands to account for individual differences in scalp thickness and electrode impedance (Moreno et al., 2013; Pineda & Oberman, 2006). Finally, mu rhythms can be contaminated by the occipital visual alpha rhythms (Hobson & Bishop, 2016, 2017). To address this issue, our region of interest was set to the frontocentral brain regions as alpha rhythms are more related to posterior brain regions while mu is generated by anterior sensorimotor regions (Fox et al., 2016; Hari et al., 1997). In addition, because mu and alpha signal peak at the same frequencies, we also investigated ITPC values computed from the beta band frequency (Fox et al., 2016). Because of the potential confounding effects of a multitude of other factors on ITPC and mu brain rhythms, it is important that future studies account for these influencing factors and run replication studies to confirm previous findings.

The age-related difference observed in the present study might not be driven by action-related language and other cognitive functions; for example, attentional processes might have played a role. Although this is a possibility, we found that frontocentral brain regions elicited stronger mu phase coherence during the highaction compared to the low-action condition in older adults, as reflected by a positive ITPC index. However, high-action words may also be more difficult to process than low-action words due to different cognitive processes involved, especially in older adults (Oosterhuis et al., 2023; Szekely et al., 2005). Increased cognitive effort might consequently require the recruitment of more cognitive resources such as attentional and working memory resources (Grady, 2012). Although we cannot exclude the possibility that the greater ITPC index in older adults reflected successful recruitment of additional cognitive resources, our findings provide evidence for the importance of mu phase coherence in frontocentral brain regions for fast action-word finding ability with increasing age. Future studies should explore the importance of frontocentral mu phase coherence for the successful recruitment of additional cognitive resources in older adults.

Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate age-related differences in ITPC underlying action word-finding. The results showed that older adults exhibited higher mu phase coherence than younger adults for action words compared to object words. Higher frontocentral mu and beta phase coherence predicted faster reaction times in both younger and older adults, but this relationship in the mu band appeared to be stronger in older adults with stronger correlations in older compared to younger adults. Furthermore, younger and older adults did not differ in mu ITPC index over the posterior brain region. Hence, healthy ageing might be associated with increased mu phase coherence in anterior brain regions to support complex cognitive functions, such as action word processing. Involvement of motor-related brain regions may also support action word-finding in older adults. Finally, because the covariate hearing acuity significantly predicted phase coherence in this study, hearing acuity might be an important factor in phase coherence underlying successful action word-finding ability. Hence, future studies investigating neuronal and/or language processes should ideally incorporate a measure of hearing status.

Chapter 7

General Discussion and Conclusions

7.1 General Thesis Overview

While some individuals manage to reach an advanced age (Beker et al., 2021), others may develop dementia, with over 50 million people living with dementia worldwide (Alzheimer's Disease International et al., 2020). It has become increasingly clear that research needs to consider individual ageing trajectories, as lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences throughout the lifespan can modify the risk for dementia (Livingston et al., 2020). Therefore, this thesis aimed to investigate the neurobiological and lifestyle contributions to healthy cognitive ageing. Because older adults recognise word-finding difficulties as one of the most prominent problems with ageing, this thesis specifically focused on word-finding ability. We explored both lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences as well as neural coherence patterns underlying word-finding ability across the lifespan.

With regard to lifestyle contributions to general cognitive ageing, Chapter 2 discussed two prominent cognitive ageing accounts, namely STAC-r (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014) and CR (Stern et al., 2020), and evaluated which aspects of cognitive ageing are best explained by either STAC-r or CR. Both theories stress the importance of a healthy lifestyle to mitigate age-related decline. However, CR is unclear about what lifestyle factors and lifetime experiences should be used

to measure CR levels and whether CR can be accumulated across the lifespan. These literature gaps were further addressed in research Chapters 3 and 4, which investigated the effects of CR on word-finding ability in healthy younger, middleaged, and older adults, and in individuals with PD. Furthermore, both STAC-r and CR recognise the influence of brain function to maintain cognitive performance in older age, for example, through increased brain activity or increased efficiency and flexibility of functional brain networks (Chapter 2). However, the interplay between brain function and word-finding ability, and how this interplay changes with age is currently unclear. Therefore, Chapters 5 and 6 investigated the relationship between brain function and word-finding ability in younger and older adults through EEG functional connectivity and time-frequency analyses.

Finally, many words describe either objects or actions, each engaging distinct neural mechanisms (Mätzig et al., 2009; Moseley & Pulvermüller, 2014; Vigliocco et al., 2011). Specifically, the brain's motor regions are activated during action wordfinding (Akinina et al., 2019). It remains unclear whether individuals experience age-related difficulties in either object or action word-finding or both. Chapters 3 and 4 investigated the impact of lifestyle on word-finding, separately addressing object and action words, across the lifespan and in PD.

Furthermore, both verbs and nouns possess action-related features (Kellenbach et al., 2003), which can be quantified through actionality ratings, indicating to what extent a word is associated with human bodily actions. However, previous studies often implemented dichotomous categories, such as high- versus low-action words, without considering specific body parts involved in physical actions. As a result, it remains unclear whether age-related action word-finding difficulties depend on the body parts involved, whether a relationship between age and action wordfinding difficulties depends on the actionality ratings of the words, and whether such a relationship is related to physical motor ability. Therefore, Chapters 4 and 6 further investigated the relationship between upper-limb actionality of words and word-finding ability in the context of healthy ageing and PD. Given the challenges that individuals with PD face in terms of bodily movement, 4 also investigated the relationship between upper-limb motor abilities and word-finding difficulties of words that describe upper-limb movements in individuals with and without PD.

In the next sections, this discussion chapter will provide a summary of the main findings for each of the empirical chapters, after which we will discuss these main findings and their implications using the following themes: lifestyle contributions to word-finding ability across the lifespan, neurobiological contributions to wordfinding ability across the lifespan, and action language and its relationship to ageing. Finally, the limitations and future directions of this thesis will be discussed.

7.2 Lifestyle Contributions to Word-Finding Ability Across the Lifespan

Summary of Main Findings

In Chapter 3, we examined the effects of CR on word-finding by investigating how CR affects age-related declines in word-finding ability, whilst also differentiating between object and action language. The study showed that age affected wordfinding ability and middle-aged adults with higher CR scores achieved greater object and action naming accuracy. In older adults, we did not find a relationship between higher CR scores and better word-finding ability. Chapter 4 discussed word-finding ability in a population with a neurodegenerative disease, namely PD, and whether CR mediates action word-finding ability. We demonstrated that CR was not related to greater word-finding ability in older adults or in individuals with PD.

Cognitive Reserve in Healthy Ageing

The review Chapter 2 highlighted the abundance of research studies showing that positive lifestyle factors, such as education and engaging in a variety of activities, are crucial contributors to maintaining cognitive ability in older age. In Chapters 3 and 4, we included several lifestyle factors to create a comprehensive measure of CR. This included early-life CR through years of education, midlife CR through occupational attainment, and late-life/current CR through a general activities questionnaire, capturing leisure, cognitive, and physical activities. However, neither Chapter 3 nor Chapter 4 provided evidence of CR as a contributing factor for maintaining word-finding ability in older adults. In contrast, middle-aged adults did seem to benefit from greater CR scores during the word-finding ability tasks. Hence, CR may mediate word-finding difficulties in middle-aged but not in older adults.

One of the outstanding questions discussed in Chapter 2 was whether CR is a resource that can be built throughout the life span (Grotz et al., 2017), or whether CR can only be acquired before a certain age (Chan et al., 2018). The results of this thesis seem to be in favour of the latter idea that CR must be built before entering into older age. That is, engaging in a variety of different activities after the age of 60 might not contribute to greater CR that would facilitate word-finding ability. In middle-aged adults, current CR through engaging in activities was measured before the age of 60, whilst for older adults, current CR was measured after the age of 60. It is possible that if we had measured the engagement of activities throughout the lifespan in older adults, CR could have been a significant predictor of word-finding ability in older adults as well. However, methodological problems arise when asking older adults about the frequency of activities they participated in during early and mid-life as these activities can be forgotten or under-/overestimated.

Cognitive Reserve in Parkinson's Disease

CR has been hypothesised to decrease the impact of dementia-related diseases, such as PD, on cognition (Stern, 2009; Stern et al., 2020). Previous research has shown better cognition, including word-finding ability, in individuals with PD with high CR (e.g., Ciccarelli et al., 2018; Hindle et al., 2016). The study in Chapter 4 was the first to investigate the effects of CR on action word-finding ability in individuals with PD. The findings of this study, however, did not support the role of CR in maintaining word-finding ability in individuals with PD. The participants in this study were all older adults and it is possible that engaging in activities later in life does not enable individuals with PD to compensate for their word-finding difficulties as was discussed in Section 7.2.

In addition, the impact of CR on cognition may differ between individuals with PD and healthy ageing, with CR positively influencing semantic fluency in healthy older adults but not in PD (Rouillard et al., 2017). Indeed, Hindle et al. (2016) and Guzzetti et al. (2019) revealed no effect of education, occupational attainment, or engagement in leisure activities on verbal fluency and language tasks in individuals with PD. However, these two studies had not included a healthy ageing group, so no conclusions could be made as to whether these findings are specific to PD or would also been observed in healthy older adults. Moreover, Chapters 3 and 4 together failed to show a relationship between CR and semantic fluency in both individuals with PD and healthy older adults. That is, this thesis did not reveal a different pattern of CR contributions between healthy older adults and individuals with PD. Hence, this thesis adds to the literature that a comprehensive measure of CR does not seem to predict word-finding ability in either individuals with PD or healthy older adults.

Implications

A shortcoming of CR theory is that it is currently unclear as to what lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences would help build CR and whether different proxies weigh equally (Borgeest et al., 2020; Oosterhuis et al., 2022). For example, education might be a stronger predictor than leisure activities for late-life cognition. In more general terms, there is currently no consensus as to what lifestyle choices are of importance in maintaining cognitive ability into older age. STAC-r argues for the inclusion of adverse factors when investigating the factors involved in cognitive ageing (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Hence, a consensus is of paramount importance to disentangle what lifestyle choices counteract age-related cognitive decline and to what extent. This thesis attempted to create a comprehensive measure of CR, covering earlylife, midlife, and late-life lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences. Consequently, this thesis adds to the literature that a comprehensive measure, where the different CR proxies (e.g., years of education) are equally weighted in importance, does not predict word-finding ability in either older adults or individuals with PD. However, this comprehensive CR could predict cognitive performance in middle-aged adults. Future studies investigating the effect of CR, or lifestyle choices in general, on cognition should include a middle-aged group to confirm the findings of this thesis.

Moreover, the findings in Chapters 3 and 4 imply that positive lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences may be important before we are 60 years old. It is likely that brain deterioration, either due to normal ageing processes or in the case of neurodegenerative diseases, starts before the symptoms of cognitive decline. This would mean that healthy lifestyle choices and lifetime experiences should be implemented from a very young age. For example, engaging in physical activity during the teenage years might benefit cognition in older age more strongly than engaging in physical activity at an older age (Reas, Laughlin, Bergstrom, Kritz-Silverstein, & McEvoy, 2019; Reas, Laughlin, Bergstrom, Kritz-Silverstein, Richard, et al., 2019). However, relying on participants to recall their frequency of engagement in activities from over 40 years ago may not offer a suitable and objective measure.

Considering the way CR may be established prior the age of 60, it becomes imperative to mitigate dementia risk through positive lifestyle choices from a younger age. Therefore, this thesis holds significant implications for education and policies. Firstly, education should promote healthy lifestyle choices, including engaging in a diverse range of activities, to children, adolescents, and parents/caregivers. Secondly, policies to improve public health and decrease the rising numbers of dementia cases should be aimed at younger adults and stress the importance of early life choices for later life. Lastly, attending higher education seems to be an important factor in healthy cognitive ageing (see Oosterhuis et al., 2022). Therefore, attending higher education could be made more accessible and should be promoted in both younger and middle-aged adults.

As STAC-r highlights, cognitive ageing is the result of complex interactions of different factors, including overall brain status (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Therefore, neurobiological factors might be a stronger contributing factor to agerelated word-finding difficulties. Hence, the next sections will discuss what the thesis adds to the current literature on the neurobiological contributions of agerelated word-finding difficulties.

7.3 Neurobiological Contributions to Word-Finding Ability Across the Lifespan

Summary of Main Findings

We investigated the neurobiological contributions to word-finding by investigating a neurodegenerative disease, namely PD, and by focusing on neuronal phase coherence measured through EEG. Including a clinical population with a neurodegenerative disease, Chapter 4 revealed a positive relationship between upper-limb motor ability, assessed through a keyboard-tapping task, and word-finding in both individuals with and without PD. That is, participants with more keyboard tabs also achieved faster picture-naming speeds and were able to generate more words on the verbal fluency tasks.

Using EEG, Chapter 5 examined the relationship between resting-state functional brain networks, measured through phase coherence, and age-related word-finding difficulties. We showed that age-related increases in delta band functional connectedness were related to lower semantic fluency. Older adults with greater delta band functional brain integration (i.e., global network efficiency) achieved higher semantic fluency scores. Regarding functional brain segregation (i.e., local network efficiency), irrespective of age, higher alpha band modularity predicted lower
and greater delta band small-world index predicted higher semantic fluency scores. Hence, we found age-related changes in both the overall functional connectedness and global network efficiency, the latter being important for maintaining wordfinding ability in older age.

Through time-frequency analyses, Chapter 6 investigated the relationship between age, phase coherence time-locked to high- and low-action words, and action word-finding ability. ITPC analyses revealed that older adults have greater frontocentral phase coherence in the mu and beta band underlying action words than younger adults. Greater frontocentral phase coherence was related to faster actionword processing in both younger and older adults. Exploratory analyses did not reveal an age group difference between mu band temporo-occipital phase coherence.

As discussed in the review in Chapter 2, STAC-r proposed that compensatory scaffolding, essentially a form of neuroplasticity, can happen through a range of different brain processes, such as increased engagement of frontoparietal brain regions, increased connectivity, and the recruitment of new brain regions. These brain processes are hypothesised to maintain the level of cognitive functioning and slow down the rate of cognitive decline. Here, we will discuss the potential of functional connectivity measured through phase coherence, time-locked phase coherence, and basal ganglia involvement as compensatory mechanisms of wordfinding difficulties.

Neurobiological Changes as Compensatory Mechanism?

This thesis has demonstrated several links between phase coherence and word-finding ability in older adults. Chapter 2 briefly touched on several theories that propose age-related functional shifts in brain activity, such as more bilateral (i.e., HAROLD Cabeza, 2002) and frontal processing (i.e., PASA; Davis et al., 2008), to maintain cognition in older age. That is, age-related changes in functional brain processes would reflect compensatory changes. We discussed different mechanisms throughout this thesis, namely: changes in functional brain networks, increased frontocentral phase coherence in older adults, and frequency band shifts. Below we will discuss whether the mechanisms reported in this thesis would be age-related compensatory contributions to word-finding ability. Following the PD study, we will discuss a theoretical role of the basal ganglia in word-finding in a separate section.

Chapter 6 revealed greater mu phase coherence underlying action word-finding in frontocentral regions compared to younger adults but no such age difference was found for mu phase coherence in the temporo-occipital regions. In this thesis, we discussed the possibility of a PASA-like shift in phase coherence. Originally, the PASA predicts that posterior brain activity decreases whilst anterior brain activity increases, and this posterior-to-anterior shift in brain activity enables older adults to maintain cognitive performance despite age-related brain deterioration (Davis et al., 2008). In this thesis, we only observed a partial posterior-to-anterior shift in coherence. That is, phase coherence might increase in frontocentral brain regions with age to support word-finding, whilst phase coherence in posterior brain regions remains relatively unchanged. Evidence for frontal phase coherence as a compensatory mechanism comes from the finding that greater mu phase coherence was related to faster word-finding, an effect which was more pronounced in older compared to younger adults (Chapter 6). However, the study did not compare the anterior and posterior phase coherence directly. Hence, future studies should further explore the possibility of a compensatory PASA in phase coherence underlying wordfinding ability.

Chapter 5 found strengthened functional connectedness with age and a positive relationship between characteristic path length, reflective of long-ranged neuronal connections, and semantic fluency performance in older adults. Hence, brain integration may increase in older age and such integrated networks may benefit older adults during word-finding. In addition, we found that increased overall functional connectedness in the delta band was related to lower word-finding ability, but only in older adults. Increased whole-brain functional connectedness could potentially be a result of compensatory brain processes. However, increased overall connectedness was related to decreased word-finding ability in this thesis. Since the study looked at whole-brain connectivity, we did not consider differences in functional connectedness dependent on brain region. Considering frontal and posterior functional connectedness separately might have revealed a beneficial compensatory increase in functional connectedness in the frontal brain region, which was previously shown in Fleck et al. (2016).

In contrast, increases in delta functional connectedness may be reflective of a maladaptive or failed compensatory process, leading to worse word-finding ability in individuals with greater delta functional connectedness. Examples of maladaptive processes discussed in this thesis were that of hyper synchronisation and a pathological shift to less functional brain rhythms (here, a shift to delta frequencies). Neuronal hypersynchronisation has been shown in pre-clinical Alzheimer's disease, affecting whole-brain network configurations (Alexandersen et al., 2022; Stam et al., 2023; van Nifterick et al., 2022). Hence, greater delta functional connectedness in Chapter 5 may potentially reflect pre-clinical Alzheimer's disease. However, increased age-related increases in phase coherence do not always have to be maladaptive, as was shown in Chapter 6, where we observed a potential beneficial compensatory role of the frontocentral brain region. Hence, distinguishing between brain regions when investigating functional connectedness could reveal more specific age-related compensatory processes in functional brain networks.

Finally, it is possible that changes in functional brain networks and increased frontocentral phase coherence reflect functional specialisation instead of either compensatory or pathological processes. Some of the findings discussed in Chapters 5 and 6 may be explained by functional specialisation of the language network due to the stabilisation of, especially low-frequency, neuronal connections or brain maturation (Yordanova & Kolev, 2009; Yordanova & Kolev, 1996). Vértes and Bullmore (2015) argued that high brain efficiency might depend on some longranged neuronal connections to integrate information across brain regions that are anatomically remote. Such efficient, integrated networks might result from brain maturation from childhood to adolescence and further across the lifespan, leading to an increased small-world index (Boersma et al., 2011; Smit et al., 2012).

Contributions of the Basal Ganglia to Word-Finding

Whilst motor difficulties are core clinical symptoms in PD, word-finding difficulties have also been reported (Aarsland et al., 2021; Camerino et al., 2022; Postuma et al., 2015). It is important to note that we did not reveal a difference between the PD and control groups for any of the word-finding ability measures. However, we did reveal a positive relationship between upper-limb motor ability and word-finding ability in healthy older adults and individuals with PD. Moreover, this relationship seems to diminish in individuals with PD, which is potentially related to a dysfunction of the basal ganglia and its connections to the cortex. Below, we will discuss the role of the basal ganglia in word-finding. Since no subcortical neuroimaging was conducted in this study, the arguments discussed below should be approached with caution. Nonetheless, the ideas that we will outline can serve as hypotheses for future studies exploring the role of the basal ganglia in maintaining word-finding abilities throughout the lifespan.

In individuals with PD, dopamine loss leads to over-inhibition of the GPe (see Figure 1.3), potentially decreasing cognitive performance (McGregor & Nelson, 2019). However, the exact mechanism linking impaired GPe-cortical function to cognitive impairments in PD remains unknown. Dopamine medication may partially restore the functioning of the GPe as a complex hub (Dong et al., 2021), consequently restoring cognitive functioning in individuals with PD (Letanneux et al., 2021). This idea could explain the non-significant interaction between motor ability and group for predicting word-finding ability after correcting for multiple comparisons in Chapter 4. Hence, non-responsiveness to dopamine medication may exhibit weaker relationships between motor ability and word-finding ability.

In addition, different tasks may engage different neuronal circuits from the basal ganglia to the frontal cortices may be engaged or, alternatively, the same circuits may be engaged during various cognitive functions (see Copland et al., 2021, for a review). The same corticostriatal circuits may be involved to achieve faster naming and keyboard-tapping speeds, as was observed in Chapter 4. In individuals with PD, a dysfunction of such circuits could lead to impairments of cognitive functions, such as that of word-finding and motor abilities. As the severity of the disease increases, motor ability and word-finding may start engaging different corticostriatal loops or different brain regions, such as Broca's area, to maintain cognitive functioning (Auclair-Ouellet et al., 2017; Dagher et al., 2001; Ekman et al., 2012; Nagano-Saito et al., 2014; Péran et al., 2009; Sabatini et al., 2000). This idea would also support Copland and colleagues's (2021) proposal that specific corticostriatal loops are engaged based on task demands. Hence, in PD, dopaminergic deficits in the frontostriatal pathways may induce neuroplasticity, leading to the recruitment of alternative or additional neural circuits or brain areas, depending on the cognitive functions being assessed (in this thesis, motor ability vs. word finding).

Implications

This section discussed the potential role of compensatory and maladaptive neurobiological processes underlying word-finding ability in younger and older adults. This thesis showed a link between the small-world index and semantic fluency across the lifespan, demonstrating that the efficiency of networks is important for word-finding in both younger and older adults. The network configuration underlying the small-world index may, however, differ between the two age groups. Future studies should explore different patterns in functional brain network organisations.

We also discussed the potential of functional specialisation that could explain age-related changes in phase coherence. For example, increased frontocentral phase coherence may reflect an age-related functional specialisation of frontocentral regions in action word-finding. That is, brain maturation may result in groups of neurons in the frontocentral regions specialising to support action word-finding, whilst the neuronal communication underlying action word-finding is more distributed in younger adults. An important but theoretical implication of this thesis is that ITPC may reflect the functional specialisation of brain processes with age. This argument should, however, be interpreted with caution as ITPC has not yet been specifically identified as a measure of functional specialisation, although increased ITPC was found in children as a function of brain maturation (Yordanova & Kolev, 2009). Future studies should further explore ITPC underlying a range of cognitive functions across the lifespan to investigate its potential role in functional specialisation. Furthermore, ITPC may be used as a measure of compensatory and pathological brain processes and future studies should investigate ITPC underlying a range of cognitive functions in both healthy ageing and neurodegenerative diseases.

In addition, the changes we observed in Chapters 5 and 6 were specific to the frequency band. Oscillatory activity underlies different cognitive functions, depending on the frequency of oscillations (Başar et al., 2001; Klimesch et al., 2007). For example, alpha band frequency is important for attentional control. This thesis implies that delta frequencies are important in explaining word-finding abilities across the lifespan but also in explaining age-related word-finding difficulties. Previous studies have identified delta functional connectedness as an important marker of MCI (Cai et al., 2021; Chaturvedi et al., 2019). If increased functional connectedness at the delta frequency range reflects a pathological process, then delta functional connectedness may serve as a neurobiological marker for pre-onset dementia.

Finally, this thesis implies theoretical functional changes in the basal ganglia following PD. Future research should explore the role of dopamine in the functioning of the GPe as a complex hub further, by including individuals with PD who are off dopamine medication or who are dopamine-resistant. In addition, deep brain stimulation can be used to investigate if the domain-general GPe can restore the connection between the GPe and cortex, and subsequently strengthen the relationship between motor ability and word-finding ability. Investigating the GPe's involvement in action language and motor ability would help confirm its domaingeneral function during such tasks and clarify the effects of basal ganglia circuit dysfunction in PD. Currently, the findings of this thesis bring us a little step closer to developing new approaches to treatments by providing insight into different problems and characteristics of individuals with PD.

7.4 Action Language and Its Relationship to Ageing

Summary of Main Findings

A novel contribution of this thesis is that we made an explicit distinction between action and object language, as studies have shown that different neural networks and brain regions are involved in action and object language (Akinina et al., 2019; Mätzig et al., 2009; Moseley et al., 2013; Vigliocco et al., 2011). Moreover, action words might require more cognitive resources than object words (Szekely et al., 2005). This section will briefly discuss the findings of the thesis that were specific to action language, as well as the implications for cognitive ageing.

The behavioural study discussed in Chapter 3 revealed an age effect on both object and action naming accuracy, and faster object naming speeds in younger and middle-aged adults than older adults, but no age effect for action naming speed. The accuracy of object naming was higher than that of action naming, but this was across all age groups. Chapter 4 investigated action language further and investigated whether we can distinguish individuals with PD from healthy controls through upper-limb action word-finding ability. The study revealed no differences in action word-finding ability between individuals with PD and healthy controls. Finally, Chapter 6 investigated the effects of age on neuronal coherence underlying action word perception. We demonstrated that the N400 amplitude did not differ between high- and low-action conditions. Moreover, action words elicited greater frontocentral mu phase coherence than object words, which was more pronounced in older than younger adults. The next section will discuss the relationship between age and action language, and the implications of our findings.

Implications: Preservation of Action Language in Older Age and Parkinson's Disease

One important question investigated in Chapter 6 was whether action word processing stays relatively preserved with age. Moreover, Chapters 3 and 4 revealed relatively preserved action word-finding in healthy older adults and in individuals with PD. Finally, this thesis showed that the neuronal processes underlying action language are still effective in older adults and may even increase with age. Together, these findings are indicative of maintained action word processing in older adults, compared to object word processing and younger adults.

Chapter 2 briefly touched on different cognitive ageing theories, which argue that age-related cognitive declines are the result of a decline in general cognitive resources (Hasher & Zacks, 1988; Salthouse, 1990, 1996). Action words have been argued to engage more cognitive resources (Szekely et al., 2005) and should be more difficult with age if the cognitive resources are limited in older adults. The increases in frontocentral phase coherence underlying action words in older compared to younger adults in Chapter 6 may reflect more neuronal effort as a function of limited cognitive resources. In contrast, increased phase coherence may reflect a compensatory shift or functional specialisation of neuronal populations as was discussed in Section 7.3. Hence, it is currently unclear whether increased phase coherence underlying action language reflects increased neuronal effort, functional specialisation, or a compensatory shift. Future studies should explore these options further.

This thesis does not support the idea that individuals with PD have specific difficulties with upper-limb action words. Therefore, the current findings advance the knowledge of action word-finding in individuals with PD through better understanding and recognition of the problem. It is of paramount importance that new neuropsychological markers of PD are determined for a timely diagnosis (Delenclos et al., 2016) but action word difficulty may not serve as a sensitive clinical marker. Compensatory mechanisms in the basal ganglia and cortex may enable individuals with PD to maintain action word-finding. As the disease progresses, these compensatory processes may break down and result in action word-finding difficulties. Future studies should investigate these compensatory processes, such as the involvement of Broca's area, in individuals with PD across different disease stages.

7.5 Thesis Limitations and Challenges

One major limitation is that this thesis did not investigate the relationship between word-finding ability and neurobiological and lifestyle contributions. Since both scaffolding and CR are hypothesised to increase neural efficiency (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014; Stern et al., 2020), lifestyle factors and lifetime experiences, such as years of education, could mediate the relationships we found between age, wordfinding ability, and phase coherence (both functional connectivity and ITPC). Due to the impact of COVID-19-related restrictions, we were not able to investigate the link between lifestyle choices and functional brain processes underlying wordfinding ability across the lifespan and in PD. The study discussed in Chapter 5 was a secondary data analysis and, hence, sufficient data on lifestyle factors, including education, was not available. For the study in Chapter 6, no data was collected to investigate the influence of lifestyle factors due to limited monetary and time resources but focused on the neurobiological contribution of phase coherence to word-finding abilities. This decision meant we could reduce the number of predictors in our models whilst achieving high statistical power.

Despite this methodological limitation, participants were screened for substance abuse, cognitive impairment, and depression as these factors can impact negatively brain functioning (see Chapter 2). That is, participants were considered "healthy" within these areas. Moreover, we were able to investigate the lifestyle contributions to word-finding ability in a population affected by neurodegeneration. Unfortunately, we were not able to directly measure overall brain status in PD. Including direct measures of brain deterioration (e.g., grey matter volume) and functional connectivity measures will provide a more holistic view of the factors contributing to healthy cognitive ageing.

In addition, the studies included in this thesis were all cross-sectional. Many different neurobiological and lifestyle factors are involved in healthy cognitive ageing depending on the individual, stressing the importance of considering individual ageing trajectories (Oosterhuis et al., 2022; Oosterhuis et al., 2023). Longitudinal study designs are important when investigating individual ageing trajectories, however, such study designs are methodologically challenging due to time and monetary constraints, and high attrition rates. The increase in longitudinal studies, such as the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA; Steptoe et al., 2013), the Irish LongituDinal Study on Ageing (TILDA; Kearney et al., 2011; Whelan & Savva, 2013), and the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE; Börsch-Supan et al., 2013), provide an optimistic outlook for ageing and dementia-related studies. Moreover, the use of large public health and neuroimaging databases, such as OpenNeuro (Markiewicz et al., 2021, https://openneuro.org/) and UK Biobank (https://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk) enable the design of more complex research studies that are well-powered. Nonetheless, this thesis still provides valuable contributions to ageing research through clarification of the neurobiological and lifestyle contributions to age-related (action) word-finding difficulties.

7.6 Future Directions

Both Chapters 5 and 6 implemented EEG data to investigate the neurobiological factors involved in healthy cognitive ageing. However, combining different

neuroimaging and brain stimulation techniques, such as functional neuroimaging, EEG, and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation will advance our understanding of the neurobiological processes related to ageing and age-related word-finding difficulties (Sui et al., 2014). Furthermore, a combination of these techniques, as well as including lifestyle and health factors, will enable the testing of the different components proposed by STAC-r (Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2014). Computational models and machine learning enable further testing of the applications of STACr and other cognitive ageing models for different cognitive functions, including word-finding ability. Understanding the complex mechanisms underlying age-related word-finding difficulties and cognitive decline more generally can only happen when we have determined and clarified the neurobiological and lifestyle contributions. Ultimately, machine learning models should be able to map out cognitive ageing trajectories specific to the individual and predict whether someone will develop dementia or not, to start timely treatment and optimise care (Amini et al., 2021). Hence, future studies should investigate cognitive ageing using a combination of different neuroimaging techniques, as well as implement computational models to investigate the possibility of mapping cognitive ageing trajectories.

In this thesis, we demonstrated that the study discussed in Chapter 4 may offer some insights into the role of the basal ganglia in frontostriatal loops in wordfinding abilities in healthy cognitive ageing and Parkinson's disease. In the shorter term, future research should further investigate the role of the basal ganglia and its subcomponents, such as the GPe and loops to frontal brain regions, in wordfinding. If dopaminergic deficits indeed change the functions of the frontostriatal loops and infer the recruitment of more cortical regions (Copland et al., 2021; McGregor & Nelson, 2019), this could have major implications for the way cognitive deficits in individuals with PD are treated. Therefore, future studies could test the theoretical ideas discussed in 7.4, implementing a combination of different neuroimaging techniques and several clinical populations in which the basal ganglia have been affected. Moreover, future studies should aim to include a group of individuals with PD who are resistant to dopamine medication to provide further insights into the functions of the frontostriatal loops when dopamine activity cannot be restored through medication.

Finally, all the studies discussed in this thesis were cross-sectional studies. However, longitudinal studies could provide objective measures of lifestyle choices throughout the lifespan and when investigating the interactions between lifestyle choices and overall brain status to determine cause-and-effect. This will help us determine what causes brain deterioration, subsequent word-finding difficulties, and whether functional brain changes are compensatory or maladaptive. Such research is of paramount importance to determine what lifestyle choices one should make to maintain cognition throughout life and whether we can reverse age-related cognitive decline through interventions, such as cognitive training and brain stimulation. Hence, future research should seek to replicate the findings in this thesis using longitudinal research designs.

7.7 Conclusion

This thesis demonstrated that lifestyle choices and neurobiological factors can provide us with an indication of someone's word-finding ability in older age. A combination of lifestyle choices seems to impact word-finding ability but in middleaged and not in older adults. These findings could have important implications as to when lifestyle choices could contribute to compensatory mechanisms, like CR. Moreover, this thesis seems to be a link between motor and word-finding in both healthy adults and individuals with PD. This might reflect a general role of neural pathways between the basal ganglia and the cortex in word-finding and motor abilities. Functional connectivity measures are also linked to word-finding ability across the lifespan, with an important role of functional brain network efficiency. In addition, mu and beta phase coherence in frontocentral brain regions underlying action words was greater in older than in younger adults. These changes in functional brain processes may reflect either compensatory or maladaptive processes with age. Finally, we demonstrated that action word-finding abilities seem preserved in older age and in individuals with PD, indicating that action word-finding may not be a sensitive marker for PD. Overall, this thesis demonstrated that different neurobiological and lifestyle factors contribute to word-finding abilities across the lifespan. In the future, machine learning algorithms could be developed at the individual level to predict when someone deviates from their healthy cognitive trajectory and potentially transitions into dementia.

Appendix A

Motor Ability Relates to Word Finding in Both Individuals With and Without Parkinson's Disease

(See next page)

A.1 All Models Hypothesis 1

Hypothesis 1 stated that individuals with PD show greater difficulty in producing words that describe upper-limb actions (e.g., "throwing") compared to words associated with actions involving less upper-limb movement when compared to individuals without PD.

Model	RT $\operatorname{\tilde{G}roup} * \operatorname{Action} \operatorname{Rating} + \operatorname{Type} + (1 \operatorname{Subject}) + (1 \operatorname{Item})$									
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change		
Intercept	6.963	0.043	160.409	< .001	6.878	7.049	1057.271	105627.133		
Group	0.018	0.041	0.434	.665	-0.062	0.097	1.018	1.771		
Action Rating	0.000	0.018	-0.021	.983	-0.036	0.035	1.000	-0.038		
Task Type	0.193	0.036	5.330	< .001*	0.122	0.265	1.213	21.347		
Group * Action Rating	0.005	0.004	1.500	.134	-0.002	0.012	1.005	0.540		

Table A.1.	Results of the	Fixed Effects for .	Picture Naming Reaction	Time
------------	----------------	---------------------	-------------------------	------

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming).

Model	Acc $\operatorname{\tilde{G}roup} * \operatorname{Action} \operatorname{Rating} + \operatorname{Type} + (1 \mid \operatorname{Subject}) + (1 \mid \operatorname{Item})$									
Effect	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change								
Intercept	2.215	0.172	12.887	< .001	1.878	2.552	0.999	NA		
Group	-0.097	0.088	-1.094	.274	-0.270	0.076	0.597	-40.326		
Action Rating	-0.066	0.074	-0.895	.371	-0.210	0.078	0.608	1.126		
Task Type	-0.386	0.136	-2.840	.005	-0.652	-0.119	0.493	-11.446		
Group * Action Rating	0.023	0.061	0.369	.712	-0.098	0.143	0.640	14.701		

 Table A.2. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Accuracy

185

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming).

Table A.3. Results of the Generalized Linear Model for Verbal Fluency "Number of Correctly Produced Words"

Tweedie Model	Number of	Number of Correctly Produced Words ~Group + Task Type								
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change		
Intercept	3.194	0.029	109.400	< .001	3.137	3.251	8.408	740.768		
Group	0.002	0.034	0.059	.953	-0.065	0.069	1.001	0.135		
Task Type	-0.121	0.034	-3.573	.001	-0.188	-0.055	0.922	-7.772		

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency).

Table A.4. Results of the Multiple Linear Regression for Verbal Fluency "Average Upper-Limb Action Ratings"

Model	Average U	Average Upper-Limb Action Ratings ~Group + Task Type										
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High						
Intercept	2.744	0.040	69.112	< .001	2.666	2.823						
Group	0.070	0.048	1.472	.143	-0.024	0.165						
Task Type	-0.374	0.048	-7.767	< .001*	-0.469	-0.279						

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency).

A.2 All Models Hypothesis 2

Hypothesis 2 stated a positive correlation between the ability to produce upper-limb action words and their upper-limb motor ability, measured by a keyboard tapping task, in individuals with PD.

Model	RT ~Group	RT ~Group * Action Rating * Motor Ability Score + Type + $(1 Subject) + (1 Item)$										
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change				
Intercept	6.954	0.042	166.669	< .001	6.873	7.036	1047.677	104667.694				
Group	0.027	0.037	0.718	.473	-0.046	0.100	1.027	2.725				
Action Rating	-0.001	0.018	-0.031	.975	-0.036	0.035	0.999	-0.057				
Motor Ability Score	-0.108	0.039	-2.755	.006	-0.184	-0.031	0.898	-10.208				
Task Type	0.194	0.036	5.330	< .001	0.122	0.265	1.214	21.364				
Group * Action Rating	0.005	0.004	1.297	.194	-0.002	0.012	1.005	0.469				
Group * Motor Ability Score	0.094	0.054	1.721	.085	-0.013	0.200	1.098	9.818				
Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	0.001	0.004	0.358	.720	-0.006	0.009	1.001	0.137				
Group * Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	0.004	0.005	0.709	.479	-0.007	0.014	1.004	0.376				

Table A.5. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Reaction Time and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted *p*-values can be found in the main text.

Model	Acc ~Grou	Acc \sim Group * Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve + Type + (1 Subject) + (1 Item)									
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change			
Intercept	2.236	0.174	12.883	< .001	1.896	2.576	1	NA			
Group	-0.121	0.087	-1.386	.166	-0.293	0.050	0.588	-41.227			
Action Rating	-0.079	0.076	-1.039	.299	-0.228	0.070	0.603	1.545			
Motor Ability Score	0.172	0.088	1.958	.050	0	0.343	0.695	9.183			
Task Type	-0.385	0.137	-2.811	.005	-0.653	-0.116	0.494	-20.120			
Group * Action Rating	0.039	0.064	0.616	.538	-0.086	0.164	0.647	15.282			
Group * Motor Ability Score	-0.100	0.119	-0.834	.404	-0.334	0.134	0.596	-5.100			
Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	-0.041	0.062	-0.656	.512	-0.162	0.081	0.617	2.165			
Group * Action Rating * Motor Ability Score	0.103	0.084	1.236	.216	-0.06	0.267	0.670	5.284			

Table A.6. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Accuracy and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming).

Table A.7. Results of the Generalised Linear Model for Verbal Fluency "Number of Correctly Produced Words" and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Tweedie Model	Number of Correctly Produced Words $\ \ Group$ * Motor Ability Score + Task Type								
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change	
Intercept	3.102	0.040	78.301	< .001	3.024	3.179	7.908	690.822	
Group	0.133	0.048	2.781	.006	0.040	0.227	1.093	9.299	
Motor Ability Score	0.195	0.052	3.765	< .001	0.094	0.297	1.139	13.908	
Task Type	-0.135	0.035	-3.858	< .001	-0.203	-0.066	0.914	-8.585	
Group * Motor Ability Score	-0.153	0.069	-2.228	.028	-0.287	-0.019	0.903	-9.683	

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted *p*-values can be found in the main text.

Model	Average Upper-Limb Action Ratings ~Group * Motor Ability Score + Task Type								
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High			
Intercept	2.745	0.052	52.879	< .001	2.643	2.848			
Group	0.048	0.066	0.728	.468	-0.083	0.180			
Motor Ability Score	-0.008	0.067	-0.124	.902	-0.140	0.124			
Task Type	-0.388	0.051	-7.573	< .001	-0.489	-0.286			
Group * Motor Ability Score	-0.046	0.090	-0.506	.614	-0.224	0.133			

Table A.8. Results of the Multiple Linear Regression for Verbal Fluency "AverageUpper-Limb Action Ratings" and the Relationship with Motor Ability

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Motor Ability Score was obtained through a keyboard tapping task (i.e., number of taps). Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency).

A.3 All Models Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 3 stated that an engaging lifestyle (i.e., Cognitive Reserve), indicated by engaging in social and cognitively stimulating activities, physical activity, and higher education, is positively associated with better performance in producing action words in individuals with and without PD.

Model	RT ~Group * Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve Score + Type + $(1 \mid \text{Subject}) + (1 \mid \text{Item})$									
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change		
Intercept	6.969	0.044	158.935	< .001	6.883	7.055	1062.908	106190.824		
Group	0.017	0.042	0.405	.686	-0.065	0.098	1.017	1.696		
Action Rating	-0.001	0.018	-0.044	.965	-0.036	0.034	0.999	-0.079		
Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.009	0.042	-0.218	.827	-0.091	0.073	0.991	-0.907		
Task Type	0.193	0.036	5.373	< .001	0.123	0.264	1.213	21.321		
Group * Action Rating	0.008	0.004	2.066	.039	0	0.015	1.008	0.757		
Group * Cognitive Reserve Score	0.024	0.059	0.402	.688	-0.091	0.139	1.024	2.387		
Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve Score	0.008	0.004	2.338	.019	0.001	0.016	1.009	0.852		
Group * Action Rating * Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.011	0.005	-2.144	.032	-0.021	-0.001	0.989	-1.096		

Table A.9. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Reaction Time and the Relationship with Cognitive Reserve

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Cognitive Reserve Score was obtained through a task (e.g., CR Composite Score). Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming).

Model	Acc ~Grou	Acc $\operatorname{\widetilde{Group}} * \operatorname{Action} \operatorname{Rating} * \operatorname{Cognitive} \operatorname{Reserve} + \operatorname{Type} + (1 \operatorname{Subject}) + (1 \operatorname{Item})$									
Effect	Estimate	SE	z-value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change			
Intercept	2.180	0.169	12.929	< .001	1.850	2.510	1	NA			
Group	-0.094	0.084	-1.125	.261	-0.259	0.070	0.597	-40.245			
Action Rating	-0.068	0.074	-0.928	.354	-0.213	0.076	0.607	0.960			
Cognitive Reserve Score	0.216	0.092	2.347	.019	0.036	0.396	0.711	10.380			
Task Type	-0.388	0.136	-2.859	.004	-0.654	-0.122	0.493	-21.826			
Group * Action Rating	0.026	0.062	0.414	.679	-0.096	0.147	0.642	14.899			
Group * Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.362	0.129	-2.814	.005	-0.614	-0.110	0.502	-13.985			
Action Rating *	-0.016	0.068	-0.233	.816	-0.150	0.118	0.626	12.459			

Table A.10. Results of the Fixed Effects for Picture Naming Accuracy and the Relationship with Cognitive Reserve

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Action Rating reflects the upper-limb action ratings of the picture names. Cognitive Reserve Score was obtained through a task. Task Type reflects the type of picture-naming task (i.e., object vs. action naming). Predictors remaining significant after FDR corrections are marked (*). The adjusted p-values can be found in the main text.

.608

-0.136

0.232

0.650

0.513

Cognitive Reserve Score

Group * Action Rating *

Cognitive Reserve Score

0.048

0.094

2.353

Table A.11. Results of the Generalised Linear Model for Verbal Fluency "Number of Correctly Produced Words" and the Relationship with Cognitive Reserve

Tweedie Model	Number of Correctly Produced Words \sim Group * Cognitive Reserve Score + Task Type								
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High	Back-Transformed Estimate	Percentage Change	
Intercept	3.193	0.031	102.108	< .001	3.132	3.254	8.404	740.368	
Group	0.002	0.036	0.052	.959	-0.069	0.073	1.001	0.126	
Cognitive Reserve Score	0.038	0.041	0.930	.354	-0.041	0.117	1.026	2.574	
Task Type	-0.136	0.035	-3.918	< .001	-0.204	-0.068	0.913	-8.657	
Group * Cognitive Reserve Score	-0.116	0.054	-2.148	.034	-0.220	-0.011	0.926	-7.424	

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Cognitive Reserve Score was obtained through a task (e.g., CR Composite Score). Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency).

Model	Average Upper-Limb Action Ratings ~Group * Cognitive Reserve Score + Task Type								
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High			
Intercept	2.720	0.042	65.212	< .001	2.638	2.803			
Group	0.118	0.050	2.347	.021*	0.018	0.217			
Cognitive Reserve Score	0.061	0.054	1.126	.262	-0.046	0.168			
Task Type	-0.354	0.049	-7.156	< .001*	-0.451	-0.256			
Group * Cognitive Reserve Score	0.014	0.073	0.189	.851	-0.131	0.159			

Table A.12. Results of the Multiple Linear Regression for Verbal Fluency"Average Upper-Limb Action Ratings" and the Relationship with Cognitive Reserve

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Cognitive Reserve Score was obtained through a task (e.g., CR Composite Score). Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency).

A.4 Exploratory Analyses

Hypothesis 1

Additive Effects of Apathy and Depression

Table A.13. Hypothesis 1 - Comparisons between the Picture Naming Reaction Time Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Model	df	χ^2	p- value	AIC	BIC	\log Lik	deviance
Incl. Apathy	1	0.548	.459	88408.0	88469.3	-44195.0	88390.0
Incl. Depression	1	2.393	.122	88406.2	88467.5	-44194.1	88388.2
Incl. Both	2	2.394	.302	88408.2	88476.3	-44194.1	88388.2

Note. df = degrees of freedom. AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, logLik = log-likelihood. Lower AIC, BIC, and deviance values indicate better model fit. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Table A.14. Hypothesis 1 - Additive Effects of Depression on Verbal FluencyPerformance

Tweedie Model	Number o Task Type	Number of Correctly Produced Words ~Group + LEDD + Task Type							
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High			
(Intercept)	3.183	0.029	109.050	< .001	3.126	3.240			
Group	0.024	0.035	0.676	.500	-0.044	0.091			
Depression Score	-0.042	0.018	-2.374	.019*	-0.076	-0.007			
Task Type	-0.122	0.033	-3.637	< .001*	-0.187	-0.056			

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals. Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency). Depression Scores were standardised.

Table A.15. Hypothesis 1 - Comparisons between the Verbal Fluency Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Model	Resid.	Resid.	Deviance	e Df	Devian	ce χ^2	<i>p</i> -
	$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{f}$	Dev.		Diff.	Diff.		value
Incl. Apathy	133	25.563	0.116	1	0.116	0.116	.434
Incl. Depression	133	24.637	1.042	1	1.042	1.042	.017*
Incl. Both	132	24.597	1.083	2	1.083	1.083	.053

Note. Resid. Df. = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. Dev. = Residual deviance, Deviance = Deviance, Df Diff. = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance Diff. = Difference in deviance. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Additive Effects of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dose (LEDD)

Table A.16. Hypothesis 2 - Comparisons between the Models for Picture Naming With and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Model	npar	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	χ^2	Df	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	8	43591.7	43640.5	-21787.8	43575.7	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	9	43592.9	43647.8	-21787.5	43574.9	0.7	1	.388

Note. npar = number of parameters, AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, logLik = log-likelihood, Df = Degrees of freedom, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. LEDD Scores were standardised.

Table A.17. Hypothesis 1 - Additive Effects of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosageon Verbal Fluency Performance

Tweedie Model	Number of	f Correctly	Produced W	Vords ~Grou	p + LEDD	+ Task Type
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High
Intercept	3.180	0.035	91.112	< .001	3.111	3.248
LEDD	-0.051	0.026	-1.996	.050*	-0.102	0
Task Type	-0.091	0.050	-1.835	.071*	-0.188	0.006

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency). LEDD Scores were standardised.

Model	Resid. Df	Resid. Dev	Df	Deviance	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	65	13.532	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	64	12.769	1	0.763	.049*

Table A.18. Hypothesis 1 - Comparisons between the Models for Verbal FluencyWith and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Note. Resid. Df = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. Dev = Residual deviance, Df = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance = Difference in deviance. LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. LEDD Scores were standardised.

Hypothesis 2

Additive Effects of Apathy and Depression

Table A.19. Hypothesis 2 - Comparisons between the Picture Naming Reaction Time Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Model	df	χ^2	p- value	AIC	BIC	\log Lik	deviance
Incl. Apathy	1	.005	.942	88950.0	89038.6	-44462.0	88924.0
Incl. Depression	1	1.649	.199	88948.3	89036.9	-44461.2	88922.3
Incl. Both	2	2.075	.354	88949.9	89045.3	-44460.9	88921.9

Note. df = degrees of freedom. AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, $\log \text{Lik} = \log \text{-likelihood}$. Lower AIC, BIC, and deviance values indicate better model fit. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Model	Resid.	Resid.	Devianc	e Df	Devian	ice χ^2	<i>p</i> -
	Df	Dev.		D_{1}	Diff.		value
Incl. Apathy	130	26.0	0.016	1	0.016	0.016	.777
Incl. Depression	130	25.7	0.318	1	0.318	0.318	.204
Incl. Both	129	25.6	0.349	2	0.349	0.349	.415

Table A.20. Hypothesis 2 - Comparisons between the Verbal Fluency Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Note. Resid. Df. = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. Dev. = Residual deviance, Deviance = Deviance, Df Diff. = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance Diff. = Difference in deviance. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Additive Effects of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dose (LEDD)

Table A.21. Hypothesis 2 - Comparisons between the Models for Picture NamingWith and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Model	npar	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	χ^2	Df	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	8	43591.7	43640.5	-21787.8	43575.7	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	9	43592.9	43647.8	-21787.5	43574.9	0.700	1	.388

Note. npar = number of parameters, AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, logLik = log-likelihood, Df = Degrees of freedom, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. LEDD Scores were standardised.

Table A.22. Hypothesis 2 - Additive Effects of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosageon Verbal Fluency Performance

Tweedie Model	Number of Task Type	Number of Correctly Produced Words ~Motor Ability + LEDD + Task Type							
Effect	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	CI Low	CI High			
Intercept	3.238	0.042	77.03	< .001	3.156	3.320			
Motor Ability	0.069	0.048	1.435	.156	-0.025	0.163			
LEDD	-0.065	0.028	-2.361	.021*	-0.119	-0.011			
Task Type	-0.118	0.052	-2.294	.025*	-0.219	-0.017			

Note. SE = standard error, CI = 95% Confidence Intervals, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. Task Type reflects the type of verbal-fluency task (i.e., semantic vs. action fluency). LEDD Scores were standardised.

Table A.23. Hypothesis 2 - Comparisons between the Models for Verbal FluencyWith and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Model	Resid. Df	Resid. Dev	Df	Deviance	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	64	15.072	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	63	13.897	1	1.176	.019*

Note. Resid. Df = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. <math>Dev = Residual deviance, Df = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance = Difference in deviance, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage (standardised).

Hypothesis 3

Additive Effects of Apathy and Depression

Table A.24. Hypothesis 3 - Comparisons between the Picture Naming Reaction Time Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Model	df	χ^2	p- value	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance
Incl. Apathy	1	0.551	.458	88390.3	88478.9	-44182.1	88364.3
Incl. Depression	1	2.405	.121	88388.4	88477.0	-44181.2	88362.4
Incl. Both	2	2.406	.300	88390.4	88485.8	-44181.2	88362.4

Note. df = degrees of freedom. AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, logLik = log-likelihood. Lower AIC, BIC, and deviance values indicate better model fit. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Model	Resid. Df	Resid. Dev.	Devianc	e Df Diff.	Devian Diff.	ce χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
Incl. Apathy	130	25.875	0.205	1	0.205	0.205	.307
Incl. Depression	130	25.698	0.382	1	0.382	0.382	.160
Incl. Both	129	25.673	0.407	2	0.407	0.407	.352

Table A.25. Hypothesis 3 - Comparisons between the Verbal Fluency Null Model and the Models with the Additive Effects of Apathy, Depression, and Both

Note. Resid. Df. = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. Dev. = Residual deviance, Deviance = Deviance, Df Diff. = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance Diff. = Difference in deviance. Each of the models was compared to the null model without additive effects.

Additive Effects of Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dose (LEDD)

Table A.26. Hypothesis 3 - Comparisons between the Models for Picture NamingWith and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Model	npar	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	χ^2	Df	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	8	43436.9	43485.7	-21710.4	43420.9	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	9	43438.2	43493.1	-21710.1	43420.2	0.600	1	.429

Note. npar = number of parameters, AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion, logLik = log-likelihood, Df = Degrees of freedom, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage. LEDD Scores were standardised.

Model	Resid. Df	Resid. Dev	Df	Deviance	<i>p</i> -value
Without LEDD	65	14.905	NA	NA	NA
With LEDD	64	14.872	1	0.032	.707

Table A.27. Hypothesis 3 - Comparisons between the Models for Verbal FluencyWith and Without Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage

Note. Resid. Df = Residual degrees of freedom, Resid. Dev = Residual deviance,Df = Difference in degrees of freedom, Deviance = Difference in deviance, LEDD = Levodopa Equivalent Daily Dosage (standardised).
Appendix B

Brain Segregation and Integration Relate to Word-Finding Abilities in Older and Younger Adults

B.1 A-Priori Power Analysis for Sample Size

A-priori power analysis using data simulation was used to confirm power for the final sample size (Brysbaert & Stevens, 2018; DeBruine & Barr, 2021). Because this study uses secondary data analysis, the number of participants in this study was already known. Therefore, the sample size was held constant in the power analysis. For the analysis, we estimated means and standard deviations for verbal fluency based on existing literature (Aita et al., 2019; Bäckman & Nilsson, 1996; Gibson et al., 2019; Gonzalez-Burgos et al., 2019; Sokołowski et al., 2020) and EEG parameters (Feklicheva et al., 2021; Gaál et al., 2010; Utianski et al., 2016) that closely resembled our study design (DeBruine & Barr, 2021). For the power analyses, we simulated the data set with verbal fluency and functional connectivity values, which were randomly generated with a normal distribution centred around the mean, for 1000 runs using a script in RStudio (DeBruine & Barr, 2021). Multiple linear regression models were defined within a function and performed for each simulation run. We used R (R Core Team, 2020) to simulate the data and to run the statistical models. Following the method outlined by DeBruine and Barr (2021), power was defined as mean (p-value ; alpha), where alpha was set at 0.05. We obtained average to high power (60-90%) for our models depending on the frequency band and the EEG measure, and hence, concluded that our sample size is sufficient for our analyses. For more information on the power analysis, please see the pre-registration.

B.2 Functional connectivity measures

Debiased weighted Phase Lag Index

Oscillatory phase (which is provided by the EEG data) can be visualised with a circular axis, where the x-axis is called the real axis and the y-axis the imaginary axis. Imaginary numbers on the imaginary axis are necessary when we cannot use the real number system (i.e., the numbers we use in our day-today life) to solve a mathematical problem, for example, when taking the square root of a negative number. Complex numbers are the sum of a real and an imaginary number and are necessary to obtain information, such as phase and power information from EEG data (Cohen, 2014). The dwPLI measures phase synchrony, whilst reducing the effect of volume conduction by ignoring 0 or π phase differences between electrodes, which reflect instantaneous synchronisation. These instantaneous synchronisations are physiologically implausible as markers of neural synchronisation through synaptic transmission (however, see Hajizadeh et al., 2022, for a biologically plausible mechanism of instantaneous synchronisation) and are more likely to reflect volume conduction of electrical potentials to both electrodes simultaneously (Vinck et al., 2011). As such, the dwPLI measures how much a signal of one channel leads or lags compared to the signal of another channel and is weighted by the magnitude of the imaginary component of the cross-spectrum (i.e., the cross-correlation between two time-series). The formula to compute the dwPLI is as follows (Vinck et al., 2011):

$$\hat{\Omega}_{w}(f) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k \neq j} Im\{X_{j}\}Im\{X_{k}\}}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k \neq j} |Im\{X_{j}\}Im\{X_{k}\}|},$$

where $\hat{\Omega}_w(f)$ is the dwPLI at frequency f and N is the total number of epochs. The numerator is the sum of the imaginary component of all pairwise products of the cross-spectra X between epoch j and epoch k, which is the computation of between-electrode connectivity, reflect the same time epoch, but epochs extracted from two different electrodes. The denominator is the sum of all pairwise products of the magnitude of the imaginary component between epoch j and epoch k. The computation of the dwPLI preserves the sign (i.e., whether the denominator is positive or negative).

Orthogonal Minimum Spanning Trees

We applied a data-driven method, namely the Orthogonalized Minimum Spanning Tree (OMST) algorithm to threshold the connectivity matrices (Dimitriadis et al., 2017). A minimum spanning tree is a graph with a minimum number of total edges, without cycles (i.e., the graph does not contain any loops), and where all nodes are connected. The OMST algorithm computes the minimum spanning tree (MST) over multiple iterations. These are necessary because it is possible that by using only a single MST, one ends up with a graph that is too sparse for computing robust connectivity measures. After each iteration, the edges (N-1) of the minimum spanning tree in that iteration are set to infinity so the algorithm ignores those connections in the subsequent iteration. Because the OMST algorithm computes multiple spanning trees to threshold the connectivity matrices for further analyses, it preserves as many connections as possible (i.e., reducing wiring cost, where adding connections comes at the expense of the performance or efficiency of the network), whilst maintaining an optimal global efficiency of the network. The OMSTs are calculated from the inverse-weighted graph, which can be calculated from the connectivity matrix. In an inverse-weighted graph, the strongest connections represent the brain areas that are functionally closer or more strongly connected.

Weighted Clustering Coefficient

The weighted clustering coefficient (C^W) , expresses how frequently, on average, a node is part of a local triangle of connections. That is, how often when a node is connected to one of its neighbours, these neighbours are also connected to each other. The formula of the weighted clustering coefficient is as follows (Onnela et al., 2005; Rubinov & Sporns, 2010):

$$C^{W} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i \in N} \frac{2t_{i}^{w}}{k_{i}(k_{i}-1)}$$

where *i* is the node index, *n* is the total number of nodes in graph *N*, and k_i^w represents the summed weight of all edges that are connected to that node (i.e., weighted degree of node *i*). t^w is the geometric mean of the triangles' weight at node *i*. Finally, the clustering coefficient is calculated by averaging the clustering coefficient at all nodes.

Modularity

Modularity measures the prevalence of non-overlapping modules or sub-networks in a graph according to (Newman, 2006; Rubinov & Sporns, 2010):

$$Q^{W} = \frac{1}{l^{W}} \sum_{i,j \in N} \left(w_{ij} - \frac{k_i^{W} k_j^{W}}{l^{W}} \right) \delta_{m_i m_j},$$

where Q^W is the weighted modularity. L^W is the sum of all weights in graph N, and w_{ij} is the undirected weight of the edge between node i and j. k_i^w is the weighted degree of node i. m_i is the module containing node i and where the delta function $\delta_{m_im_j}$ is 1 if i = j and 0 otherwise. The maximum value of Q^W is 1, which means that the network is strongly divided into communities (i.e., significantly more intracommunity connections compared to inter-community connections).

Characteristic Path Length

The formula is as follows (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010; Watts & Strogatz, 1998):

$$L^{W} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i \in N} \left(\frac{\sum_{j \in N, j \neq i} d_{ij}^{W}}{n-1} \right),$$

where L^W is the weighted characteristic path length. To calculate d_{ij}^W , the weights of the edges are converted to length by calculating the reciprocal of the weights (1/weight) in the matrix (i.e., taking the inverse of the weighted matrix) to reflect the distance between node i and j when there is a connection between i and j. Stronger connections represent stronger associations between node i and j and a shorter distance.

Small-World Index

To examine the balance between brain segregation and integration, we computed the small-world index of each graph. First, we created random networks by randomly swapping (100 times) the edge weights of the original networks, whilst preserving the weight, degree, and strength distribution (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010). Next, we calculated the clustering coefficient (C_{rand}^W) and characteristic path length (L_{rand}^W) of the random networks. The small-world index was obtained through the following formula (Humphries & Gurney, 2008):

$$S^W = \frac{C^W/C^W_{rand}}{L^W/L^W_{rand}},$$

where a value higher than 1 indicates that the network is a small world.

B.3 The Relationship between Characteristic Path Length and Modularity

Our study showed an inverse between alpha band modularity and semantic fluency scores, irrespective of age. In our discussion, we proposed that brain integration might be more important for semantic fluency performance than brain segregation and it is possible that greater brain segregation could be related to lower integration. Hence, we hypothesised an inverse relationship between brain integration (characteristic path length) and brain segregation (modularity) in the alpha band. That is, if brain integration is more important than segregation for semantic fluency, the relationship between greater modularity and lower semantic fluency scores could potentially be explained by a lower characteristic path length.

To investigate this idea, we conducted a multiple linear regression analysis

with the OMST-thresholded characteristic path length as the outcome variable and the OMST-thresholded modularity as the predictor. To keep in line with our previous models, we added Sex (2 levels) as a covariate. Leverage points were removed accordingly. We did not include Age as a predictor or covariate as the relationship between modularity and semantic fluency did not interact with age. After the initial model fit, leverage points were identified as 2(number of predictors + 1)/number of observations, and subsequently removed to obtain the model's best fit. The predictors explained 13.5% of the variance in semantic fluency scores (R^2 = .12, F(2,96) = 7.50, p = .001). Modularity was a significant predictor of the characteristic path length ($\beta = 0.60$, $\beta < .001$). Hence, in the alpha band, when brain segregation is higher, brain integration is also higher (see Figure B.1).



Figure B.1. The relationship between brain segregation (modularity) and brain integration (characteristic path length) in the alpha band.

Appendix C

The Role of Neuronal Phase Coherence Underlying Action-Word Comprehension in Healthy Ageing

Predictor	Sum of Squares	F-statistic	p value	Adjusted p
				value
Age Group	48881.54	1250.15	< .001	< .001
Frequency Band	21405.06	547.44	< .001	< .001
Age Group * Frequency Band	16902.35	432.28	< .001	< .001
Covariates:				
Hearing Status	823.623	21.06	< .001	< .001
Log-ratio power	1645.705	42.09	< .001	< .001
AUDIT scores	9574.888	244.88	< .001	< .001

Table C.1. Full 2 X 2 with 3 Covariates ANCOVA Results Table with the ITPC Index as Outcome Variable over the Frontocentral Brain Region

Note. The ITPC index was computed by subtracting peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition from the peak ITPC Z for the Low Action condition. AUDIT scores reflect alcohol use. Log-ratio power was the log-ratio of the power between the mu and beta bands and was included to account for the influence of power on ITPC. The adjusted p value is the p value corrected for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni.



Figure C.1. Raincloud plots showing the distribution of the frontocentral Rayleigh's Z peak ITPC values per age group and for the mu and beta band separately.



Figure C.2. The mean ITPC index per Age Group and Frequency Band. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between peak ITPC Z of the High Action and Low Action condition. Positive values indicate that the peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition. The bars represent the standard error (SE).

	Estimate	SE	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted
					p-value
Intercept	2.786	0.001	2054.813	< .001	< .001
Peak ITPC ${\cal Z}$	-0.018	0.001	-23.172	< .001	< .001
Age Group	-0.026	0.001	-23.457	< .001	< .001
Frequency Band	0.008	0.001	10.834	< .001	< .001
Peak ITPC Z * Age Group	0.003	0.001	3.869	< .001	.001
Peak ITPC Z^* Frequency Band	0.001	0.001	0.776	.438	1
Age Group * Frequency Band	-0.003	0.001	-4.464	< .001	< .001
Peak ITPC Z * Age Group * Frequency Band	0.003	0.001	3.824	< .001	.001
Covariates:					
Hearing Status	0.007	0.001	6.297	< .001	< .001
Log-ratio power	-0.1	0.011	-9.362	< .001	< .001
Audit Scores	-0.003	0.001	-5.141	< .001	< .001

Table C.2. Multiple Linear Regression Results Table with the Reaction Times for Action Words as Outcome Variable over the Frontocentral Brain Region.

Note. SE = standard error. AUDIT scores reflect alcohol use. Log-ratio power was the log-ratio of the power between the mu and beta bands and was included to account for the influence of power on ITPC. The adjusted p value is the p value corrected for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni.

		Older		Younger	
		High-Action	Low-Action	High-Action	Low-Action
	Peak ITPC	$0.71 \ (0.16)$	0.72(0.14)	0.74(0.13)	0.75(0.12)
Mu	Peak ITPC ${\cal Z}$	39.67 (18.20)	39.62 (18.02)	41.81 (15.96)	40.94 (15.12)
	Average Power	18.75 (12.54)	18.69 (12.69)	16.31 (12.90)	16.41 (12.72)
	Normalised Power (dB)	0.95(1.34)	0.93 (1.34)	1.19 (1.30)	1.22(1.35)
	Peak ITPC	0.58(0.16)	0.59(0.14)	0.59(0.15)	$0.60 \ (0.15)$
Beta	Peak ITPC Z	27.20 (16.14)	27.41 (15.33)	26.85 (13.89)	27.45 (14.42)
	Average Power	5.58 (3.49)	5.56 (3.49)	4.87 (3.17)	4.92 (3.19)
	Normalised Power (dB)	$0.50 \ (0.66)$	$0.50 \ (0.66)$	0.55 (0.64)	0.58(0.62)

Table C.3. Peak ITPC and Power of the Temporo-Occipital Region of the Muand Beta Frequency Band Per Age Group and Task Condition



Figure C.3. Raincloud plots showing the distribution of the temporo-occipital Rayleigh's Z peak ITPC values per age group and for the mu and beta band separately.



Figure C.4. The mean ITPC index over the temporo-occipital region per Age Group and Frequency Band. The ITPC index was calculated as the difference between peak ITPC Z of the High Action and Low Action condition. Positive values indicate that the peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition was higher than that of the Low Action Condition. The bars represent the standard error (SE).

Table C.4. Full 2 X 2 with 3 Covariates ANCOVA Results Table with the ITPC Index as Outcome Variable over the Temporo-Occipital Brain Region

Predictor	Sum of	F-statistic	p value	Adjusted p
	Squares			value
Age Group	41191.71	1036.92	< .001	< .001
Frequency Band	16405.84	413.00	< .001	< .001
Age Group * Frequency Band	268.50	6.76	.009	.056
<u>Covariates:</u>				
Hearing Status	15701.84	395.26	< .001	< .001
Log-ratio power	20598.94	518.55	< .001	< .001
AUDIT scores	653.85	16.46	< .001	< .001

Note. The ITPC index was computed by subtracting peak ITPC Z for the High Action condition from the peak ITPC Z for the Low Action condition. AUDIT scores reflect alcohol use. Log-ratio power was the log-ratio of the power between the mu and beta bands and was included to account for the influence of power on ITPC. The adjusted p value is the p value corrected for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni.

Consolidated Bibliography

- Aarsland, D., Brønnick, K., Ehrt, U., De Deyn, P. P., Tekin, S., Emre, M., & Cummings, J. L. (2007). Neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with parkinson's disease and dementia: Frequency, profile and associated care giver stress. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 78(1), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.083113
- Aarsland, D., Batzu, L., Halliday, G. M., Geurtsen, G. J., Ballard, C., Ray Chaudhuri, K., & Weintraub, D. (2021). Parkinson disease-associated cognitive impairment. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 7(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41572-021-00280-3
- Abdi, H. (2007). The bonferonni and šidák corrections for multiple comparisons. Encyclopedia of measurement and statistics, 3(1), 2007.
- Achard, S., & Bullmore, E. (2007). Efficiency and cost of economical brain functional networks. PLOS Computational Biology, 3(2), e17. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pcbi.0030017
- Agresti, A. (2013). Categorical data analysis. Wiley-Interscience.
- Aiello, E. N., Grosso, M., Di Liberto, A., Andriulo, A., Buscone, S., Caracciolo, C., Ottobrini, M., & Luzzatti, C. (2022). Disembodying language: Actionality does not account for verb processing deficits in parkinson's disease. *Journal* of Neurolinguistics, 61, 101040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2021. 101040
- Aita, S. L., Beach, J. D., Taylor, S. E., Borgogna, N. C., Harrell, M. N., & Hill, B. D. (2019). Executive, language, or both? an examination of the construct validity

of verbal fluency measures. *Applied Neuropsychology. Adult*, 26(5), 441–451. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2018.1439830

- Akaike, H. (1998). Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In E. Parzen, K. Tanabe, & G. Kitagawa (Eds.), Selected papers of hirotugu akaike (pp. 199–213). Springer. Retrieved October 21, 2021, from https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-1694-0_15
- Akinina, Y., Dragoy, O., Ivanova, M. V., Iskra, E. V., Soloukhina, O. A., Petryshevsky, A. G., Fedin, O. N., Turken, A. U., Shklovsky, V. M., & Dronkers, N. F. (2019). Grey and white matter substrates of action naming. *Neuropsychologia*, 131, 249–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia. 2019.05.015
- Akram, N., Li, H., Ben-Joseph, A., Budu, C., Gallagher, D. A., Bestwick, J. P., Schrag, A., Noyce, A. J., & Simonet, C. (2022). Developing and assessing a new web-based tapping test for measuring distal movement in parkinson's disease: A distal finger tapping test [Number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group]. Scientific Reports, 12(1), 386. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03563-7
- Alavash, M., Doebler, P., Holling, H., Thiel, C. M., & Gießing, C. (2015). Is functional integration of resting state brain networks an unspecific biomarker for working memory performance? *NeuroImage*, 108, 182–193. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.046
- Albin, R. L., Young, A. B., & Penney, J. B. (1989). The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 12(10), 366–375. https: //doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(89)90074-X
- Alexander, G. E., DeLong, M. R., & Strick, P. L. (1986). Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 9(1), 357–381. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne. 09.030186.002041

- Alexander, G. E., & Crutcher, M. D. (1990). Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: Neural substrates of parallel processing. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 13(7), 266–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(90)90107-L
- Alexandersen, C. G., De Haan, W., Bick, C., & Goriely, A. (2022, June 21). A mechanistic model explains oscillatory slowing and neuronal hyperactivity in alzheimer's disease (preprint). Retrieved July 3, 2023, from http://biorxiv. org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2022.06.20.496731
- Alzheimer's Disease International, Guerchet, M., Prince, M., & Prina, M. (2020). Numbers of people with dementia worldwide: An update to the estimates in the world alzheimer report 2015. Retrieved December 3, 2023, from https: //www.alzint.org/resource/numbers-of-people-with-dementia-worldwide/
- Amini, M., Pedram, M. M., Moradi, A., Jamshidi, M., & Ouchani, M. (2021). Single and combined neuroimaging techniques for alzheimer's disease detection. *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, 2021, 1–22.
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Lustig, C., Head, D., Raichle, M. E., & Buckner, R. L. (2007). Disruption of large-scale brain systems in advanced aging. *Neuron*, 56(5), 924–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron. 2007.10.038
- Anwyl-Irvine, A. L., Dalmaijer, E. S., Hodges, N., & Evershed, J. K. (2021). Realistic precision and accuracy of online experiment platforms, web browsers, and devices. *Behavior Research Methods*, 53(4), 1407–1425. https://doi.org/10. 3758/s13428-020-01501-5
- Anwyl-Irvine, A. L., Massonnié, J., Flitton, A., Kirkham, N., & Evershed, J. K. (2020). Gorilla in our midst: An online behavioral experiment builder. Behavior Research Methods, 52(1), 388–407. https://doi.org/10.3758/ s13428-019-01237-x
- Arévalo, A., Perani, D., Cappa, S. F., Butler, A., Bates, E., & Dronkers, N. (2007). Action and object processing in aphasia: From nouns and verbs to the effect

of manipulability. *Brain and Language*, 100(1), 79–94. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bandl.2006.06.012

- Aron, A. R., Herz, D. M., Brown, P., Forstmann, B. U., & Zaghloul, K. (2016). Frontosubthalamic circuits for control of action and cognition. *The Journal* of neuroscience, 36(45), 11489–11495.
- Auclair-Ouellet, N., Hanganu, A., Mazerolle, E. L., Lang, S. T., Kibreab, M., Ramezani, M., Haffenden, A., Hammer, T., Cheetham, J., Kathol, I., Pike, G. B., Sarna, J., Martino, D., & Monchi, O. (2021). Action fluency identifies different sex, age, global cognition, executive function and brain activation profile in non-demented patients with parkinson's disease. *Journal* of Neurology, 268(3), 1036–1049. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-10245-3
- Auclair-Ouellet, N., Lieberman, P., & Monchi, O. (2017). Contribution of language studies to the understanding of cognitive impairment and its progression over time in parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 80, 657–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.014
- Baayen, R. H., Davidson, D. J., & Bates, D. M. (2008). Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 59(4), 390–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2007.12.005
- Babayan, A., Erbey, M., Kumral, D., Reinelt, J. D., Reiter, A. M. F., Röbbig, J., Schaare, H. L., Uhlig, M., Anwander, A., Bazin, P.-L., Horstmann, A., Lampe, L., Nikulin, V. V., Okon-Singer, H., Preusser, S., Pampel, A., Rohr, C. S., Sacher, J., Thöne-Otto, A., ... Villringer, A. (2019). A mind-brainbody dataset of MRI, EEG, cognition, emotion, and peripheral physiology in young and old adults. *Scientific Data*, 6(1), 180308. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.308
- Babiloni, C., Barry, R. J., Başar, E., Blinowska, K. J., Cichocki, A., Drinkenburg, W. H. I. M., Klimesch, W., Knight, R. T., Lopes da Silva, F., Nunez, P., Oostenveld, R., Jeong, J., Pascual-Marqui, R., Valdes-Sosa, P., & Hallett,

M. (2020). International federation of clinical neurophysiology (IFCN) – EEG research workgroup: Recommendations on frequency and topographic analysis of resting state EEG rhythms. part 1: Applications in clinical research studies. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 131(1), 285–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2019.06.234

- Babor, T. F., Higgins-Biddle, J. C., Saunders, J. B., & Monteiro, M. G. (1992). AUDIT: The alcohol use disorders identification test: Guidelines for use in primary health care, 42. https://doi.org/No.WHO/MSD/MSB/01.6a
- Bäckman, L., & Nilsson, L.-G. (1996). Semantic memory functioning across the adult life span. European Psychologist, 1(1), 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.1.1.27
- Bagarinao, E., Watanabe, H., Maesawa, S., Mori, D., Hara, K., Kawabata, K., Yoneyama, N., Ohdake, R., Imai, K., Masuda, M., Yokoi, T., Ogura, A., Taoka, T., Koyama, S., Tanabe, H. C., Katsuno, M., Wakabayashi, T., Kuzuya, M., Ozaki, N., ... Sobue, G. (2019). Reorganization of brain networks and its association with general cognitive performance over the adult lifespan. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 11352. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-47922-x
- Bailey, N. W., Biabani, M., Hill, A. T., Miljevic, A., Rogasch, N. C., McQueen, B., Murphy, O. W., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2023). Introducing RELAX: An automated pre-processing pipeline for cleaning EEG data - part 1: Algorithm and application to oscillations. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 149, 178–201. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.01.017
- Bailey, N. W., Hill, A. T., Biabani, M., Murphy, O. W., Rogasch, N. C., McQueen,
 B., Miljevic, A., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2023). RELAX part 2: A fully automated
 EEG data cleaning algorithm that is applicable to event-related-potentials. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 149, 202–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.
 2023.01.018

- Bak, T. H., & Hodges, J. R. (2003). Kissing and dancing—a test to distinguish the lexical and conceptual contributions to noun/verb and action/object dissociation. preliminary results in patients with frontotemporal dementia. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 16(2), 169–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0911-6044(02)00011-8
- Balota, D. A., Yap, M. J., Hutchison, K. A., Cortese, M. J., Kessler, B., Loftis, B., Neely, J. H., Nelson, D. L., Simpson, G. B., & Treiman, R. (2007). The english lexicon project. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(3), 445–459. https: //doi.org/10.3758/BF03193014
- Baltes, P. B., & Lindenberger, U. (1997). Emergence of a powerful connection between sensory and cognitive functions across the adult life span: A new window to the study of cognitive aging? *Psychology and Aging*, 12(1), 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.12.1.12
- Banks, B., & Connell, L. (2022). Multi-dimensional sensorimotor grounding of concrete and abstract categories. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 378(1870), 20210366. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.2021.0366
- Bansal, K., Medaglia, J. D., Bassett, D. S., Vettel, J. M., & Muldoon, S. F. (2018). Data-driven brain network models differentiate variability across language tasks. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 14(10), e1006487. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pcbi.1006487
- Barber, H. A., Kousta, S.-T., Otten, L. J., & Vigliocco, G. (2010). Event-related potentials to event-related words: Grammatical class and semantic attributes in the representation of knowledge. *Brain Research*, 1332, 65–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.03.014
- Barsalou, L. W. (1999). Perceptual symbol systems. The Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 22(4), 577–609, discussion 610–660. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0140525x99002149

- Barsalou, L. W. (2008). Grounded cognition. Annual Review of Psychology, 59, 617–645. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093639
- Barton, K. (2022). MuMIn: Multi-model inference. (Version R package version 1.47.1). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn
- Başar, E., Başar-Eroglu, C., Karakaş, S., & Schürmann, M. (2001). Gamma, alpha, delta, and theta oscillations govern cognitive processes. *International Journal* of Psychophysiology, 39(2), 241–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8760(00)00145-8
- Başar, E., Başar-Eroğlu, C., Karakaş, S., & Schürmann, M. (1999). Are cognitive processes manifested in event-related gamma, alpha, theta and delta oscillations in the EEG? *Neuroscience Letters*, 259(3), 165–168. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(98)00934-3
- Bassett, D. S., & Bullmore, E. (2006). Small-world brain networks. *The Neuroscientist*, 12(6), 512–523. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406293182
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bates, D., Mullen, K. M., Nash, J. C., & Varadhan, R. (2023, September 11). Minqa: Derivative-free optimization algorithms by quadratic approximation (Version 1.2.6). Retrieved May 19, 2024, from https://cran.r-project.org/ web/packages/minqa/index.html
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., Ball, R., & Ranieri, W. F. (1996). Comparison of beck depression inventories-IA and-II in psychiatric outpatients. *Journal* of Personality Assessment, 67(3), 588–597. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327752jpa6703_13
- Beckett, M. W., Ardern, C. I., & Rotondi, M. A. (2015). A meta-analysis of prospective studies on the role of physical activity and the prevention of alzheimer's disease in older adults. *BMC Geriatrics*, 15(1), 9. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12877-015-0007-2

- Beker, N., Ganz, A., Hulsman, M., Klausch, T., Schmand, B. A., Scheltens, P., Sikkes, S. A. M., & Holstege, H. (2021). Association of cognitive function trajectories in centenarians with postmortem neuropathology, physical health, and other risk factors for cognitive decline. JAMA network open, 4(1), e2031654. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31654
- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological), 57(1), 289–300. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Berggren, R., Nilsson, J., & Lövdén, M. (2018). Education does not affect cognitive decline in aging: A bayesian assessment of the association between education and change in cognitive performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01138
- Bertella, L., Albani, G., Greco, E., Priano, L., Mauro, A., Marchi, S., Bulla, D., & Semenza, C. (2002). Noun verb dissociation in parkinson's disease. *Brain and Cognition*, 48(2), 277–280. https://doi.org/10.1006/brcg.2001.1361
- Bidet-Ildei, C., Beauprez, S.-A., & Boucard, G. (2020). The link between language and action in aging. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 90, 104099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2020.104099
- Bigdely-Shamlo, N., Mullen, T., Kothe, C., Su, K.-M., & Robbins, K. A. (2015). The PREP pipeline: Standardized preprocessing for large-scale EEG analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 9, 16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2015. 00016
- Binder, J. R., Desai, R. H., Graves, W. W., & Conant, L. L. (2009). Where is the semantic system? a critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(12), 2767–2796. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/cercor/bhp055
- Birba, A., García-Cordero, I., Kozono, G., Legaz, A., Ibáñez, A., Sedeño, L., & García, A. M. (2017). Losing ground: Frontostriatal atrophy disrupts

language embodiment in parkinson's and huntington's disease. Neuroscience
& Biobehavioral Reviews, 80, 673–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.
2017.07.011

- Bocanegra, Y., García, A. M., Lopera, F., Pineda, D., Baena, A., Ospina, P., Alzate, D., Buriticá, O., Moreno, L., Ibáñez, A., & Cuetos, F. (2017). Unspeakable motion: Selective action-verb impairments in parkinson's disease patients without mild cognitive impairment. *Brain and Language*, 168, 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2017.01.005
- Bocanegra, Y., García, A. M., Pineda, D., Buriticá, O., Villegas, A., Lopera, F.,
 Gómez, D., Gómez-Arias, C., Cardona, J. F., Trujillo, N., & Ibáñez, A.
 (2015). Syntax, action verbs, action semantics, and object semantics in
 parkinson's disease: Dissociability, progression, and executive influences.
 Cortex: A Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior,
 69, 237–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2015.05.022
- Boersma, M., Smit, D. J. A., de Bie, H. M. A., Van Baal, G. C. M., Boomsma, D. I., de Geus, E. J. C., Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A., & Stam, C. J. (2011). Network analysis of resting state EEG in the developing young brain: Structure comes with maturation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 32(3), 413–425. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21030
- Bohsali, A. A., Triplett, W., Sudhyadhom, A., Gullett, J. M., McGregor, K., FitzGerald, D. B., Mareci, T., White, K., & Crosson, B. (2015). Broca's area – thalamic connectivity. *Brain and Language*, 141, 80–88. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bandl.2014.12.001
- Bonnefond, M., & Jensen, O. (2012). Alpha oscillations serve to protect working memory maintenance against anticipated distracters. *Current Biology*, 22(20), 1969–1974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.08.029
- Borgeest, G. S., Henson, R. N., Shafto, M., Samu, D., Cam-CAN, & Kievit, R. A. (2020). Greater lifestyle engagement is associated with better age-adjusted

cognitive abilities. *PLOS ONE*, 15(5), e0230077. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0230077

- Börsch-Supan, A., Brandt, M., Hunkler, C., Kneip, T., Korbmacher, J., Malter, F., Schaan, B., Stuck, S., Zuber, S., & SHARE Central Coordination Team. (2013). Data resource profile: The survey of health, ageing and retirement in europe (SHARE). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(4), 992–1001. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt088
- Botvinick, M. M., Cohen, J. D., & Carter, C. S. (2004). Conflict monitoring and anterior cingulate cortex: An update. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(12), 539–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.10.003
- Boulenger, V., Mechtouff, L., Thobois, S., Broussolle, E., Jeannerod, M., & Nazir, T. A. (2008). Word processing in parkinson's disease is impaired for action verbs but not for concrete nouns. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(2), 743–756. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.10.007

Brainard, D. H. (1997). The psychophysics toolbox. Spatial Vision, 10(4), 433–436.

- British Society of Audiology. (2018). Pure tone air and bone conduction threshold audiometry with and without masking. Retrieved August 9, 2023, from https: //www.thebsa.org.uk/resources/pure-tone-air-bone-conduction-thresholdaudiometry-without-masking/
- Brysbaert, M., & Stevens, M. (2018). Power analysis and effect size in mixed effects models: A tutorial. Journal of Cognition, 1(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.5334/ joc.10
- Bullmore, E., & Sporns, O. (2009). Complex brain networks: Graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 10(4), 312–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2618
- Bullmore, E., & Sporns, O. (2012). The economy of brain network organization. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 13(5), 336–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrn3214

- Burke, D. M. (2006, April 27). Representation and aging (E. Bialystok & F. I. M. Craik, Eds.). Oxford University Press. Retrieved November 24, 2023, from https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195169539.003.0013
- Burke, D. M., & Mackay, D. G. (1997). Memory, language, and ageing. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, 352(1363), 1845–1856. Retrieved March 19, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/56630
- Burke, D. M., & Shafto, M. A. (2004). Aging and language production. Current directions in psychological science, 13(1), 21–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 0963-7214.2004.01301006.x
- Cabeza, R. (2002). Hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults: The HAROLD model. Psychology and Aging, 17(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.17.1.85
- Cabeza, R., Albert, M., Belleville, S., Craik, F. I. M., Duarte, A., Grady, C. L., Lindenberger, U., Nyberg, L., Park, D. C., Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., Rugg, M. D., Steffener, J., & Rajah, M. N. (2018). Maintenance, reserve and compensation: The cognitive neuroscience of healthy ageing. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 19(11), 701–710. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0068-2
- Cai, M., Dang, G., Su, X., Zhu, L., Shi, X., Che, S., Lan, X., Luo, X., & Guo, Y. (2021). Identifying mild cognitive impairment in parkinson's disease with electroencephalogram functional connectivity. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2021.701499
- Camerino, I., Ferreira, J., Vonk, J. M., Kessels, R. P. C., de Leeuw, F.-E., Roelofs, A., Copland, D., & Piai, V. (2022). Systematic review and meta-analyses of word production abilities in dysfunction of the basal ganglia: Stroke, small vessel disease, parkinson's disease, and huntington's disease. *Neuropsychology Review*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-022-09570-3
- Cansino, S., Torres-Trejo, F., Estrada-Manilla, C., Pérez-Loyda, M., Vargas-Martínez, C., Tapia-Jaimes, G., & Ruiz-Velasco, S. (2020). Contributions of cognitive aging models to the explanation of source memory decline across

the adult lifespan. *Experimental Aging Research*, 46(3), 194–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073X.2020.1743920

- Castellanos, N. P., & Makarov, V. A. (2006). Recovering EEG brain signals: Artifact suppression with wavelet enhanced independent component analysis. *Journal* of Neuroscience Methods, 158(2), 300–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneumeth.2006.05.033
- Cavanagh, J. F., & Frank, M. J. (2014). Frontal theta as a mechanism for cognitive control. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 18(8), 414–421. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tics.2014.04.012
- Cervetto, S., Díaz-Rivera, M., Petroni, A., Birba, A., Caro, M. M., Sedeño, L., Ibáñez, A., & García, A. M. (2021). The neural blending of words and movement: Event-related potential signatures of semantic and action processes during motor-language coupling. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 33(8), 1413–1427. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01732
- Chan, D., Shafto, M., Kievit, R., Matthews, F., Spink, M., Valenzuela, M., Cam-CAN, & Henson, R. N. (2018). Lifestyle activities in mid-life contribute to cognitive reserve in late-life, independent of education, occupation, and latelife activities. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 70, 180–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2018.06.012
- Chan, M. Y., Park, D. C., Savalia, N. K., Petersen, S. E., & Wig, G. S. (2014). Decreased segregation of brain systems across the healthy adult lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(46), E4997–E5006. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1415122111
- Chaturvedi, M., Bogaarts, J. G., Kozak (Cozac), V. V., Hatz, F., Gschwandtner, U., Meyer, A., Fuhr, P., & Roth, V. (2019). Phase lag index and spectral power as QEEG features for identification of patients with mild cognitive impairment in parkinson's disease. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 130(10), 1937–1944. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2019.07.017

- Chen, W., Hemptinne, C. d., Miller, A. M., Leibbrand, M., Little, S. J., Lim, D. A., Larson, P. S., & Starr, P. A. (2020). Prefrontal-subthalamic hyperdirect pathway modulates movement inhibition in humans. *Neuron*, 106(4), 579–588.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.02.012
- Chiang, A. K. I., Rennie, C. J., Robinson, P. A., van Albada, S. J., & Kerr, C. C. (2011). Age trends and sex differences of alpha rhythms including split alpha peaks. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(8), 1505–1517. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.clinph.2011.01.040
- Chow, R., Rabi, R., Paracha, S., Hasher, L., Anderson, N. D., & Alain, C. (2022). Default mode network and neural phase synchronization in healthy aging: A resting state EEG study. *Neuroscience*, 485, 116–128. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2022.01.008
- Ciccarelli, N., Colombo, B., Pepe, F., Magni, E., Antonietti, A., & Silveri, M. C. (2021). Cognitive reserve: A multidimensional protective factor in parkinson's disease related cognitive impairment. Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 0(0), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825585.2021.1892026
- Ciccarelli, N., Monaco, M. R. L., Fusco, D., Vetrano, D. L., Zuccalà, G., Bernabei, R., Brandi, V., Pisciotta, M. S., & Silveri, M. C. (2018). The role of cognitive reserve in cognitive aging: What we can learn from parkinson's disease. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research, 30(7), 877–880. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s40520-017-0838-0
- Cohen, M. L., Aita, S., Mari, Z., & Brandt, J. (2015). The unique and combined effects of apathy and depression on cognition in parkinson's disease. *Journal* of Parkinson's Disease, 5(2), 351–359. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-140484
- Cohen, M. X. (2014). Analyzing neural time series data: Theory and practice. The MIT Press.
- Coltheart, M., Rastle, K., Perry, C., Langdon, R., & Ziegler, J. (2001). DRC: A dual route cascaded model of visual word recognition and reading aloud.

Psychological Review, 108(1), 204–256. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.108.1.204

- Coltheart, M., Davelaar, E., Jónasson, J., & Besner, D. (2022, May 19). Access to the internal lexicon. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003309734-29
- Condret-Santi, V., Barbeau, E., Matharan, F., Le Goff, M., Dartigues, J.-F., & Amieva, H. (2013). Prevalence of word retrieval complaint and prediction of dementia in a population-based study of elderly subjects. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 35(5), 313–324. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000342594
- Connor, L. T., Spiro, A., III, Obler, L. K., & Albert, M. L. (2004). Change in object naming ability during adulthood. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 59(5), P203–P209. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/59.5.P203
- Cook, R. D. (1977). Detection of influential observation in linear regression. *Technometrics*, 19(1), 15–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1977. 10489493
- Copland, D. A., Brownsett, S., Iyer, K., & Angwin, A. J. (2021). Corticostriatal regulation of language functions. *Neuropsychology Review*, 31(3), 472–494. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-021-09481-9
- Corcoran, A. W., Alday, P. M., Schlesewsky, M., & Bornkessel-Schlesewsky, I. (2018). Toward a reliable, automated method of individual alpha frequency (IAF) quantification. *Psychophysiology*, 55(7), e13064. https://doi.org/10. 1111/psyp.13064
- Cordier, F., Croizet, J.-C., & Rigalleau, F. (2013). Comparing nouns and verbs in a lexical task. Journal of Psycholinguistic Research, 42(1), 21–35. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10936-012-9202-x
- Corley, J., Cox, S. R., & Deary, I. J. (2018). Healthy cognitive ageing in the lothian birth cohort studies: Marginal gains not magic bullet. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(2), 187–207. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717001489

- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are older adults less embodied? a review of age effects through the lens of embodied cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cotelli, M., Borroni, B., Manenti, R., Zanetti, M., Arévalo, A., Cappa, S. F., & Padovani, A. (2007). Action and object naming in parkinson's disease without dementia. *European Journal of Neurology*, 14(6), 632–637. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2007.01797.x
- Courtney, S. M., & Hinault, T. (2021). When the time is right: Temporal dynamics of brain activity in healthy aging and dementia. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 203, 102076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2021.102076
- Cox, S. R., Harris, M. A., Ritchie, S. J., Buchanan, C. R., Valdés Hernández, M. C., Corley, J., Taylor, A. M., Madole, J. W., Harris, S. E., Whalley, H. C., McIntosh, A. M., Russ, T. C., Bastin, M. E., Wardlaw, J. M., Deary, I. J., & Tucker-Drob, E. M. (2021). Three major dimensions of human brain cortical ageing in relation to cognitive decline across the eighth decade of life. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 26(6), 2651–2662. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-020-00975-1
- Crosson, B. (2021). The role of the thalamus in declarative and procedural linguistic memory processes. Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 682199. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpsyg.2021.682199
- Crosson, B., Benefield, H., Cato, M. A., Sadek, J. R., Moore, A. B., Wierenga, C. E., Gopinath, K., Soltysik, D., Bauer, R. M., Auerbach, E. J., Gökçay, D., Leonard, C. M., & Briggs, R. W. (2003). Left and right basal ganglia and frontal activity during language generation: Contributions to lexical, semantic, and phonological processes. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 9(7), 1061–1077. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S135561770397010X
- Dagher, A., Owen, A. M., Boecker, H., & Brooks, D. J. (2001). The role of the striatum and hippocampus in planning: A PET activation study in

parkinson's disease. Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 124, 1020–1032. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.5.1020

- Damoiseaux, J. S. (2017). Effects of aging on functional and structural brain connectivity. *NeuroImage*, 160, 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2017.01.077
- Davies, R. A. I., Arnell, R., Birchenough, J. M. H., Grimmond, D., & Houlson, S. (2017). Reading through the life span: Individual differences in psycholinguistic effects. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 43(8), 1298–1338. https://doi.org/10.1037/xlm0000366.supp
- Davis, M. C., Hill, A. T., Fitzgerald, P. B., Bailey, N. W., Stout, J. C., & Hoy, K. E. (2022, August 24). Examining neurophysiological markers of apathy and processing speed in late premanifest and early-stage manifest huntington's disease. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.08.09.22278610
- Davis, S. W., Dennis, N. A., Daselaar, S. M., Fleck, M. S., & Cabeza, R. (2008). Qué PASA? the posterior-anterior shift in aging. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(5), 1201–1209. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm155
- De Felice, S., & Holland, C. A. (2018). Intra-individual variability across fluid cognition can reveal qualitatively different cognitive styles of the aging brain. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01973
- DeBruine, L. M., & Barr, D. J. (2021). Understanding mixed-effects models through data simulation. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science, 4(1), 2515245920965119. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245920965119
- Deem, M. W. (2013). Statistical mechanics of modularity and horizontal gene transfer. Annual Review of Condensed Matter Physics, 4(1), 287–311. https: //doi.org/10.1146/annurev-conmatphys-030212-184316
- Delenclos, M., Jones, D. R., McLean, P. J., & Uitti, R. J. (2016). Biomarkers in parkinson's disease: Advances and strategies. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 22 Suppl 1, S106–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis. 2015.09.048

- Dell, G. S., Schwartz, M. F., Martin, N., Saffran, E. M., & Gagnon, D. A. (1997). Lexical access in aphasic and nonaphasic speakers. *Psychological Review*, 104(4), 801–838. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.104.4.801
- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 134(1), 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneumeth.2003.10.009
- de Zubicaray, G. I., & Schiller, N. O. (2019). The oxford handbook of neurolinguistics [10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190672027]. Oxford University Press, Incorporated. Retrieved May 19, 2023, from http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ lancaster/detail.action?docID=6380320
- Dimitriadis, S. I., Salis, C., Tarnanas, I., & Linden, D. E. (2017). Topological filtering of dynamic functional brain networks unfolds informative chronnectomics: A novel data-driven thresholding scheme based on orthogonal minimal spanning trees (OMSTs). Frontiers in Neuroinformatics, 11, 28. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fninf.2017.00028
- D'Iorio, A., Maggi, G., Vitale, C., Trojano, L., & Santangelo, G. (2018). "pure apathy" and cognitive dysfunctions in parkinson's disease: A meta-analytic study. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 94, 1–10. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neubiorev.2018.08.004
- Domoto-Reilly, K., Sapolsky, D., Brickhouse, M., & Dickerson, B. C. (2012). Naming impairment in alzheimer's disease is associated with left anterior temporal lobe atrophy. *NeuroImage*, 63(1), 348–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2012.06.018
- Dong, J., Hawes, S., Wu, J., Le, W., & Cai, H. (2021). Connectivity and functionality of the globus pallidus externa under normal conditions and parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir. 2021.645287

- Douw, L., Schoonheim, M. M., Landi, D., van der Meer, M. L., Geurts, J. J. G., Reijneveld, J. C., Klein, M., & Stam, C. J. (2011). Cognition is related to resting-state small-world network topology: An magnetoencephalographic study. *Neuroscience*, 175, 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2010.11.039
- Duchet, B., Sermon, J. J., Weerasinghe, G., Denison, T., & Bogacz, R. (2023). How to entrain a selected neuronal rhythm but not others: Open-loop dithered brain stimulation for selective entrainment. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 20(2), 026003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2552/acbc4a
- Dujardin, K., Sockeel, P., Delliaux, M., Destée, A., & Defebvre, L. (2009). Apathy may herald cognitive decline and dementia in parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 24(16), 2391–2397. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22843
- Duncan, J. (2010). The multiple-demand (MD) system of the primate brain: Mental programs for intelligent behaviour. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 14(4), 172–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.01.004
- Duncan, J., & Owen, A. M. (2000). Common regions of the human frontal lobe recruited by diverse cognitive demands. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 23(10), 475–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(00)01633-7
- Dunn, P. K. (2022, August 17). Tweedie: Evaluation of tweedie exponential family models (Version 2.3.5). Retrieved May 21, 2024, from https://cran.r-project. org/web/packages/tweedie/index.html
- Dunn, P. K., & Smyth, G. K. (2005). Series evaluation of tweedie exponential dispersion model densities. *Statistics and Computing*, 15(4), 267–280. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11222-005-4070-y
- Dymarska, A., Connell, L., & Banks, B. (2023). Weaker than you might imagine: Determining imageability effects on word recognition. *Journal of Memory* and Language, 129, 104398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2022.104398

- Eaton, J. W., Bateman, D., Hauberg, S., & Wehbring, R. (2020). GNU octave version 5.2.0 manual: A high-level interactive language for numerical computations. https://www.gnu.org/software/octave/doc/v5.2.0/
- Ekman, U., Eriksson, J., Forsgren, L., Mo, S. J., Riklund, K., & Nyberg, L. (2012). Functional brain activity and presynaptic dopamine uptake in patients with parkinson's disease and mild cognitive impairment: A cross-sectional study. *The Lancet. Neurology*, 11(8), 679–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70138-2
- Farahani, E. D., Wouters, J., & van Wieringen, A. (2022). Age-related hearing loss is associated with alterations in temporal envelope processing in different neural generators along the auditory pathway. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 13, 905017. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.905017
- Fearnley, J. M., & Lees, A. J. (1991). Ageing and parkinson's disease: Substantia nigra regional selectivity. Brain, 114(5), 2283–2301. https://doi.org/10. 1093/brain/114.5.2283
- Feklicheva, I., Zakharov, I., Chipeeva, N., Maslennikova, E., Korobova, S., Adamovich, T., Ismatullina, V., & Malykh, S. (2021). Assessing the relationship between verbal and nonverbal cognitive abilities using restingstate EEG functional connectivity. *Brain Sciences*, 11(1), 94. https://doi. org/10.3390/brainsci11010094
- Fernandez, H. H., See, R. H., Gary, M. F., Bowers, D., Rodriguez, R. L., Jacobson, C., & Okun, M. S. (2009). Depressive symptoms in parkinson disease correlate with impaired global and specific cognitive performance. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 22(4), 223–227. https://doi. org/10.1177/0891988709335792
- Fischer, M. E., Cruickshanks, K. J., Schubert, C. R., Pinto, A. A., Carlsson, C. M., Klein, B. E. K., Klein, R., & Tweed, T. S. (2016). Agerelated sensory impairments and risk of cognitive impairment [_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jgs.14308]. Journal of the

American Geriatrics Society, 64(10), 1981–1987. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jgs.14308

- Fleck, J. I., Kuti, J., Brown, J., Mahon, J. R., & Gayda-Chelder, C. (2016). Frontalposterior coherence and cognitive function in older adults. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 110, 217–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpsycho.2016.07.501
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "mini-mental state" a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 12(3), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Foo, H., Thalamuthu, A., Jiang, J., Koch, F., Mather, K. A., Wen, W., & Sachdev, P. S. (2021). Age- and sex-related topological organization of human brain functional networks and their relationship to cognition. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 13, 758817. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2021.758817
- Ford, A. H., Hankey, G. J., Yeap, B. B., Golledge, J., Flicker, L., & Almeida, O. P. (2018). Hearing loss and the risk of dementia in later life. *Maturitas*, 112, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.03.004
- Fox, N. A., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Yoo, K. H., Bowman, L. C., Cannon, E. N., Vanderwert, R. E., Ferrari, P. F., & van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2016). Assessing human mirror activity with EEG mu rhythm: A meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, 142(3), 291–313. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000031
- Fraschini, M., Demuru, M., Crobe, A., Marrosu, F., Stam, C. J., & Hillebrand, A. (2016). The effect of epoch length on estimated EEG functional connectivity and brain network organisation. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 13(3), 036015. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/13/3/036015
- Fries, P. (2005). A mechanism for cognitive dynamics: Neuronal communication through neuronal coherence. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 9(10), 474–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005.08.011

- Fries, P. (2015). Rhythms for cognition: Communication through coherence. Neuron, 88(1), 220–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.034
- Friston, K. J. (1994). Functional and effective connectivity in neuroimaging: A synthesis. Human Brain Mapping, 2(1), 56–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.460020107
- Gaál, Z. A., Boha, R., Stam, C. J., & Molnár, M. (2010). Age-dependent features of EEG-reactivity—spectral, complexity, and network characteristics. *Neuroscience Letters*, 479(1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.05.037
- Gallen, C. L., & D'Esposito, M. (2019). Brain modularity: A biomarker of intervention-related plasticity. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 23(4), 293–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.01.014
- Gallese, V., & Cuccio, V. (2018). The neural exploitation hypothesis and its implications for an embodied approach to language and cognition: Insights from the study of action verbs processing and motor disorders in parkinson's disease. *Cortex*, 100, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2018.01.010
- Geerligs, L., Renken, R. J., Saliasi, E., Maurits, N. M., & Lorist, M. M. (2015). A brain-wide study of age-related changes in functional connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(7), 1987–1999. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu012
- Gibson, E. C., Barker, M. S., Martin, A. K., & Robinson, G. A. (2019). Initiation, inhibition and strategy generation across the healthy adult lifespan. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 34 (4), 511–523. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/ acy057
- Gilmour, A. R., Anderson, R. D., & Rae, A. L. (1985). The analysis of binomial data by a generalized linear mixed model. *Biometrika*, 72(3), 593–599. https: //doi.org/10.2307/2336731
- Goetz, C. G., Tilley, B. C., Shaftman, S. R., Stebbins, G. T., Fahn, S., Martinez-Martin, P., Poewe, W., Sampaio, C., Stern, M. B., Dodel, R., Dubois, B., Holloway, R., Jankovic, J., Kulisevsky, J., Lang, A. E., Lees, A., Leurgans, S., LeWitt, P. A., Nyenhuis, D., ... Movement Disorder Society
UPDRS Revision Task Force. (2008). Movement disorder society-sponsored revision of the unified parkinson's disease rating scale (MDS-UPDRS): Scale presentation and clinimetric testing results. *Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society*, 23(15), 2129–2170. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22340

- Goh, J. O. S. (2011). Functional dedifferentiation and altered connectivity in older adults: Neural accounts of cognitive aging. Aging and Disease, 2(1), 30–48. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/473217
- Gola, M., Magnuski, M., Szumska, I., & Wróbel, A. (2013). EEG beta band activity is related to attention and attentional deficits in the visual performance of elderly subjects. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 89(3), 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.007
- Goldman, J., & Litvan, I. (2011). Mild cognitive impairment in parkinson's disease. Minerva medica, 102, 441–59.
- Gonzalez-Burgos, L., Hernández-Cabrera, J. A., Westman, E., Barroso, J., & Ferreira, D. (2019). Cognitive compensatory mechanisms in normal aging: A study on verbal fluency and the contribution of other cognitive functions. Aging, 11(12), 4090–4106. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.102040
- Gordon, J. K., Young, M., & Garcia, C. (2018). Why do older adults have difficulty with semantic fluency? Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 25(6), 803–828. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825585.2017.1374328
- Grady, C. (2012). The cognitive neuroscience of ageing. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 13(7), 491–505. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3256
- Grainger, J., & Holcomb, P. J. (2009). Watching the word go by: On the time-course of component processes in visual word recognition. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 3(1), 128–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-818X.2008.00121.x
- Grill, F., Johansson, J., Axelsson, J., Brynolfsson, P., Nyberg, L., & Rieckmann, A. (2021). Dissecting motor and cognitive component processes of a fingertapping task with hybrid dopamine positron emission tomography and

functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15, 733091. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.733091

- Grotz, C., Seron, X., Van Wissen, M., & Adam, S. (2017). How should proxies of cognitive reserve be evaluated in a population of healthy older adults? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 29(1), 123–136. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1041610216001745
- Grover, S., Nguyen, J. A., & Reinhart, R. M. (2021). Synchronizing brain rhythms to improve cognition. Annual review of medicine, 72, 29–43. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-med-060619-022857
- Guzzetti, S., Mancini, F., Caporali, A., Manfredi, L., & Daini, R. (2019). The association of cognitive reserve with motor and cognitive functions for different stages of parkinson's disease. *Experimental Gerontology*, 115, 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2018.11.020
- Gyulai, A., Körmendi, J., Juhasz, Z., & Nagy, Z. (2021). Inter trial coherence of low-frequency oscillations in the course of stroke recovery. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 132(10), 2447–2455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph. 2021.06.034
- Haber, S. N. (2016). Corticostriatal circuitry. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 18(1), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88832-9_135
- Hajizadeh, A., Matysiak, A., Wolfrum, M., May, P. J. C., & König, R. (2022). Auditory cortex modelled as a dynamical network of oscillators: Understanding event-related fields and their adaptation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 116(4), 475–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00422-022-00936-7
- Han, J. W., Ahn, Y. D., Kim, W.-S., Shin, C. M., Jeong, S. J., Song, Y. S., Bae, Y. J., & Kim, J.-M. (2018). Psychiatric manifestation in patients with parkinson's disease. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, 33(47), e300. https://doi.org/ 10.3346/jkms.2018.33.e300

- Hari, R., Salmelin, R., Mäkelä, J. P., Salenius, S., & Helle, M. (1997). Magnetoencephalographic cortical rhythms. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 26(1), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8760(97)00755-1
- Harmony, T. (2013). The functional significance of delta oscillations in cognitive processing. Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience, 7. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fnint.2013.00083
- Harrell, F. E. (2023). *Hmisc: Harrell miscellaneous* (Version R package version 4.8-0). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Hmisc
- Hartig, F. (2022). DHARMa: Residual diagnostics for hierarchical (multi-level / mixed) regression models (Version R package version 0.4.6). https://CRAN. R-project.org/package=DHARMa
- Hasher, L., & Zacks, R. T. (1988). Working memory, comprehension, and aging: A review and a new view. In *The psychology of learning and motivation: Advances in research and theory, vol. 22* (pp. 193–225). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-7421(08)60041-9
- Hauk, O., Johnsrude, I., & Pulvermüller, F. (2004). Somatotopic representation of action words in human motor and premotor cortex. *Neuron*, 41(2), 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00838-9
- Henelius, A., Korpela, J., & Huotilainen, M. (2011). Individualising EEG frequency bands for sleep deprivation studies. 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 6083–6086. https: //doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6091503
- Henry, J. D., & Crawford, J. R. (2004). Verbal fluency deficits in parkinson's disease: A meta-analysis [Publisher: Cambridge University Press]. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 10(4), 608–622. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1355617704104141
- Herrera, E., Cuetos, F., & Ribacoba, R. (2012). Verbal fluency in parkinson's disease patients on/off dopamine medication. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(14), 3636–3640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.09.016

- Herrera, E., Rodríguez-Ferreiro, J., & Cuetos, F. (2012). The effect of motion content in action naming by parkinson's disease patients. *Cortex*, 48(7), 900–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2010.12.007
- Hindle, J. V., Hurt, C. S., Burn, D. J., Brown, R. G., Samuel, M., Wilson, K. C., & Clare, L. (2016). The effects of cognitive reserve and lifestyle on cognition and dementia in parkinson's disease—a longitudinal cohort study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 31(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps. 4284
- Ho, M.-C., Chou, C.-Y., Huang, C.-F., Lin, Y.-T., Shih, C.-S., Han, S.-Y., Shen, M.-H., Chen, T.-C., Liang, C.-l., Lu, M.-C., & Liu, C.-J. (2012). Age-related changes of task-specific brain activity in normal aging. *Neuroscience Letters*, 507(1), 78–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2011.11.057
- Hobson, H. M., & Bishop, D. V. M. (2016). Mu suppression a good measure of the human mirror neuron system? *Cortex*, 82, 290–310. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cortex.2016.03.019
- Hobson, H. M., & Bishop, D. V. M. (2017). Reply to bowman et al.: Building the foundations for moving mu suppression research forward. *Cortex*, 96, 126–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.06.012
- Houlgreave, M. S., Morera Maiquez, B., Brookes, M. J., & Jackson, S. R. (2022). The oscillatory effects of rhythmic median nerve stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 251, 118990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2022.118990
- Hultsch, D. F., MacDonald, S. W. S., & Dixon, R. A. (2002). Variability in reaction time performance of younger and older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 57(2), P101–P115. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/57.2.P101
- Humphries, M. D., & Gurney, K. (2008). Network 'small-world-ness': A quantitative method for determining canonical network equivalence [Publisher: Public Library of Science]. *PLOS ONE*, 3(4), e0002051. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0002051

- Hutcheon, B., & Yarom, Y. (2000). Resonance, oscillation and the intrinsic frequency preferences of neurons. Trends in Neurosciences, 23(5), 216–222. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0166-2236(00)01547-2
- Hyvarinen, A. (1999). Fast and robust fixed-point algorithms for independent component analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, 10(3), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1109/72.761722
- Indefrey, P., & Levelt, W. J. M. (2004). The spatial and temporal signatures of word production components. *Cognition*, 92(1), 101–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cognition.2002.06.001
- Indefrey, P. (2011). The spatial and temporal signatures of word production components: A critical update. Frontiers in Psychology, 2, 255. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00255
- Ishii, R., Canuet, L., Aoki, Y., Hata, M., Iwase, M., Ikeda, S., Nishida, K., & Ikeda, M. (2017). Healthy and pathological brain aging: From the perspective of oscillations, functional connectivity, and signal complexity. *Neuropsychobiology*, 75(4), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1159/000486870
- James, L. E., & MacKay, D. G. (2007). New age-linked asymmetries: Aging and the processing of familiar versus novel language on the input versus output side. *Psychology and Aging*, 22(1), 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.22.1.94
- Jann, K., Koenig, T., Dierks, T., Boesch, C., & Federspiel, A. (2010). Association of individual resting state EEG alpha frequency and cerebral blood flow. *NeuroImage*, 51(1), 365–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02. 024
- Jansen, A. P. D., van Hout, H. P. J., Nijpels, G., van Marwijk, H. W. J., Gundy, C., de Vet, H. C. W., & Stalman, W. A. B. (2008). Self-reports on the IQCODE in older adults: A psychometric evaluation [Publisher: SAGE Publications Inc STM]. Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology, 21(2), 83–92. https: //doi.org/10.1177/0891988707311558

- Jellinger, K. A. (2012). Neuropathology of sporadic parkinson's disease: Evaluation and changes of concepts [_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/mds.237 Movement Disorders, 27(1), 8–30. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23795
- Jensen, M., Hyder, R., & Shtyrov, Y. (2019). MVPA analysis of intertrial phase coherence of neuromagnetic responses to words reliably classifies multiple levels of language processing in the brain. eNeuro, 6(4), ENEURO.0444–18.2019. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0444-18.2019
- Jensen, O., & Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: Gating by inhibition. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 4, 186. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00186
- Jirak, D., Menz, M. M., Buccino, G., Borghi, A. M., & Binkofski, F. (2010). Grasping language – a short story on embodiment. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 19(3), 711–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2010.06.020
- Johari, K., Walenski, M., Reifegerste, J., Ashrafi, F., Behroozmand, R., Daemi, M., & Ullman, M. T. (2019). A dissociation between syntactic and lexical processing in parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 51, 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2019.03.004
- Jones, D. T., Knopman, D. S., Gunter, J. L., Graff-Radford, J., Vemuri, P., Boeve, B. F., Petersen, R. C., Weiner, M. W., Jack, C. R., Jr, & on behalf of the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. (2016). Cascading network failure across the alzheimer's disease spectrum. *Brain*, 139(2), 547–562. https: //doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv338
- Kalia, L. V., & Lang, A. E. (2015). Parkinson's disease. The Lancet, 386(9996), 896–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61393-3
- Kauschke, C., & Stenneken, P. (2008). Differences in noun and verb processing in lexical decision cannot be attributed to word form and morphological complexity alone. Journal of Psycholinguistic Research, 37(6), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10936-008-9073-3

- Kavé, G., Knafo, A., & Gilboa, A. (2010). The rise and fall of word retrieval across the lifespan. Psychology and Aging, 25(3), 719–724. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0018927
- Kavé, G., & Knafo-Noam, A. (2015). Lifespan development of phonemic and semantic fluency: Universal increase, differential decrease. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 37(7), 751–763. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13803395.2015.1065958
- Kearney, P. M., Cronin, H., O'Regan, C., Kamiya, Y., Savva, G. M., Whelan, B., & Kenny, R. (2011). Cohort profile: The irish longitudinal study on ageing. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 40(4), 877–884. https://doi.org/10. 1093/ije/dyr116
- Kellenbach, M. L., Brett, M., & Patterson, K. (2003). Actions speak louder than functions: The importance of manipulability and action in tool representation. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 15(1), 30–46. https:// doi.org/10.1162/089892903321107800
- Kemmerer, D. (2019). From blueprints to brain maps: The status of the lemma model in cognitive neuroscience. Language, Cognition and Neuroscience, 34(9), 1085–1116. https://doi.org/10.1080/23273798.2018.1537498
- Keuleers, E., & Brysbaert, M. (2010). Wuggy: A multilingual pseudoword generator. Behavior Research Methods, 42(3), 627–633. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM. 42.3.627
- Khader, P., Scherag, A., Streb, J., & Rösler, F. (2003). Differences between noun and verb processing in a minimal phrase context: A semantic priming study using event-related brain potentials. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 17(2), 293–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(03)00130-7
- Kiefer, M., & Pulvermüller, F. (2012). Conceptual representations in mind and brain: Theoretical developments, current evidence and future directions. *Cortex*, 48(7), 805–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2011.04.006

- Kleiner, M., Brainard, D., Pelli, D., Ingling, A., Murray, R., & Broussard, C. (2007). What's new in psychoolbox-3. *Perception*, 36(14), 1–16.
- Klimesch, W. (1999). EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: A review and analysis. Brain Research Reviews, 29(2), 169–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(98)00056-3
- Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., & Hanslmayr, S. (2007). EEG alpha oscillations: The inhibition-timing hypothesis. Brain Research Reviews, 53(1), 63–88. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.06.003
- Klostermann, F., Krugel, L. K., & Ehlen, F. (2013). Functional roles of the thalamus for language capacities. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 7, 32. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2013.00032
- Koen, J. D., & Rugg, M. D. (2019). Neural dedifferentiation in the aging brain. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 23(7), 547–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics. 2019.04.012
- Koerts, J., Tucha, L., Lange, K. W., & Tucha, O. (2013). The influence of cognitive reserve on cognition in parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 120(4), 593–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-012-0916-6
- Köhncke, Y., Papenberg, G., Jonasson, L., Karalija, N., Wåhlin, A., Salami, A., Andersson, M., Axelsson, J. E., Nyberg, L., Riklund, K., Bäckman, L., Lindenberger, U., & Lövdén, M. (2018). Self-rated intensity of habitual physical activities is positively associated with dopamine d2/3 receptor availability and cognition. *NeuroImage*, 181, 605–616. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2018.07.036
- Koutlis, C., Kimiskidis, V. K., & Kugiumtzis, D. (2021). Comparison of causality network estimation in the sensor and source space: Simulation and application on EEG. Frontiers in Network Physiology, 1. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fnetp.2021.706487

- Kutas, M., & Federmeier, K. D. (2000). Electrophysiology reveals semantic memory use in language comprehension. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 4(12), 463–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01560-6
- Kutas, M., & Federmeier, K. D. (2011). Thirty years and counting: Finding meaning in the n400 component of the event-related brain potential (ERP). Annual Review of Psychology, 62(1), 621–647. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. psych.093008.131123
- Lai, M., Demuru, M., Hillebrand, A., & Fraschini, M. (2018). A comparison between scalp- and source-reconstructed EEG networks. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 12269. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30869-w
- Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. (1980). Metaphors we live by. University of Chicago Press.
- Lau, E. F., Phillips, C., & Poeppel, D. (2008). A cortical network for semantics: (de)constructing the n400. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 9(12), 920–933. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2532
- Lavrencic, L. M., Churches, O. F., & Keage, H. A. D. (2018). Cognitive reserve is not associated with improved performance in all cognitive domains. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult, 25*(5), 473–485. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095. 2017.1329146
- Lehrer, P., & Eddie, D. (2013). Dynamic processes in regulation and some implications for biofeedback and biobehavioral interventions. Applied psychophysiology and biofeedback, 38(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-013-9217-6
- Lenth, R. V. (2021). Emmeans: Estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means. (Version R package version 1.6.3). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package= emmeans
- Letanneux, A., Velay, J.-L., Viallet, F., & Pinto, S. (2021). Altered inhibitory mechanisms in parkinson's disease: Evidence from lexical decision and simple reaction time tasks. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15, 624026. https: //doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.624026

- Levelt, W. J. M., Praamstra, P., Meyer, A. S., Helenius, P., & Salmelin, R. (1998). An MEG study of picture naming. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 10(5), 553–567. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892998562960
- Levelt, W. J. M., Roelofs, A., & Meyer, A. S. (1999). A theory of lexical access in speech production. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 22(1), 1–38. https: //doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X99001776
- Li, S.-C., & Lindenberger, U. (1999). Cross-level unification: A computational exploration of the link between deterioration of neurotransmitter systems and dedifferentiation of cognitive abilities in old age. In *Cognitive neuroscience* of memory (pp. 103–146). Hogrefe & Huber Publishers.
- Li, S.-C., Lindenberger, U., & Sikström, S. (2001). Aging cognition: From neuromodulation to representation. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 5(11), 479–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01769-1
- Li, S.-C., & Rieckmann, A. (2014). Neuromodulation and aging: Implications of aging neuronal gain control on cognition. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 29, 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.07.009
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., Brayne, C., Burns, A., Cohen-Mansfield, J., Cooper, C., Costafreda, S. G., Dias, A., Fox, N., Gitlin, L. N., Howard, R., Kales, H. C., Kivimäki, M., Larson, E. B., Ogunniyi, A., ... Mukadam, N. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the lancet commission. *The Lancet*, 396(10248), 413–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Lo, S., & Andrews, S. (2015). To transform or not to transform: Using generalized linear mixed models to analyse reaction time data. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 1171. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01171
- López-Sanz, D., Bruña, R., Garcés, P., Martín-Buro, M. C., Walter, S., Delgado, M. L., Montenegro, M., López Higes, R., Marcos, A., & Maestú, F. (2017). Functional connectivity disruption in subjective cognitive decline and mild

cognitive impairment: A common pattern of alterations. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00109

- Lüdecke, D. (2021). Systats: Statistical functions for regression models (Version 0.18.1). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=sjstats
- Lynott, D., Connell, L., Brysbaert, M., Brand, J., & Carney, J. (2020). The lancaster sensorimotor norms: Multidimensional measures of perceptual and action strength for 40,000 english words. *Behavior Research Methods*, 52(3), 1271–1291. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-019-01316-z
- Ma, L., Tian, L., Hu, T., Jiang, T., & Zuo, N. (2021). Development of individual variability in brain functional connectivity and capability across the adult lifespan. *Cerebral Cortex*, 31(8), 3925–3938. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/ bhab059
- MacDonald, A. W., Cohen, J. D., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2000). Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. *Science*, 288(5472), 1835–1838. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.288.5472.1835
- Mackay, A. J., Connor, L. T., Albert, M. L., & Obler, L. K. (2002). Noun and verb retrieval in healthy aging. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 8(6), 764–770. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617702860040
- Mahjoory, K., Nikulin, V. V., Botrel, L., Linkenkaer-Hansen, K., Fato, M. M., & Haufe, S. (2017). Consistency of EEG source localization and connectivity estimates. *NeuroImage*, 152, 590–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2017.02.076
- Mahon, B. Z., & Caramazza, A. (2009). Concepts and categories: A cognitive neuropsychological perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 60, 27–51. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163532
- Makeig, S., Debener, S., Onton, J., & Delorme, A. (2004). Mining event-related brain dynamics. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 8(5), 204–210. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.03.008

- Marini, A., & Andreetta, S. (2016). Age-related effects on language production: A combined psycholinguistic and neurolinguistic perspective. In *Cognition*, *language and aging* (pp. 55–79). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Markiewicz, C. J., Gorgolewski, K. J., Feingold, F., Blair, R., Halchenko, Y. O.,
 Miller, E., Hardcastle, N., Wexler, J., Esteban, O., Goncavles, M., Jwa, A.,
 & Poldrack, R. (2021). The OpenNeuro resource for sharing of neuroscience data. *eLife*, 10, e71774. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.71774
- Mätzig, S., Druks, J., Masterson, J., & Vigliocco, G. (2009). Noun and verb differences in picture naming: Past studies and new evidence. *Cortex*, 45(6), 738–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2008.10.003
- McDowd, J., Hoffman, L., Rozek, E., Lyons, K. E., Pahwa, R., Burns, J., & Kemper, S. (2011). Understanding verbal fluency in healthy aging, alzheimer's disease, and parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychology*, 25(2), 210–225. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0021531
- McGregor, M. M., & Nelson, A. B. (2019). Circuit mechanisms of parkinson's disease. Neuron, 101(6), 1042–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.03.004
- McIntosh, A. R., Vakorin, V., Kovacevic, N., Wang, H., Diaconescu, A., & Protzner, A. B. (2014). Spatiotemporal dependency of age-related changes in brain signal variability. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(7), 1806–1817. https://doi.org/10. 1093/cercor/bht030
- McKenzie, C., Bucks, R. S., Weinborn, M., Bourgeat, P., Salvado, O., & Gavett, B. E. (2020). Cognitive reserve predicts future executive function decline in older adults with alzheimer's disease pathology but not age-associated pathology. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 88, 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2019.12.022
- Meade, G., Grainger, J., Midgley, K. J., Emmorey, K., & Holcomb, P. J. (2018). From sublexical facilitation to lexical competition: ERP effects of masked neighbor priming. *Brain research*, 1685, 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainres.2018.01.029

- Meinzer, M., Flaisch, T., Wilser, L., Eulitz, C., Rockstroh, B., Conway, T., Gonzalez-Rothi, L., & Crosson, B. (2009). Neural signatures of semantic and phonemic fluency in young and old adults. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 21(10), 2007–2018. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21219
- Micheloyannis, S., Vourkas, M., Tsirka, V., Karakonstantaki, E., Kanatsouli, K., & Stam, C. J. (2007). The influence of ageing on complex brain networks: A graph theoretical analysis. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(1), 200–208. https: //doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20492
- Middleton, F. A., & Strick, P. L. (2000). Basal ganglia and cerebellar loops: Motor and cognitive circuits. Brain Research Reviews, 31(2), 236–250. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00040-5
- Miljevic, A., Bailey, N. W., Vila-Rodriguez, F., Herring, S. E., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2022). Electroencephalographic connectivity: A fundamental guide and checklist for optimal study design and evaluation. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 7(6), 546–554. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bpsc.2021.10.017
- Moezzi, B., Pratti, L. M., Hordacre, B., Graetz, L., Berryman, C., Lavrencic, L. M., Ridding, M. C., Keage, H. A. D., McDonnell, M. D., & Goldsworthy, M. R. (2019). Characterization of young and old adult brains: An EEG functional connectivity analysis. *Neuroscience*, 422, 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2019.08.038
- Montoya-Murillo, G., Ibarretxe-Bilbao, N., Peña, J., & Ojeda, N. (2019). The impact of apathy on cognitive performance in the elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 34(5), 657–665. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5062
- Moreno, I., de Vega, M., & León, I. (2013). Understanding action language modulates oscillatory mu and beta rhythms in the same way as observing actions. *Brain* and Cognition, 82(3), 236–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2013.04.010

- Mortensen, L., Meyer, A. S., & Humphreys, G. W. (2006). Age-related effects on speech production: A review. Language and Cognitive Processes, 21(1), 238–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/01690960444000278
- Morton, J. (1969). Interaction of information in word recognition [Place: US Publisher: American Psychological Association]. Psychological Review, 76, 165–178. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0027366
- Moseley, R. L., & Pulvermüller, F. (2014). Nouns, verbs, objects, actions, and abstractions: Local fMRI activity indexes semantics, not lexical categories. *Brain and Language*, 132, 28–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2014.03. 001
- Moseley, R. L., Pulvermüller, F., & Shtyrov, Y. (2013). Sensorimotor semantics on the spot: Brain activity dissociates between conceptual categories within 150 ms. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 1928. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01928
- Mousavi, N., Nazari, M. A., Babapour, J., & Jahan, A. (2020). Electroencephalographic characteristics of word finding during phonological and semantic verbal fluency tasks. *Neuropsychopharmacology Reports*, 40(3), 254–261. https:// doi.org/10.1002/npr2.12129
- Moustafa, A. A., McMullan, R. D., Rostron, B., Hewedi, D. H., & Haladjian, H. H. (2017). The thalamus as a relay station and gatekeeper: Relevance to brain disorders. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 28(2), 203–218. https://doi.org/10. 1515/revneuro-2016-0067
- Nag, N., & Jelinek, G. A. (2019). A narrative review of lifestyle factors associated with parkinson's disease risk and progression. *Neurodegenerative Diseases*, 19(2), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1159/000502292
- Nagano-Saito, A., Habak, C., Mejía-Constaín, B., Degroot, C., Monetta, L., Jubault, T., Bedetti, C., Lafontaine, A.-L., Chouinard, S., Soland, V., Ptito, A., Strafella, A. P., & Monchi, O. (2014). Effect of mild cognitive impairment on the patterns of neural activity in early parkinson's disease.

Neurobiology of Aging, 35(1), 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.025

- Nambu, A., Tokuno, H., & Takada, M. (2002). Functional significance of the cortico-subthalamo-pallidal 'hyperdirect' pathway. *Neuroscience Research*, 43(2), 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-0102(02)00027-5
- Nash-Kille, A., & Sharma, A. (2014). Inter-trial coherence as a marker of cortical phase synchrony in children with sensorineural hearing loss and auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder fitted with hearing aids and cochlear implants. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 125(7), 1459–1470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinph.2013.11.017
- Nelder, J. A., & Wedderburn, R. W. M. (1972). Generalized linear models. Royal Statistical Society. Journal. Series A: General, 135(3), 370–384. https://doi. org/10.2307/2344614
- Newman, M. E. J. (2006). Modularity and community structure in networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(23), 8577–8582. https: //doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601602103
- Ng, A., Chander, R. J., Tan, L. C. S., & Kandiah, N. (2015). Influence of depression in mild parkinson's disease on longitudinal motor and cognitive function. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 21(9), 1056–1060. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.parkreldis.2015.06.014
- Noyce, A. J., Nagy, A., Acharya, S., Hadavi, S., Bestwick, J. P., Fearnley, J., Lees, A. J., & Giovannoni, G. (2014). Bradykinesia-akinesia incoordination test: Validating an online keyboard test of upper limb function. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4), e96260. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096260
- Office for National Statistics. (2020). SOC 2020 volume 1: Structure and descriptions of unit groups. Retrieved May 9, 2022, from https://www.ons.gov.uk/ methodology/classificationsandstandards/standardoccupationalclassificationsoc/ soc2020/soc2020volume1structureanddescriptionsofunitgroups

- O'Neill, G. C., Tewarie, P., Vidaurre, D., Liuzzi, L., Woolrich, M. W., & Brookes, M. J. (2018). Dynamics of large-scale electrophysiological networks: A technical review. *NeuroImage*, 180, 559–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.10.003
- Onnela, J.-P., Saramäki, J., Kertész, J., & Kaski, K. (2005). Intensity and coherence of motifs in weighted complex networks. *Physical Review E*, 71(6), 065103. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.71.065103
- Oostenveld, R., Fries, P., Maris, E., & Schoffelen, J.-M. (2010). FieldTrip: Open source software for advanced analysis of MEG, EEG, and invasive electrophysiological data. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2011, e156869. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/156869
- Oosterhuis, E. J., Slade, K., May, P. J. C., & Nuttall, H. E. (2022). Toward an understanding of healthy cognitive aging: The importance of lifestyle in cognitive reserve and the scaffolding theory of aging and cognition. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, gbac197. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/ gbac197
- Oosterhuis, E. J., Slade, K., Smith, E., May, P. J. C., & Nuttall, H. E. (2023). Getting the brain into gear: An online study investigating cognitive reserve and word-finding abilities in healthy ageing. *PLOS ONE*, 18(4), e0280566. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0280566
- Ou, Z., Pan, J., Tang, S., Duan, D., Yu, D., Nong, H., & Wang, Z. (2021). Global trends in the incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability of parkinson's disease in 204 countries/territories from 1990 to 2019. Frontiers in Public Health, 9, 776847. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.776847
- Pagonabarraga, J., & Kulisevsky, J. (2012). Cognitive impairment and dementia in parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of Disease, 46(3), 590–596. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nbd.2012.03.029
- Papenberg, G., Hämmerer, D., Müller, V., Lindenberger, U., & Li, S.-C. (2013). Lower theta inter-trial phase coherence during performance monitoring is

related to higher reaction time variability: A lifespan study. *NeuroImage*, 83, 912–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.07.032

- Parkinson's UK. (2018, January). The incidence and prevalence of parkinson's in the UK: Results from the clinical practice research datalink summary report. (Summary Report). Retrieved July 12, 2021, from https://www.parkinsons. org.uk/professionals/resources/incidence-and-prevalence-parkinsons-ukreport
- Parvaz, M. A., Alia-Klein, N., Woicik, P. A., Volkow, N. D., & Goldstein, R. Z. (2011). Neuroimaging for drug addiction and related behaviors. *Reviews in the neurosciences*, 22(6), 609–624. https://doi.org/10.1515/RNS.2011.055
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Grossman, M., & Wingfield, A. (2011). Hearing loss in older adults affects neural systems supporting speech comprehension. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(35), 12638–12643. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2559-11.2011
- Péran, P., Nemmi, F., Méligne, D., Cardebat, D., Peppe, A., Rascol, O., Caltagirone, C., Demonet, J. F., & Sabatini, U. (2013). Effect of levodopa on both verbal and motor representations of action in parkinson's disease: A fMRI study. *Brain and Language*, 125(3), 324–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2012. 06.001
- Péran, P., Cardebat, D., Cherubini, A., Piras, F., Luccichenti, G., Peppe, A., Caltagirone, C., Rascol, O., Démonet, J.-F., & Sabatini, U. (2009). Object naming and action-verb generation in parkinson's disease: A fMRI study. *Cortex*, 45(8), 960–971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2009.02.019
- Petti, M., Toppi, J., Babiloni, F., Cincotti, F., Mattia, D., & Astolfi, L. (2016). EEG resting-state brain topological reorganization as a function of age. Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience, 2016, 6243694. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/6243694
- Piai, V., Roelofs, A., Acheson, D. J., & Takashima, A. (2013). Attention for speaking: Domain-general control from the anterior cingulate cortex in spoken word

production. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnhum.2013.00832

- Piai, V., & Eikelboom, D. (2023). Brain areas critical for picture naming: A systematic review and meta-analysis of lesion-symptom mapping studies. *Neurobiology of Language (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 4(2), 280–296. https://doi. org/10.1162/nol_a_00097
- Piatt, A. L., Fields, J. A., Paolo, A. M., Koller, W. C., & Tröster, A. I. (1999). Lexical, semantic, and action verbal fluency in parkinson's disease with and without dementia. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 21(4), 435–443. https://doi.org/10.1076/jcen.21.4.435.885
- Pineda, J. O. A., & Oberman, L. M. (2006). What goads cigarette smokers to smoke? neural adaptation and the mirror neuron system. *Brain Research*, 1121(1), 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.08.128
- Pion-Tonachini, L., Kreutz-Delgado, K., & Makeig, S. (2019). ICLabel: An automated electroencephalographic independent component classifier, dataset, and website. *NeuroImage*, 198, 181–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2019.05.026
- Pisoni, D. B., Nusbaum, H. C., Luce, P. A., & Slowiaczek, L. M. (1985). Speech perception, word recognition and the structure of the lexicon. Speech communication, 4(1), 75–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-6393(85)90037-8
- Porjesz, B., Rangaswamy, M., Kamarajan, C., Jones, K. A., Padmanabhapillai, A., & Begleiter, H. (2005). The utility of neurophysiological markers in the study of alcoholism. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 116(5), 993–1018. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clinph.2004.12.016
- Postuma, R. B., Aarsland, D., Barone, P., Burn, D. J., Hawkes, C. H., Oertel, W., & Ziemssen, T. (2012). Identifying prodromal parkinson's disease: Pre-motor disorders in parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 27(5), 617–626. https: //doi.org/10.1002/mds.24996

- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., Obeso, J., Marek, K., Litvan, I., Lang, A. E., Halliday, G., Goetz, C. G., Gasser, T., Dubois, B., Chan, P., Bloem, B. R., Adler, C. H., & Deuschl, G. (2015).
 MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders:* Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society, 30(12), 1591–1601. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26424
- Preissl, H., Lutzenberger, W., & Pulvermüller, F. (1996). Is there chaos in the brain? Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 19(2), 307–308. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0140525X00042825
- Price, C. J. (2010). The anatomy of language: A review of 100 fMRI studies published in 2009. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1191(1), 62–88. https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05444.x
- Price, C. J. (2012). A review and synthesis of the first 20years of PET and fMRI studies of heard speech, spoken language and reading. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 816–847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.04.062
- Protopapas, A. (2007). Check vocal: A program to facilitate checking the accuracy and response time of vocal responses from DMDX. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(4), 859–862. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03192979
- Pulvermüller, F. (2013). How neurons make meaning: Brain mechanisms for embodied and abstract-symbolic semantics. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 17(9), 458–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.06.004
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ratcliff, R., Thapar, A., Gomez, P., & McKoon, G. (2004). A diffusion model analysis of the effects of aging in the lexical-decision task. *Psychology and Aging*, 19(2), 278–289. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.19.2.278
- Reas, E. T., Laughlin, G. A., Bergstrom, J., Kritz-Silverstein, D., & McEvoy, L. K. (2019). Physical activity and trajectories of cognitive change in community-

dwelling older adults: The rancho bernardo study. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD*, 71(1), 109–118. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-190491

- Reas, E. T., Laughlin, G. A., Bergstrom, J., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Richard, E. L., Barrett-Connor, E., & McEvoy, L. K. (2019). Lifetime physical activity and late-life cognitive function: The rancho bernardo study. Age and Ageing, 48(2), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy188
- Reifegerste, J., Meyer, A. S., Zwitserlood, P., & Ullman, M. T. (2021). Aging affects steaks more than knives: Evidence that the processing of words related to motor skills is relatively spared in aging. *Brain and Language*, 218, 104941. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2021.104941
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2014). How does it STAC up? revisiting the scaffolding theory of aging and cognition. *Neuropsychology review*, 24(3), 355–370. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-014-9270-9
- Rice, G. E., Lambon Ralph, M. A., & Hoffman, P. (2015). The roles of left versus right anterior temporal lobes in conceptual knowledge: An ALE meta-analysis of 97 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(11), 4374–4391. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv024
- Roberts, A., Nguyen, P., Orange, J. B., Jog, M., Nisbet, K. A., & McRae, K. (2017). Differential impairments of upper and lower limb movements influence action verb processing in parkinson disease. *Cortex*, 97, 49–59. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cortex.2017.09.022
- Rodriguez, F. S., Roehr, S., Pabst, A., Kleineidam, L., Fuchs, A., Wiese, B., Lühmann, D., Brettschneider, C., Wolfsgruber, S., Pentzek, M., Bussche, H. v. d., König, H.-H., Weyerer, S., Werle, J., Bickel, H., Weeg, D., Maier, W., Scherer, M., Wagner, M., & Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2021). Effects of APOE e4-allele and mental work demands on cognitive decline in old age: Results from the german study on ageing, cognition, and dementia in primary care patients (AgeCoDe). International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 36(1), 152–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5409

- Rodríguez-Ferreiro, J., Menéndez, M., Ribacoba, R., & Cuetos, F. (2009). Action naming is impaired in parkinson disease patients. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(14), 3271–3274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.07.007
- Roelofs, A. (2005). Spoken word planning, comprehending, and self-monitoring: Evaluation of WEAVER++. In *Phonological encoding and monitoring in* normal and pathological speech (pp. 42–63). Psychology Press.
- Roelofs, A. (2014). A dorsal-pathway account of aphasic language production: The WEAVER++/ARC model. Cortex, 59, 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cortex.2014.07.001
- Roelofs, A. (2023). Word production and comprehension in frontotemporal degeneration: A neurocognitive computational pickian account. *Cortex*, 163, 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2023.03.003
- Rosazza, C., & Minati, L. (2011). Resting-state brain networks: Literature review and clinical applications. *Neurological Sciences*, 32(5), 773–785. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10072-011-0636-y
- Rouillard, M., Audiffren, M., Albinet, C., Ali Bahri, M., Garraux, G., & Collette, F. (2017). Contribution of four lifelong factors of cognitive reserve on late cognition in normal aging and parkinson's disease. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 39(2), 142–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13803395.2016.1207755
- Rubinov, M., & Sporns, O. (2010). Complex network measures of brain connectivity: Uses and interpretations. *NeuroImage*, 52(3), 1059–1069. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.003
- Sabatini, U., Boulanouar, K., Fabre, N., Martin, F., Carel, C., Colonnese, C., Bozzao, L., Berry, I., Montastruc, J. L., Chollet, F., & Rascol, O. (2000). Cortical motor reorganization in akinetic patients with parkinson's disease: A functional MRI study. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 123 (Pt 2), 394–403. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/123.2.394

- Sala-Llonch, R., Junqué, C., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Vidal-Piñeiro, D., Valls-Pedret, C., Palacios, E. M., Domènech, S., Salvà, A., Bargalló, N., & Bartrés-Faz, D. (2014). Changes in whole-brain functional networks and memory performance in aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 35(10), 2193–2202. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.04.007
- Salmazo-Silva, H., Parente, M. A. d. M. P., Rocha, M. S., Baradel, R. R., Cravo, A. M., Sato, J. R., Godinho, F., & Carthery-Goulart, M. T. (2017). Lexicalretrieval and semantic memory in parkinson's disease: The question of noun and verb dissociation. *Brain and Language*, 165, 10–20. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bandl.2016.10.006
- Salthouse, T. A. (1990). Working memory as a processing resource in cognitive aging. Developmental Review, 10(1), 101–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-2297(90)90006-P
- Salthouse, T. A. (1996). The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychological Review*, 103(3), 403–428. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0033-295X.103.3.403
- Salthouse, T. A. (2009, December 28). 1 relations between age and cognitive functioning. In T. Salthouse (Ed.), *Major issues in cognitive aging* (p. 0). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195372151. 003.0001
- Sawa, M., Yamashita, H., Fujimaki, K., Okada, G., Takahashi, T., & Yamawaki, S. (2012). Depressive symptoms and apathy are associated with psychomotor slowness and frontal activation. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 262(6), 493–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-012-0296-9
- Scally, B., Burke, M. R., Bunce, D., & Delvenne, J.-F. (2018). Resting-state EEG power and connectivity are associated with alpha peak frequency slowing in healthy aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 71, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2018.07.004

- Schiehser, D. M., Liu, L., Lessig, S. L., Song, D. D., Obtera, K. M., Iii, M. M. B., Earl, S. R., & Filoteo, J. V. (2013). Predictors of discrepancies in parkinson's disease patient and caregiver ratings of apathy, disinhibition, and executive dysfunction before and after diagnosis. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 19(3), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1355617712001385
- Schoffelen, J.-M., & Gross, J. (2009). Source connectivity analysis with MEG and EEG. Human Brain Mapping, 30(6), 1857–1865. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.20745
- Scott, G. G., Keitel, A., Becirspahic, M., Yao, B., & Sereno, S. C. (2019). The glasgow norms: Ratings of 5,500 words on nine scales. *Behavior Research Methods*, 51(3), 1258–1270. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-018-1099-3
- Seeman, T. E., Huang, M.-H., Bretsky, P., Crimmins, E., Launer, L., & Guralnik, J. M. (2005). Education and APOE-e4 in longitudinal cognitive decline: MacArthur studies of successful aging. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series* B, 60(2), P74–P83. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/60.2.P74
- Seidenberg, M. S., & McClelland, J. L. (1989). A distributed, developmental model of word recognition and naming. *Psychological Review*, 96(4), 523–568. https: //doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.96.4.523
- Shao, Z., Janse, E., Visser, K., & Meyer, A. S. (2014). What do verbal fluency tasks measure? predictors of verbal fluency performance in older adults. *Frontiers* in Psychology, 5, 772. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00772
- Shih, I.-F., Liew, Z., Krause, N., & Ritz, B. (2016). Lifetime occupational and leisure time physical activity and risk of parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 28, 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.05.007
- Shih, I.-F., Paul, K., Haan, M., Yu, Y., & Ritz, B. (2018). Physical activity modifies the influence of apolipoprotein e ε4 allele and type 2 diabetes on dementia and cognitive impairment among older mexican americans. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 14(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2017.05.005

- Siegel, M., Warden, M. R., & Miller, E. K. (2009). Phase-dependent neuronal coding of objects in short-term memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(50), 21341–21346. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908193106
- Signorini, M., & Volpato, C. (2006). Action fluency in parkinson's disease: A followup study. Movement Disorders, 21(4), 467–472. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mds.20718
- Siokas, V., Liampas, I., Lyketsos, C. G., & Dardiotis, E. (2022). Association between motor signs and cognitive performance in cognitively unimpaired older adults: A cross-sectional study using the NACC database. Brain Sciences, 12(10), 1365. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci12101365
- Sitnikova, T., West, W. C., Kuperberg, G. R., & Holcomb, P. J. (2006). The neural organization of semantic memory: Electrophysiological activity suggests feature-based segregation. *Biological Psychology*, 71(3), 326–340. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.07.003
- Skinner, H. A. (1982). The drug abuse screening test. Addictive Behaviors, 7(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4603(82)90005-3
- Slade, K., Plack, C. J., & Nuttall, H. E. (2020). The effects of age-related hearing loss on the brain and cognitive function. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 43(10), 810–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.07.005
- Smit, D. J. A., Boersma, M., Schnack, H. G., Micheloyannis, S., Boomsma, D. I., Pol, H. E. H., Stam, C. J., & Geus, E. J. C. d. (2012). The brain matures with stronger functional connectivity and decreased randomness of its network. *PLOS ONE*, 7(5), e36896. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036896
- Smith, K. M., & Caplan, D. N. (2018). Communication impairment in parkinson's disease: Impact of motor and cognitive symptoms on speech and language. Brain and Language, 185, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2018.08. 002

- Smyth, G., Chen, L., Hu, Y., Dunn, P., Phipson, B., & Chen, Y. (2023, January 6). Statmod: Statistical modeling (Version 1.5.0). Retrieved May 21, 2024, from https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/statmod/index.html
- Sokołowski, A., Tyburski, E., Sołtys, A., & Karabanowicz, E. (2020). Sex differences in verbal fluency among young adults. Advances in Cognitive Psychology, 16(2), 92–102. https://doi.org/10.5709/acp-0288-1
- Soldan, A., Pettigrew, C., Li, S., Wang, M.-C., Moghekar, A., Selnes, O. A., Albert, M., & O'Brien, R. (2013). Relationship of cognitive reserve and cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers to the emergence of clinical symptoms in preclinical alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 34(12), 2827–2834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.017
- Sörman, D. E., Sundström, A., Rönnlund, M., Adolfsson, R., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2014). Leisure activity in old age and risk of dementia: A 15-year prospective study. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 69(4), 493–501. https://doi.org/10. 1093/geronb/gbt056
- Sporns, O. (2013). Network attributes for segregation and integration in the human brain. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 23(2), 162–171. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.conb.2012.11.015
- Sporns, O., Chialvo, D. R., Kaiser, M., & Hilgetag, C. C. (2004). Organization, development and function of complex brain networks. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(9), 418–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.07.008
- Stam, C. J. (2000). Brain dynamics in theta and alpha frequency bands and working memory performance in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 286(2), 115–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(00)01109-5
- Stam, C. J., van Nifterick, A. M., de Haan, W., & Gouw, A. A. (2023). Network hyperexcitability in early alzheimer's disease: Is functional connectivity a potential biomarker? *Brain Topography*, 36(4), 595–612. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10548-023-00968-7

- Stamatakis, E. A., Shafto, M. A., Williams, G., Tam, P., & Tyler, L. K. (2011). White matter changes and word finding failures with increasing age. *PLOS ONE*, 6(1), e14496. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014496
- Stanley, M. L., Simpson, S. L., Dagenbach, D., Lyday, R. G., Burdette, J. H., & Laurienti, P. J. (2015). Changes in brain network efficiency and working memory performance in aging. *PLOS ONE*, 10(4), e0123950. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123950
- Starkstein, S. E., Mayberg, H. S., Preziosi, T. J., Andrezejewski, P., Leiguarda, R., & Robinson, R. G. (1992). Reliability, validity, and clinical correlates of apathy in parkinson's disease [Place: US Publisher: American Psychiatric Assn]. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 4 (2), 134–139. https: //doi.org/10.1176/jnp.4.2.134
- Steptoe, A., Breeze, E., Banks, J., & Nazroo, J. (2013). Cohort profile: The english longitudinal study of ageing. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(6), 1640–1648. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys168
- Stern, Y. (2009). Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia, 47(10), 2015–2028. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.03.004
- Stern, Y., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Bartrés-Faz, D., Belleville, S., Cantilon, M., Chetelat, G., Ewers, M., Franzmeier, N., Kempermann, G., Kremen, W. S., Okonkwo, O., Scarmeas, N., Soldan, A., Udeh-Momoh, C., Valenzuela, M., Vemuri, P., Vuoksimaa, E., & the Reserve, Resilience and Protective Factors PIA Empirical Definitions and Conceptual Frameworks Workgroup. (2020). Whitepaper: Defining and investigating cognitive reserve, brain reserve, and brain maintenance. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 16(9), 1305–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.07.219
- Sui, J., Huster, R., Yu, Q., Segall, J. M., & Calhoun, V. D. (2014). Functionstructure associations of the brain: Evidence from multimodal connectivity and covariance studies. *NeuroImage*, 102 Pt 1, 11–23. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2013.09.044

- Sullivan, M. D., Anderson, J. A. E., Turner, G. R., & Spreng, R. N. (2019). Intrinsic neurocognitive network connectivity differences between normal aging and mild cognitive impairment are associated with cognitive status and age. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 73, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2018.10.001
- Szekely, A., D'Amico, S., Devescovi, A., Federmeier, K., Herron, D., Iyer, G., Jacobsen, T., Arévalo, A. L., Vargha, A., & Bates, E. (2005). Timed action and object naming. *Cortex*, 41(1), 7–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-9452(08)70174-6
- Szekely, A., Jacobsen, T., D'Amico, S., Devescovi, A., Andonova, E., Herron, D., Lu, C. C., Pechmann, T., Pléh, C., Wicha, N., Federmeier, K., Gerdjikova, I., Gutierrez, G., Hung, D., Hsu, J., Iyer, G., Kohnert, K., Mehotcheva, T., Orozco-Figueroa, A., ... Bates, E. (2004). A new on-line resource for psycholinguistic studies. *Journal of memory and language*, 51(2), 247–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2004.03.002
- Taylor, J. E., Beith, A., & Sereno, S. C. (2020). LexOPS: An r package and user interface for the controlled generation of word stimuli. *Behavior Research Methods*, 52(6), 2372–2382. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-020-01389-1
- Tomer, R., Levin, B. E., & Weiner, W. J. (1993). Side of onset of motor symptoms influences cognition in parkinson's disease. Annals of Neurology, 34(4), 579–584. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410340412
- Uhlhaas, P. J., Pipa, G., Lima, B., Melloni, L., Neuenschwander, S., Nikolić, D., & Singer, W. (2009). Neural synchrony in cortical networks: History, concept and current status. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 3, 17. https://doi. org/10.3389/neuro.07.017.2009
- Uhlhaas, P. J., & Singer, W. (2006). Neural synchrony in brain disorders: Relevance for cognitive dysfunctions and pathophysiology. *Neuron*, 52(1), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.020

- Ullman, M. T. (2008, January 1). CHAPTER 18 the role of memory systems in disorders of language. In B. Stemmer & H. A. Whitaker (Eds.), *Handbook* of the neuroscience of language (pp. 189–198). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-08-045352-1.00018-5
- Ullman, M. T. (2004). Contributions of memory circuits to language: The declarative/procedural model. Cognition, 92(1), 231–270. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cognition.2003.10.008
- United Nations. (2022). World population prospects 2022: Summary of results [UN DESA/POP/2022/TR/NO. 3].
- Utianski, R. L., Caviness, J. N., van Straaten, E. C. W., Beach, T. G., Dugger, B. N., Shill, H. A., Driver-Dunckley, E. D., Sabbagh, M. N., Mehta, S., Adler, C. H., & Hentz, J. G. (2016). Graph theory network function in parkinson's disease assessed with electroencephalography. *Clinical Neurophysiology: Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127(5), 2228–2236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.02.017
- Valentino, V., Iavarone, A., Amboni, M., Moschiano, F., Picillo, M., Petretta, V., & Cicarelli, G. (2018). Apathy in parkinson's disease: Differences between caregiver's report and self-evaluation. *Functional Neurology*, 33(1), 31–35. https://doi.org/10.11138/FNeur/2018.33.1.031
- Valizadeh, S. A., Riener, R., Elmer, S., & Jäncke, L. (2019). Decrypting the electrophysiological individuality of the human brain: Identification of individuals based on resting-state EEG activity. *NeuroImage*, 197, 470–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.04.005
- Vallet, G. T. (2015). Embodied cognition of aging. Frontiers in Psychology, 6. https: //doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00463
- Vallet, G. T., Simard, M., Versace, R., & Mazza, S. (2013). The perceptual nature of audiovisual interactions for semantic knowledge in young and elderly adults. *Acta Psychologica*, 143(3), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2013. 04.009

- van Diepen, R. M., & Mazaheri, A. (2018). The caveats of observing inter-trial phase-coherence in cognitive neuroscience. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 2990. https: //doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20423-z
- van Diessen, E., Numan, T., van Dellen, E., van der Kooi, A. W., Boersma, M., Hofman, D., van Lutterveld, R., van Dijk, B. W., van Straaten, E. C. W., Hillebrand, A., & Stam, C. J. (2015). Opportunities and methodological challenges in EEG and MEG resting state functional brain network research. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 126(8), 1468–1481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinph.2014.11.018
- van Heuven, W. J. B., Mandera, P., Keuleers, E., & Brysbaert, M. (2014). Subtlex-UK: A new and improved word frequency database for british english [Publisher: SAGE Publications]. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 67(6), 1176–1190. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2013. 850521
- van Nifterick, A. M., Gouw, A. A., van Kesteren, R. E., Scheltens, P., Stam, C. J., & de Haan, W. (2022). A multiscale brain network model links alzheimer's disease-mediated neuronal hyperactivity to large-scale oscillatory slowing. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 14, 101. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-022-01041-4
- Vecchio, F., Miraglia, F., Quaranta, D., Granata, G., Romanello, R., Marra, C., Bramanti, P., & Rossini, P. M. (2016). Cortical connectivity and memory performance in cognitive decline: A study via graph theory from EEG data. *Neuroscience*, 316, 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.12. 036
- Vecchio, F., Miraglia, F., Bramanti, P., & Rossini, P. M. (2014). Human brain networks in physiological aging: A graph theoretical analysis of cortical connectivity from EEG data. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD*, 41(4), 1239–1249. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-140090

- Vecchio, F., Miraglia, F., Judica, E., Cotelli, M., Alù, F., & Rossini, P. M. (2020). Human brain networks: A graph theoretical analysis of cortical connectivity normative database from EEG data in healthy elderly subjects. *GeroScience*, 42(2), 575–584. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-020-00176-2
- Verbaan, D., Marinus, J., Visser, M., Rooden, S. M. v., Stiggelbout, A. M., Middelkoop, H. a. M., & Hilten, J. J. v. (2007). Cognitive impairment in parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 78(11), 1182–1187. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.112367
- Vértes, P. E., & Bullmore, E. T. (2015). Annual research review: Growth connectomics-the organization and reorganization of brain networks during normal and abnormal development. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 56(3), 299–320. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jcpp.12365
- Vigliocco, G., Vinson, D. P., Druks, J., Barber, H., & Cappa, S. F. (2011). Nouns and verbs in the brain: A review of behavioural, electrophysiological, neuropsychological and imaging studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(3), 407–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.04.007
- Vinck, M., Oostenveld, R., van Wingerden, M., Battaglia, F., & Pennartz, C. M. A. (2011). An improved index of phase-synchronization for electrophysiological data in the presence of volume-conduction, noise and sample-size bias. *NeuroImage*, 55(4), 1548–1565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2011.01.055
- Visser, M., Jefferies, E., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2010). Semantic processing in the anterior temporal lobes: A meta-analysis of the functional neuroimaging literature. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(6), 1083–1094. https://doi. org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21309
- Vonk, J. M. J., Rizvi, B., Lao, P. J., Budge, M., Manly, J. J., Mayeux, R., & Brickman, A. M. (2019). Letter and category fluency performance correlates

with distinct patterns of cortical thickness in older adults. *Cerebral Cortex* (New York, NY), 29(6), 2694–2700. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy138

- Wang, H. X., Karp, A., Winblad, B., & Fratiglioni, L. (2002). Late-life engagement in social and leisure activities is associated with a decreased risk of dementia: A longitudinal study from the kungsholmen project. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 155(12), 1081–1087. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/155.12.1081
- Wang, X. J. (2010). Neurophysiological and computational principles of cortical rhythms in cognition. *Physiological Reviews*, 90(3), 1195–1268. https://doi. org/10.1152/physrev.00035.2008
- Watts, D. J., & Strogatz, S. H. (1998). Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks. Nature, 393(6684), 440–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/30918
- Weiss, S., & Mueller, H. M. (2012). "too many betas do not spoil the broth": The role of beta brain oscillations in language processing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3, 201. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00201
- Whelan, B. J., & Savva, G. M. (2013). Design and methodology of the irish longitudinal study on ageing. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 61, S265–S268. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12199
- Whiteside, D. M., Kealey, T., Semla, M., Luu, H., Rice, L., Basso, M. R., & Roper, B. (2016). Verbal fluency: Language or executive function measure? *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult*, 23(1), 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095. 2015.1004574
- Wickham, H., & Bryan, J. (2019). *Readxl: Read excel files.* https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=readxl
- Wierenga, C. E., Benjamin, M., Gopinath, K., Perlstein, W. M., Leonard, C. M., Rothi, L. J. G., Conway, T., Cato, M. A., Briggs, R., & Crosson, B. (2008). Age-related changes in word retrieval: Role of bilateral frontal and subcortical networks. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 29(3), 436–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2006.10.024

- Willems, R. M., Labruna, L., D'Esposito, M., Ivry, R., & Casasanto, D. (2011). A functional role for the motor system in language understanding: Evidence from theta-burst transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Psychological Science*, 22(7), 849–854. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611412387
- World Health Organization. (2020). Decade of healthy ageing: Plan of action. World Health Organization. Retrieved May 4, 2021, from https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/decade-of-healthy-ageing-plan-of-action
- World Health Organization. (2022). Parkinson disease: A public health approach. technical brief. Geneva.
- Xie, W., Zheng, F., Yan, L., & Zhong, B. (2019). Cognitive decline before and after incident coronary events. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 73(24), 3041–3050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019.04.019
- Yordanova, J., & Kolev, V. (2009). Event-related brain oscillations: Developmental effects on power and synchronization. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 23(4), 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1027/0269-8803.23.4.174
- Yordanova, J., & Kolev, V. N. (1996). Developmental changes in the alpha response system. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 99(6), 527–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0013-4694(96)95562-5
- Yue, Q., Martin, R. C., Fischer-Baum, S., Ramos-Nuñez, A. I., Ye, F., & Deem, M. W. (2017). Brain modularity mediates the relation between task complexity and performance. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 29(9), 1532–1546. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01142
- Zangrossi, A., Zanzotto, G., Lorenzoni, F., Indelicato, G., Cannas Aghedu, F., Cermelli, P., & Bisiacchi, P. S. (2021). Resting-state functional brain connectivity predicts cognitive performance: An exploratory study on a timebased prospective memory task. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 402, 113130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2021.113130
- Zgaljardic, D. J., Borod, J. C., Foldi, N. S., & Mattis, P. (2003). A review of the cognitive and behavioral sequelae of parkinson's disease: Relationship

to frontostriatal circuitry. Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology, 16(4), 193. https://doi.org/10.1097/00146965-200312000-00001

- Zhao, B., Dang, J., & Zhang, G. (2017). EEG source reconstruction evidence for the noun-verb neural dissociation along semantic dimensions. *Neuroscience*, 359, 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.07.019
- Zinn, M. A., Zinn, M. L., & Jason, L. A. (2017). Small-world network analysis of cortical connectivity in chronic fatigue syndrome using quantitative EEG. *NeuroRegulation*, 4(3), 125–125. https://doi.org/10.15540/nr.4.3-4.125
- Zuo, X.-N., He, Y., Betzel, R. F., Colcombe, S., Sporns, O., & Milham, M. P. (2017). Human connectomics across the life span. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 21(1), 32–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.10.005